
 

 

North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre 
Barnstaple 
North Devon   EX31 3NP 
 

K. Miles 

Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the  Strategy and Resources Committee will be held in the Barum Room - 
Brynsworthy on MONDAY, 7TH NOVEMBER, 2022 at 10.00 am. 
 
(NOTE: A location plan for the Brynsworthy Environment Centre is attached to the 
agenda front pages. For meetings held at Brynsworthy only, you can join the meeting 
virtually via Microsoft Teams. There are also limited spaces to attend the meeting in 
person.  Please check the Council’s website for the latest information regarding the 
arrangements that are in place and the requirement to book a place 2 working days prior 
to the meeting. Taking part in meetings (northdevon.gov.uk)). 
 
 
 
Members of the Strategy and Resources 
Committee 

Councillor Worden (Chair) 

 
Councillors Crabb, Knight, Lane, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear, 
Wilkinson and Yabsley 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   

2.   To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 5th September 
2022  (Pages 7 - 18) 

 (attached). 
 

3.   Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by 
the meeting as a matter of urgency.   

4.   Declarations of Interests.   

 (Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form 
for your signature before the meeting.  Interests must be re-declared when the 
item is called, and Councillors must leave the room if necessary). 

 

5.   To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted 
Information).   

PART 'A' 

6.   Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 2022 - 23  (Pages 19 - 32) 

Public Document Pack

https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/taking-part-in-meetings/


 
 

 
2 

 

 Report by Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive (attached). 
 

7.   Performance and Financial Management Q2 Report 2022 - 23  (Pages 33 - 74) 

 Report by Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive (attached). 
 

8.   Environmental Policy - Progress on Implementation  (Pages 75 - 78) 

 Report by Sustainability and Climate Officer, North Devon Council and Torridge 
District Council (attached). 

 

9.   Adoption of Works In Default Policy  (Pages 79 - 100) 

 Report by Legal Services (attached). 
 

10.   Energy Company Obligation (ECO)  (Pages 101 - 116) 

 Report by Service Lead – Home Adaptations, Improvements & Energy Efficiency 
(attached). 

 

11.   Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Amendments  (Pages 
117 - 262) 

 Report by Public Protection Manager (attached). 
 

12.   Bicclescombe Nursery Site  (Pages 263 - 268) 

 Report by Property Manager (attached). 
 

13.   Bringing the Three weekly Collections Trial to an End  (Pages 269 - 274) 

 Report by Service Manager (Refuse and Recycling) (attached). 
 

14.   Council Tax Reduction Scheme  (Pages 275 - 414) 

 Report by Revenues and Benefits Manager (attached). 
 

15.   Urgent Decisions taken by the Chief Executive  (Pages 415 - 416) 

 To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in 
accordance with paragraph 3.45, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached). 

 

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 

Nil. 
 
 
 

 

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and 
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253 

 
 



 
 

 
3 

 

 

28.10.22 
 



 
 

 
4 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings 
 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making. 
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council 
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be 
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is 
respected.  
 
The rules that the Council will apply are:  
 

1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must 
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we 
know recording is taking place.  

 
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording 

if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting 
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.  

 
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public 

is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should 
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. 

 
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that 

agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can 
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the 
earliest opportunity.  

 
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 

misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of 
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in 
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.  

 
Notes for guidance: 
 
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our 
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make 
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.  
 
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271 
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team 
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk. 



 
 

 
5 

 

 
 
North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:  
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,  
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP. 
 
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS. 
 
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the 
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right. 
 
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.  
 
On arrival at the main entrance, please dial 8253 for Corporate and Community Services. 
 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Barum Room - 
Brynsworthy on Monday, 5th September, 2022 at 10.00 am 
 
PRESENT: Members: 

 
 Councillor Worden (Chair) 

 
 Councillors Knight, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear, 

Wilkinson and Yabsley 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Chief Executive, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive, 
Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer, Head of Environmental 
Enhancement, Head of Planning, Housing and Health, Public 
Protection Manager, Graduate Environmental Health Officer, Finance 
Manager, Senior Enforcement Officer, Sustainability and Climate 
Officer and Head of Customer Focus 
 

  
  
  
  
 
   
 

42.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Lane. 

43.   TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 4 JULY 2022 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2022 (circulated 
previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

44.   ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE 
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A 
MATTER OF URGENCY. 
 

Councillor Wilkinson put forward the request of whether a notice of motion, which 
was passed at November 2021’s Council meeting, could be reinforced in terms of 
the points agreed.  He referred to a radio interview where a visitor from Plymouth 
to Croyde beach left soon after entering the water over concerns of brown 
effluent in the water. 
 
The Chair advised the Committee that a Team Devon meeting was taking place 
this week where the item would be discussed with a view to have a letter written 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
2 

 

by Team Devon to South West Water outlining the concerns raised over the 
water quality around the Devon coasts. 

45.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS. 
 

No declarations of interest were made. 

46.   CALL FOR EVIDENCE - SHORT TERM HOLIDAY LETS 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Chief Executive (circulated previously) 
regarding Call from Evidence – Short Term Holiday Lets. 
 
The Chief Executive highlighted the following to the Committee: 
 

 The Department for Culture, Music and Sport (DCMS) had sent out a call for 
evidence in respect of the issue of short-term holiday lets. 

 The issue of properties being given over to short-term holiday lets had been 
an area of concern in the district for some time but with a significant increase 
in the last three years more councils including MPs had started to raise 
concerns. 

 The DCMS request had gone out to all concerned with the holiday trade; 
including Airbnb hosts, Local Authorities and residents. 

 Question 1 was asking for information on how the situation had changed over 
time.  It was difficult to obtain an accurate picture of the numbers of properties 
being used as holiday lets, as the only recourse to information available was 
the Council’s Business rates and Council tax databases.  If a property was not 
registered for business rates the Council would have no way of knowing about 
it. 

 In 2019 1,375 properties were operating as holiday lets under business rates, 
this had increased by 435 to 1,810 by 2022. 

 Question 6 dealt with the perceived affect increases in holiday lets were 
having on the housing market.  The answer to this included many factors such 
as an increase in people moving to the area and low salaries, as well as 
Landlords serving section 21 eviction notices, to rent out the property as a 
holiday let, had increased from 36 in 2020-21 to 103 in 2021-22. 

 The concern was that there was becoming a lack of community cohesion in 
areas with high numbers of holiday-let properties.  The number of holiday lets 
in certain Parishes was shown in the table on page 38 of the report. 

 The average house price had increased from £246,147 in August 2019 to 
£321,346 in July 2022. 

 The average rental cost for a three-bedroom property, in August 2019, rose 
from £735 per calendar month to £775 per calendar month in August 2022. 

 Question 7 asked about Anti-social behaviour being an issue with holiday lets.  
The information presented in the report came from actual people who had 
suffered as a result of living near holiday lets. 

 Question 8 dealt with any other issues causing adverse impacts on residents 
as a result of holiday lets.  Staff recruitment was an issue for local businesses 
where holiday lets were prevalent.  Either through lack of housing available in 
the vicinity of a job offer due to cost or unavailability as a result of holiday lets, 
job posts were remaining vacant. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
3 

 

 The Council would like to see a licensing scheme in operation to help regulate 
holiday lets and also in conjunction with this have a link to planning whereby a 
change of use application has to be submitted before a holiday let can be 
converted, this would allow control over numbers. 

 
In response to questions from the Committee, the Chief Executive gave the following 
responses: 
 

 Although a sizeable village, Braunton was not included in the table on page 
38 of the report as less than 10% of the total number of dwellings in the 
village were being used as holiday lets. 

 In terms relation to trade waste – data matching was undertaken between 
business rates accounts and holiday lets, but if the Council didn’t know where 
holiday lets were being operated we would not have any way of finding them. 

 Examples of staffing shortages due to lack of availability of accommodation 
was welcomed. 

 The area of Lee within Ilfracombe was not listed in the table as it couldn’t be 
separated out from the Parish of Ilfracombe but that it could be used to 
highlight that there are a high proportion of properties within Parishes used as 
holiday lets 

 
RESOLVED that the response attached to the report, be endorsed as the response 
to the Call for Evidence from North Devon Council, subject to any minor additions 
and amendments, and subject to completion of elements of the data, as deemed 
appropriate by the Chief Executive after consultation with the Leader. 

47.   PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT QUARTER 1 
OF 2022-23 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief 
Executive (circulated previously) regarding the Performance and Financial 
Management Quarter 1 of 2022/23. 
 
The Finance Manager highlighted the following to the Committee: 
 

 The revenue budget forecast position as at Quarter 1 showed a surplus of 
£3,000 detailed in Appendix A on page 59 of the report. 

 The revenue budget for 2022/23 was approved at Council on 23 February 
2022 at £13,721,640. 

 As at 30 June 2022, the latest forecast net budget was £13,718,640, which 
produced a forecast budget surplus of £3,000.  Details of this were shown in 
“Appendix A – Variations in the Revenue Budget”. 

 Temporary Accommodation was under additional cost pressures due to the 

increase in homelessness cases; the in-year impact of this £120,000 increase 

in costs had been mitigated by a contribution from the Homelessness 

earmarked reserve.   

 The largest variance within Appendix A was the £804,000 National pay award 
potential taking staffing costs over and above the £280,000 already built into 
the base budget; this estimate was based on the offered pay award put 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
4 

 

forward to the Unions by the National employers pay review body for the 
2022-23 year.  The pay offer put forward was based upon £1,925 per full time 
equivalent employee. 

 Other inflationary pressures built into the forecast included additional fuel 
costs across the works fleet of £198,000 and additional energy costs of 
£63,000.  To date the Council had not included any further general supplies 
and services inflationary increases as the Council would endeavour to control 
and manage these in year through the existing budgetary framework. 

 The other significant in-year cost pressure that had not been included in the 
current figures yet was the award of costs claim in relation to the Yelland 
planning appeal; once this amount was known a report would be brought to 
Members detailing the award of costs amount and setting out how the Council 
would be funding this cost. 

 The inflationary cost pressures mentioned above would, it was hoped, to be 
funded in-year through utilisation of the budget management reserve; this 
reserve, which was set aside to deal with fluctuations within the budget and 
built up over the last couple of financial years, had provided the Council with 
the protection needed in 2022-23.  Moving forwards to future years 2023-24 
onwards, the Council would not have the benefit of this protection and the 
inflationary pressures being experienced this year would continue onto the 
future year’s budget gap previously highlighted to Members. 

 “Appendix B – Movement in Reserves and Balances” detailed the movements 
to and from earmarked reserves in 2022-23. 

 The Capital programme for 2022-23 was detailed in “Appendix D – Capital 
Programme 2022-23” and showed overall variations of minus £783,000.  
Disabled facilities grants accounted for most of these variations with slippages 
to 2023-24. 

 The revised Capital Programme for 2022-23, which included budget 
variations, stood at £18.7 million. 

 The actual spend on the 2022-23 Capital Programme as at 30 June 2022 was 
just under £2 million. 

 The revised overall Capital Programme for 2022-23 to 2024-25 was just over 
£27 million.  This was funded by capital receipts and borrowing of £11.1 
million, External Grants and Contributions of £13.6 million and Reserves of 
nearly £2.3 million. 

 Treasury and Debt management figures were detailed in paragraphs 4.5 to 
4.7 of the report and Key Performance Indicators for services were detailed in 
Appendix E of the report. 

 
In response to questions from the Committee, the Finance Manager and the Director 
of Resources advised the following: 
 

 The slippage in disabled facilities grants was due to the lack of contractors 
available.  Three quotes had to be obtained, where three couldn’t be found 
the same provider was generally used.  Investigations into making this 
process quicker was being undertaken. 

 Agency staff had to be used to fill a gap where a job had to be undertaken 
immediately. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
5 

 

 Staff cost savings were made every year.  Often there were time delays in 
filling posts. 

 With the increase in homelessness this cost was going to keep increasing.  
The purchase of units to place homeless had worked well. 

 During a member workshop looking at options to ease homelessness it was 
proposed that the Council purchase more property next year. 

 Moving to an electrically charged fleet would require a business case to 
consider the figures behind this to establish the cost effectiveness of this 
infrastructure change. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the actions being taken to ensure that performance was at the desired level 

be noted; 
(b) That the contributions to/from earmarked reserves as detailed in section 4.2 of 

the report be approved;  
(c) That the movement on the Strategic Contingency Reserve as detailed in section 

4.3 of the report be noted; 
(d) That funds were released for the capital schemes listed in section 4.4.10; 
(e) That the sections dealing with Treasury Management (section 4.5 of the report), 

and Debt Management (sections 4.6 and 4.7 of the report) be noted; and 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 
(f) That Council approve the variations to the Capital Programme 2022/23 to 

2024/25 as detailed in section 4.4.3 of the report. 

48.   HOME LOAN POLICY (REVISED) 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Service Lead – Home Adaptations, 
Improvements and Energy Efficiency Officer (circulated previously), regarding the 
Home Loan Policy revision. 
 
The Service Lead – Home Adaptations, Improvements and Energy Efficiency Officer 
highlighted the following to the Committee: 
 

 The current policy contained five loan types with a cap of £10,000. 

 The loan take up was reasonable but could be improved to maximise the 
community benefit from the load fund 

 The Council had worked with Lendology CIC since 2005 to help deliver the 
loans to local residents. 

 It had been found that the cap was excluding some people from being able to 
take a loan. 

 The streamlining of the Policy reduced the loans from five to three: 
 Commercial Conversion; 
 Empty homes; and 
 Home owners loans. 

 The revised Loan Policy had been drafted after consultation with Officers and 
Representatives from Lendology CIC and adhered to the over-arching aims 
of:  

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
6 

 

 supporting the increase and supply of housing (rent or sale); and 
  to improve housing standards/energy efficiency. 

 Sitting under the Home ownership loans a new ‘Lite Loan’ had been added. 

 A ‘Lite Loan’ offered a loan between £500 and £1,000 for the purposes of 
essential repairs, improvements, and adaptations.  

 The introduction of a £1,000 Bulk Buy Fuel loan at 0% interest for a year. 
 
RESOLVED that the revised Loan Policy, as set out in Appendix A, be approved. 

49.   ORDER OF AGENDA 
 

RESOLVED that to allow for the arrival of Officers to the meeting to  
present their reports that:  
 
(a) item 9, Progress report – Barnstaple flooding event August 2020, be discussed 

after item 13, Proposed Amendments to the Council’s existing Amenity 
Standards, Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document; and 

(b) item 10, Sustainable Events Guidance, be discussed after item 11, Operating a 
Considerate Holiday Let Charter. 

50.   OPERATING A CONSIDERATE HOLIDAY LET CHARTER 
 

The Committee considered a report by Enforcement Officer, Planning (circulated 
previously), regarding Operating a Considerate Holiday Let Charter. 
 
The Enforcement Officer highlighted the following to the Committee: 
 

 The aim of the charter was: 
 To provide best practice guidance and advice to anyone who let out 

whole properties or rooms for short-stay lets; 
 To provide information about the relevant laws that may apply to short-

term holiday let providers; 
 To explain the potential pitfalls of non-compliance; 
 To tackle short-term holiday let nuisance issues; and  
 Homeowners may be persuaded to switch to lets from short-stay to 

permanent residential. 

 Short-stay holiday lets were usually used differently to properties that were 
lived in permanently and that could have an impact on immediate neighbours. 

 Neighbours and the community affected by irresponsible short-stay lets 
reported being affected by issues such as: 

 Poor waste management; 
 Excessive noise; 
 Reduced sense of community and security from high turnover of guests 

at all times of the day and night; 
 Targeted abuse when trying to address issues, such as noise, directly 

with guests; and  
 Sleep deprivation from homes being used as ‘party venues’ or by large 

groups of individuals.  This included outdoor noise. 

 The Charter aimed to encourage homeowners and operators to adopt best 
practice and comply with the law. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
7 

 

 Collaboration with the UK Short-Term Accommodation Association took place 
to draft the charter, which was initially based on their work with Westminster 
City Council to produce a Considerate Nightly Letting Charter. 

 The Council consulted with North Devon and Torridge Housing Crises Group 
and welcomed its positive contribution and feedback. 

 It was intended to contact homeowners who provided short-stay holiday Lets 
to request that they consider switching their lets to permanent residential. 

 Council Tax data and Business Rates data would be used to identify short-
stay holiday Let properties and a copy of the operating a Considerate Holiday 
Let Charter would be sent to each homeowner. 

 The Charter would be available on the Council’s website and it may be useful 
supporting evidence when considering enforcement action to remedy a 
nuisance. 

 The UK Short-Term Accommodation Association had offered to publicise the 
Charter nationally to promote best practice and increase awareness. 

 
RESOLVED that the Operating a Considerate Holiday Let Charter, as detailed in  
Appendix A, be adopted. 

51.   SUSTAINABLE EVENTS GUIDANCE 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Sustainability and Climate Officer 
(circulated previously), regarding Sustainable Events Guidance. 
 
The Sustainability and Climate Officer highlighted the following to the Committee: 
 

 The Council had been working with Plastic Free North Devon, Torridge 
District Council and Climate working groups to create simple guidance on 
running sustainable events that the Licensing teams at both Councils could 
use. 

 It had been tested at numerous local events and the organisers had found it to 
be very useful. 

 It was intended to be a web document that Torridge District Council were 
working on. 

 
RESOLVED that the publication of the Sustainable Events Guidance be noted. 

52.   EVENT WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Service Manager (Refuse and Recycling) 
and the Business Support Manager (circulated previously), regarding Event Waste 
Management. 
 
The Head of Environmental Enhancement highlighted the following to the 
Committee: 
 

 Lots of requests to help at events with waste clearance were received by the 
Council and that the provision of this service was resource intensive. 

 Without a pricing system in place, events had been cleared for no charge. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
8 

 

 
In response to questions, the Head of Environmental Enhancement gave the 
following responses: 
 

 The reason for not including options for recycling in the service being offered 
was down to policing the correct usage of recycling bins used at events. 

 This pricing system was the first step.  Going forward the Council would look 
at introducing more recycling bins at events. 

 The use of recycling bins was complicated as the contamination of loads was 
a big problem. 

 To encourage use of recycling bins there was no charge for the removal of 
them. 

 Staffing pressures were already an issue currently to complete the regular 
domestic rounds.  It was good to be ambitious but the Council also had to be 
realistic about what we could achieve currently.   

 
In response to a question, requesting more information in paragraph 4.1 the Director 
of Resources provided the Committee with the following information: 
 

 The Council had to pay to dispose of commercial waste so this cost was 
incorporated into the charges to its trade waste customers. 

 The cost to the council needed to be positive; the new charging system for 
events would help to grow the Waste and Recycling budgets. 

 
RESOLVED that the event waste management pricing structure for both commercial 
and non-commercial events as detailed in Appendix A be approved. 

53.   PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL'S EXISTING 
AMENITY STANDARDS, MINIMUM ROOM SIZING AND 
MANAGEMENT STANDARDS DOCUMENT 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Public Protection Manager and Graduate 
Environmental Health Officer/Residential Licensing Officer (circulated previously) 
regarding proposed amendments to the Council’s existing Amenity Standards, 
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards. 
 
The Graduate Environmental Health Officer/Residential Licensing Officer highlighted 
the following to the Committee: 
 

 A six-week consultation ran on the proposed amendments to the Amenity 
Standards, Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards document 
from 8 June 2022 to 20 July 2022. 

 Approval to run this consultation had been given at a Strategy and Resources 
meeting in May 2022 

 Correspondence with details of the consultation was sent to all stakeholders; 
including estate agents, licence holders and management companies who 
manage and or own Houses in Multiple Occupation in North Devon.  A press 
release was also published. 

 Six responses were received.  The responses were mixed but useful with a 
key theme being to make wording clearer to avoid confusion. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
9 

 

 All the responses could be seen at Appendix B and the amended document 
could be seen at Appendix A. 

 A query had arisen on the six month time frame for a valid Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS) checks required on application.  The query arose as a 
recent application for a license was made supported with a recently expired 
DBS check, and the Council were asked if this would be accepted as it had 
previously been when in date for other applications made by the applicant.  
Although the applicant had previously held a Licence it was felt that a 
consistent approach be taken.  A valid DBS check was required with all 
Licence applications regardless the number of previous applications made or 
the number of Licences previously held. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 
(a) The consultation feedback be noted as shown in Appendix B; 

 
(b) The Amenity Standards, Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards 

Document as shown in Appendix A be adopted; and  
 

(c) The timeframe relating to a basic Disclosure and Barring Service Check 
remain at six months. 

54.   PROGRESS REPORT - BARNSTAPLE FLOODING EVENT 
AUGUST 2020 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Environmental Protection Service Lead, 
(circulated previously) regarding the Progress report – Barnstaple Flooding event 
August 2020. 
 
The Head of Planning, Housing and Health highlighted the following to the 
Committee: 
 

 The Council had commissioned a third party to undertake surveys of the 
drainage systems in and around Lower Sticklepath.  The results of which 
identified a variety of deficiencies in the system. 

 Representations made to Devon County Council (DCC) and South West 
Water (SWW) had resulted in both DCC and SWW committing to securing 
funds to invest in infrastructure improvements. 

 Officers had established a working group with key Councillors and 
representatives from relevant partner agencies, which included Devon County 
Council, South West Water and the Environment Agency.  The purpose of this 
group was to work collaboratively identifying and undertaking the necessary 
works to minimise the likelihood of residents experiencing similar problems in 
the future. 

 Funding was available from DCC for properties to opt into a scheme to 
facilitate property specific flood protection measures to be installed. 

 
Councillors Lofthouse and Knight addressed the Committee to give the following 
additional information: 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
10 

 

 The Environmental Protection Service Lead officer had persisted tirelessly 
with DCC and SWW to get works underway. 

 Although a lot of work had been undertaken, a lot was still needed. 

 Households were being urged to apply to the DCC funding scheme for flood 
protection works. 

 The current sewage system was aging, with septic tanks having been 
installed in the 1950’s.  It would be good to see a stronger response at 
planning stage to decrease water run-off on existing builds.  New builds had 
to have attenuation basins to cope with surface water run-off. 

 
The Head of Planning, Housing and Health confirmed that it was a very valid point as 
there were a lot of combined sewers in Devon’s towns and that he was happy to take 
away the action of combined sewers with a view to modification on existing 
properties. 
 
The Environmental Protection Service Lead joined the meeting via Teams and 
added that he felt it was very relevant to take away the action of combined sewers. 
 
Councillor Wilkinson requested that when looking at increased water discharges this 
included campsites. 
 
RESOLVED that the update report be noted. 

55.   APPROVAL AND RELEASE OF S106 PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
FUNDS - BARNSTAPLE, LANDKEY AND TAWSTOCK 
 

Councillor Lofthouse declared a personal interest as a member of Tawstock Parish 
Council. 
 
Councillor Knight declared a personal interest as a member of Tawstock Parish 
Council. 
 
The Committee considered a report by Leisure and Recreation Officer (circulated 
previously) regarding the allocation of section 106 public open space funds towards 
seven projects within Barnstaple, Landkey and Tawstock. 
 
RESOLVED that section 106 public open space funds be allocated as follows: 
 

(a) £111,099.60 to Fremington Parish Council towards the construction of a Multi-
Use Games Area at Queen Elizabeth II Playing Field, Tews Lane, 
Roundswell. 
 

(b) £15,002.19 to Tawstock Parish Council to enhance Tower View Recreation 
Area, Barnstaple. 
 

(c) £39,703.60 to North Devon Crematorium towards the creation of a memorial 
garden at North Devon Crematorium, Barnstaple. 
 

(d) £62,636.92 to North Devon District Council towards public realm 
improvements at Library Square, Barnstaple. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 2



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 5 September 2022 

 
 

 
11 

 

 
(e) £25,937.55 to Barnstaple and Pilton Cricket Club towards enhancements of 

their clubhouse at Raleigh Meadow, Barnstaple. 
 

(f) £7,900 to Landkey Town Football Club towards access and storage 
improvements at Millenium Green, Landkey. 
 

(g) £16,181.29 to Tawstock Village Hall towards the enhancement of Tawstock 
Village Hall. 
 

RECOMMENDED: 
 
(e) That Council vary the capital programme by £278,461.15 and that the funds 

be released, subject to a Funding Agreement upon such terms and conditions 
as may be agreed by the Senior Solicitor, for external projects. 

 
Chair 
The meeting ended at 11.24 am 
 
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: 7th November 2022 

Topic: Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 2022/23 

Report by: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1  This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following: 

 An economic update for the first part of the 2022/23 financial year  (appendix 
A); 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy; 

 The Council’s capital expenditure and prudential indicators; 

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2022/23; 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2022/23; 

 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2022/23; 

 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2022/23. 

 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is asked to recommend to full Council that: 

2.1  The changes to the prudential indicators be approved. 

2.2 The report and the treasury activity be noted.  

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1 This Council is required through regulations issued under the Local Government 
Act 2003 to produce a mid year treasury report reviewing treasury management 
activities and the prudential and treasury indicators for 2022/23. This report 
meets the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (revised 2017). 

3.2 This Council is also required under the Code to give prior scrutiny to the 
treasury management reports by the Policy Development Committee before 
they are reported to the full Council.   

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 

4. Report 

  

4.1 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
update 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23 was approved by 
this Council on 23rd February 2022.   

The underlying TMSS approved previously requires revision in the light of economic 
and operational movements during the year.  The proposed changes are set out below: 

 

Prudential Indicator 2022/23 
Original 

Estimate  

£000 

Revised 
Prudential 
Indicator 

£000 

Capital Financing Requirement  29,265 24,929 

Operational Boundary  24,665 10,528 

Maturity Structure of borrowing over 
between 12 months to 2 years – 
Upper Limit 

60% 70% 

 

Section 4.3 of this report gives further information on the Capital Financial Requirement 
and the Operational Boundary. The change to the upper borrowing limit between 12 
months and 2 years will allow greater flexibility for short term borrowing given the 
current interest rate forecast.   

4.2 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators) 

This part of the report is structured to update: 

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

 How these plans are being financed; 

 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and 

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 

This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since 
the capital programme was agreed at the budget.   

 

 

 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



 

Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme   

The table below draws together the capital expenditure plans (above), and the 
expected financing arrangements of this capital expenditure.  The borrowing element 
of the table increases the underlying indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced in part by revenue 
charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital Expenditure by Service 2022/23 

Original 

Estimate 

£000 

Current 
Position 

30/09/22 

£000 

2022/23 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

Customer Focus 946 3 255 

Environmental Enhancement 2,050 1,867 3,219 

Governance 0 0 0 

Place & Regeneration 10,122 1,075 7,580 

Planning, Housing & Health 2,715 556 1,759 

Total 15,833 3,501 12,813 

Capital Expenditure 2022/23 

Original 

Estimate 

£000 

2022/23 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

Total capital spend 15,833 12,813 

Financed by:   

Capital receipts  150 200 

Capital grants 8,994 7,614 

Capital reserves 996 1,673 

Total financing 10,140 9,487 

Borrowing requirement 5,693 3,326 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 

4.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary 

The table below shows the borrowing requirement (above), the reduction for the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and impact on the CFR, which is the underlying 
external need to incur borrowing for a capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt 
position over the period, which is termed the Operational Boundary. 

 

 

 

 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

The forecast Capital Financing Requirement has decreased by circa £4.3m from the 
original budget. This is due to the re-profiling of the capital programme with expenditure 
being slipped to future financial years for projects such as Seven Brethren 
redevelopment and Green Lane capital improvements.   

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt 

The forecast external PWLB borrowing has decreased by £13.5m from the original 
budget in part by the reduced capital expenditure as above and higher year end cash 
flow balance projections. Section 4.5 looks at the borrowing strategy in more detail.   

 

 2022/23 

Original 

Estimate 

£000 

2022/23 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

Borrowing requirement 5,693 3,326 

Finance Leases – Capital 
costs 

1,097 769 

Minimum Revenue Provision  (734) (733) 

Finance Lease Principal 
Payments (MRP) 

(153) (132) 

Movement in CFR  5,903 3,230 

Revised Total CFR 29,265 24,929 

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for 
external debt 

Borrowing  22,500 9,000 

Other long term liabilities  2,165 1,528 

Total debt (year-end position) 24,665 10,528 

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



 

4.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity 

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that 
over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a 
capital purpose.  Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR 
for 2022/23 and next two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early 
borrowing for future years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in 
advance of need, which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.   

 

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the 
Authorised Limit that represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and 
needs to be set and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while 
not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer 
term.  It is the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected 
movements. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Extraordinary Council meeting held on 14th June 2021 approved the increase in 
the authorised borrowing limit to £37.5m as part of the report detailing the purchase of 
a strategic asset. 

 

 

 2022/23 

Original 

Estimate 

£000 

Current 
Position 

30/09/22 

£000 

2022/23 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

Borrowing  22,500 3,000 9,000 

Other Long term Liabilities  2,165  1,528 

Total debt 24,665  10,528 

CFR (year end position) 29,265  24,929 

Authorised limit for external 
debt 

2022/23 

Original 
Indicator  

£000 

2022/23 

Revised 
Indicator 

£000 

Borrowing 33,000 33,000 

Other long term liabilities 4,500 4,500 

Total 37,500 37,500 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 

4.5 Borrowing 

The Council’s forecast capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2022/23 is £24.9m. The 
CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  If the CFR 
is positive the Council may borrow from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), or the 
market (external borrowing), or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal 
borrowing).  The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by 
market conditions.   

At present, the Council has projected total external borrowing of £9m with £1.5m long 
term liabilities (finance leases) whilst utilising £14.4m of cash flow funds in lieu of 
borrowing (internal borrowing).  This is a prudent and cost effective approach in the 
current economic climate and reduces the net interest cost to the Council, but will 
require ongoing monitoring of economic conditions and our own cash flow balances to 
support the internal borrowing.  

The cash balances have allowed external borrowing to remain at £3m as at 30th 
September. The current forecast is for an additional £6m of external borrowing during 
the financial year, but the exact amount will depend on any capital spend slippages 
and our cash flow balances towards the financial year end. Given current market 
volatility any borrowing undertaken is likely to be short term, as PWLB rates are 
expected to fall back as Bank Rate is reduced in a couple financial years’ time.  

 

 

PWLB Rates 1st April 2022 to 30th September 2022 

 

 

 

1.40%

1.80%

2.20%

2.60%

3.00%

3.40%

3.80%

4.20%

4.60%

5.00%

5.40%

5.80%

PWLB Rates 1.4.22 - 30.9.22

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 50 year target %

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

4.6 Debt Rescheduling 
 
Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate 
and following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields which have 
impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt rescheduling has 
therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year.   

 
4.7 Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 
 
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable 
borrowing limits. During the half year ended 30th September 2022, the Council has 
operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2022/23.  The Chief Finance Officer reports that 
no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with these 
indicators.    
 
All treasury management operations have also been conducted in full compliance with 
the Council's Treasury Management Practices. 

 

4.8 Annual Investment Strategy 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23, which includes 
the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 23rd February 2022.  
In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice, it sets out the 
Council’s investment priorities as being: 
 Security of capital 
 Liquidity 
 Yield 
 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk 
appetite. In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value available 
in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, using the Link 
suggested creditworthiness approach. 
 
 
 
 
 

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

Low 1.95% 2.18% 2.36% 2.52% 2.25%

Date 01/04/2022 13/05/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022

High 5.11% 5.44% 5.35% 5.80% 5.51%

Date 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022

Average 2.81% 2.92% 3.13% 3.44% 3.17%

Spread 3.16% 3.26% 2.99% 3.28% 3.26%

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



 

Creditworthiness. 
 
Following the Government’s fiscal event on 23rd September, both S&P and Fitch have 
placed the UK sovereign debt rating on Negative Outlook, reflecting a downside bias 
to the current ratings in light of expectations of weaker finances and the economic 
outlook. 
 
 
Investment Counterparty criteria 
The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is 
meeting the requirement of the treasury management function  
 
Investment balances 

The Council held £17m of investments as at 30 September 2022 (£18m at 31 March 
2022) and the investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year was 0.59% 
against the benchmark 7 day SONIA rate of 1.19%.  

The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2022/23 was £35,000. As at 30th 
September 2022 £59,556 investment interest was earned in the half-year period. In 
addition, using the cash flow balances for internal borrowing has reduced the 
borrowing costs on the expenditure budget and we are currently forecasting a 
£160,000 underspend on the interest payable budget for the year. As outlined in the 
Quarter 2 Performance and Financial Management report, it is proposed to place this 
amount into a new Treasury Management reserve to mitigate against higher interest 
rates as we move into the 2023/24 financial year. 

The Chief Financial Officer confirms that the approved limits within the Annual 
Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 2022/23. 

 

Non-Treasury Management Investments 

The PWLB will no longer provide loans for ‘debt for yield’ projects where financial 
assets and property are purchased primarily for financial return. This would also mean 
no PWLB loans for the rest of the capital programme in that year. 

The Chief Finance Officer confirms there have been no ‘debt for yield’ projects included 
in the current capital programme.  

 

Bank Rate & SONIA rates 1st April 2022 to 30th September 2022 

 

 
  

QUARTER ENDED 30/9/2022

Bank Rate SONIA 7 day 30 day 90 day 180 day 365 day

High 2.25 2.19 2.19 1.82 1.55 1.22 0.73

High Date 22/09/2022 30/09/2022 30/09/2022 30/09/2022 30/09/2022 30/09/2022 30/09/2022

Low 0.75 0.69 0.69 0.57 0.39 0.23 0.14

Low Date 01/04/2022 28/04/2022 29/04/2022 01/04/2022 01/04/2022 01/04/2022 01/04/2022

Average 1.28 1.22 1.19 1.11 0.91 0.67 0.37

Spread 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.26 1.16 0.99 0.58

Page 26

Agenda Item 6



 

5. Resource Implications 
  
 5.1 As detailed in the report. 
 
6. Equalities Assessment 
 
 6.1 There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report, as 

the purpose of this report is to present the Council’s financial position only. 
 
7.  Environmental Assessment 
 
 7.1  As at 30th September the Council held funds in a sustainable deposit account. 

These deposits have an underlying commitment to supporting activities that 
provide sustainable and environmentally friendly services and products.  

8. Constitutional CONTEXT 

8.1 Part 3 Annexe 1, para 1(c) – delegated power 

8.2 Article 4.5.26 and Part 4 (Financial Procedure Rules) para 13.8 - referred 

power  

9.  Statement Of Confidentiality 
 

8.1 This report contains no confidential or exempt information under the provisions 
of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

 

9. Statement Of Internal Advice 

 
9.1  The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate  
  Councillors and Officers. 
 
 
Jon Triggs, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive  

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A: ECONOMICS AND INTEREST RATES 

 

1) Economic Update 

 The second quarter of 2022/23 saw:  

- GDP revised upwards in Q1 2022/23 to +0.2% q/q from -0.1%, which means the 
UK economy has avoided recession for the time being; 

- Signs of economic activity losing momentum as production fell due to rising energy 
prices;  

- CPI inflation ease to 9.9% y/y in August, having been 9.0% in April, but domestic 
price pressures showing little sign of abating in the near-term;  

- The unemployment rate fall to a 48-year low of 3.6% due to a large shortfall in 
labour supply; 

- Bank Rate rise by 100bps over the quarter, taking Bank Rate to 2.25% with further 
rises to come;  

- Gilt yields surge and sterling fall following the “fiscal event” of the new Prime 
Minister and Chancellor on 23rd September. 

 The UK economy grew by 0.2% q/q in Q1 2022/23, though revisions to historic data left 
it below pre-pandemic levels. 

 There are signs of higher energy prices creating more persistent downward effects in 
economic activity. Both industrial production (-0.3% m/m) and construction output (-
0.8% m/m) fell in July 2022 for a second month in a row. Although some of this was 
probably due to the heat wave at the time, manufacturing output fell in some of the most 
energy intensive sectors (e.g., chemicals), pointing to signs of higher energy prices 
weighing on production. With the drag on real activity from high inflation having grown 
in recent months, GDP is at risk of contracting through the autumn and winter months.  

 The fall in the composite PMI from 49.6 in August to a 20-month low preliminary reading 
of 48.4 in September points to a fall in GDP of around 0.2% q/q in Q3 and consumer 
confidence is at a record low. Retail sales volumes fell by 1.6% m/m in August, which 
was the ninth fall in 10 months. That left sales volumes in August just 0.5% above their 
pre-Covid level and 3.3% below their level at the start of the year. There are also signs 
that households are spending their excess savings in response to high prices. Indeed, 
cash in households’ bank accounts rose by £3.2bn in August, which was below the 
£3.9bn rise in July and much smaller than the 2019 average monthly rate of £4.6bn.  

 The labour market remained exceptionally tight. Data for July and August provided 
further evidence that the weaker economy is leading to a cooling in labour demand. 
Labour Force Survey (LFS) employment rose by 40,000 in the three months to July (the 
smallest rise since February). But a renewed rise in inactivity of 154,000 over the same 
period meant that the unemployment rate fell from 3.8% in June to a new 48-year low 
of 3.6%. The single-month data showed that inactivity rose by 354,000 in July itself and 
there are now 904,000 more inactive people aged 16+ compared to before the 
pandemic in February 2020. The number of vacancies has started to level off from 
recent record highs but there have been few signs of a slowing in the upward 
momentum on wage growth. Indeed, in July, the 3my/y rate of average earnings growth 
rose from 5.2% in June to 5.5%. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6
Appendix a



 CPI inflation eased from 10.1% in July to 9.9% in August, though inflation has not 
peaked yet. The easing in August was mainly due to a decline in fuel prices reducing 
fuel inflation from 43.7% to 32.1%. And with the oil price now just below $90pb, we 
would expect to see fuel prices fall further in the coming months.  

 However, utility price inflation is expected to add 0.7% to CPI inflation in October when 
the Ofgem unit price cap increases to, typically, £2,500 per household (prior to any 
benefit payments). But, as the government has frozen utility prices at that level for two 
years, energy price inflation will fall sharply after October and have a big downward 
influence on CPI inflation.  

 Nonetheless, the rise in services CPI inflation from 5.7% y/y in July to a 30-year high 
of 5.9% y/y in August suggests that domestic price pressures are showing little sign of 
abating. A lot of that is being driven by the tight labour market and strong wage growth. 
CPI inflation is expected to peak close to 10.4% in November and, with the supply of 
workers set to remain unusually low, the tight labour market will keep underlying 
inflationary pressures strong until early next year. 

 During H1 2022, there has been a change of both Prime Minister and Chancellor.  The 
new team (Liz Truss and Kwasi Kwarteng) have made a step change in government 
policy. The government’s huge fiscal loosening from its proposed significant tax cuts 
will add to existing domestic inflationary pressures and will potentially leave a legacy of 
higher interest rates and public debt. Whilst the government’s utility price freeze, which 
could cost up to £150bn (5.7% of GDP) over 2 years, will reduce peak inflation from 
14.5% in January next year to 10.4% in November this year, the long list of tax 
measures announced at the “fiscal event” adds up to a loosening in fiscal policy relative 
to the previous government’s plans of £44.8bn (1.8% of GDP) by 2026/27. These 
included the reversal of April’s national insurance tax on 6th November, the cut in the 
basic rate of income tax from 20p to 19p in April 2023, the cancellation of next April’s 
corporation tax rise, the cut to stamp duty and the removal of the 45p tax rate, although 
the 45p tax rate cut announcement has already been reversed.  

 Fears that the government has no fiscal anchor on the back of these announcements 
has meant that the pound has weakened again, adding further upward pressure to 
interest rates. Whilst the pound fell to a record low of $1.035 on the Monday following 
the government’s “fiscal event”, it has since recovered to around $1.12. That is due to 
hopes that the Bank of England will deliver a very big rise in interest rates at the policy 
meeting on 3rd November and the government will lay out a credible medium-term plan 
in the near term. This was originally expected as part of the fiscal statement on 23rd 
November but has subsequently been moved forward to an expected release date in 
October.  Nevertheless, with concerns over a global recession growing, there are 
downside risks to the pound.  

 The MPC has now increased interest rates seven times in as many meetings in 2022 
and has raised rates to their highest level since the Global Financial Crisis. Even so, 
coming after the Fed and ECB raised rates by 75 basis points (bps) in their most recent 
meetings, the Bank of England’s latest 50 basis points hike looks relatively dovish. 
However, the UK’s status as a large importer of commodities, which have jumped in 
price, means that households in the UK are now facing a much larger squeeze on their 
real incomes.  

 Since the fiscal event on 23rd September, we now expect the Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) to increase interest rates further and faster, from 2.25% currently to 
a peak of 5.00% in February 2023. The combination of the government’s fiscal 
loosening, the tight labour market and sticky inflation expectations means we expect 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6
Appendix a



the MPC to raise interest rates by 100bps at the policy meetings in November (to 
3.25%) and 75 basis points in December (to 4%) followed by further 50 basis point 
hikes in February and March (to 5.00%).  Market expectations for what the MPC will do 
are volatile. If Bank Rate climbs to these levels the housing market looks very 
vulnerable, which is one reason why the peak in our forecast is lower than the peak of 
5.50% - 5.75% priced into the financial markets at present.  

 Throughout 2022/23, gilt yields have been on an upward trend.  They were initially 
caught up in the global surge in bond yields triggered by the surprisingly strong rise in 
CPI inflation in the US in May. The rises in two-year gilt yields (to a peak of 2.37% on 
21st June) and 10-year yields (to a peak of 2.62%) took them to their highest level since 
2008 and 2014 respectively. However, the upward trend was exceptionally sharply at 
the end of September as investors demanded a higher risk premium and expected 
faster and higher interest rate rises to offset the government’s extraordinary fiscal 
stimulus plans. The 30-year gilt yield rose from 3.60% to 5.10% following the “fiscal 
event”, which threatened financial stability by forcing pension funds to sell assets into 
a falling market to meet cash collateral requirements. In response, the Bank did two 
things. First, it postponed its plans to start selling some of its quantitative easing (QE) 
gilt holdings until 31st October. Second, it committed to buy up to £65bn of long-term 
gilts to “restore orderly market conditions” until 14th October. In other words, the Bank 
is restarting QE, although for financial stability reasons rather than monetary policy 
reasons.  

 Since the Bank’s announcement on 28th September, the 30-year gilt yield has fallen 
back from 5.10% to 3.83%. The 2-year gilt yield dropped from 4.70% to 4.30% and the 
10-year yield fell back from 4.55% to 4.09%.  

 There is a possibility that the Bank continues with QE at the long-end beyond 14th 

October or it decides to delay quantitative tightening beyond 31st October, even as it 
raises interest rates. So far at least, investors seem to have taken the Bank at its word 
that this is not a change in the direction of monetary policy nor a step towards monetary 
financing of the government’s deficit. But instead, that it is a temporary intervention with 
financial stability in mind.  

 After a shaky start to the year, the S&P 500 and FTSE 100 climbed in the first half of 
Q2 2022/23 before falling to their lowest levels since November 2020 and July 2021 
respectively. The S&P 500 is 7.2% below its level at the start of the quarter, whilst the 
FTSE 100 is 5.2% below it as the fall in the pound has boosted the value of overseas 
earnings in the index. The decline has, in part, been driven by the rise in global real 
yields and the resulting downward pressure on equity valuations as well as concerns 
over economic growth leading to a deterioration in investor risk appetite.   

Page 31

Agenda Item 6
Appendix a



2) Interest rate forecasts  

The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisors and part of their service is 
to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The PWLB rate forecasts below 
are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 20 bps) which has been 
accessible to most authorities since 1st November 2012.  

The latest forecast on 27th September sets out a view that both short and long-dated 
interest rates will be elevated for some little while, as the Bank of England seeks to squeeze 
inflation out of the economy, whilst the government is providing a package of fiscal 
loosening to try and protect households and businesses from the ravages of ultra-high 
wholesale gas and electricity prices.   

The increase in PWLB rates reflects a broad sell-off in sovereign bonds internationally but 
more so the disaffection investors have with the position of the UK public finances after 
September’s “fiscal event”.  To that end, the MPC has tightened short-term interest rates 
with a view to trying to slow the economy sufficiently to keep the secondary effects of 
inflation – as measured by wage rises – under control, but its job is that much harder now.   

Our PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 
20 bps, calculated as gilts plus 80bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 
1st November 2012.  

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6
Appendix a



 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: Strategy and Resources Committee: 7th November 2022 

Topic: Performance and Financial Management Quarter 2 of 2022/23 

Report by: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This is one of the series of regular quarterly reports on the council's overall 

operational and financial performance. The report covers financial as well as 

operational performance. It mainly covers the quarter from July to Sept 2022, 

but also looks at the whole year. 
1.2. Sections 4 deals with headline financial performance.  More detailed 

performance information is available in Appendix E. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the actions being taken to ensure that performance is at the desired 

level be noted. 
2.2. That the contributions to/from earmarked reserves be approved (section 4.2) 

2.3. That the movement on the Strategic Contingency Reserve (section 4.3) be 

noted. 

2.4. The Council approve the variations to the Capital Programme 2022/23 to 

2025/26 (sections 4.4.3) 

2.5. That funds are released for the capital schemes listed in section 4.4.11 

2.6. That the sections dealing with Treasury Management (section 4.5), and Debt 

Management (sections 4.6 and 4.7) be noted. 

 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. To ensure that appropriate action is taken to allow the council to meet its 

objectives.  

3.2. To inform Members of actual results compared to approved Corporate Plan, 

as well as progress in delivering services within the revenue budget and 

Capital Programme. 

 

4. Financial Performance 

4.1. Revenue 

4.1.1.  The revenue budget for 2022/23 was approved at Council on 23rd 

February 2022 at £13,721,640. 

4.1.2.  As at 30th September 2022, the latest forecast net budget is 

£13,681,640, which produces a forecast budget surplus of £40,000. 

Details are shown in “Appendix A – Variations in the Revenue Budget” 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 
4.1.3.  The original budget for 2022/23 includes a forecast to achieve 

£250,000 worth of salary vacancy savings.  The current position 

forecasts we will achieve £441,000.  The additional £191,000 is due to 

timings of filling the capacity building posts throughout the year which 

were approved as part of the original 2022/23 budget. 

4.1.4. Temporary Accommodation is under additional cost pressure due to 

the increase in homelessness cases; the in-year impact of this £200,000 

forecast increase in costs has been mitigated by utilising balances from 

the Homelessness earmarked reserve.  Whilst this has alleviated the 

pressure this year, it does mean this one-off amount from the 

homelessness reserve can’t be utilised for other homelessness 

initiatives. 

4.1.5. Within the joint Building Control partnership with Mid Devon DC there 

has been a decline in income and due to challenges in recruiting to 

vacant posts, an increase in the use of agency staffing costs which has 

negatively impacted the trading account.  We are now forecasting a net 

deficit for the Council of £67,000, this includes utilising a £50,000 

contribution from the Building Control reserve built up through prior year 

trading surpluses.   

4.1.6. Further to the report to Strategy and Resources committee on 4th July 

which detailed the in-year inflationary pressures that the Council were 

likely to experience this year, most of these are still in line with the July 

forecast except the potential additional employee costs from the staff pay 

award being negotiated which is now being predicted at a higher cost 

following the National Employers pay offer to the Unions. 

4.1.7. The largest variance within Appendix A is the £804,000 National pay 

award potential additional staffing costs over and above the £280,000 

already built into the base budget; this estimate is based on the offered 

pay award put forward to the Unions by the National Employers pay 

review body for the 2022-23 year. The pay offer put forwards is based 

upon £1,925 per full time equivalent employee. 

4.1.8. Other inflationary pressures built into the forecast include additional 

fuel costs across our fleet of £104,000 and additional energy costs of 

£63,000.  To date we have not included any further general supplies and 

services inflationary increases as we will endeavour to control and 

manage these in year through the existing budgetary framework. 

4.1.9. The inflationary cost pressures mentioned above we are looking to 

fund in-year through utilisation of the budget management reserve; this 

reserve, which was set aside to deal with fluctuations within the budget 

and built up over the last couple of financial years, has provided the 

Council with the protection needed in 2022/23.  Moving forwards to future 

years 2023/24 onwards, we won’t have the benefit of this level of 

protection and the inflationary pressures being experienced this year will 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



 
continue onto the future year’s budget gap previously highlighted to 

Members. 

4.1.10.  The other significant in-year cost pressure that hasn’t been 

included in the current figures yet is the award of costs claim in relation to 

the Yelland planning appeal; once this amount is known a report will be 

brought to Members detailing the award of costs amount and setting out 

how the Council will be funding this cost. 

4.1.11. As at 31st March 2022 the Collection Fund reserve balance was 

£5,722,000.  This earmarked reserve was created to deal with the timing 

impacts of the Collection Fund (Business Rates), which ensures the 

revenue budget is not unduly affected in the year the taxes are collected.  

Collection Fund deficits/surpluses are reversed out to bring the revenue 

account back to the budgeted figure for the year; the deficits/surpluses 

are recovered/distributed in the following financial years.  

4.1.12. This reserve includes a £4,523,000 balance that will be utilised 

in 2022/23 and 2023/24 to mitigate timing differences of business rate 

reliefs awarded in 2021/22 that from an accounting perspective impact 

over the next two financial years; and an in-year £400,000 transfer into 

the budget management reserve to replenish this reserve balance to help 

mitigate future budget fluctuations, thus leaving the fund reserve with a 

residual balance of £800,000 protection against future volatility.  This 

level of reserve protects the Council against a 40% share of a £2million 

overall Business Rates income volatility. 

4.1.13.  At the 30th September 2022 total external borrowing was 

£3,000,000.  The timing of any future borrowing is dependent on how the 

authority manages its treasury activity and due to current low interest rates 

and reduced returns on investments it is prudent for the Council to 

‘internally borrow’ and use these monies to fund the Capital Programme.  

This has resulted in a forecast £160,000 reduction in loan interest 

payments in 2022/23 and it is proposed to place this amount into a new 

Treasury Management reserve to mitigate against higher interest rates as 

we move into the 2023/24 financial year. 

4.1.14. The recommended level of general fund balance is 5%-10% of 

the council’s net revenue budget £686,082 to £1,372,164.  The forecast 

general fund reserve at 31 March 2023 is £1,211,000, which is a level of 

8.8%. 
 

4.2. Earmarked Reserves 2022/23 

4.2.1. “Appendix B – Movement in reserves and Balances” details the 

movements to and from earmarked reserves in 2022/23 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 
4.3. Strategic Contingency Reserve  

4.3.1. Full details of the Strategic Contingency Reserve movements and 

commitments are attached as “Appendix C – Strategic Contingency 

Reserve” 

 

4.4. Capital 

4.4.1. The 2022/23 Capital Programme is attached as “Appendix D – Capital 

Programme 2022/23” 

4.4.2. The Budget and Financial Framework report to Full Council 23rd Feb 

2022 outlined the Capital Programme for the 2022/23 financial year of 

£15,833,023.  Project underspend of £2,031,062 were bought forward 

from 2021/22 year and further variations of £873,280 were approved as 

part of the performance and financial management report to Strategy and 

Resources Committee, to produce a revised 2022/23 Capital Programme 

of £18,737,365. 

4.4.3. Overall variations of (£5,924,591) are proposed to the 2022/23 Capital 

Programme as follows: 

  Other variations (+ and -) to 2022/23 Capital Programme £743,723 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

Scheme Amount (£) Notes 

S106 - Fremington Parish 

Council, Multi Use Games Area, 

Tews Lane, Roundswell 

111,100 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

S106 - Tawstock Parish Council 

to enhance Tower View 

Recreation Area 

15,002 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

S106 - Barnstaple and Pilton 

Cricket club, Clubhouse 

enhancements at Raleigh 

Meadow, Barnstaple 

25,938 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

S106 - Landkey Town Football 

Club, access and storage 

improvements at Millenium 

Green, Landkey 

7,900 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

S106 - Tawstock Village Hall 

Enhancements 

16,181 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

S106 - Crematorium works and 

creation of memorial gardens 

39,704 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

S106 - Public realm 

improvements at Library Square, 

Barnstaple 

62,637 Strategy and 

Resources committee 

5th September 2022 

 Harbour Infrastructure 166,585 October 2022 PAG 

bid funded from the 

Repairs fund. (Total 

project cost 

£430,489, with 

£47,669 being vired 

from another capital 

scheme and 

£216,235 being 

added in 2023/24 and 

fully funded from 

external grant 

income. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

Scheme Amount (£) Notes 

Ilfracombe Watersports 

Commercial Complex 

177,328 October 2022 PAG 

bid paid for by PWLB 

borrowing and funded 

fully from additional 

revenue income. 

ICT VDI Licenses 

 

70,000 October 2022 PAG 

bid funded from the 

ICT reserve 

Fremington River Wall repair 51,348 October 2022 PAG 

bid funded from the 

Repairs fund 

 

 Budget virement (transfer) between projects 2022/23 

Scheme Amount 

(£) 

Notes 

Marine Drive Car Park resurfacing (47,669) Virement to Harbour 

Infrastructure 

Harbour Infrastructure 47,669 Virement from Marine 

Drive Car Park 

resurfacing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



 
 Project movements (to)/from future years (£6,668,314) 

Scheme Amount (£) Notes 

Office Technology fund (385,500) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Pannier Market Re-roofing 

works 

(452,098) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Alexander Road - Access 

Improvements 

(486,711) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Acquisition of Corporate 

Property 

(250,000) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Future high Street Fund 164,931 Bring forward 

spend and 

funding from 

2023/24 

21 Social Rents at 

Woolacombe 

(630,000) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2024/25 

Public Maintenance - Public 

House corner of castle street 

(90,000) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Green Lanes Shopping 

Centre 

(1,833,723) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Planned Maintenance Seven 

Brethren 

(109,250) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Barnstaple Bus Station 

refurbishment 

(26,394) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Material Recovery Facility - 

Infrastructure 

(741,610) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

Land release Fund - Seven 

Brethren 

(1,827,959) Slip spend and 

funding to 

2023/24 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



 
 Other variations to the 23/24 Capital Programme £1,150,000 

Scheme Amount 

(£) 

Notes 

Harbour Infrastructure 216,235 October 2022 PAG, 

grant funded 

Seven Brethren Flood Defence 1,150,000 S106 funding 

 

4.4.4. The revised Capital Programme for 2022/23 taking into account the 

budget variations above is £12,812,774.  

4.4.5. The revised Capital Programme for 2023/24 taking into account the 

budget variation above is £14,767,483. 

4.4.6. Actual spend on the 2022/23 Capital Programme as at 30th September 

2022 is £3,502,949. 

4.4.7. The overall Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2025/26 is £29,122,631 

and is broken down as follows: 

 2022/23 £12,812,774 

 2023/24 £14,767,483 

 2024/25 £1,472,374 

 2025/26 £70,000 

4.4.8. The Programme of £29,122,631 is funded by Capital Receipts / 

Borrowing (£11,119,824), External Grants and Contributions 

(£15,259,161) and Reserves (£2,743,646). 

4.4.9. The timing and realisation of capital receipts can be impacted by 

events beyond the control of the Council and we have been able to 

manage cash flows for projects through internal borrowing. 

4.4.10. We also have authority to borrow from the Public Works Loan 

Board (PWLB) as outlined in the Treasury Management Annual 

Investment Strategy and the Council currently has external borrowing of 

£3,000,000. 

4.4.11. Release of Funds – Capital Programme 

  All S106 schemes approved at Strategy and Resources on 5th 

September 2022, total £278,462 

  Harbour Infrastructure PAG bid £430,489 

  Watersports Commercial Complex £177,328 

  ICT VDI Licenses £70,000 

  Fremington Quay River Wall repair £51,348 

 Seven Brethren Flood Defence £1,150,000 

 

4.5. Treasury management 

4.5.1.  Bank Rate increased to 1.75% on 4th August 2022 and again to 2.25% 

on 22th September 2022. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 
4.5.2.  The Council’s new benchmark rate 7 day SONIA (Sterling Overnight 

Index Average) at 30th September 2022, was 1.19%. 

4.5.3.  The return earned on the Council’s investments was 0.59%. (Previous 

0.05%) 

4.5.4.  £59,556 investment interest was earned during the half year period. 

(2022/23 interest receivable budget was £35,000) 

4.5.5.  As at 30th September 2022, the Council had total external borrowing of 

£3,000,000. 

4.5.6.  £30,257 interest was paid at an average rate of 2.01% on PWLB loans 

during the half year period. (2022/23 interest payable budget was 

£345,000) 

 

4.6. Debt Management 

4.6.1.  The major areas of credit income are Council Tax, Business Rates, 

Housing Benefit overpayment Recoveries and General Debtors. 

4.6.2.  As billing authority, the Council annually raises the bills for Council Tax 

(£69,000,000) and Business Rates (£32,000,000). 

4.6.3.  Collection rates are controlled through monitoring: 

 The level of write offs 

 Levels of previous years’ outstanding debt 

 The level of income collection in the year against the annual sums 

due to be collected. 

4.6.4.  The council’s budget is based on the assumptions that eventually 97% 

of sums due will be collected.  To ensure this level is achieved, year on 

year levels of write offs approved are controlled against a ceiling of 3% of 

annual debt. 

4.6.5.  The outstanding amounts at 30th September 2022 are as set out 

below: 

 Council Tax Business Rates 

Age in Years 2021/22 

£’000 

2022/23 

£’000 

2021/22 

£’000 

2022/23 

£’000 

1 – 2 1,742 1,650 289 290 

2 – 3 1,052 998 423 132 

3 – 4 608 744 163 216 

4 – 5 396 480 65 59 

5 – 6 238 314 42 34 

Over 6 373 253 53 62 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 
4.6.6. Irrecoverable debts from previous years not exceeding £1,500 can be 

written off with the authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer.  Decisions 

on whether to write off debts over £1,500 rest with the Chief Financial 

Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council.  As at 30th 

September 2022 the amount of accounts written off was as follows: 

Less than £1,500  More than £1,500 

No. of 

accounts 

Amount  No. of 

accounts 

Amount 

850 £27,726.00 Council 

Tax 

67 £105,066.41* 

39 £6,014 Business 

Rates 

16 £58,874.63** 

72 £17,216.06 Housing 

Benefits 

1 £16,125.14 

 * £75,638.57 due to bankruptcy (see section 4.6.8) 

 ** £0.00 due to bankruptcy (see section 4.6.8) 

4.6.7.  The monitoring of in year collection carried out against national 

performance indicators targets sums collected in year as a percentage of 

the Net Sums due for that year. 

4.6.8.  The majority of the write offs are normally individual bankruptcy and 

company insolvency and in a number of cases include liabilities for 

previous years. In these cases we are unable to recover the debt.  

However, if at a later date a dividend is paid, the money is allocated to 

the account and the relevant amount written back on. 

4.6.9.  The other main reason for write offs is where the person has gone 

away (no trace).  However, write offs are reviewed and where we find the 

persons contact address the write off is reversed and recover action 

continues. 

4.6.10.  The levels of collections at 30th September 2022 are: 

Achieved 

2021/22 

Achieved 

2022/23 

Council tax 55.13% 55.80% 

Business rates 50.03% 59.61% 

 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



 
4.7. General Debtors 

4.7.1.  The level of general invoices raised was £6,200,000 at 30th September 

2022 (previous year £5,100,000) 

4.7.2.  A summary of the outstanding debt, by age, is set out below with 

comparison to the previous year. 

Age of debt 30 September 

2021 

30 September 

2022 

 £’000 £’000 

3 weeks to 6 months 880 1,663 

6 months to 1 year 110 98 

1 to 2 years 243 234 

2 to 6 years 550 491 

Over 6 years 
131 84 

TOTAL 
1,914 2,570 

4.7.3. The debt aged 3 weeks to 6 months above, included a one off invoice 

for £1,150,000 raised on 8th September 2022 in relation to flood defence 

contributions. Without this one-off invoice the total outstanding debt 

would have been £1,420,000 a reduction in aged debt of £494,000 from 

the previous year (reduction of 26%). 

4.7.4.  In according with the Constitution, irrecoverable debts not exceeding 

£1,500 can be written off with the authorisation of the Chief Financial 

Officer.  The Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the 

Council, must authorise the write offs of debts over £1,500. 

4.7.5.  As at 30th September 2022, the amounts written off were as follows: 

Number of 

Invoices 

Written offs - 

£1,500 & under 

Number of 

Invoices 

Written offs - 

over £1,500 

72 £36,615 10 £66,115 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. All revenue and Capital impacts have been discussed and highlighted in 

section 4. 

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. There are no equality implications anticipated as a result of this report. An 

Equality Impact Assessment has been completed. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 
 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1 There are not any environmental implications anticipated as a result of this 

report, as the purpose of this report is to monitor in year performance and 

financial monitoring.  Projects within the Capital Programme will have highlighted 

any specific environmental impacts associated with those individual schemes 

when they came forwards for initial funding.  The budget papers do contain an 

earmarked reserve for Environmental Initiatives which is a positive impact and 

has a balance of £47,000.  The Capital Programme includes an approved 

£80,000 project for changing existing lighting for low energy lamps and fittings 

within NDC occupied buildings. 

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1 The Revenue budget supports the wider delivery plan of the Council in 

achieving the corporate priorities. 

8.2 Individual schemes within the Capital Programme support the corporate 

priorities of improving customer focus, regeneration and commercialisation 

agenda and the environment. 

8.3 The acquisition of Green Lanes Shopping Centre and the Future High Street 

Fund capital projects have a positive impact on both the regeneration priority and 

also the commercialisation agenda. 

 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. Part 3, Annexe1 1 (e) - Delegated. 

9.2. Article 4.4 - Referred 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

10.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information 

under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

11.1. None 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

12.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all 

appropriate Councillors and Officers: Author Tony Rumble, Finance 

Manager; Date 19th October 2022 

 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A – Variations in the Revenue Budget 
 

Service and Cost Area Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Totals 

 £ £ £ 

Housing Benefit Subsidy Reduction 48,000 48,000 0 

Additional Government Grant (57,000) (57,000) 0 

Collection fund income (13,000) (13,000) 0 

Other (18,000) (24,000) (6,000) 

Customer Focus (40,000) (46,000) (6,000) 

Leisure Contract Management Fee 40,000 40,000 0 

Use of Leisure Centre Replacement Reserve (30,000) (30,000) 0 

Works & Recycling Employees 52,000 20,000 (32,000) 

Works & Recycling Vehicle fuel costs 198,000 104,000 (94,000) 

Works & Recycling Other Vehicle costs 129,000 123,000 (6,000) 

Works & Recycling Bad Debt Provision (32,000) (32,000) 0 

Works & Recycling Material Recovery Facility 0 22,000 22,000 

Works & Recycling Recycling Credits 50,000 46,000 (4,000) 

Works & Recycling Shared Savings Scheme 50,000 (30,000) (80,000) 

Works & Recycling Recycling Sales (124,000) (310,000) (186,000) 

Works & Recycling Garden Waste income 0 63,000 63,000 

Works & Recycling Other 9,000 16,000 7,000 

Environmental Enhancement 342,000 32,000 (310,000) 

Other 0 5,000 5,000 

Governance 0 5,000 5,000 

Car Parks income 49,000 64,000 15,000 

Lynton Agency 0 (50,000) (50,000) 

Cont to Repairs Fund 0 50,000 50,000 

Other 0 (1,000) (1,000) 

Place, Property & Regeneration 49,000 63,000 14,000 

Temporary Accommodation 120,000 200,000 80,000 

Use of Temporary Accommodation Reserve (120,000) (200,000) (80,000) 

Building Control Trading Statement 0 117,000 117,000 

Use of Joint Building Control Reserve 0 (50,000) (50,000) 

Other 3,000 (23,000) (26,000) 

Planning, Housing & Health 3,000 44,000 41,000 

National pay award potential higher cost 804,000 804,000 0 

Energy Costs 63,000 63,000 0 

Additional Employee Vacancy Savings 0 (191,000) (191,000) 

Business Rates - Benefit of pooling (100,000) (100,000) 0 

Business Rates - Additional income (150,000) (150,000) 0 

New Burdens Grant - Admin Energy rebate scheme (38,000) (38,000) 0 

Use of Budget Management Reserve (936,000) (936,000) 0 

Interest Receivable 0 (50,000) (50,000) 

Interest Payable 0 (160,000) (160,000) 

Cont to Treasury Management Reserve 0 160,000 160,000 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7
Appendix a



Cont to Budget Management Reserve 0 100,000 100,000 

Cont to Regeneration Reserve 0 100,000 100,000 

Cont to Material Recovery Facility Reserve 0 40,000 40,000 

Cont to Repairs Fund Reserve 0 220,000 220,000 

Other (357,000) (138,000) 219,000 

    

Total (3,000) (40,000) (37,000) 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7
Appendix a



Appendix B – Movement in Reserves and Balances 

Earmarked Reserves 

Closing 
Balance 

31st 
March 
2022 

Transfer 
to 

Reserves 

Transfer from 
Reserves (to 

Capital) 

Transfer 
from 

Reserves (to 
Revenue) 

Transfers 

Closing 
Balance 

31st March 
2023 

Collection Fund Reserve 5,721,950     -4,522,863 -400,000 799,087 

Budget Management Reserve 935,879 100,000   -935,879 436,000 536,000 

Crem Equipment Replacement Reserve 357,288         357,288 

Community Housing Fund-Hsg Enabling 464,142   0 -107,857   356,285 

Capital Funding Reserve 382,914   -32,731     350,183 

Transformation Reserve 315,155   -35,447 -9,700   270,008 

Local Plans Fund 255,850         255,850 

Crem Earmarked Reserve 230,560         230,560 

Regeneration Projects 0 200,000       200,000 

SFS Vehicle Tender Reserve 133,157 61,600       194,757 

Repairs Fund 1,347,360 619,760 -1,324,520 -449,428   193,172 

Rough Sleeper Initiative - DCLG grant 190,501         190,501 

Office Technology Reserve 324,209 115,000 -254,957     184,252 

Corporate Property Management Initiative 168,600         168,600 

Digital Transformation Financial Systems 189,849     -33,764   156,085 

Corporate Property Income Volatility 75,000 75,000       150,000 

Council Tax Support Scheme Reserve 176,393     -27,420   148,973 

Programme Delivery Reserve 125,000         125,000 

Strategic Contingency Reserve 143,842     -25,240   118,602 

Project Man Performance (Levelling Up) 149,000     -35,315   113,685 

Economic Development Reserve 217,001     -105,014   111,987 

Tarka Tennis Surface replacement 96,873 13,000       109,873 

W&R Covid Toilet Cleaning 150,000     -54,330   95,670 

Vehicle Renewals Fund 182,450   -98,730     83,720 

District Council Election 50,000 25,000       75,000 

New Homes Bonus Reserve 65,063   0     65,063 

Rechargeable Works Reserve 49,641         49,641 

Environmental Initiatives 49,160     -2,150   47,010 

Prevention CLG Grant Reserve 45,317         45,317 

Next Step Accom Programme 43,451         43,451 

Material Recovery Facility Reserve 0 40,000       40,000 

Climate & Environmental Grants 20,000 20,000       40,000 

Self Build & Custom Housebuild 69,547     -30,000   39,547 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix b



Earmarked Reserves 

Closing 
Balance 

31st 
March 
2022 

Transfer 
to 

Reserves 

Transfer from 
Reserves (to 

Capital) 

Transfer 
from 

Reserves (to 
Revenue) 

Transfers 

Closing 
Balance 

31st March 
2023 

External Legal Services Reserve 44,565     -6,000   38,565 

Economic Financial Hardship 66,579     -28,600   37,979 

Community Consultation 37,074     -800   36,274 

Members Technology Reserve 29,224 6,070       35,294 

Neighbourhood Planning 34,517         34,517 

CCTV Reserve 27,540   0     27,540 

Car Parking Reserve 27,036         27,036 

P C Planned Maintenance Fund 40,156   -13,761     26,395 

Brownfield Land Registers & Permission 26,263         26,263 

Crem Budget Management Reserve 25,477         25,477 

Brexit Exports EH 25,000         25,000 

RS Rapid Rehoming Pathway 23,956         23,956 

IER Funding 22,032         22,032 

HR Payroll 20,013         20,013 

External Audit 15,952         15,952 

Internal Audit Plan 14,927         14,927 

Ilfracombe Harbour Security 14,770         14,770 

Ilfracombe Watersports Centre Reserve 43,626     -29,239   14,387 

Lynton Agency Reserve 13,522         13,522 

Litter Bin Strategy 10,000         10,000 

Museum development fund 32,454     -23,651   8,803 

Parks Reserve 6,321         6,321 

Noise Equipment reserve 4,129 2,000       6,129 

Town & Parish Fund 5,159         5,159 

Greensweep Replacement Fund 32,903   -2,703 -25,180   5,020 

Health and Safety Reserve 19,530     -15,080   4,450 

Future High Street Fund FHSF 4,221         4,221 

Ilfracombe Harbour Repairs 23,740     -19,980   3,760 

Pannier Market 1,872         1,872 

Habitat Directive Reserve 945         945 

Local Welfare Support reserve 541         541 

Office Accommodation Reserve 41         41 

Planning Enquiries Fund 69,783     -69,783   0 

Second Homes Council Tax Reserve 0         0 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix b



Earmarked Reserves 

Closing 
Balance 

31st 
March 
2022 

Transfer 
to 

Reserves 

Transfer from 
Reserves (to 

Capital) 

Transfer 
from 

Reserves (to 
Revenue) 

Transfers 

Closing 
Balance 

31st March 
2023 

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 345,118     -345,118   0 

Community Protection Vehicles Reserve 30,000 6,000     -36,000 0 

Specialist Domestic Abuse Reserve 36,539     -36,539   0 

Building Control Reserve 50,065     -50,065   0 

Development Control Fund 99,600     -99,600   0 

Food Safety 67,103     -67,103   0 

Improvement Programme Reserve 0   0     0 

ICT Cyber Treatment 150,000     -150,000   0 

Covid Outbreak Management Fund 
(COMF) 33,962     -33,962   0 

Collection Fund Reserve (Council Tax) 106,157     -106,157   0 

Leisure Centre Replacement Reserve 114,099     -114,099   0 

  14,521,663 1,283,430 -1,762,849.08 -7,559,916 0 6,482,328 

 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix b



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C – Strategic Contingency Reserve 

Strategic Contingency Reserve 2022-23 - Original (9980) (8245)  

Resources Available £ 

Balance brought forward 1st April 2022 (£143,842) 

Budget Contribution to Strategic Contingency Reserve 2022/23 £0 

    

  (£143,842) 

Commitments B/F from 2021/22 
 

Junction 27 – Economic Impacts on North Devon 10,000  

Watersports Centre, Ilfracombe 11,740 

North Devon Fisherman’s Association  500  

Funding for potential Judicial Review 3,000  

    

    

Balance Remaining (£118,602) 

 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix c



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D – Capital Programme 2022/23 

Project 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

Actuals to 
30th 

September 
2022 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 
2023/24                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2024/25                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2025/26                  

£ 

Total 
Capital 

Programme 

                        

Customer Focus        

ICT Improve Back-up and Recovery 
Capabilities 7,703 0 7,703 0 0 0 7,703 

ICT Skype for Business 40,000 0 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 

ICT VDI Licences 70,000 0 70,000 0 0 0 70,000 

Office Technology Fund - End User 
Assets and IT Assets in Data Centre 137,254 2,758 134,496 185,000 130,500 70,000 522,754 

  254,957 2,758 252,199 185,000 130,500 70,000 640,457 

        

Environmental Enhancements               

Greensweep / Bartec migration and 
automation 38,150 2,097 36,053 0 0 0 38,150 

Leisure Provision at Seven Brethren 2,347,177 1,639,557 707,620 0 0 0 2,347,177 

Material Recovery Facility - Infrastructure 0 0 0 741,610 0 0 741,610 

S106 Contributions - Various projects 614,616 105,050 509,566 0 0 0 614,616 

S106 Crematorium Works and creation of 
memorial garden 39,704 0 39,704 0 0 0 39,704 

S106 Public Realm improvements at 
Libraru Square, Barnstaple 62,637 0 62,637 0 0 0 62,637 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix d



Project 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

Actuals to 
30th 

September 
2022 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 
2023/24                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2024/25                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2025/26                  

£ 

Total 
Capital 

Programme 

Works Unit Vehicles 117,120 117,120 0 0 0 0 117,120 

  3,219,404 1,863,824 1,355,580 741,610 0 0 3,961,014 

        

Place and Regeneration               

Acquisition of Corporate Property 0 0 0 250,000 0 0 250,000 

Acquisition of Land off Frankmarsh, 
Barnstaple 164,631 17,489 147,142 0 0 0 164,631 

Barnstaple Bus Station re-furbishment 20,000 0 20,000 26,394 0 0 46,394 

Digital Transformation Asset and 
Financial Management System 40,000 0 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 

Future High Street Fund 3,120,699 252,150 2,868,549 6,552,261 711,874 0 10,384,834 

Ilfracombe Harbour - Kiosks 58,611 51,456 7,155 0 0 0 58,611 

Jubilee Gardens reserved car park 
retaining wall 31,447 0 31,447 0 0 0 31,447 

Land Release Fund - Seven Brethren 71,373 21,373 50,000 1,827,959 0 0 1,899,332 

Pannier Market Re-roofing works 0 0 0 452,098 0 0 452,098 

Planned Maintenance Seven Brethren 0 0 0 109,250 0 0 109,250 

Public Maintenance - Public House 
corner of Castle Street and 16 Castle 
Street 0 0 0 90,000 0 0 90,000 

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix d



Project 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

Actuals to 
30th 

September 
2022 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 
2023/24                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2024/25                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2025/26                  

£ 

Total 
Capital 

Programme 

Green Lanes 350,000 0 350,000 1,833,723 0 0 2,183,723 

Retaining Wall - Cross Street Car Park 
Lynton 9,500 0 9,500 0 0 0 9,500 

Self-build Housing projects 500,000 0 500,000 0 0 0 500,000 

South Quay, Ilfracombe 55,000 0 55,000 0 0 0 55,000 

Harbour Infrastructure 214,254 0 214,254 216,235 0 0 430,489 

Watersports Commercial Complex 177,328 0 177,328 0 0 0 177,328 

Seven Brethren Flood defence 0 0 0 1,150,000 0 0 1,150,000 

Alexander Road - Acces improvements 8,289 8,289 0 486,711 0 0 495,000 

Landmark Theatre, Fire alarm   150,000 0 150,000 0 0 0 150,000 

Fremington Quay River Wall  120,000 0 120,000 0 0 0 120,000 

Queen Ann's building, flat roof 
replacement   35,000 0 35,000 0 0 0 35,000 

Lynmouth Esplanade sea wall repairs 
phase 2   42,167 0 42,167 0 0 0 42,167 

Queens theatre, replacement of Flat roof 
and redecoration of SE and NE 
elevations   313,650 0 313,650 0 0 0 313,650 

Ilfracombe Museum Car park retaining 
wall repairs   191,500 0 191,500 0 0 0 191,500 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix d



Project 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

Actuals to 
30th 

September 
2022 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 
2023/24                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2024/25                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2025/26                  

£ 

Total 
Capital 

Programme 

NDC occupied office buildings, change 
existing lighting for low energy 
lamps/fittings   79,879 0 79,879 0 0 0 79,879 

Water Sports Centre Ilfracombe 1,826,084 729,586 1,096,498 0 0 0 1,826,084 

  7,579,412 1,080,343 6,499,069 12,994,631 711,874 0 21,285,917 

        

Planning, Housing and Health               

21 Social Rents at Woolacombe 0 0 0 0 630,000 0 630,000 

Affordable Homes Beechfield Road, 
Fremington 20,000 0 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 

Disabled Facilities Grant Programme 1,210,061 469,611 740,450 642,920 0 0 1,852,981 

ECO Warm up Grants 330,000 7,760 322,240 203,322 0 0 533,322 

Provision of temporary accommodation 198,940 78,653 120,287 0 0 0 198,940 

 1,759,001 556,024 1,202,977 846,242 630,000 0 3,235,243 

        

 12,812,774 3,502,949 9,309,825 14,767,483 1,472,374 70,000 29,122,631 

 
 

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix d



 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7
Appendix d



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Appendix E 

 
 
 

Table A: High level status of all service plan actions tracked on Pentana 

 
 
 

  
Completed 

 

 
Overdue 

 
Cancelled 

 
Not due 

 
Total 

 

Totals 485           0       0    84               569 

 
Since the last report 
included in the total 
 

 
         4 

 
 

 
 

  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Table B: Service plan actions that have been cancelled authorised by SMT 

 

Action 
 

Reason 

 
NIL 

 

 
  

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Table C: Service Plan Actions (4) completed 
 

Action Closure Note Due Date Completed Date 

CF 2020/21 02 Customers Streamline feedback 
process 

This action is now complete.  The feedback process was 
mapped which resulted in a new Firmstep form to report 
complaints, compliments and comments. A recent Audit 
report of W&R gave assurance of the complaint procedure.  
The team will continually review the process ongoing.  

31-Aug-2022 01-Sept-2022 

G 16/17 01 Works in Default Policy and 
procedures 

Works in Default policy has been completed and signed off 
by SMT on 10th October 2022. The policy is on the 
November 22 Strategy and Resources agenda for approval   

30-Sep-2022 12-Oct-2022 

G 22/23 03 Review procurement policies & 
procedures to include sustainability, social value & 
role in contract monitoring 

Procurement Team has been restructured and now forms 
part of the Legal Services Team. The constitution has been 
updated in terms of procurement compliance and the 
procurement thresholds. A Procurement Working Group 
has been established to look at forthcoming changes such 
as sustainability and social value  

31-Oct-2022 12-Oct-2022 

G 22/23 04 Explore options to enhance hyrid 
meeting experience, with better audio & 
opportunities for streaming of Council meetings at 
BEC 

The Owl now provides a better hybrid and audio 
experience for meetings at BEC. Meetings held via teams 
so that attendees can attend virtually. The recordings are 
placed on the Councils YouTube channel.   

30-Sep-2022 12-Oct-2022 

  

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



 
Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT 
 

HoS Code Description Current due 
date 

Revised due 
date request 

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting 
this change 

Sarah 
Higgins 

CF 
2019/20 
05 

Communications Review the 
Design Print and Post service 

30-Sept-2022 31-May-2023 The previous review undertaken in 2019 is 

now null and void due to the effects of Covid 

on NDC working practices.  A new review will 

be undertaken 

Jeremy 
Mann 

PH&H 
2020/21 
01 

Community Safety NDC use of 
drones (unmanned aerial 
vehicles). 

30-Sept-2022 31-Dec-2022 Officers were perusing a potential 
collaboration with a 3rd party company who 
would have assisted in the evaluation of this 
initiative. Unfortunately this opportunity is no 
longer available. A decision will now be made 
on the merits of developing this initiative 
without their support. 

  

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Jeremy 
Mann 

PH&H 
2020/21 
04 

Housing Commercialisation of 
aspects of the Housing 
Service. 

30-Sept-2022 31-Mar-2023 This action has had to be deprioritised due to 
the need to attend to more pressing areas of 
concern, e.g the implementation of numerous 
refugee resettlement schemes and the 
additional demands on core services due to 
local economic conditions. 

Officers are however in dialogue with other 
authorities who have progressed aspects of 
commercialisation  and are seeking 3rd party 
funding opportunities to progress this work 
further, e.g the LGA’s housing advisers 
programme. 

 

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Jeremy 
Mann 

PP&H 
2022/23 
06 

Planning Development 
Management process 
efficiency 

30-Sept-2022 31-Mar-2023 On Monday, 3rd October, 2022, it was our 
pleasure to welcome Tracey Blackmore to 
NDC as our new Service Management for 
Development Management. This completes 
an important element of our wider 
transformation programme for the DM 
service.  Tracey will now lead on the 
recruitment to our vacant posts. 

Tracey’s team will benefit from the planned 
additional resources which will enhance what 
is already a very good service and will 
improve efficiency in a team which provides a 
vital service to the community. More capacity 
has been built in at senior practitioner levels.  
A career structure has also been established 
which will allow new apprentice and graduate 
officers advancement with us to build 
capacity in a challenging job market. 

All our professional officer post job 
descriptions have been re-drafted and re-
assessed.  It is important that our service 
expectations are clearly stated and the 
significant skills and wider competencies 
required to provide high quality services are 
properly laid out. 

A second element of the transformation 
programme is the establishment of a new 
Planning and Environmental Regulatory 
Service.  This team will undertake all the 
functions which were historically delivered by 
Planning Enforcement and the Environmental 
Protection Team in EH. The expanded team 
will give us greater capacity and resilience.  
The team’s work will increasingly focus on 
the pro-active regulation of planning consents 

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



and the delivery of non-financial obligations 
secured through S106 agreements. 

Furthermore, significant internal resources 
and new funding from Gov. has been 
allocated to projects which will enhance the 
efficiency of service, improve the monitoring 
of all S106 contributions and mobile working 
by developing our IT/systems. The job market 
is however proving to be extremely 
challenging and a recent recruitment exercise 
was only partially successful. 

Sarah-Jane 
McKenzie-
Shapland 

PP&R 
2019/20 
11 

Regeneration Land Release 
Funds 

30-Sept-2022 28-Feb-2023 Extension requested until 28th February 2023 
to reflect land release date (for funding).  The  
contract has been awarded in principle and 
we are in the standstill period.  A few tweaks 
are being made to the Development 
Agreement and the application is back to 
PLC on the 19/10 to amend the heads of 
terms given viability concerns.  The 
Affordable housing will be delivered by the 
Development Agreement not the S106.  We 
hope to enter into conditional contract on the 
24/10.  The contract will go unconditional 
(contractually obligated) on the 28/Feb 2023 
and the land will be released. 

 

  

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Table E: Outstanding Service Plan Actions (0) 
 

Code 
 

Description Progress Bar Latest Note 
Original Due 
Date 

Due Date 

NIL   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Table F: Key Performance Indicators: Last year’s data + this year’s results 

  

                                                           
1 NI 155 changed from Gross to Cumulative 

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22& 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year 
End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

Planning 

NI 155 Number of 
affordable homes delivered 
(cumulative1) 

32 81 88 113   
113 

 Data for Quarter 2 
not yet available 

16      
 

NI 157a Percentage of 
major applications 
processed within 13 weeks 

86% 88% 86% 100% 45%  45% Major applications 
determined within 
statutory timeframe 
of 13 weeks is 38% 
but total within 
statutory timeframe 
or the agreed 
extension of time is 
100% 

91% 100%   45%  

NI 157b Percentage of 
minor planning 
applications processed 
within 8 weeks 

97% 90% 87% 95%   75% Minor applications 
determined within 
statutory timeframe 
of 8 weeks is 39% 
but total within 
statutory timeframe 
or the agreed 
extension of time is 
87% 

92% 87%     

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year 
End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

Planning 

NI 157c Percentage of 
other applications 

processed within 8 weeks 

97% 96% 94% 95% 85%   
 

85% 

Other applications 
determined within 
statutory timeframe 
of 8 weeks is 60% 
but total within 
statutory timeframe 
or the agreed 
extension of time is 
94% 

80% 94%   85%  

Waste & Recycling 

L82(i) Total percentage 
domestic waste recycled 

51.74% 52% 46% 39.7% 46%   
46.00% 

Quarter 2 figures 
not yet available 49.1%      

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



 

  

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2021/2022 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

Finance 

BV8 Percentage of 
invoices paid on time 
 

92.22% 91.40% 90.85% 91.82% 97.00%   
97.00% 

 

88.75% 91.72%     

 
BV9 Percentage of 
Council Tax collected 

28.24% 55.13% 81.98% 96.89% 97.5% 96.89%  
97.5% 

 

28.58% 55.8%     

BV78a (M) Speed of 
processing - new Housing 
Benefit/Council Tax Benefit 
claims 
 

27.3 25.7 29.6 21.1 28.00 25.9  
 

28.0 

 

19.6 21.3     

BV10 Percentage of Non-
domestic Rates Collected 

20.88% 50.03% 78.62% 97.46% 99.05% 97.46%  
99.05% 

 

30.09% 59.61%     

Property & Technical 

L728 Percentage of the 
gross internal area of the 
investment estate currently 
let 

96.01% 96.01% 96.01% 89.31%     

89.31%      

L168 Income per car park 
P&D ticket 
 
 

July £1.87 Sept £1.89 
 

Dec £1.51 
 

March £1.70 
 

£1.83   
 

£1.87 

 

July £1.78 Sept £1.83 
  

  
  

  
 

  

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Building Control 

L300 Building Regulation Full 

Plan applications determined 

in 2 months 

90% 97% 98% 100% 95%  95% 

 

 

Data for Quarter 2 

not available until 

end October 2022 

 

100%      

L301 Building Regulation 

Applications examined within 

3 weeks 

100% 98% 99% 96% 95%  95% 

 

Data for Quarter 2 

not available until 

end October 2022 

 

81%      

L302 Average time to first 

response (Days) 

 

8.5 7.5 8 7 10  

 

 

10 

 

Data for Quarter 2 

not available until 

end October 2022 

 

 

12      

  

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year 
End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Customer Services & Communications 

L999 Feedback Customer 

Satisfaction % 

42% 53% 43% N/A 50% 46%  

50% 

Customer Surveys 

are being reviewed 

and data collection 

will start in Qtr 4 

for reporting in Qtr 

1 23/24 

N/A      

L997 Customer Service 

Satisfaction % 

94% 90% 92% N/A 90% 92%  

90% 

Customer Surveys 

are being reviewed 

and data collection 

will start in Qtr 4 

for reporting in Qtr 

1 23/24 

N/A      

  

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year 
End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



Environmental Health & Housing 

 

LEHH014 Food Hygiene 

Interventions Completed 

29 177 

 

22 348 708 576  

 

 

1139 

 
The FSA are currently 
looking at the way 
they monitor the 
performance of food 
teams. We are 
running to a Covid 
recovery plan that 
runs until March 2023. 
A new scheme will 
then be adopted. 

 

107 319 

 

    

LEHH015 Percentage of 

Food Hygiene Due 

Interventions Completed 

3.7% 

 

23% 3.02% 49% 100% 19.7% 100% The FSA (Food 
Standards Agency) 
are currently looking 
at the way they 
monitor the 
performance of food 
teams. We are 
running to a Covid 
recovery plan that 
runs until March 2023. 
A new scheme will 
then be adopted. 

9.4% 

 

29.6%   100%  

  

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year 
End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



LEHH016 Housing Options - 

Number of Homelessness 

Prevented & Relieved 

128 

 

126 136 102  492 Data 

only 

 

Successful Prevent 
58, Relief 30 

127 

 

88     

LEHH017 Housing Options - 

Number of Households 

Accommodated in Temporary 

Accommodation 

42 

 

38 

 

42 

 

64 

 

 186 Data 

Only 

 

65 

 

66 

 

 

 

 

 

  

LEHH026 Number of NDC 

Lets Through DHC 

72 70 60 63   Data 

only 

 

 45 66     

 
 
2. Constitution Context  
 
Appendix and paragraph: 5.5 

Referred or delegated power?: Delegated 

3. Statement of Internal Advice 
 
3.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate Councillors and officers. 
 

 

Author: Sarah Higgins     Date: 19th October 2022  Reference: Executive Performance Report November 2022 

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q2 
20121/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2021/22 & 
2022/23 

Year 
End 
Target 

Year 
End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix e



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: 7th November 2022 

Topic: Environmental Policy – progress on implementation 

Report by: Donna Sibley, Sustainability and Climate Officer 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. In October 2021 this Committee agreed a revised Environmental Policy. This 

report summarises progress on delivering the commitments in our policy in 

the last year. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. Members are asked to note progress in delivering our Environmental Policy. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. This report meets one of the Environmental Policy’s objectives, namely “to 

regularly review and report on progress.” 

4. REPORT 

4.1. We have delivered the following for each objective of the Environmental 

Policy. 

4.2. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions to net zero carbon by 2030: 

4.2.1. Heat decarbonisation plans for all Council owned and occupied 

properties. 

4.2.2. Successful approx. £100k bid to implement energy saving measures 

from these plans. 

4.2.3. Investigating installation of solar panels at Brynsworthy and Barnstaple 

Pannier Market. 

4.2.4. Further Low Carbon Skills Funding to produce heat decarbonisation 

plans for Council owned and tenanted properties. 

4.2.5. Energy Savings Trust project to produce recommendations for 

decarbonising our fleet and employee travel, reports expected Q1 2023. 

4.2.6. Supported development and launch of Devon Carbon Plan. 

4.3. Adapting to climate change: 

4.3.1. Supported development of LGA Adaptation Toolkit. 

4.3.2. Adaptation Plan for Devon, Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly is in 

development.  

4.3.3. Local Plan review. 

4.3.4. Barnstaple FHSF & Seven Brethren projects have measures in place to 

adapt to climate change. 

4.4. Using water efficiently in the Council’s buildings and operations: 

4.4.1. Included in heat decarbonisation plans and will be implemented by the 

Property team. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



 

 

4.5. Reducing waste: 

4.5.1. Improving waste and recycling service.  

4.5.2. Plastic Free North Devon joint working, eg Big Plastic Count, Queen’s 

Green Jubilee. 

4.5.3. Recycling roadshows held at a number of events. 

4.5.4. Litter strategy in development. 

4.6. Preventing pollution: 

4.6.1. Improving pollution prevention measures at Brynsworthy as part of our 

enhancements to the Waste & Recycling area. 

4.7. Protecting the natural and built environment: 

4.7.1. Continuing to trial Biodiversity Net Gain  

4.7.2. Contributing to delivery of North Devon Biosphere’s Nature Recovery 

Plan. 

4.7.3. Yeo Valley Community Woodland Extension. 

4.7.4. Continuing to implement and extend No mow’ May 

4.7.5. Barnstaple FHSF project will renovate and bring back into use historic 

buildings. 

4.8. Ensuring that the Council’s purchasing power is used positively: 

4.8.1. Sustainable procurement group. 

4.9. Ensuring all staff and contractors implement our Environment Policy: 

4.9.1. Induction training. 

4.9.2. ‘Introduction to climate change’ training. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. None. 

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. There are not considered to be any negative equality impacts arising from the 

Council’s environment policy. 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. Delivery of the Council’s Environment Policy will generally have 

environmental benefits.  

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:  Opportunities exist to generate 

funding through projects such as renewable energy development. 

8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or 

8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development: Delivery of environmental 

commitments through regeneration and/or economic development could 

result in lower energy bills and be an attractive prospect for private sector 

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



 

 

investment. There may be a negative impact with higher initial capital 

costs. 

 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 (1) paragraph: 

9.2. Delegated power 

 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 

the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

North Devon Council Environmental Policy 2021. 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 

Councillors and Officers: Donna Sibley,  Sustainability & Climate Officer 

 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: Strategy & Resources on 4th October 2022 

Topic: Adoption of Works In Default Policy 

Report by: Legal Services – Hannah Pettifer 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Works in Default Policy (Appendix A), has been drafted to identify the 

key works in default priorities for the Council and establish a clear set of 

procedures for officers to follow, and customers to understand, when it is 

necessary to carry out works in default. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. To approve the adoption of the Works in Default Policy 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. In order to meet the requirements of Policy setting for the Council 

3.2. To provide a generic policy to support work in default provision within the 

service areas of the Council 

3.3. To ensure the legal requirements of the Regulators’ Code which came into 

statutory effect on 6 April 2014 under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform 

Act 2006 are supported and to provide a clear, flexible and principles-based 

framework for how regulators should engage with those they regulate. 

4. REPORT 

4.1. As provided in the Works in Default Policy itself, its purpose is to provide 

guidance to ensure:  

 Decisions about enforcement action are fair, proportionate and consistent  

 Officers apply current Government guidance and relevant codes of 

practice  

 Everyone understands the principles that are applied when works in 

default action is considered.  

4.2. The Policy as drafted is designed to be generic to provide guidance across 

the organisation as a whole to provide a framework and central point of 

reference. 

4.3. The Policy should provide guidance to customers (both individuals and 

businesses operating in North Devon), officers and members alike on what 

work in default the Council can carry out and the principles that are followed 

and an overarching guide to the procedures that are undertaken including 

when action may be necessary and the principles and considerations 

governing what level of works in default action may be necessary in any 

given situation. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



 

 

4.4. The Policy provides information on who decides when works in default 

enforcement action should be taken and at what level and how the Council 

works in partnership with other bodies in terms of works in default. 

4.5. It is hoped that the Policy will provide a useful overview of works in default 

undertaken at the Council and the procedures followed. 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1.  Departmental consultation and input, agreement in general from all 

consultees was included in the preparation of this Policy. 

5.2. The Policy brings together and records existing practices and therefore it is 

not anticipated that this decision will have any resource impact. 

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a 

result of this report.  If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment 

(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and 

Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk.  

6.1.1. NONE 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist 

(EAC) form available on Insite.  If there are no environmental implications 

arising from your proposals please state that there are none.  If after 

completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please 

provide a brief summary.  If you require any further information please 

contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer.  Email completed 

EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk   

7.1.1. NONE 

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:   

8.1.1.1. This Policy also provides the strategic framework to 

demonstrate that North Devon District Council is complying with its 

duties under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 

8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or 

8.1.2.1. A Framework to support expectations for compliance and 

enforcement from the Council 

8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development 

8.1.3.1. None 

 

Page 80

Agenda Item 9

mailto:equality@northdevon.gov.uk
mailto:donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk


 

 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1(f) 

9.2. Referred or delegated power?  

Delegated 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 

the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author 

of the report). 

N/A 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 

Councillors and Officer 

Hannah Pettifer, Chartered Legal Exec., Legal Services 

 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL – WORKS IN DEFAULT POLICY 

Contents 

 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2. The Scope of the Works in Default Procedure ................................................... 3 

3. Responsibilities .................................................................................................. 3 

4. Responsible Persons ......................................................................................... 4 

5. Summary of Process .......................................................................................... 4 

6. General Procedures ........................................................................................... 5 

LIST OF APPENDICES ............................................................................................... 8 

APPENDIX A - Sundry Debt Instruction ............................................................... 9 

1. Originating service .......................................................................................... 9 

2. Origination unit ................................................................................................ 9 

3. Case Officer .................................................................................................... 9 

4. Debtor’s details ............................................................................................... 9 

5. Debtor’s status ................................................................................................ 9 

6. Power under which works in default was carried out ...................................... 9 

7. Details of legal notice served requiring the works to be carried out ................ 9 

8. Description of works in default carried out .................................................... 10 

9. Date works in default completed ................................................................... 10 

10. Calculation of demand for payment .............................................................. 10 

11. Copy of invoice attached ............................................................................... 10 

12. Supplementary information ........................................................................... 10 

13. WID file reference ......................................................................................... 10 

    APPENDIX B – Legislative Background ............................................................ 11 

Enforcement ........................................................................................................... 11 

Power of Entry........................................................................................................ 11 

APPENDIX C – Process Flow Chart .................................................................... 12 

APPENDIX D – North Devon Council Debt Recovery Routes........................... 14 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 One of the primary aims of North Devon District Council is to protect public health 
and to improve the quality of life and wellbeing of residential occupiers.  This is done 
by ensuring compliance with the legislative framework within which the Council 
operates so that consumers, businesses, employees, individuals and the 
environment are protected.  Fair, proportionate, targeted and effective enforcement 
is essential to protect the health, safety and economic interests of all concerned.  
There is a range of tools available to the Council to achieve this, including carrying 
out works in default, a process which arises where a person fails to comply with a 
notice issued by the Council to carry out works. 

 

1.2  Works in default (WID) may be carried out where one of the following applies: 

 

 1.2.1 There is no prospect of the person responsible carrying out the work, e.g. 
the person is absent or otherwise unable to act because of medical or 
mental incapacity 

 
1.2.1 There is a continuing risk to the occupants of any building and their visitors  
 

 1.2.3 There is an imminent risk to public health 
 

 1.2.4 A prosecution is not appropriate 
  
 1.2.5 A prosecution has been brought and works have still not been carried out 
 
 1.2.6 It is appropriate for a public health nuisance to be abated quickly. 
 
1.3 Where a decision is made that works in default will be carried out, the Council will 

seek to recover all the costs incurred from the responsible person.  The costs which 
may legitimately be claimed comprise not only the work itself and any contractor 
fees, but also items such as officer and administrative costs, expenses for 
preliminary inspections and consultant fees, and VAT (if so advised by the VAT 
Officer of Financial Services).   

 

1.4 Interest will be added to outstanding debts for works in default at the rate of 8%. 

 

1.5 The Council is not obliged to carry out works and reserves the right not to do so: 

 

 1.5.1 Where the cost of the works is likely to be very high 

 

 1.5.2 Where there are likely to be difficulties in recovering the costs 

 

Page 84

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 1.5.3 An alternative regulatory option, such as a prosecution, or the imposition of 
a civil penalty is deemed more appropriate. 

 

1.6 When recovering the costs the Council will use the full range of recovery powers 
available including enforced sale of property if necessary. The process is set out in 
Appendix E. Officers should work closely with the Legal Team in undertaking this 
process. 

 

2. The Scope of the Works in Default Procedure 

 

2.1 This policy sets out the general procedure for carrying out works in default as part 
of, or instead of, other Council enforcement functions. The general procedure may, 
if deemed necessary, be followed by sub-procedures specific to individual pieces 
of legislation. 

 

2.2 Works in default by local authorities are authorised under a variety of statutory 
provisions. A list of the more commonly utilised provisions can be found at 
Appendix B in this policy document; it is not intended that the list is exhaustive, 
and this policy applies equally to all circumstances where the carrying out of works 
in default is authorised by legislation. The legislation will detail where there is a 
requirement to record the Notice as a Land Charge. 

 

3. Responsibilities 

In pursuance of this policy, it is envisaged that responsibilities will fall on officers as set 
out below: 

 

3.1 Case Officer 

 

 Ensure correct service of notices; obtain quotes and instruct contractors 

 Ensure works carried out fulfil the notice requirements to an appropriate standard 

 Agree contractor invoices 

 Issue comprehensive billing details to financial services 

 Issue comprehensive details to Legal Services  

 Liaise with responsible parties. 

 

3.2 Heads of Service 

 

 Agree works in default policy and procedures. 

 Agree payment schemes with finance and responsible parties. 

 Determine recovery of the cost procedures with legal and financial services 

 Authorise the carrying out of works in default in individual cases. 

 

3.3 Financial Services 

Page 85

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 

 Establish sundry debtor arrangements and issue invoices to responsible  parties 

 Agree payment schemes with Officers and responsible parties 

 Collection and recovery of debts with guidance from Legal Services 

 Monitoring and reporting outstanding debts. 

 Implementing recovery procedures 

 Flagging up non-payment or under-payment and liaising with others 

 Recording actions to secure payment of the debt. 

 

3.4 Legal services 

 

 Advising on correct service of Notices 

 Advising on recovery methods including enforced sale 

 Implementing recovery procedures as appropriate. 

 Approving regulatory options 

 Advising on Court and legal processes. 

 

3.5 Land Registry/Local Land Charge Service 

 

 If Legal advise it is appropriate then recording Notice as Land Charge 

 Monitoring and reporting on removal/cancellation of charges. 

 

4. Responsible Persons 

4.1 Key to the WID process is the identification of the person(s) or body who is legally 
responsible for carrying out the works and whose failure to take action 
necessitates work being carried out in default. Dependent on the circumstances 
there may be shared responsibilities for taking action and the persons involved 
may be freeholders, lessees, trustees, tenants, or other occupiers. 

 

4.2 The purpose of WID is to secure compliance with a legal notice issued by North 
Devon District Council. Ownership and the responsibilities for repair/works should 
be clearly established in advance of the service of the notice.  

 

5. Summary of Process 

 5.1 Undertaking Works In Default can be used in addition to, or as an alternative 
option to prosecution, or the imposition of a Civil Penalty, on the person(s) 
responsible for non-compliance with an enforcement notice, providing that 
the original notice was correctly served. 

 

 5.2 Every item of work to be carried out in default should be specified in a notice 
that sets out the legislation under which the action is being taken. 

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 5.3 It is only those works detailed in the notice that can be undertaken by the 
Local Authority. 

 

 5.4 If during the course of undertaking WID it transpires that extra works are 
required, they may be carried out with the agreement of the responsible 
person(s) or, in the absence of such agreement, another enforcement notice 
will have to be served. 

 

5.5 Expenses incurred in carrying out WID are recoverable from the responsible 
person(s) and in some instances can be placed as a charge against the 
property in question. A demand notice may also be in the form of a letter 
detailing the action under which the demand is being made. 

 

 5.6 The Council will add interest to the charges and is empowered to enforce the 
sale of the property or goods in order to recover their costs, where 
appropriate. 

 

 5.7 The costs of the works must be justifiable and reasonable to limit the risk of 
successful challenge accordingly a procurement process, as appropriate to 
the estimated value of the proposed works, must be carried out (see 
paragraph 6.8 below). 

 

5.8 Works in default must be carried out strictly in accordance with the powers of 
entry set out in the legislation relevant to the particular notice of enforcement 
which has been served. 

 

6. General Procedures 

Whilst the specific legislation under which WID are being instigated may vary, some 
basic procedures/practices are common to all cases, as set out below, when a Case 
Officer discovers that works to resolve or alleviate a problem are required. The process 
is summarised in Appendix C. 

 

6.1 The responsible person(s) must firstly be established in accordance with the 
legislation.  This could be the occupier, owner, or both, or a third party. 

 

6.2 Suitable checks/enquiries should be undertaken to establish ownership and/or the 
responsibility for carrying out necessary works, such as: 

 

6.2.1 Enquiries of the tenant, through the lease/agreement  

 

6.2.2 Service of Notice under Section 16 of The Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 

6.2.3 Checks through the Council Tax and/or Business Rate records 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 

6.2.4 Checks through HM Land Registry 

 

6.2.5 Checks through Land Charges (if appropriate where unregistered land) 
and to establish if there are any extant notices. 

 

6.3 An enforcement notice must then be served on the responsible person detailing         
precisely what the problem is, the exact actions needed to remedy it, the time 
period by which the actions have to be completed, and any appeal provisions that 
may be available 

 

6.4 In the absence of any appeal by the person served with the enforcement notice,         
the Case Officer must establish if all the works set out in the notice have been         
completed within the time periods specified. This should be done by way of a full         
inspection of the whole property, giving a minimum of 24 hours’ notice. 

 

6.5 If the notice has been complied with in full, the case should, after review, be closed 
and the recipient(s) of the Notice and any tenants informed. 

 

6.6   If the conditions of the notice have not been met, the Case Officer should prepare 
a report detailing the extent of compliance with the notice, the works which remain 
to be carried out, an estimate of the time and cost required for completion, and the 
extent of any mitigation on behalf of the responsible person. Details of any request 
for an extension of time to complete the works should also be included. The report 
should include the enforcement options available, and any recommendation for 
works in default, where the Officer feels that these are appropriate. 

 

6.7 The Case Officer must present the report to the Head of Service, who will decide, 
in the event of a recommendation being made for works in default to be carried 
out, whether to authorise such works. This decision must be recorded in 
accordance with Regulation 7(2) of the Openness of Local Government Bodies 
Regulations 2014. 

 

6.8 If the Head of Service authorises works in default, the Case Officer must complete 
a procurement process to appoint a contractor to carry out the work. This process 
must be carried out in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules, which are 
set out in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution.  For additional guidance please see 
https://insite.northdevon.gov.uk/useful-documents/contracts-and-procurement/. 

 

6.9 The Case Officer must then serve a notice on the responsible person stating that 
the Council will be undertaking WID. The notice must also set out when the works 
will start, and their estimate cost. 

 

6.10 The Case Officer should also determine which powers of entry are to be used, and    
whether a warrant to enter the premises may be required. In the event that a    

Page 88

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a

https://insite.northdevon.gov.uk/useful-documents/contracts-and-procurement/


 

 

warrant is required, the Case Officer should contact Legal Services, who can make    
the appropriate arrangements with the Magistrates’ Court for a warrant application    
to be made. 

 

6.11 Once a contractor has been identified following the procurement process as 
referred to in paragraph 6.8 above, the Case Officer must make suitable 
arrangements for the contractor to access the site, and must agree suitable start 
and finish times with the contractor and the owner and occupants. 

 

6.12 The Case Officer should ensure that he/she is on site at the start of the WID, that    
the works are undertaken properly, by regular visiting if necessary, and that the site 
is left clean and tidy when work is complete.  Before and after photographs should 
be taken whenever possible for reference in case of a dispute. 

 

6.13 Once the works are complete, the Case Officer is responsible for obtaining an      
invoice from the contractor which sets out the costs involved in the WID. 

 

6.14 The Case Officer must also calculate the administration costs involved, and any    
additional expenditure relating to the WID 

 

6.15 The Case Officer must then raise a Sundry Debt instruction, as set out in 

         Appendix A to allow Debtors to issue a demand to the person responsible. 

 

6.16 If a warrant of entry has been executed, the Case Officer must ensure that the 
executed warrant is returned to the Magistrates’ Court, together with a covering 
letter or statement explaining that the warrant has been executed, if so required by 
the Magistrates Court when issuing a Warrant. In the event that there was no need 
to execute the warrant, the officer must still endorse the warrant with the fact that it 
was not executed and the justification for not doing so and return it to the 
Magistrate’s Court with a covering letter. 

 

 

 
  

Page 89

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

 

 Appendix A – Sundry Debt Instruction 

 Appendix B – Legislative background 

 Appendix C – Process flow chart 

 Appendix D – North Devon Council Debt Recovery Routes 

 Appendix E – Guidance on enforced sales 

 

Page 90

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

APPENDIX A - Sundry Debt Instruction 

 

1. Originating service 

For example, Environmental Health and Housing. 

 

2. Origination unit 

For example, Housing Standards or Private Sector Housing. 

 

3. Case Officer 

This is the person responsible for the works in default being carried out: 

 Name 

 Designation 

 Telephone number 

 Email. 

 

4. Debtor’s details 

 Full name 

 Postal address and post code 

 Email address 

 Telephone numbers (landline and mobile) 

 Date of birth (if known). 

 

5. Debtor’s status 

 Freeholder  

 Owner occupier 

 Leaseholder 

 Lessee 

 Tenant 

 Occupier agent 

 Other. 

 

6. Power under which works in default was carried out 

For example, Housing Act 2004, schedule 3. 

 

7. Details of legal notice served requiring the works to be carried 
out 

 M3 worksheet reference number 

 full postal address of premises where work was required 

 date when notice was served 

 Section and Act. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 

8. Description of works in default carried out 

Specify any variations to the works in the original notice – anything omitted or added 
together with the reason for the addition or omission (e.g. for reasons of safety, or work 
found to be unnecessary). 

 

9. Date works in default completed 

 

10. Calculation of demand for payment 

Total amount to be demanded from the Debtor: 

Cost of works, officer time, proportion of cost (if split between responsible parties), VAT 
– if advised following a check with the VAT Officer of Financial Services 

 

11. Copy of invoice attached 

To include Council reference number (M3 worksheet) 

Preferred payment option 

 Single payment in full 

 Payment plan and number of instalments 

 Charge on property 

 Other Agreement. 
 

12. Supplementary information 

 Links to other WID demands 

 Related Council debts 

 Previous payment history 

 etc. 

 
13. WID file reference 

If different to Environmental Services file. 

 

Page 92

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

APPENDIX B – Legislative Background 

 

Enforcement 

Typically, works in default are authorised under the following legislation, but this is not 
an exhaustive list. Assistance with legislation can be sought through Legal Services. 

 

Housing Act 2004, section 31 and Schedule 3 

Public Health Act 1936, sections 290 to 295 

Public Health Act 1961, section 17 (4) 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, section 35 (2) and (3) 

Building Act 1984, section 99 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, section 29 (9) 

Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949, sections 5 and 7 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990, section 81 (3) and (4) 

Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, section 47(2) 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 178 and 215. 

 

Power of Entry 

Housing Act 2004, s.239 (1) 

Public Health Act 1936, section 287 

Building Act 1984, section 95 

Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949, section 22 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 Schedule 3. 

 

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

APPENDIX C – Process Flow Chart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Inspection by EHO/TO 

All legal requirements met 

Matter discovered contrary to legal 
requirements (Statute) 

Enforcement Notice served on 
responsible person(s) 

Notice complied with 

Procurement undertaken 

Case closed 

Notice served on responsible person(s) 
detailing WID, cost, start date 

Prosecution/ 
Legal Action 

WID undertaken 

YES NO 

Page 94

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 

 

 

Local Authority seeks to 
recover costs 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

APPENDIX D – North Devon Council Debt Recovery Routes 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Debt Holding Routes: 

County Court 

Letter before action 
Default Summons 

Legal Solicitors 

Letter before 
action 

High Court 

Disputed Invoices 

Suspended 
Recovery 

Pending Write Offs 

New Recovery Route 

Holding stage. 

Manual change to new route. 

Second Reminder 
letter 

Standard Reminder Letter 

Invoice Summary 

Refer to Department 

Departmental 
Route 

Credit 
Protection 

Agency 

Online referral 

Prosecution 
Cases 

Enforcing 
Judgement 

Specific 
Letter/Timings 

Estates 

Pending advice 
from Estates 

Housing Deposits 

Letter before action. 

Default Summons’ 
Notice 

Monitor further 
action required.  

Debt reached end 
of stage. 

21 days 

10 days 

7 days P
age 96

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix a



 

 

 

Third Party Debt 
Order 

Attachment of Earnings 
(AEO) 

Warrant of 
Execution 

Charging Order Windup for 
bankruptcy 

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix a



 

 

APPENDIX E – Guidance on Enforced Sales 
 

 

1. Introduction 
 

Where a local authority has the right to carry out works in default and recover the costs, 
some statutes provide that the cost of carrying out the works in default may be a charge on 
the property. The local authority may exercise the power of sale conferred by the charge to 
recover the money it is owed for carrying out the work in default by taking the relevant 
Court action immediately upon non-payment. 

 

2.  The relevant statutes 
 

The following are examples of the most common statutory provisions that enable the 
enforced sale procedure to be used: 

 

 Section 4 of the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 (requiring land to be kept 
free from rats and mice) 

 Section 79 Building Act 1984 (ruinous and dilapidated buildings) 

 Section 80 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (abatement of statutory nuisance) 

 Section 215 Town and Country Planning act 1990 (detrimental condition of land and 
buildings) 

 Sections 11 and 12 Housing Act 2004 (dealing with category 1 or 2 hazards in 
residential premises 

 Section 55 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 (urgent works 
to a listed building. 

 

3. The charge 
 

Each of the relevant statutes sets out when the charge has arisen – this may be 
immediately the works in default have been carried out, as in the case of section 215 of 
the TCPA 1990, or may be following service of a demand, as in the case of sections 11 
and 12 of the Housing Act 2004. When the charge has arisen, it should be recorded 
appropriately following the appropriate legal process. The charge may take effect as if 
created by a deed of charge by way of legal mortgage, within the meaning of the Law of 
Property Act 1925 – this provides the power of sale. 

 

4. The process 
 

When the enforced sale process is to be exercised, the following steps should be taken: 

 

 Check that the original notice was properly drawn up and served. 
 

 Check the current ownership of the relevant property, in case it has recently changed, 
through the Land Registry. 

 

 Check whether the charge has been paid off. 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

 If the charge is unpaid, write to the current owner, informing them of the existence of 
the charge, and that if it is not paid off the Council will be taking steps to sell the 
property – the letter should have attached the original notice, and give the owner a 
period of 28 days to pay. 

 

 If there are other mortgages on the property, notify the mortgagor of the proposal to sell 
the property if the debt is not paid. 

 

 If there is no response to the letter, serve a notice under section 103 of the Law of 
Property Act 1925, as required before a power of sale under a mortgage/charge can be 
exercised – this notice explains that money is owed under a mortgage/charge and that 
if it is not paid off within 3 months, the Council may sell the property to recover the 
money. A copy of the notice should be served on any mortgagor that has an existing 
mortgage over the property. 

 

 If the section 103 notice is ignored, and the property is registered at the Land Registry, 
prepare and seal a declaration which sets out the service of the original notice, the 
carrying out of works in default, the registration of the Notice as a local land charge if 
the legislation allows such recording and the service of the section 103 notice. 

 

 Apply to the land registry where applicable to have the charge noted on the registered 
title – Legal Services to advise. 

 

 If the property is unregistered, the same information as above will need to be included 
in a statutory declaration sworn by the lead officer in the enforced sale process. 

 

 Once the charge is registered with the Land Registry or the statutory declaration is 
sworn, write to the owner and any bank or building society with an existing charge to 
tell them that the Council will now be selling the property. 

 

 The property can then be sold – this should be by auction, although the Council has a 
duty to ensure that the best price is obtained, enforcement may require Legal Services 
to take legal action. 

 

5. Settling the account 
 

When the property has been sold, the balance is handed over to the owner once the 
following have been deducted from the sale proceeds: 

 

 The costs of the original works in default 

 The legal costs in undertaking the enforced sale procedure 

 Conveyancing costs in connection with the sale 

 Auctioneer’s or other marketing costs 

 Officer time in relation to the enforced sale process 

 Other debts owing to the Council. 

 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

6. Practicalities 
 

 Whilst the enforced sale procedure can be used where a property is occupied, the 
Council would, in addition to the sale procedures, have to apply to the county court for 
a possession order – this would be particularly problematic if the property was being 
used for residential purposes. 

 The enforced sale process will come to an end if the owner of the property pays the 
amount of money owed – therefore, it is inappropriate to use the process to enforce the 
payments of small debts. 

 Additionally the enforced sale process is a draconian step to enforce small debts, and 
should only be contemplated where the debt exceeds £5,000. 
 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 9
Appendix a



 

 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: 7th November 2022 

Topic: Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 

Report by: W.SLATE; SERVICE LEAD – HOME ADAPTATIONS, 

IMPROVEMENTS & ENERGY EFFICIENCY 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. Members established North Devon Council’s current Statement of Intent for 

the delivery of Local Authority Flexible Eligibility under Energy Company 

Obligation ECO3 at Strategy & Resources Meeting (Minute 9, 12th April 2021 

refers) 

 

1.2. This paper seeks to update the Statement of Intent (SOI) following 

introduction of ECO4  

 

1.3. This paper will also outline the process for delivery, including consideration 

charging for declarations. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. To approve the adoption of the revised SOI, the publication of which is a 

requirement if money is to be drawn down and spent within the NDC area. 

 

2.2. To give delegated authority to Head of Planning, Housing & Health to 

evaluate and if relevant implement the charging for declarations signed, 

following consultation with Lead Member for Housing. 

 

2.3. That the Lead Member for Housing be authorised to act as a signatory of the 

Charter – best practice for trading standards around ECO flex / other retrofit 

grant schemes. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. To maximise the community benefit from ECO4 measures. 

 

3.2. Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) laid down a 

system by which third party contractors can draw down funding to be put to 

Home Energy Improvements.   

 

3.3. However, those third parties cannot operate within a LA area unless that 

authority has issued a SOI. 

 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



 

 

4. REPORT 

4.1. The Energy Company’s obligation (ECO) is levied by Central Government on 

the largest energy providers, based on customer numbers. 

 

4.2. Whilst not described as a tax, it generates a significant level of funding, which 

the Government directs them to put into varied schemes across the UK to 

improve energy efficiency. 

 

4.3. In general, funding is sourced from the energy providers by intermediaries 

who then look for customers.  Assistance being directed to those in greatest 

need, according to a combination of guidance produced by BEIS, and locally 

set criteria (from the relevant District Councils). 

 

4.4. Local Authority Flexible Eligibility (LA Flex was introduced into the ECO 

scheme in 2017 (ECO2T)), is a system which allows councils to set their own 

eligibility criteria for private sector residents that do not claim state benefits.  

The criteria is set out in a published SOI and must support vulnerable people 

in, or at risk of fuel poverty. 

 

4.5. North Devon Council (NDC) issued its first SOI in August 2018 and 

subsequent version in January 2021. 

 

4.6. ECO4 is the latest scheme which will run until March 2026, with the primary 

aim to support low-income households to upgrade their homes and takes a 

fabric first approach. 

 

4.7. Although there are similarities between ECO3 and ECO4, the government 

has introduced some significant changes, including: 

4.7.1.1. A ‘buy-out mechanism’ which allows smaller energy suppliers to 

be able to participate in the scheme. 

4.7.1.2. The eligibility criteria for ECO4 has changed with the aim to 

assist low-income households that aren’t receiving benefits.  

Changes have also been made in the removal of some non-means 

tested benefits.  

4.7.1.3. Improvements are subject to a minimum requirement of 

improvement measured by SAP score on EPC’s – F or G rated 

properties must be improved to D. E or D rated properties must be 

improved to C.  Improvements required will depend on their starting 

EPC rating. 

 

 

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 10



 

 

4.8.  The ECO4 Order also outlines that four separate routes to identify low-

income and vulnerable households can be used under Local Authority 

Flexible Eligibility.  The four routes are: 

4.8.1.1. Route 1 – Household income 

Households living in private tenure SAP band D, E, F or G homes 

and with a gross annual income less that £31,000. 

4.8.1.2. Route 2 – Proxy Targeting 

Households living in owner occupied or privately rented SAP band 

E,F or G homes that meet a combination of two specified proxies. 

4.8.1.3. Route 3 – NHS referrals 

Households in private tenure SAP band D, E, F and G and identified 

as housing a person suffering from a severe and / or long-term 

health condition that is adversely affected by living in a cold home. 

4.8.1.4. Route 4 – Bespoke Targeting 

Suppliers and LA’s can submit a proposal for a new route to identify 

low income and vulnerable households.  Applications need to 

demonstrate a number of factors.  BEIS are to publish further 

guidance for this targeting later in the year. 

 

4.9. Ofgem provided a template SOI which NDC would seek to utilise, as it 

captures all requirements for the four routes detailed above. In the publishing 

of a SOI, NDC would be committed to follow the scheme rules as outlined in 

‘ECO4 Guidance: Local Authority Administration (20/9/2022)’. 

 

4.10. A significant process change that has been introduced with ECO4, is 

that applications can be received from both an approved installer and a 

household can apply direct to the Local Authority.   

 

4.11. To ensure that applications can be received and processed 

appropriately (including collection and retention of evidence), officers are 

evaluating the use of Firmstep and are working with Exeter City Council, who 

have developed the process.  We would also seek to build in verification 

stages. 

 

4.12. NDC would be required to produce and sign declarations for all 

households that it considers meets the eligibility criteria of one of the four 

routes.  Ofgem will be setting up a new process to receive declarations 

notifications and will publish a report to summarise the overall findings of its 

audit.   

 

4.13. Officers would seek to evaluate the charging for the declarations, 

based on a nominal fee, based on officer time to process an application, set-

up and on-costs for the application process on Firmstep.   

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



 

 

The charge would be levied at the approved installer as part of the evaluation 

process and the Memorandum of Understanding (signed by installers), would 

detail conditions that must be adhered to, including that no costs are passed 

onto the householder. 

 

4.14. The Cosy Devon partnership, in consultation with the Devon Local 

Authority representatives and Trading Standards have produced a working 

Charter to ensure a best practice approach to recommending and vetting 

energy agents and their sub-contractors.   

 

4.15. The Charter outlines that rogue practices will not be tolerated, reps are 

transparent and provide customers with paperwork to confirm their identity, 

who they’re working for and whether customer’s personal details can be sold. 

It also requires that reasonable precautions are taken and due diligence is 

applied when outsourcing marketing functions. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1. The burden placed on designated officers would be: 

 

5.1.1. Receiving applications and evidence for verification. 

5.1.2. Dealing with customer enquiries. 

5.1.3. Signing off declarations. 

5.1.4. Providing Ofgem requested data on declarations signed. 

5.1.5. Sign posting potential applicants. 

5.1.6. Sourcing third party providers (although publication of the SOI is 

expected to bring them to NDC). 

5.1.7. Assessing the suitability of third party providers. 

5.1.8. The marketing of the scheme to applicants and/or use existing 

information to identify likely localities/wards. 

 

5.2. The Head of Planning, Housing & Health has in discussion with Service Lead 

– Home Adaptations, Improvements & Energy, identified (within the current 

establishment), a new operational model for the delivery which includes 

resources.   

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. An equality impact assessment of this revised SOI has been completed. 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. Potential improvements in energy efficiency from increased housing 

standards may impact positively on the environment. 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:   

8.1.1.1. None 

8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or 

8.1.2.1. Providing low-income residents of North Devon access to 

funded energy efficiency measures to improve their homes. 

8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development 

8.1.3.1. Improvement in housing standards 

 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1(f) 

9.1.1. Strategy & Resources Committee 

9.2. Referred or delegated power? 

9.2.1. Delegated 

 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 

the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:  

 

o Statement of Intent agreed at Strategy & Resources (Minute 9, 12th 

April 2021 refers) 

 

(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author 

of the report). 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 

Councillors and Officers:  

Wendy Slate – Service Lead Home Adaptations, Improvements & Energy Efficiency 

 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



V0.1

Statement of Intent for ECO4

North Devon Council ECO4 Flexible Eligibility Statement of Intent

Local Authority name: North Devon Council

Publication Date: XX/XX/XXXX

Version number: V.X

Publication on web site: www.XXXXXX.gov.uk

This statement sets out North Devon Council’s flexible eligibility criteria for the Energy

Company Obligation (ECO4) scheme from April 2022 – March 2026.

The ECO4 scheme will focus on supporting low income and vulnerable households. The

scheme will improve the least energy efficient homes helping to meet the Government’s

fuel poverty and net zero commitments.

The flexible approach for Local Authorities (LAs) to identifying fuel poor and vulnerable

households who may benefit from heating and energy saving measures is referred to as

“ECO4 Flex”.

The Council welcomes the introduction of the ECO4 Flex eligibility routes as it helps the

Council achieve its plans to improve the homes of those in fuel poverty or vulnerable to the

cold.

The Council is publishing this Statement of Intent (SoI), on the XX/XX/XXXX to confirm that

each of the households declared will adhere to at least one of the four available routes

outlined below:

Route 1: SAP bands D-G households with an income less than £31,000. This cap applies

irrespective of the property size, composition, or region.

Page 107

Agenda Item 10
Appendix a

http://www.xxxxxx.gov.uk/


2

ECO4 Flex Statement of Intent

Route 2: SAP bands E-G households that meet a combination of two of the following

proxies:

Proxy 1) Homes in England in Lower-layer Super Output Area 1-3 (LSOA) , or homes in

Welsh provision LSOA 1-3 on the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 , or the Index

of Multiple Deprivation for 2020, published by the Scottish Government

Proxy 2) Householders receiving a Council Tax rebate (rebates based on low income

only, excludes single person rebates).

Proxy 3) Householders vulnerable to living in a cold home as identified in the National

Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance. Only one from the list can be

used, excludes the proxy ‘low income’.

Proxy 4) A householder receiving free school meals due to low-income.

Proxy 5) A householder supported by a LA run scheme, that has been named and

described by the LA as supporting low income and vulnerable households for the

purposes of NICE Guideline.

Proxy 6) A household referred to the LA for support by their energy supplier or Citizen's

Advice or Citizen’s Advice Scotland, because they have been identified as struggling to

pay their electricity and gas bills.

* Note proxies 1 and 3 cannot be used together.

Route 3: SAP bands D-G households that have been identified by their doctor or GP as

low-income and vulnerable, with an occupant whose health conditions may be impacted

further by living in a cold home. These health conditions may be cardiovascular, respiratory,

immunosuppressed, or limited mobility related.

This is because the Council has identified a positive correlation between households who

suffer from long-term health conditions and living off a low-income, with living in poorly

insulated homes.

Page 108

Agenda Item 10
Appendix a



3

ECO4 Flex Statement of Intent

Route 4: SAP band D-G households that are referred under Route 4: Bespoke Targeting.

Suppliers and LAs can submit an application to BEIS where they have identified a low

income and vulnerable household, who are not already eligible under the exiting routes.

Page 109

Agenda Item 10
Appendix a



4

ECO4 Flex Statement of Intent

Declaration and evidence check confirmation

All potentially eligible households should apply through North Devon Council or one of their

approved ECO installers to ensure that they can either benefit from the scheme or be

assessed for eligibility under any other relevant programme.

The officer below will be responsible for checking and verifying declarations and associated

evidence submitted on behalf of the local authority:

Name: Wendy Slate

Job Title: Service Lead – Home Adaptations, Improvements & Energy Efficiency

Telephone: 01271 388264

Email: wendy.slate@northdevon.gov.uk

CEO or dedicated responsible person mandatory signature

The North Devon Council will administer the scheme according to BEIS’ ECO4 Order and

will identify eligible households via Ofgem’s application process. The CEO of the Council

will oversee the process of identifying eligible households under ECO4 Flex.

The eligibility information will be stored securely in line with the Council’s data protection

policy, Information Commissioner’s Office Data Sharing Code, and BEIS guidance.

Signature: XXXXXX

Name: Jeremy Mann

Job Title: Head of Planning, Housing & Health

Date of signature: XX/XX/XXXX

Page 110

Agenda Item 10
Appendix a

mailto:wendy.slate@northdevon.gov.uk


5

ECO4 Flex Statement of Intent

For any general enquires relating to this SoI, please contact

wendy.slate@northdevon.gov.uk

Page 111

Agenda Item 10
Appendix a

mailto:wendy.slate@northdevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Charter for Districts and Unitaries 

Best Practice for trading standards around ECOflex/other 
retrofit grant schemes 

 

Summary 

After examining the various different approaches employed by local authorities 
to delivery of both Statement of Intents and signing of declarations, and in 
consultation with council representatives from the relevant departments and 
Trading Standards, the Cosy Devon partnership  has proposed a working 
charter to ensure a ‘best practice’ approach to recommending and vetting 
energy agents, and their sub-contractors. 

The charter is a voluntary set of commitments for councils who administer retrofit 
schemes and is designed to clearly communicate the standards signatories will 
uphold in the development of current and new retrofit projects. 

The Charter outlines a commitment by signatories to ensure energy agents and their 
sub-contractors engage respectfully and sensitively with the communities which fall 
under each council area, and make a positive contribution to the regions in which 
they operate. 

The delivery of retrofit grant schemes has been troubled at times by bad practice on 
the part of energy agents and their sub-contractors (canvassers, installers). This 
could impact negatively on the popularity of grant schemes and campaigns 
promoting retrofit. Retrofitting properties in the county is an essential part of the 
Devon Climate Emergency’s net zero plan and so urgent action is needed to reduce 
instances of bad practice 

Charter Governance 
 

The Commitment 
Signatories to the Charter agree to honour the commitments set out in the charter 
governing best practice when onboarding contractors to carry out retrofit works for 
their respective councils. 

Public Display of Commitment 
Devon County Council will publish an up-to-date list of all signatories on their 
website. All signatories will publish and maintain up-to-date, signed copies of the 
charter on both their corporate and project websites. 
 

Eligibility 
Signatories to the charter must be involved in the development and delivery of retrofit 
projects in their statutory areas. 
 

Changes to the Charter 
The charter will be reviewed on a periodic basis, in order to reflect changes in best 
practice. Signatories will be consulted on any proposed changes. Final changes will 
be decided and amended by DCC, and a notice period for implementation of agreed 
changes given.   

Page 113

Agenda Item 10
Appendix b



 
Honouring the Charter 
Signatories are expected to honour the charter and are solely responsible for 
managing any concerns raised with them. 
 
Partners may approach any signatories with concerns that the council in question is 
not committed to honouring the charter and reserves the right to: 
 

 Remove signatories 

 Request that the signatory ceases to display the charter on their corporate 
and project websites and any other public or private forums 

 State on their (DCC’s) website that the council in question is no longer a 
signatory and the date they were removed. 

  

Page 114

Agenda Item 10
Appendix b



BEST PRACTICE CHARTER FOR RETROFIT 
PROJECTS 

We commit to ensuring that retrofit schemes in 
our area are carried out according to best 

practice and agree to do the following: 

1. Align Statements of Intent so they are consistent and make clear 

that: 

 

(a) rogue practices (Misleading / fraudulent claims, door-knocking 

houses with No Cold Caller stickers / signage) will not be tolerated 

(b) reps are transparent and provide customers with paperwork to 

confirm their identity, who they’re working for, and whether 

customers personal details will be sold on [also see 6(a)] 

(c) Ensure companies provide evidence of their accreditations as 

required (e.g. PAS for Eco-Flex) 

 
2. Remove council logos from the Declaration forms to reduce the 

risk that reps claim it shows they are working with the Local 

Authority 

 
3. Require Suppliers to confirm the name of the company that carries 

out canvassing or sales leads generation activities. 

 

4. Use a common form of wording, as agreed by charter signatories, 

to describe the council’s relationship to the grant scheme and the 

installer / marketing company for the companies to use. 

 

5. Inform Suppliers they have a responsibility for the actions of their 

contracted marketing and/or lead generation companies used.   

 

6. Take reasonable precautions and due diligence when outsourcing 

marketing functions to ensure companies do the following: 

 

(a) Adhere to the National Cold Calling Protocol  

(b) Comply with Trading Standards legislation, GDPR and EPC  

(c) Train staff on legal requirements 

(d) Provide regular refresher training 

(e) Keep records of staff training 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10
Appendix b



6. Ask Suppliers to formally acknowledge that they will abide by the 

Statement of Intent  

 

7. Only sign off Declarations after the work has been done OR if 

before work is completed check with the Consumer they’re happy 

work has been completed to an acceptable level. 

 

8. Warn Suppliers that Declarations will not be signed off if repeated 

verifiable complaints* are received (including those made to other 

councils) about either the Supplier or sub-contractors  

 

9. Act together so that if one council refuses to sign off a Suppliers 

Declarations then all charter signatories will do as well. 

 

10. Regularly provide updates to Charter signatories on actions taken 

with Suppliers and any complaints being received 

 

11. Maintain / introduce a list of ‘Boarded’ good local installers 

(possibly in conjunction with Trading Standards Buy With 

Confidence scheme) and only sign off Declarations from these 

companies.   

12. Actively work to use local traders when possible to support the local 

economy. 

 

12. Ensure council communications team follow Devon, Somerset & 

Torbay Trading Standards  social media accounts so councils are 

quickly aware of rogue traders and other related matters.  

 

Signature 

Print Name 

On Behalf of 

 

Date 

 
 
 

Page 116

Agenda Item 10
Appendix b



 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: 7th November 2022 

Topic: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy Amendments 

Report by: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to seek to adopt a revised North Devon Council 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (the ‘policy’). A copy of 

the proposed amended policy is found at Appendix A. 

  

1.2 Recommendation to approve the policy set out within Appendix A was  

provided by Licensing and Community Safety Committee on the 22nd  

September 2022. During this meeting it was resolved that the 

representations from the public consultation be noted and that following 

receipt of Safer Streets funding that all licensed taxi and private hire drivers 

be mandated to have undertaken or to have booked onto approved Child 

Sexual Exploitation and Safeguarding training prior to the 1st January 2023 

(this has been incorporated into the draft policy at Appendix A). 

 

2.1 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.1.1 It is RECOMMENDED that Strategy and Resources Committee: 

 

2.1.2 Approve the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy found at Appendix A.  

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 To ensure the Council’s policies are regularly reviewed and kept up to date. 

 

3.2 To contribute to the Council’s Corporate plan priority to “Cherish and protect our 

environment”.  

 

3.3 To increase the robustness of the Council’s approach and procedures in 

respect of Hackney carriage and private hire regulation. 

 

 

4 REPORT 

4.1 The Licensing and Community Safety Committee (LCSC) meeting of 22nd 

September considered the results of a public consultation on proposed changes 

Page 117

Agenda Item 11



 
to the North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy. The proposed Policy amendments outlined in the consultation included: 

 

- Update to the licenced vehicle age criteria (vehicle standards), to better 

align the Taxi Policy with the Councils corporate priority around protecting 

the environment; 

- Introduction of technical specifications and system requirements for any 

new CCTV systems fitted within licenced vehicles; 

- The introduction of record keeping requirements for vehicle proprietors 

(daily vehicle check records, maintenance records, and a log of who 

drives the vehicle); 

- The removal of the requirement for private hire vehicles to have a sun-

visor, and replacement with ‘advance booking only’ door stickers; 

- The introduction of a requirement for Licence holders to attend an 

interview with the Licensing Authority where requested in writing in 

relation to a complaint (interviews to be conducted in accordance with the 

principles of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 Code B); 

 

4.2 The Authority received some 52 responses in relation to the consultation 

exercise. The responses are reproduced in full in Appendix B.  

 

4.3 Officers carefully considered all of the consultation responses received and 

drafted several amendments to the proposed updated Policy in light of the 

consultation responses received. The consultation responses are summarised 

along with Officer comments and recommendations in Appendix C.  

 

4.4 The amendments proposed as a result of the consultation responses include: 

 

- Amendment to the proposal to update vehicle age criteria, with the 

proposal to reduce the upper age limit for first plating to 3 years amended 

to maintaining the current 5-year upper limit, but with the additional criteria 

of the vehicle being compliant with the Euro 6 emission standard; 

- Changes to the proposal to introduce an upper age-limit for renewal, from 

an age-related-criteria (10 years maximum), to an emission related criteria 

“Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or 

recognised UK equivalent)”. It is also proposed to delay the 

implementation of this policy point until 1st January 2026 to take account 

of the financial impact of Covid-19, and the current volatility in used-car 

prices; 

- Similarly, for wheelchair accessible vehicles the proposal has also been 

amended to an emission rather than age related criteria “Diesel vehicles 

must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or recognised 

Page 118

Agenda Item 11



 
UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission 

standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent)”; 

4.5 The remaining proposals are recommended to be approved as set out in 

the draft policy put before the Licensing and Community Safety Committee 

on 8th March.  

4.6 In addition to the previously proposed Policy changes and subsequent 

amendments, a number of other minor policy changes are proposed for 

approval: 

- Amendment to the Policy wording on vehicle testing at sections 3.11 

(Hackney carriage vehicles), and 7.12 (PHV) to give further clarity as to the 

time period acceptable for these tests; 

- Update and amendment to the Vehicle Inspection Report Sheet found within 

Appendix B of the policy. The inspection form has been revised and extended 

slightly following a benchmarking exercise against the vehicle inspection 

requirements of neighbouring Licensing Authorities across Devon and 

Somerset; 

- Amendment to the proposed wording for Private Hire Vehicles to display 

“Private Hire Advance Booking Only” signage, to allow for Private Hire 

Operators to include this wording within their own signage (subject to 

conformance with the criteria set out in the amended wording at Appendix M 

section 3.1); 

- Amendment to the proposed wording on vehicle write-offs (Appendix A 

Section 1.5), to include further examples/ guidance on the documentary 

evidence which can be submitted as evidence of safety/ suitability of the 

vehicle post repair; 

- Additional proposed wording within the Notifications section of the Private 

Hire Licensing Driver Conditions (Appendix O Section 3.2), to make it an 

additional requirement for Licenced Drivers to notify the Licensing Authority 

where they are notified by the Police of an allegation of an offence by them 

that the Police are investigating.  

 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Any financial costs which are reduced or incurred through the approval of a new 

policy will be taken into account when calculating fees for taxi related licences. 

 

5.2 Other costs related to the proposed policy amendments will be borne directly by 

licence holders. 

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



 
6 EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1 The impact of the proposals is largely neutral, albeit positive impacts by way of 

a proposed amendment to the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy, and in 

particular to the vehicle standards which seeks a promotion of wheelchair 

accessible vehicles to be licensed by North Devon Council is evident. An 

Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken. 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1  A positive impact by way of a proposed impact to the Taxi and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy, and in particular the proposed update to the licenced vehicle 

age criteria (vehicle standards), to better align the Taxi Policy with the Council’s 

corporate priority around protecting the environment is evident. An 

Environmental Assessment has been undertaken. 

8 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

8.1  Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:4b 

8.2   Referred or delegated power?: Delegated. 

 

9 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

a. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information 

under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

 

10 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

a. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this 

report: (The background papers are available for inspection and kept 

by the author of the report). 

 The Energy Savings Trust/ Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership Low 

Emission Taxi Guide; 

 North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy; 

 In the picture: A data protection code of practice for surveillance 

cameras and personal information (ICO); 

 The Information Commissioner's response to the Department for 

Transport's consultation on Statutory Guidance for Licensing 

Authorities; Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing. 

 

11 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

a. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all 

appropriate Councillors and Officers: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection 

Manager 17.10.22 

Page 120

Agenda Item 11



1 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022 

 
 

 
Published by 

 
The Licensing Team 

Environmental Health & Housing Services 
North Devon Council 

Lynton House 
Barnstaple EX31 1DG 

 

Version 178.0 effective from 1 March September 2022 
(First published November 2005) 

 
 

Telephone: 01271 388870 
customerservices@northdevon.gov.uk 

 
https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/licensing 

 

 

Page 121

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

file:///C:/Users/User/Documents/North%20Devon/Vehicle%20Standards-%20policy%20changes/8th%20March%20LCSC/customerservices@northdevon.gov.uk
https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/licensing


2 

 

Page 122

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



3 
 

Contents           Page Nos To 

be updated 
 
Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 4 
Arrangement of Sections ...................................................................................................... 6 
 
Section 3  Hackney Carriage Licensing: Proprietors ................................................... 7 
Section 4  Hackney Carriage Licensing: Drivers.......................................................... 9 
Section 5  Hackney Carriage Licensing: Fares ........................................................... 15 
Section 6 Hackney Carriage Licensing: Taxi Stands ................................................. 17 

 
Section 7  Private Hire Licensing: Operators and Vehicles ........................................ 18 
Section 8  Private Hire Licensing: Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles ........ 19 
Section 9  Private Hire Licensing: Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel

 21 
Section 10  Private Hire Licensing: Exempted Vehicles ............................................... 22 
Section 11  Private Hire Licensing: Drivers.............................................................. ... 23 

 
Section 12  Non-motorised Hackney Carriages ........................................................... 24 

 
Section 13 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing: 

Disciplinary and Enforcement Measures ...................................................... 26 
Section 14 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:  

Delegated Powers................................. ........................................................ 28 
Section 15 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:  

Offences.................................................... .................................................... 29 
Section 16 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:  

Fees.................................................... .......................................................... 30 
 
Appendices 

 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 

Appendix A – General Conditions ............................................... ................................ 31 
Appendix  B –  Vehicle Inspection Checklist .................................................................. 40 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 

Appendix  C – Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers ......................................... 42 
Appendix  D – Dress Code for Licensed Drivers ............................................................ 46 
Appendix E – Application Procedure ............................................................................. 47 
Appendix  F – Testing of Applicants  .............................................................................. 48 
Appendix  G – The Consideration of Applications .......................................................... 49 
Appendix  H – The Relevance of Convictions ................................................................ 50 
Appendix  I – Disciplinary Hearings ................................................................................ 55 
Appendix  J – Offences  .................................................................................................. 56 
 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

Appendix    K – Hackney Carriage Conditions ................................................................. 59 
Appendix   L – Taxi Stands  ............................................................................................. 62 
 
Private Hire Vehicles 

Appendix   M – Private Hire Vehicle Conditions .............................................................. 64 
Appendix  N – Stretched Limousines.............................................................................. 66 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



4 

 

Private Hire Drivers 

Appendix  O – Private Hire - Driver’s Conditions ........................................................... 67 
 
Private Hire Operators 

Appendix  P – Private Hire - Operator’s Licence Conditions ......................................... 68 
 
Non Motorised Vehicles – Driver and Vehicle Conditions 

Appendix   Q - Horse-drawn carriage conditions ............................................................ 71 
 
Executive Hire Exemption Policy 

 
Appendix  R – Executive Hire Exemption Policy  ...................................................... 78 
 
CCTV Technical Specification and System Requirements 

 
Appendix  S – Licensed Vehicle CCTV Technical Specifications and System 
Requirements .................................................................................................................. 80 
 
 
1.0  Introduction 
 

1.1 This statement of licensing policy is written pursuant to the powers conferred by 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which 
places on North Devon Council (the “Licensing Authority”) the duty to carry out its 
licensing functions as to hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 

 
1.2 In setting out its policy, the Licensing Authority shall promote the following 
objectives: 

 
(i) The protection of public health and safety; 
 
(ii) The establishment of a professional and respected hackney carriage and 

private hire trade; 
 
(iii) Access to an efficient and effective public transport service; 
 
(iv) The protection of the environment 

 
1.3 In promoting the above objectives the licensing authority will embrace the 
principles of: 

 
a)  Fairness and reasonableness to the users of taxis and the trade. 
 
b)  Promotion of free trade. 
 
c)  Open consultative decision-making. 
 
d)  Adoption of best practice guidance where applicable, e.g. from the 

Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards 
 

1.4 In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Licensing 
Authority shall have regard to this policy document and the objectives set out 
above.  

Page 124

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



5 
 

 
1.5 Despite the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement measure shall 

be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority 
to depart substantially from its policy, clear and compelling reasons shall be given 
for so doing. 

 
1.6 When carrying out it’s regulatory function the Licensing Authority will do so in 

accordance with the Licensing Enforcement Policy and will do so in a transparent, 
accountable, proportionate and consistent way and will target regulatory activities 
only at cases in which action is needed. 

 
1.7 The aim of the licensing process in this context is to regulate the hackney carriage 

and private hire trade in order to promote the above objectives. It is the Licensing 
Authority’s wish to facilitate well-run and responsible businesses which display a 
sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the general public. 
 

1.8 This policy shall take effect from 1 March 2022 during which time it shall be kept 
under review and revised as appropriate. A full review will take place every five 
years. 

 
1.9 Upon implementation of this policy, the Licensing Authority expects licence-holders 

to comply with its terms immediately, except in regard to certain provisions for 
which a time-scale for compliance has been stated within the relevant section of 
this policy.  

  

Page 125

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



6 

 

1.10 In drawing up this policy, the Licensing Authority has consulted with the following: 
 

 Representatives of the hackney carriage and private hire trade 
 The Devon and Cornwall Constabulary 
 Devon County Council Environment Department 
 Devon County Council (School Contracts) 
 Devon County Council Highways 
 Vehicle and Operator Services Agency 
 Local Disability Charities 
 Local businesses and their representatives 
 Local residents and their representatives 
 Barnstaple Town Centre Management 
 Regional Transport and General Workers Union Representatives 

 
1.11 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those consulted prior to this 

policy statement taking effect. 
 

1.12 Under Section 177 (4) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 Licensing 
Authorities must have regard to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi 
and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. In drawing up this policy the Licensing 
Authority has thoroughly considered all aspects of the above guidance. A 
public consultation on the incorporation of the DFT Standards into the 
Licensing Authority Hackney carriage and Private hire policy was conducted 
between 14th December 2020 and 8th February 2021, and the revised policy 
was considered by the Licensing and Community Safety Committee on 18th 
January 2022. 

 
1.13 In addition to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards the Licensing Authority has also fully considered the 
Institute of Licensing document Guidance on Determining the Suitability of 
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades and has 
used this as the basis for Appendix H of this document (The Relevance of 
Convictions). A consultation on proposed changes to the relevance of 
convictions section of this document was conducted between 11th November 
and 23rd December 2019. 

Page 126

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



7 
 

2.0 Arrangement of Sections 

 
2.1 In order to provide clarity for potential applicants for hackney carriage licences or 

for existing licence holders, this policy document sets out the Licensing Authority’s 
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings: 

 
 Proprietors (Section 3) 
 Drivers (Section 4) 
 Fares (Section 5) 
 Taxi stands (Section 6) 

 
2.2 In relation to private hire licensing, this document sets out the Licensing Authority’s 

expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings: 
 
 Operators (Section 7) 
 Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles (Section 8) 
 Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel (Section 9) 
 Exempted Vehicles (Section 10) 
 Drivers (Section 11) 

 

2.3 The following sections are in relation to both hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing: 
 
 Disciplinary and Enforcement Measures (Section 13) 
 Delegated powers (Section 14) 
 Offences (Section 15) 
 Fees (Section 16) 

 
2.4 Provisions relating to non-motorised hackney carriage vehicles (i.e.: horse-drawn 

vehicles, rickshaws and trishaws) are set out separately in this document in 
section 12. 
 

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



8 

 

3.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Proprietors 

 
 
3.1  Licence Application 

 
Those persons wishing to make application for the grant or renewal of a hackney 
carriage vehicle licence should submit an application using the Council’s specified 
form. Forms should be accompanied with the following documentation: 

  
a) Vehicle registration document (V5) or lease document.  
b) Certificate of insurance showing cover for hire purposes. 
c) Current MOT certificate.  
d) Vehicle inspection report.  
e) Current licence fee. 
f) A basic disclosure certificate from the DBS (unless the proprietor is already 
licenced as a North Devon Hackney carriage/ Private Hire Driver). 
          
Applicants must complete all relevant fields of the application form in order for the 
application to be considered duly made. In this context an application will not be 
considered duly made without the inclusion of a valid email address (the Council will 
correspond with licence holders primarily via email and as such a valid email 
address is essential). 
 
A Basic Disclosure submitted alongside any application must be no more than three 
calendar months old from the date of issue when submitting the application to the 
Licensing Authority. In relation to the consideration of convictions, cautions, 
warnings, arrests, reprimands and other ‘relevant information’, the Council will use 
the policy set out in Appendix H. 
 
 
Licences are granted for a period of one year. Failure to renew a licence before the 
expiry date will result in the applicant being required to make a new application for 
the grant of a vehicle licence. The grant of vehicle licences will require compliance 
with section 3.5 which includes the requirement that a vehicle must comply with the 
Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent), and be less than 
5 years old. 
 

 
 In exceptional circumstances the Licensing Authority may choose to waive the 
requirement for a meter test to be undertaken (providing the meter seal is not 
broken). Circumstances solely related to the renewal process, for example a mere 
failure to renew on time leading to financial consequences will not be deemed 
exceptional. ‘Exceptional’ in this instance will only apply where failure to renew is 
due to unforeseen circumstances, for example where the applicant has been unable 
to apply due to a significant accident or emergency situation.  

 
North Devon Council does not accept any part applications in relation to vehicles 
(applications without those documents listed at a) to e) above) because it has to be 
satisfied in order to grant a licence that all appropriate requirements have been met. 
However as outlined above the authority may waive the requirements in 3.0 in 
exceptional circumstances where individuals have been unable to apply on time. 

 

Page 128

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



9 
 

On successful determination of a licence proprietors will be issued a vehicle issued 
plate for which a plate deposit fee must be paid. Plates should be displayed as 
outlined in Appendix A, Paragraph 19.0. 

 
3.2    Environmental Considerations 
 

The Council fully supports the use of vehicles that use cleaner environmentally 
friendly fuels. 

 
It is considered that efforts should be made, through the licensing policy, to improve, 
as far as possible, the efficiency of vehicles licensed in the district by, in particular, 
reducing the levels of CO2 emitted.  Appendix A Paragraph 17.0 makes it clear that 
LPG conversions to vehicles are perfectly acceptable. 

 
Clearly emissions from taxis and private hire vehicles could be reduced further by 
encouraging better maintenance of vehicles and by switching off engines when 
stationary or idling, particularly at taxi ranks. This is something which is highlighted 
in the Code of Good Conduct, and in particular in relation to responsibilities to 
residents in Appendix C, Paragraph 3.0. 

 
3.3       Conditions 

 
The Licensing Authority is empowered to impose such conditions, as it considers 
reasonably necessary in relation to the grant or renewal of a hackney carriage 
licence. The following represent the minimum standards, which are expected. They 
should be read in      conjunction with conditions for both hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles set out in    Appendix A and those specific to hackney carriages 
set out in Appendix K 
 

3.4  Limitation of Numbers 

 
The Licensing Authority has no policy to limit the number of hackney carriages, 
which may be licensed within the North Devon District Council area.  This policy was 
reviewed by Council on the 9th February 2010 and following the review there is no 
change to this policy. This does not, however, imply that there is to be no regulation 
of hackney carriages, as the Licensing Authority intends that quality controls shall 
be rigorously maintained in relation to both the vehicle and the driver. 

 
3.5 Maximum Age of Hackney carriage Vehicle Standards: Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle First Licence (Except wheelchair accessible vehicles) 
 

 
For all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council (including existing proprietors on 

the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to comply with the following 
condition: 
Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised 
UK equivalent) and be less than 5 years old. 
 
Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly 

where an application for the grant of a hackney carriage licence is made 
when the vehicle in question is more than 5 years old or a lower emission 
standard, the application must be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee 
for consideration.  

Page 129

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



10 

 

 
The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old or 

less than the Euro 6 emission standard, but each such application will be 
considered on it’s own merits. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, 
and the mileage will be relevant. 

 
 
Vehicles must be less than 3 years old when presented for first licensing. 

 
Additionally, a first licence may be issued to a vehicle that is more than three but 
less than four years old provided a comprehensive report into the mechanical fitness 
of the vehicle has been undertaken in accordance with the Council’s vehicle 
inspection requirements (Vehicle Inspection Checklist- Appendix B), and any 
essential works identified have been carried out and evidence provided to establish 
this. An application for the grant of a first licence where the vehicle in question is 
more than 4 years old, shall not be granted. However, the applicant will be given the 
right to apply for the application to be considered by a licensing sub-committee if 
they feel that their particular circumstances justify a deviation from the existing 
Policies. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be 
relevant. 
 

 
 
This provision shall not apply to non-motorised vehicles. 
 

3.6 Hackney carriage Vehicle Standard:  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 
 

North Devon Council recognises its responsibility to ensure that the hackney carriage and 
private hire trade is accessible to all members of the community. It is therefore the 
intention of this policy to incentivise the licensing of wheelchair accessible vehicles. 
This policy recognises that these types of vehicles can involve additional costs to 
the proprietor in either purchasing or running-costs, and as such the vehicle 
standard for these vehicles has been amended from that for other vehicle types as 
follows: 

 
For all new wheelchair accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the Council 

proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition(s): 
Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or 

recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 
emission standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent). 

Wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles must be less than 6 years old 
at first licensing. 
 
3.7       Hackney Carriage Vehicle Renewal (Except wheelchair accessible vehicles) 

 
From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, proprietors will be 

required to comply with the following condition: 
Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised UK 

equivalent). 
Vehicles presented for renewal that are less than 10 years old can be renewed by 
Licensing Officers under delegated powers.  

 

Page 130

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



11 
 

 Vehicles presented for renewal that are between 10 and 11 years old can be 
renewed by Licensing Officers under delegated powers provided that the vehicle is 
presented for inspection in a satisfactory condition, and the vehicle has passed its 
vehicle renewal inspection. 

 
Vehicles presented for renewal that are more than 11 years old will be referred to 
the licensing sub-committee for determination. Such applications should be 
submitted at least 6 weeks prior to the expiry date on the licence, as it may take 
several weeks to convene a licensing sub-committee. Applicants will be advised to 
provide a comprehensive report into the mechanical fitness of the vehicle as 
outlined above. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be 
relevant. 
 

 
3.8 Hackney carriage Vehicle Renewal: Wheelchair Accessible and Ultra-low/ zero 
emission vehicles  

 
From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, wheelchair 
accessible vehicle proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition: 
Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or 
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission 
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent).There is currently no upper age 
limit for the renewal of wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles, 
these vehicles will still be required to pass the Council’s vehicle inspection on a 
twelve-month basis until the vehicle is 8 years old, and thereafter every six months. 
 
This provisions of sections 3.5 to 3.8 shall not apply to non-motorised vehicles. 
 

 
 

3.9 Vehicle Size 

 
Vehicles may be licensed for up to eight passengers. 
 

3.10 Advertising 

 
Detailed provisions as to permitted vehicle markings which relate to the proprietor’s 
business are set out in Appendix K. Other advertising is permitted but only with the 
express permission of a Licensing Officer, who shall not allow advertising which is 
disproportionate, unreasonable and not in good taste. 
 

3.11   Vehicle Testing 

 
A hackney carriage vehicle shall be tested once per year until it is 6 years old (8 
years old for wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles), and 
thereafter twice per year, at six monthly intervals. All vehicles must pass the vehicle 
test as detailed in Appendix B no more than eight weeks before the grant or renewal 
of the licence. The second vehicle test (applicable to older vehicles), must be 
passed no less than five months and no more than seven months before the expiry 
date of the licence. 
 
The test must be carried out by an authorised MOT examiner at a testing station 
approved by the Ministry of Transport, and must be conducted against an inspection 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 131

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



12 

 

checklist, which is exhibited at Appendix B. This is in addition to an MOT, which for 
Hackney Carriages is required at 1 year old and thereafter. If the vehicle has not 
passed the vehicle test it cannot be used as a licensed vehicle even during the 
duration of an existing licence and any existing licence will be suspended. 
 

3.12   Livery 

 
There are no requirements to display the Council logo on vehicles. 

  

Page 132

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



13 
 

4.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Drivers 
 
4.1 Conditions 

 
The Licensing Authority is not permitted to attach conditions to a hackney carriage 
driver’s licence. However, all Hackney carriage drivers are also licensed to drive 
private hire vehicles, and as such shall be subject to any conditions attached to 
their private hire driver’s licence and expected to comply with them as set out in 
the appendices to this document. All drivers are expected to comply with a Code of 
Good Conduct, as set out within Appendix C. 

 
4.2 Code of Good Conduct 

 
The Licensing Authority considers that a professional driver shall not charge above 
the maximum fare, shall adopt safe and passive driving techniques and set a good 
example to other road users. The standards expected are set out in the Code of 
Good Conduct, which is included in this policy document at Appendix C. 
 
The Licensing Authority has also adopted a Dress Code for licensed drivers, which 
is exhibited at Appendix D. 

 
4.3   Age, Experience and Qualification standards  

  
Whilst there are no age restrictions imposed, the Licensing Authority shall not 
grant a licence to drive a Hackney Carriage to any person unless they have held a 
full driving licence for a period of one year and have passed a qualification listed in 
A and B below: 

 
A 

 

 Driving standard assessment equivalent to the Driver and Vehicle Standards 
Agency taxi driving assessment , or 
 

 The Public Carrying Vehicles Test (or an equivalent or higher qualification as 
approved by the Authority). 

 
B 

 

 BTEC Level 2 Certificate in the Introduction to the Role of the Professional Taxi 
and Private Hire Driver (previously named the BTEC Intermediate Award in 
Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire), or 

 

 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Road Passenger Vehicle Driving (Community, 
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicles and Chauffeurs), or 
 

 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Passenger Carrying Vehicle Driving, or 
 

 An equivalent or higher qualification as approved by the Authority. 
 

Although existing drivers are not required to undertake and pass the BTEC 
Intermediate Award in Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire, they are 
encouraged to undertake and pass these tests. 
 

Page 133

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



14 

 

With effect from 1st March 2022 all prospective applicants for dual Hackney 
carriage/ private hire drivers licences will within 12 months of the licence being 
granted, provide documentary evidence of completing North Devon Council 
approved child sexual exploitation and safeguarding awareness training. 
 
With effect from 1st March 20227th November 2022 all existing licenced drivers 
seeking the renewal of their licence will, within 12 months of any licence being 
renewed, undertake child sexual exploitation and safeguarding awareness training 
(CSE awareness). 
 

all licensed taxi and private hire drivers must have undertaken or be booked onto 
North Devon Council approved Child Sexual Exploitation and Safeguarding training 
prior to the 1st January 2023. 
 
It should be noted that existing drivers who fail to make their renewal application 
on time will be treated as a grant application. All drivers are advised to place their 
licence expiry in their diary and to apply for their driver’s renewal in good time. 

 
 
4.4   Authorisation to Work in the UK 

 
All applicants will need to demonstrate that they are authorised to work in the UK 
before an application for the grant of a driver’s licence may be considered. The 
Licensing Authority will operate its application procedures in line with guidance 
issued by the UK Border Agency on Prevention of Illegal Working and its associated 
Code of Practice.  
 
Further information can be obtained from www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/ or 
https://workpermit.com/. Identification documents may be scanned and forwarded 
to the Home Office for verification. 

 
4.5 Certificates of Good Conduct   
 

The Licensing Authority recognises that a DBS disclosure will only give 
background details of any convictions, cautions etc. that were effected in the UK, 
Channel Islands, and Isle of Man.  

 
It is therefore the policy of the Licensing Authority to require, where appropriate, a 
certificate of good conduct (or suitable equivalent document) from any applicant 
who has been resident in any country (other than the UK, Channel Islands and 
Isle of Man) for any length of time since the age of ten (i.e. the UK age of criminal 
liability) or, where appropriate, since any (pre)existing licence was granted.  

 
For the purposes of this general policy requirement, the Licensing Authority will 

normally:  
(a) interpret the term 'resident in any country' in its widest possible meaning and to 
include any period other than work deployments or holidays of less than 6 months 
duration or any period of service in HM armed forces.  
(b) require a certificate of good conduct (or suitable equivalent document) to be 
provided in respect of each country in which the applicant may have previously 
lived. 

 

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm

Formatted: Superscript

Page 134

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

https://workpermit.com/


15 
 

NB: The licensing authority notes that different countries and jurisdictions may 

recognise and use a different minimum age of criminal liability. Where appropriate, a 
statement of good conduct must reflect the relevant minimum age of criminal liability 
for the country concerned.  

 
Additional requirements of certificates of good conduct 

 
To ensure authenticity, currency and efficiency of use, the Licensing Authority 
requires that certificates of good conduct (or suitable equivalent) be: 

 
(a) translated and submitted in written English;  
(b) authenticated/certified as a true and accurate record by the relevant Embassy; 
and  
(c) dated within 6 months of the date of submission or within a period otherwise 
considered appropriate in the circumstances.  

 
Relevance of certificates of good conduct  

 
As it will otherwise be unable to satisfy itself of the applicant’s propriety, the 
licensing authority will normally refuse any application for a hackney carriage and/or 
private hire driver’s licence where the applicant fails to provide or obtain suitable 
and sufficient certificates of good conduct where these may be appropriate.  

 
However, the licensing authority recognises that not all states or provinces can 
provide for certificates of good conduct. Therefore, in genuinely exceptional 
circumstances, the licensing authority may require alternative documentation (i.e. 
suitable equivalent documents) and/or seek to undertake alternative investigation of 
the propriety of the applicant.  

 
By way of providing for some background history, the exceptional arrangements 
referred to will normally only be applied where the applicant can demonstrate a 
minimum of five years official residency in the UK prior to application. Where 
appropriate, alternative investigations and/or validation of documentation may be 
undertaken through relevant agencies such as Interpol. 
 

4.6   Driving Licences 

 
The Licensing Authority requires an applicant’s driving licence to reflect the 
address in the UK where the applicant resides. 

 
4.7        Application Procedure 

 
An application for a hackney carriage driver’s licence shall be made on the 
Council’s specified application form. This form is a dual application form, and any 
application shall be deemed to comprise an application for both a hackney carriage 
and a private hire driver’s licence, unless the applicant indicates otherwise. The 
application procedure is set out in Appendix E. Applicants must complete all 
relevant fields of the application form in order for the application to be considered 
duly made. In this context an application will not be considered duly made without 
the inclusion of a valid email address (the Council will correspond with licence 
holders primarily via email and as such a valid email address is essential). 
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



16 

 

If satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person the Licensing Authority will 
grant a licence for a period of three years unless an applicant’s personal 
circumstances dictate the granting a licence for a period of one year. 

 
4.8 DVLA Driver Licence Check  

 
As part of the Council’s fit and proper test, all applicants must sign a DVLA 
disclosure mandate, which is valid for a period of three years. The DVLA mandate 
allows approved Council personnel to access a web-based DVLA system in order 
to check on driving licence entitlements and endorsements. 
 
If on request drivers decide not to sign a disclosure mandate at any time during the 
period of their licence, their licence will be suspended until such time as the validity 
of their DVLA licence can be confirmed, showing that they are a fit and proper 
person.  
 
Applications for the grant of a licence will not be approved until all driving licence 
entitlement and endorsement data is received by the Council and it proves 
satisfactory in accordance with this policy. 
 
A signed mandate is sufficient for the Council to issue a licence on renewal. 
However, any issues subsequently identified which would prove unsatisfactory with 
regard to this policy will then be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee in line 
with Appendix I. 
 
When a driver surrenders their hackney drivers licence a mandate is immediately 
cancelled.  

 
4.9 Testing of Applicants 

 
 The Licensing Authority shall not grant a licence to drive a hackney carriage unless 
it is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person. In order to determine such 
fitness, the applicant shall be required to undertake the following: 
 
 Written tests as to the applicant’s knowledge of: 

 
(a) Local geography  
(b) The Highway Code 
(c) The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
(d)(b) Numeracy. 

 
The procedures in relation to the above are set out Appendix F. 
 

 4.10 The Consideration of Applications 

 
The Licensing Authority shall consider the application once the appropriate tests 
have been undertaken, and the application form and supporting documents are 
complete. The relevant elements of the procedure to consider the merits of the 
application are set out in Appendix G. 

 
4.11  Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Disclosures 

 

Page 136

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



17 
 

Before the Licensing Authority shall consider an application for the grant of a 
driver’s licence, the Applicant must provide an Enhanced DBS disclosure of 
criminal convictions (including a check of the barred lists). The Council has 
arranged for a private company to carry out the DBS checks on their behalf but 
drivers will need to make their application through a licensing officer to ensure their 
application is processed in a timely manner 
 
With effect from 1st April 2022, all new driver applicants and existing driver licence 
holders upon renewal application, are required to subscribe to the DBS update 
service. Licenced drivers must produce their most recent enhanced DBS certificate 
within 7 days upon request from the Licensing Authority. Applicants must also give 
consent to the checking of the status of their DBS certificate online at any time. If 
on request drivers decide not to sign a DBS mandate at any time during the period 
of their licence, their licence will be suspended until such time as the validity of 
their DBS certificate can be confirmed. 
 
For non-UK applicants, see paragraph 4.5 of this section. 
 
The Council will only accept Enhanced DBS disclosures that are less than three 
calendar months old at the date of issue by the DBS. 
 
The Council is bound by rules of confidentiality, and will not divulge information 
obtained to any third parties. The applicant for a DBS disclosure will be sent their 
DBS disclosure to their home address.  
 
Care should be taken to complete DBS application forms accurately as failure to 
do so will delay the process of obtaining a DBS disclosure. 
 
In line with guidance issued by the DBS, North Devon Council will not accept DBS 
certificates from another body, e.g. Devon County Council, due to the risk factors 
involved. 

 
 4.12 Relevance of Convictions and Cautions 

 
           The guidelines contained in Appendix H (Relevance of convictions), are developed 

from the ‘Institute of licensing – Guidance on determining the suitability of 
applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades’ and the 
‘Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards - 
assessment of previous convictions’. 
 
Upon receipt of the certificate from the Disclosure & Barring Service, an Officer of 
the Licensing Authority will compare any disclosed information with the adopted 
policies relating to relevance of convictions and determine whether the applicant 
should be referred to a Licensing Sub -committee for them to determine whether 
the applicant is fit and proper to hold a licence. 
 
Guidance in relation to specific offences, along with a summary of the principles of 
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, is given in Appendix H. In general terms, 
the more recent, serious and relevant to public safety the offence is, the less likely 
that an application will be granted. 
 
A refusal to licence an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver 
licence does 

Page 137

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



18 

 

not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a 
vehicle or private hire vehicle operator licence. The safety and suitability of an 
individual to hold each licence type will be considered independently of any driver 
licence refusal/ revocation in light of the information received/ held. 

 
4.13 Medical Examination 

 
A medical certificate is required before a licence may be granted, irrespective of 
the age of the applicant. A DVLA Group 2 standard of medical fitness for 
professional drivers is required. Certificates must be completed by a Doctor 
currently registered with the General Medical Council and approved to conduct 
driver medicals by North Devon District Council (weblink to list of current approved 
providers), or a GP from their registered practice, who has access to an applicant’s 
medical records. 
 
North Devon Council holds specified medical examination forms, these are 
available for applicants to present to the examining Doctor. The applicant shall be 
responsible for paying the fee for the examination to the relevant surgery, and for 
providing the examining Doctor with a copy of their ‘Summary of medical records’ 
which is obtainable free of charge from their GP surgery upon request. On 
completion of the examination, a confidential report will be submitted to the 
Licensing Office. This report will be returned to the applicant. 
 
North Devon Council no longer accept evidence via a HGV licence entitlement on 
a driving licence that a driver has passed a Group 2 medical. All applicants are 
required to provide evidence of a Group 2 standard medical completed and signed 
fit, as the medicals for DVLA HGV renewals do not include a declaration that the 
person is medically fit to hold the licence.  
 
Existing drivers must produce to the Council a new medical certificate within seven 
days of the date of the expiry of a previous certificate.  
 
Any applicant or licence holder must be medically examined every 5 years, whilst 
individuals of 65 years and over, must be examined annually.  
 
Licence holders must immediately advise the Council of any deterioration of their 
health that may affect their driving capabilities and which may negate their ability to 
pass a Group 2 medical standard examination. Examples include high blood 
pressure, angina, diabetes, vision disorder, fainting, blackouts, drug taking or 
alcoholism. Where there is any doubt as to the medical fitness of the applicant, the 
Council may require the applicant to undergo and pay for a further medical 
examination by a Doctor appointed by the Council. The Doctor’s recommendation 
will be final. 
 

4.14  Central Database The National Register of Revocations and Refusals 

 
The Licensing Authority will review all applications for new licences against the 
Central Database National Register of Revocations and Refusals. If an applicant 
has been refused/revoked by another authority, this may not debar an applicant 
from holding a licence, however the Licensing Authority will give weight to the 
decision made by that authority in considering the application. Additionally, if an 
applicant has had another licence refused/revoked which is not declared on an 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 138

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



19 
 

application form, this will raise concerns about the honesty and integrity of the 
applicant and is likely to lead to refusal. 
 
North Devon Council will record all decisions to refuse and revoke a driver’s licence 
on the Central Database of Revocations and RefusalsNational Register, and will 
provide details of the reasons for each decision to another licensing authority upon 
receipt of a suitable data protection request.  
 

 
4.15 Grant of Licences 

 
A successful applicant will be granted a hackney carriage driver’s licence, along 
with a private hire driver’s licence, for a three-year period from the date of grant, 
subject to the power to grant a licence for a shorter period, should this be 
appropriate in the circumstances. 
 

 
 4.16 Renewals 

 
Although there is no statutory duty placed on North Devon Council to issue 
reminders, holders of existing hackney carriage drivers’ licences will be reminded, 
in the month preceding their expiry, when their licences are due to be renewed. 
However, the responsibility to apply for renewal in good time ultimately rests with 
the Licence Holder. Application forms, appropriate fees, and supporting 
documentation, as set out in Appendix E, must be submitted at least 7 days prior 
to the expiry of the previous licence. Drivers are recommended to place their 
licence expiry date in their diary and apply in good time. 

 
Applicants for renewal are required to provide an Enhanced DBS disclosure from 
the Disclosure & Barring Service every three years or on an earlier occasion if 
requested by the Licensing Authority. Applicants who are aged 65 or over will need 
to provide evidence of their medical fitness to hold a licence upon renewal each 
year. 
 
Failure to renew a licence before the expiry date will result in the applicant being 
required to make a new application for the grant of a new licence. The applicant 
will be required to comply with Appendix E of this policy which includes the 
necessity to undertake and pass the DVSA Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Assessment test AND the BTEC Intermediate Award in Transporting Passengers 
by Taxi and Private Hire (or higher or equivalent tests approved by the Licensing 
Authority, see paragraph 4.3 of this section).  
 
In exceptional circumstances the Licensing Authority may choose to waive those 
testing requirements outlined at Paragraph 3 of Appendix E and Appendix F, and 
the requirement for a disclosure & barring check, provided that the one held by the 
authority is less than three years old. Circumstances solely related to the renewal 
process, for example a mere failure to renew on time leading to financial 
consequences will not be deemed exceptional. ‘Exceptional’ in this instance will 
only apply where failure to renew is due to unforeseen circumstances, for example 
where the applicant has been unable to apply due to a significant accident or 
emergency situation.  
 
 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 139

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



20 

 

4.17        Licence Application Tax Check  
 

From 4 April 2022, licensing authorities are required to carry out checks to make 
sure applicants are aware of their tax responsibilities or have completed a tax 
check. 
 
New applicants will therefore be required to confirm on their application form that 
they are aware of their tax responsibilities, whilst applicants renewing their licence 
will need to complete a tax check and obtain a tax check code from the HMRC 
which must be provided on their application form.  
The Licensing Authority is not permitted to grant or renew a licence until a valid tax 
check code has been provided. 
 

 
 

Page 140

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



21 
 

5.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Fares 
 
5.1 Prescribed rates 

 
The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle, whether by agreement or otherwise, shall 
not charge any fare greater than the rate prescribed by the Council in the 
document ‘North Devon Council’s Hackney Fares’, except as set out below. 

 
5.2 Separate Fares 

 
The driver of a Hackney Carriage Vehicle shall not charge greater than the 
prescribed rate of fares as issued by the Licensing Authority, see ‘North Devon 
Council’s Hackney Fares’ document. A licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicle or 
licensed hire car may be used for hire or reward at separate fares BUT ONLY 
WHERE:  

 
a) All the passengers carried on the occasion in question booked their journeys 

in advance; and 
 
b) Each of them consented, when booking the journey, to sharing the use of the 

vehicle on that occasion with others on the basis that a separate fare would be 
payable by each passenger for their own journey on that occasion. 

 
c) The total fare for all passengers does not exceed the fare on the meter for the 

journey. 
 

The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle shall make their own agreement with 
the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey. 

 
5.3 Table of Fares 

 
The maximum fares prescribed by the Licensing Authority are set out ‘North Devon 
Council’s Hackney Fares’ document. A table of authorised fares will be provided to 
each hackney carriage licence holder and must be displayed in each vehicle so 
that it is easily visible to all hirers. Applicants will also be provided by the authority 
with a fare tariff explanation sheet which must be kept in the vehicle and produced 
upon request, and a ‘How to complain/ comment’ sticker which must be displayed 
prominently within the vehicle. 
 

 
5.4 Review 

  
           Hackney carriage tariffs will be reviewed upon request by a representative section 

of Hackney carriage Drivers/ Proprietors when cost of fuel and other expenses will 
be taken into account. Any requests for review of tariffs will be referred to the 
Licensing Committee 
for determination. This process is subject to statutory consultation periods.  

 
5.5 Fare Tariff Criteria  

 
In considering requests to vary a table of fares and in considering any 

representations 

Page 141

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



22 

 

received in response to the statutory consultation period of a fare tariff review, the 
following criteria will be utilised: 

 

 Reasonable and fair to all stakeholders. 

 Proportionate with the locality. 

 Benchmarked with other local authorities. 

 Justified. 

 Simple, and easily calculated. 

 Designed with a view to practicality. 

 In line with published best practice guidance. 

 Mathematically correct and capable of being entered onto a meter. 

 Structurally the same for vehicles of different seating capacity. 

 Designed where possible to avoid either deliberate or accidental over-charging. 
 

5.6 Charging under the maximum 

 
There are no provisions in the relevant legislation or this policy, which prevent the 
driver of a hackney carriage vehicle from charging less than the fare shown on the 
meter. 

 
5.7 Receipts 

 
A hackney carriage driver must, if requested by the passenger, provide him/her 
with a written receipt for the fare paid. 

Page 142

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



23 
 

6.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Taxi Stands 

 
6.1 Appointed Stands 

 
The Licensing Authority has appointed stands for hackney carriages within the 
North Devon Council area, both on public and private land. The appointed stands 
are listed in Appendix L. 

 
6.2 Waiting on Stands 

 
It is an offence for any person to cause or permit any vehicle other than a hackney 
carriage to wait on any stand for hackney carriages (under Section 64 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976).  
.  
 

Drivers of hackney carriages may only wait on a stand whilst plying for hire or  
waiting for a fare; drivers who park on a stand and leave their vehicle unattended  
are committing an offence. under Section 62 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 
Leaving a vehicle unattended on the rank causes significant frustration to other 
hackney carriage drivers, and is viewed as a serious matter by the Licensing 
Authority who may instigate prosecution proceedings, and/ or refer the matter to a 
Licensing Sub-Committee as a disciplinary matter.  
 

Drivers should also be aware that Civil Enforcement Officers are empowered to  
issue fixed penalty notices in relation to vehicles parked on a taxi rank in  
contravention of the above legislation. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 143

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



24 

 

7.0 Private Hire Licensing – Operators and Vehicles 
 
7.1 Requirement for Licence 

 
Any person who operates a private hire service (who is not a hackney carriage 
proprietor who permits hackney carriages to be used for private hire) must apply to 
the Licensing Authority for a private hire operator’s licence. 

 
7.2 Conditions 

 
The Licensing Authority has power to impose such conditions on an operator’s 
licence, as it considers reasonably necessary. The standard conditions usually 
considered to be reasonably necessary are set out in Appendix P. 
 
The conditions for private hire vehicles (i.e. those vehicles not licensed as hackney 
carriages) are set out in Appendix A and M. No attempt must be made by the 
holder of a private hire operator’s or driver’s licence, to lead or cause the general 
public to believe that the vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire. 

 
7.3 Obligations 

 
A private hire vehicle may only be despatched to a customer by a private hire 
operator who holds an operator’s licence. Such a licence permits the operator to 
make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire 
vehicle. A private hire operator must ensure that every private hire vehicle is driven 
by a person who holds a private hire driver’s licence. 

 
7.4 Application 

 
Application for an operator’s licence is made on the prescribed form, together with 
the appropriate fee.  
 
Applicants must complete all relevant fields of the application form in order for the 
application to be considered duly made. In this context an application will not be 
considered duly made without the inclusion of a valid email address (the Council 
will correspond with licence holders primarily via email and as such a valid email 
address is essential). 
 
The Licensing Authority will decide whether the applicant is a fit and proper person 
to hold an operator’s licence. 

 
In making a decision with respect of whether a person is a fit and proper person to 
hold an operators licence, the Licensing Authority will require applicants to produce 
a Basic Criminal Record Disclosure. 
 
The Council is bound by rules of confidentiality, and will not divulge information 
obtained in respect of this disclosure to any third parties. 
 
A Basic Disclosure will be required on grant of a licence and thereafter every year, 
or on an earlier occasion if requested by the Licensing Authority. 
 
In terms of an Operators Licence, a Basic Disclosure will be required of all those 
applicants listed in the application (individuals, partners, and directors) who do not 

Page 144

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



25 
 

hold a valid hackney carriage/private hire driver’s licence issued by North Devon 
Council. 
 
A Basic Disclosure submitted alongside any application must be no older than 
three calendar months old from the date of issue when submitting the application 
to the Licensing Authority. 
 
Further to the above applicants must also provide a ‘Certificate of Good Conduct’ 
in line with the requirement for hackney carriage drivers contained at Section 4.5. 
 
If satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person the Licensing Authority will 
grant a licence for a period of five years unless an applicant’s personal 
circumstances dictate the granting a licence for a period of one year. 
 
In relation to the consideration of convictions, cautions, warnings, arrests, 
reprimands and other ‘relevant information’, the Licensing Authority will use the 
policy set out in Appendix H. 
 

 
7.5 Address from which an operator may operate 

 
Upon grant of an operator’s licence, the Licensing Authority will specify the 
address from which the operator may operate. The operator shall notify the 
Licensing Authority in writing of any change of his/her address, (whether this is a 
home address or the address from he/she operates), or other contact details 
(change of email address or contact telephone number) during the period of the 
licence, within 7 days of such change-taking place. 

 
7.6 Public Liability Insurance 

 
Operators who operate from premises which are open to the public and to which 
the public has access are required to provide proof of public liability insurance for 
the premises up to £2million. 

 
7.7 Bases outside the North Devon Council Area 

 
The Council will not grant an operator’s licence for an operator with an operating 
base that is outside the Council area. This is to ensure that proper regulation and 
enforcement measures may be taken by the Council and is in no way intended to 
be a restraint of trade. All three licenses for the operator, vehicle(s) and driver(s) 
must be issued by this Council. 

 
7.8 Private Hire Vehicle Standard: Private Hire Vehicle First Licence (Except 
wheelchair accessible vehicles) 

For all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council (including existing 
proprietors on the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to comply with the 
following condition: 
Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised 
UK equivalent) and be less than 5 years old. 

 

Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly 
where an application for the grant of a private hire vehicle licence is made 
when the vehicle in question is more than 5 years old or a lower emission 

Page 145

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



26 

 

standard, the application must be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee 
for consideration.  

 
The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old or 
less than the Euro 6 emission standard, but each such application will be 
considered on it’s own merits. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, and the 
mileage will be relevant. 

 

7.9         Private Hire Vehicle Standard:  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 

For all new wheelchair accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the Council 
proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition(s): 
Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or 
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission 
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent). 

 
7.10    Private Hire Vehicle Renewal (Except wheelchair accessible vehicles) 

From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, proprietors will 
be required to comply with the following condition: 
Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised 
UK equivalent). 

 
7.11   Private Hire Vehicle Renewal: Wheelchair Accessible vehicles  

From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, wheelchair 
accessible vehicle proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition: 
Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or 
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission 
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent). 
 
 

Maximum Age of Vehicles 
 
Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly 
where an application for the grant of a hackney carriage/ private hire vehicle licence 
is made when the vehicle in question is more than 5 years old, the application must 
be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee for consideration.  
 
The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old, 
but each such application will be considered on it’s own merits. Factors such as the 
condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be relevant. 
 
This provision shall not apply to non-motorised vehicles. 

 
7.12 Vehicle Testing 

 
A private hire vehicle shall be tested once per year until it is 6 years old (8 years 
old for wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles), and thereafter 
twice per year at six monthly intervals. All vehicles must pass the vehicle test as 
detailed in Appendix B no more than eight weeks before the grant or renewal of 
the licence. The second vehicle test (applicable to older vehicles), must be passed 
no less than five months and no more than seven months before the expiry date of 
the licence. 
The test must take place at a testing station approved by the Ministry of Transport, 
and must be conducted against an inspection checklist, which is exhibited at 

Page 146

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



27 
 

Appendix B. This is in addition to a MOT, which for private hire vehicles is required 
at 3 years old and thereafter. If the vehicle has not passed the vehicle test it 
cannot be used as a licensed vehicle even during the duration of an existing 
licence and any existing licence will be suspended. 

 
7.13 Fares 

 
The operator of a private hire vehicle shall make his/her own agreement with the 
hirer as to the fare for a particular journey. 

 
8.0 Private Hire Licensing - Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles 

 
8.1 Stretched Limousines are specialist vehicles, which have been modified. Any 

stretching of a vehicle takes it outside the manufacturer’s original specification and 
may potentially have a detrimental effect on the structural integrity of the vehicle. 
There are significant public safety issues to be addressed when licensing such 
vehicles. However the Council acknowledges the guidance issued by the 
Department for Transport in it’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best 
Practice Guidance, that such vehicles have a legitimate role to play in the private 
hire trade, meeting a public demand. To this end, the Council will refer any 
applications for stretched limousines to the Licensing Sub Committee for a 
decision. 

 
8.2 Imported stretched limousines are normally checked for compliance with British 

regulations under the Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) inspection regime. Therefore 
this Council requires that a SVA certificate be presented at the time of application. 
This provides evidence that the vehicle has been tested by DVSA before being 
registered and licensed (taxed) by DVLA. The SVA test verifies that the converted 
vehicle is built to certain safety and environmental standards. (There are some 
vehicles that have gained registration without a SVA and these may not comply 
with British regulations) 

 
8.3 Stretched Limousines, which clearly have more than 8 passenger seats are 

outside of the PHV regime and cannot therefore be licensed as a private hire 
vehicle. In circumstances where it is difficult to determine the exact number of 
passenger seats but the vehicle has obtained a SVA certificate, this Council will 
consider the case on its merits and the case will be referred to the Licensing Sub 
Committee for a decision. If a licence is granted under these circumstances it will 
be a condition of that licence that the vehicle will not carry more than 8 
passengers, even if it is physically possible for it to do so. 

 
8.4 Applications for the licensing of Novelty vehicles such as ex-military vehicles, ex-

fire engines or other vehicles of unusual design or construction will, as for 
stretched limousines be referred to Licensing Sub Committee for a decision.  Each 
case will be considered on it’s own merits. 

 
8.5 Appendix N sets out conditions for stretched limousines. 

 
8.6 Stretched Limousines are the subject of future public consultation by the 

Department for Transport and further guidance may be issued in the future. 
 
 
 

Page 147

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



28 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9.0 Private Hire Licensing – Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel 
etc. 

 
 There is no longer any exemption for a vehicle from licensing where it is used only 

for carrying passengers for hire or reward under a contract for the hire of the 
vehicle for a period of not less than 7 days. The abolition of a previously existing 
exemption, by way of The Road Safety Act 2006, Sect 53 requires all such 
vehicles to be licensed as Private Hire Vehicles and drivers of such vehicles must 
hold a private hire vehicle licence. In general the following vehicles, if they seat up 
to eight persons will now need a Private Hire Vehicle Licence: 

 
 Stretched Limousines 
 Executive Hire 
 Chauffeur services 
 Airport transfer services 
 Hotel Cars 
 Club & Pub Transport 
 Courtesy Services where passengers are driven 
 Some hospital car services and school car services- if they are used for both 

patient  
            transfer and social events. 

 
 If you are in any doubt as to whether you need a Private Hire Vehicle Licence or 

not, you should contact the Licensing team. 
 
 Refer to Appendix A and M for the vehicle conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



29 
 

 
 
 
 
 
10.0 Private Hire Licensing - Exemptions  
 
 
10.1 Section 80 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 defines a 

private hire vehicle as: 
 

“A motor vehicle constructed or adapted to seat fewer than nine passengers, other 
than a hackney carriage or public service vehicle or a London cab or tramcar, 
which is provided for hire with the services of a driver for the purpose of carrying 
passengers”. 
 

Clearly there are a range of vehicles that could potentially fall within this definition, 
certainly more so that those which are solely used to provide a conventional 
‘minicab’ service. In deciding what is and what is not a private hire vehicle, North 
Devon Council will take a balanced view of the facts of any one case, taking into 
account any relevant case law and the ‘Department for Transport Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing – A Note For Guidance from the DFT’. 
 

10.2 Funeral Vehicles 

 
There is no requirement for a vehicle to be licensed where it is being used in 
connection with a funeral, or is being wholly or mainly used by a person carrying 
on the business of a Funeral Director for the purpose of funerals. 

 
10.3 Wedding Vehicles 

 
A vehicle does not need to be licensed while it is being used in connection with a 
wedding. Where a person “providing a wedding service” claims an exemption, 
he/she is required to obtain a written certificate of the exemption from the 
Licensing Authority. Such written certificate will restrict the use to specific wedding 
contracts. 

 
10.4 Volunteer Drivers 

 
Volunteer drivers are unlikely to need to obtain a private hire vehicle licence if they 
do not receive payment for the use of their time and vehicle, other than the 
reimbursement of reasonable expenses. 

 
10.5 Childminders 

 
Childminders transporting children in their care to school are unlikely to need a 
licence, unless there is a specific requirement in their contract with the family for 
the provision of transport in return for the payment provided. 

 
10.6  Ambulances/Vehicles Operating as Formal Patient Transport Services 

 
Drivers operating these types of vehicles are unlikely to need a licence provided 
they carry patients who have been assessed as having a medical need for 

Page 149

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



30 

 

transport, are subject to the laws of patient confidentiality and driver training and 
background checks have been carried out under the Patient Transport Service 
scheme.  
 
If you are in any doubt as to whether you need a Private Hire Vehicle Licence or 
not, you should contact the Licensing team. 

 
  

Page 150

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



31 
 

11.0 Private Hire Licensing - Drivers 

 
11.1 Conditions 

 
The Licensing Authority is empowered to attach such conditions on a private hire 
driver’s licence as are considered necessary. The Licensing Authority will ordinarily 
take the view that the conditions set out in Appendix O are reasonably necessary, 
and this appendix should be read alongside the Code of Good Conduct (Appendix 
C) and Dress Code (Appendix D). 

 
11.2 Parallel Procedures 

 
As the statutory and practical criteria and qualifications for a private hire driver are 
identical to those for a hackney carriage driver, the paragraphs under the following 
headings in Section 4 apply equally to private hire drivers: 

 
 Age and experience 
 Application procedure 
 DVLA Driver Licence Check  
 Testing of Applicants (with the exception that private hire drivers will not be   
 required to undertake and pass a test with respect of local geography) 
 Relevance of cautions and convictions 
 Grant of licences 
 Renewal of licences. 

 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 151

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



32 

 

12.0 Non-Motorised Hackney Carriages 
 
21.1 Application Procedure – Driver 
 

Those persons wishing to apply for a licence to solely drive a non- motorised hackney 
carriage will on successful application be issued a joint hackney carriage and private 
hire driver’s licence, a specific condition of which is that the driver may only drive a 
non-motorised vehicle (i.e. a horse drawn carriage, rickshaw or trishaw) and no other 
type of licensed vehicle. 

 
An application for a non-motorised hackney carriage driver’s licence shall be made in 
accordance with the criteria below and the procedure set out in Appendix E. 

 
On issue of a joint hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence whereby the 
above condition is relevant, applicants will be exempted from the requirement to pass 
those qualifications outlined in Section 4.3 A and B considering these largely relate 
to the driving of motorised vehicles, this does not exempt the applicant from holding 
a full driving licence for a period of one year.  

 
Those testing arrangements as outlined in Section 4.8 will apply with the exception of 
the test in relation to local geography, which will be exempted due to the nature of a 
non-motorised operation typically being localised. 

 
A licence to drive a non-motorised hackney carriage will not be granted to a person 
who is under 18 years of age. 

 
The driver of a rickshaw or trishaw will not be required to provide specific evidence 
of his/her competence to drive a rickshaw or trishaw, the fact that the driver holds a 
DVLA driving licence is deemed to be sufficient. 

 
Where the application relates to a horse-drawn vehicle, drivers must produce 
evidence to the authority that they are competent to drive horses in harness. 
Certification to British Driving Society (BDS) Code of Practice for Drivers of Horse 
Drawn Vehicles Working on the Public Highway is required for new drivers. Those 
drivers previously licensed with the authority in the last three years may 
alternatively hold the BDS Level 3 Road Driving Safety Qualification for Pairs and 
Singles or have demonstrated equivalent competence. For grooms the standard is 
BDS level 2 Unit Certificate for the Harness Horse Groom. The Council will 
consider alternative qualifications that are to the equivalent standard. Any expense 
involved in producing such certification shall be met by the applicant or licence 
holder. 
 
 

12.2 Application Procedure – Proprietor 

 
Non- motorised vehicles can only be issued with hackney carriage licences, and 
cannot be licensed for private hire due to the fact that a private hire vehicle is 
defined as a ‘motor vehicle’.  Before a non-motorised hackney carriage licence is 
granted, the authority must be satisfied that the vehicle is fit for purpose. In 
ascertaining whether the vehicle is fit, the proprietor will need to produce evidence 
of the following:  
 

Page 152

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



33 
 

a) The roadworthiness of the carriage (via a certificate issued by an inspector 
approved by the Council); 

b) The serviceability of the ancillary equipment (via a certificate issued by an 
inspector approved by the Council ); 

c) The fitness and appropriateness of the horses to be used (via a certificate issued 
by a Veterinary Surgeon approved by the Council); 

d) Horse passports for those horses to be used; 
e) An insurance policy appropriate for public hire and covering third party liability 

both in respect of physical injury or death and in respect of damage to personal 
belongings. A minimum sum of £2million is required. 

 
12.3 Proprietors – Conditions 

 
The Licensing Authority is empowered to attach such conditions, as it considers 
reasonably necessary to the licensing of hackney carriages. In relation to horse-
drawn vehicles, the Licensing Authority will ordinarily consider that the conditions 
set out in Appendix Q are reasonably necessary. 

 
12.4 Tariffs 

 
Tariffs for non-motorised hackney carriages shall be the subject of written 
agreement between the licence holders and the Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



34 

 

13.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Disciplinary and Enforcement 
Measures 

 
13.1 Aim of Intervention 

 
In pursuance of its objective to encourage responsible hackney carriage and 
private hire businesses, the Licensing Authority will operate a firm but fair 
disciplinary and enforcement regime. With a view to balancing the promotion of 
public safety with the need to permit individuals to safeguard their livelihood 
without undue interference. The Licensing Authority will only intervene where it is 
necessary and proportionate to do so, having regard to the objectives outlined at 
paragraph 1.2. 
 
The Authority will regulate the licensed trade in accordance with the Regulator’s 
Compliance Code published by the Department for Business, Enterprise and 
Regulatory Reform and with the principles set out in its Licensing Enforcement 
Policy and Corporate Enforcement Policy. The general principles of proportionality, 
consistency, transparency and targeting of regulatory activities only at cases in 
which action is needed. 

 
13.2 Range of Powers 

 
The Licensing Authority seeks to operate as far as possible a graduated 
enforcement approach in-line with North Devon Council’s Enforcement Policy, with 
non-criminal sanctions being considered before criminal sanctions. 
 
The Licensing Authority may take any of the steps below, upon receipt of evidence 
that an offence has been committed in relation to a hackney carriage licence or 
driver’s licence. A breach of a condition or of the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy amounts to an offence in this context. 

 
 Suspension of a Licence 
 Revocation of a Licence 
 Refusal to Renew a Licence 
 Issuing of warnings 
 Imposition of further conditions 
 Prosecution 
 Referral to relevant training, for example an enhanced driver’s course where 
the licence holder’s driving standards are found to be below the expected 
standard, or other relevant training as determined by the Licensing Authority.      
 

 
13.3 Disciplinary Hearings 

 
Disciplinary matters, except in the case of breaches of vehicle requirements, will 
ordinarily be referred to a Licensing Sub Committee of the Licensing Authority. The 
function of the appropriate Licensing Sub Committee is to consider the impact of 
transgressions of the law on the fitness of an individual to hold a hackney carriage/ 
private hire licence, and to take the action appropriate to the circumstances. 
 

            Licence holders are required to notify the Licensing authority within 48 hours of an 
arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence 
involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. An arrest for any of the 

Page 154

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



35 
 

offences within this scope will result in a review by the Licensing authority as to 
whether the licence holder remains fit to continue to hold a hackney carriage/ 
private hire licence. 
 
For minor breaches of vehicle requirements informal action such as verbal advice 
or warnings or written advice or warnings may be appropriate. 

 
 

13.4 Suspension 

 
Vehicles 

 
Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles shall be kept at all times in an efficient, 
safe, tidy and clean condition. Compliance with the vehicle conditions is essential, 
and will be enforced by periodic, random vehicle inspections by the Licensing 
Authority.  
 
Where it is found that any hackney carriage or private hire vehicle is not being 
properly maintained, a defect(s) notice will be served on the proprietor setting out 
the defect(s), and where public safety is imperilled, the further use of the vehicle is 
suspended until the defects have been remedied. The suspension will not be lifted 
until the vehicle has undergone a further test, at the proprietor’s expense, and 
been passed as fit for use as a hackney carriage/ private hire vehicle. 
 
Failure to properly maintain a licenced vehicle is a serious matter, and will likely 
also lead to referral to a Licensing Sub-Committee for a disciplinary hearing 
against the driver and/ or vehicle proprietor(s). 
 

 
Vehicle Suspension for any Reasonable Cause 

 
Where an annual vehicle licensing inspection is not provided by a proprietor 
following  
requests by the Licensing Team vehicles will be suspended until a satisfactory test 
is provided.   
 
Where there is considerable damage to a vehicle which despite not affecting public 
safety, seriously affects the appearance of a vehicle a suspension is likely until 
satisfactory works are completed. 

 
Drivers 

 
The Licensing Authority may exercise its discretion to suspend the operation of a 
driver’s licence for a specified period. Such action may be taken immediately if an 
authorised officer deems such a course of action is necessary in the interests of 
public safety. If the nature of the matter is not one of immediate public risk, the 
decision to suspend may be taken only after a hearing before the appropriate 
Licensing Sub Committee. 

 
13.5 Revocation 

 
An authorised officer may revoke, with immediate effect, a driver’s licence if 
deemed necessary in the interests of public safety. Where a licence holder has 

Page 155

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



36 

 

been referred to the appropriate Licensing Committee because he/she has been 
convicted of a serious criminal offence, the Sub Committee may order the 
revocation of the licence. 

 
  

Page 156

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



37 
 

13.6 Refusal to Renew 

 
As an alternative to revocation, the Sub Committee may decide that the 
appropriate action, in a situation where the licence is shortly to expire, is to order 
that the licence will not be renewed.  

 
13.7 Prosecution  

 
The Licensing Authority will usually prosecute licence holders for relevant offences 
in the following circumstances: 

 
 where the allegation is of a serious or repeated offence 
 where prosecution is in the public interest. 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 157

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



38 

 

14.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Delegated Powers 

 
14.1 Licensing Committee 

 
The Licensing Committee of the North Devon Council is responsible for the 
management of the hackney carriage and private hire licensing regime in the 
district, along with the formulation and review of its policy in this regard, when so 
directed by the Executive. 

 
14.2 Delegated Functions 

 
The Committee has delegated its functions in the following way: 

 
 A sub-committee will deal with applications and disciplinary matters referred 

to it by Licensing Officers. 
 
 The Head of Environmental Health and Housing Services has delegated 

authority to suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or private hire driver 
licence under the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions)Act 1976 Sect 61 (2 B). 

 
 Licensing Officers authorised by the Head of Environmental Health & 

Housing Services have power to grant, suspend or in the circumstances 
mentioned above to revoke licences. Officers also have power to issue oral 
and written warnings, and may instigate prosecutions wherever appropriate.  

 
 Licensing Officers have the power at all reasonable times to inspect and test, 

for the purpose of ascertaining it’s fitness, any hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



39 
 

15.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Offences 
 
15.1 Offences 

 
Offences in relation to hackney carriage and private hire licensing are derived from 
the following sources: 

 
 the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
 the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 1976 
 the Transport Act 1980 
 the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended) 
 the Equality Act 2010 
 North Devon District CouncilDevon Council bylaws 
 the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 

 
The relevant offences are set out in Appendix J. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 159

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



40 

 

 
 
 
 

16.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Fees 

 
16.1 Fee Structure 

 
The fees payable for the grant and renewal of hackney carriage and private hire 
licences are set out within ‘North Devon Councils Hackney and Private Hire Fees’ 
document. Notice of the current scale of fees will be supplied to all applicants at 
the time of application. 

 
16.2 Payments 

 
Fees for licences, deposits or vehicle inspections must be made payable to the 
North Devon Council.  

 
16.3 Payment Refunds 

 
  Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 
 

  North Devon Council will on request remit the fees for applications (with the 
exception of     DBS and DBS administrative fees) for hackney carriage and private 
hire drivers licences  where no licence is granted. However where a licence is 
granted fees will not be refunded (e.g. on surrender prior to the expiry date) except 
to the extent that deposits have been paid for drivers badges. 

 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles  
 

In the case of hackney carriage or private hire vehicle where a licence is not 
granted, North Devon Council may remit the whole or part of the fee depending on 
the nature and progress of the application. Where a private hire or hackney 
carriage vehicle has been granted a licence, fees will not be generally be refunded 
except to the extent that deposits have been paid for vehicle plates or where and 
only where, the surrender of a vehicle licence is immediately followed by the 
application for a new vehicle licence. 

 
Private Hire Operators 

 
North Devon Council will on request remit the fees for applications for private hire 
operators licences where no licence has been granted. However fees will not 
generally be refunded after a licence has been granted. 

 
 

Page 160

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



41 
 

Appendix A 

 
Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles - Vehicle Conditions  

 
1.0 General 

 
1.1 This appendix sets out those conditions applicable to both Private Hire and 

Hackney Carriages. For specific additional conditions for hackney carriages 
please see Appendix K, and for private hire vehicles please see Appendix M. 

 
1.2 The following vehicle conditions are made in addition to the requirements of the 

road traffic legislation, which relates to all motor vehicles. It is also recommended 
that vehicles with Euro NCAP star ratings of 4 or more should be considered when 
purchasing a new vehicle. 

 
1.3  Vehicle Standard: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle First Licence 

(Except wheelchair accessible Vehicles): 

 For all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council (including existing 
proprietors on the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to comply 
with the following condition: 

Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised 
UK equivalent), and be less than 5 years old. 

 
Vehicle Standard:  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles: 

For all new wheelchair accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the Council 
proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition(s): 

Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or 
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 
emission standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent). 

Vehicles must be less than 3 years old when presented for first licensing except wheelchair 
accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles which must be less than 6 years 
old at first licensing. 

 
       Additionally, a first licence may be issued to a vehicle that is more than three but 

less than four years old provided a comprehensive report into the mechanical 
fitness of the vehicle has been undertaken in accordance with the Council’s vehicle 
inspection requirements (Vehicle Inspection Checklist- Appendix B), and any 
essential works identified have been carried out and evidence provided to 
establish this. An application for the grant of a first licence where the vehicle in 
question is more than 4 years old, shall not be granted. However, the applicant will 
be given the right to apply for the application to be considered by a licensing sub-
committee if they feel that their particular circumstances justify a deviation from the 
existing policies.Vehicles must be less than 5 years old when presented for 
licensing. Vehicles older than this will be licensed only at the discretion of the 
Licensing Sub Committee (see also Sect 3.4). 

 
1.4 All vehicles shall be fitted with right hand drive, with the exception of stretch 

limousines (see Appendix N). 
 
1.5 Vehicles that have been declared an insurance ‘write off’ in category A, or B, and 

C will not be licensed.  
 

Page 161

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



42 

 

 Vehicles that have been declared a category N write off (non-structural damage) 
may be considered for licensing by Licensing Officers under delegated powers, 
subject to higher levels of examination and vehicle reports being provided by the 
applicant, and physical inspection of the vehicle by the Officer. Examples of 
vehicle reports which may be submitted as evidence of safety/ suitability of the 
vehicle post repair would include the following: 

- A new MOT and vehicle inspection report; 
- A Comprehensive Inspection report to the AA, RAC or DEKRA standard; 
- Certificate of works from an insurance approved car body repair shop; 
- Manufacturers conformity repair certificate; 

 
 
Where examinations provide any cause for concern over the safety of the public the 

application will be referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination, and 
likely recommended for refusal.  

               
             Vehicles that have been declared a category C, D, or S write off may be 

considered for Licensing by a Licensing Sub-Committee subject to higher levels of 
examination and vehicle reports. Where examinations provide any cause for 
concern over the safety of the public such applications may be refused.  licensed, 
providing the applicant provides an appropriate engineers report, approved by the 
Council, certifying the standard of repairs. 

If any vehicle which is currently licensed with this authority as a hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle is subsequently categorised as a category A, B, C, D, S or N write off by a 
relevant insurance company then this must be declared to the Licensing Authority. The 
vehicle licence will then be reviewed by a Licensing Sub-Committee (or in the case of a 
category N write off, a Licensing Officer), who will determine if the vehicle should remain 
licensed based on the evidence of the safety of the vehicle. 
 
2.0 Doors 
 

2.1 All vehicles shall have at least 3 side opening doors (excluding driver’s door), 
which may be opened from the inside and the outside. 

 
2.2 All vehicles shall be constructed so that the doors open sufficiently wide as to allow 

easy access into and egress from the vehicle. 
 
2.3 All vehicles, including multi purpose vehicles, must have sufficient safe and 

suitable access and egress from the vehicle for the driver and all passengers, 
excluding the rear exit and the driver’s front door. 

 
3.0 Interior Dimensions 
 

3.1 Height Inside: there must be sufficient space between the seat cushions and the 
lowest part of the roof to safely accommodate the driver and passengers in 
reasonable comfort. 

 
3.2 Knee Space: there must be sufficient space between the front and back seats to 

safely accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable comfort. 
 
4.0  Seats 
 

Page 162

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



43 
 

4.1 The seats (width): the width across the rear seat, measured in a straight line 
across the widest part of the seat, must allow sitting accommodation to the extent 
of at least 16 inches (40.64cm) per person; with a minimum overall width of 48 
inches (121.92cm) if accommodating three persons. The number of persons 
carried must not exceed the number specified on the plate.  

 
4.2 In the case of multi-seater type vehicles where there is a third row of seats, and 

those in the back row are distinctly separated (by distance) then a relaxation of the 
16 inches (40.64cm) per person rule may be allowed.  

 
4.3 In relation to the carriage of Child Passengers under 3 years of age in the front 

seat, an appropriate child restraint MUST be worn. Where a child passenger is 

between 3-11 years old an adult seat belt must be worn if an appropriate child 
restraint is not available. 

 
5.0  Seat Belts 

 
5.1 All vehicles must be fitted with fully operational seat belts, one for each passenger 

to be carried, fully compliant with British Standards except where the law 
specifically provides an exemption. 

 
5.2  Taxis cannot be expected to have the correct child restraint (child seat or booster 

seat) unless parents have bought one with them, however if a child restraint is not 
available then:- 

 
 Child up to 3 years old may travel unrestrained in the rear only; 
 Child from 3 years old up to EITHER 135cms in height OR up to 12 years old 

must use an adult belt in the rear seat only; 
 Child over 135cm in height or 12-13 years old, may sit in the front or the rear, 

but must wear a seat belt in either case. 
 Adult passengers (14 years and over) may sit in the front or the rear, but 

must wear a seat belt in either case. 
 

6.0 Passenger Capacity 
 

6.1 The carrying capacity of saloon and estate type vehicles will be at the discretion of 
the Licensing Authority having regard to manufacturer’s specifications and 
compliance with dimensions referred to previously. 

 
6.2 The number of persons licensed to be carried shall be exhibited outside the vehicle 

on the Vehicle Licence Plate. This number of passengers carried must not exceed 
that number recorded on the vehicle’s plate. For these purposes children (of any 
age) are counted as one person. 

 
7.0  Fire Extinguishers 

 
7.1 A fire extinguisher must be suitably located and safely secured in the vehicle. Such 

an appliance must be a minimum of either a 2kg ABC General Purpose Powder or 
2 litre AFFF Foam and conform to BSEN 3, showing the appropriate kite-mark 
(alternatively two fire extinguishers of 1kg General Purpose Powder/AFFF Foam 
conforming to BSEN 3 will prove acceptable). 

 
 

Page 163

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



44 

 

7.2 All extinguishers must be checked every 12 months, prior to vehicle testing or prior 
to change of vehicle test. Such a check shall be carried out in accordance with the 
requirements of BS5306 Part 3 and Part 8, by a registered competent company. 
The date of the test and signatures must be clearly visible on a sticker attached to 
the extinguisher. The extinguisher must be marked with the vehicle registration 
number. 

 
8.0 First Aid Kit 
 
8.1 There shall be provided in such a position as to be readily available at all time 

when the vehicle is used for hire, a suitable First Aid Kit containing appropriate 
dressings and appliance for immediate use in an emergency. The kit carried is to 
ensure compliance with The Health & Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 which 
requires employers to provide a first aid kit to enable employees to receive first aid 
if they become injured at work and self employed persons to provide first aid to 
themselves whilst at work. Only those persons who hold a current recognised First 
Aid certificate should use the kit on any person other than themselves and your 
attention is drawn to issues of liability if untrained persons administer first aid.  

 
9.0 Ventilation 

 
9.1 Rear passenger windows must be capable of being opened by passengers when 

seated, unless air conditioning is available. 
 
 
10.0 Luggage 

 
10.1 All vehicles are to have sufficient luggage space in the vehicle to accommodate 

the entire luggage for the maximum number of passengers seated with no 
encroachment within the occupied area of the passenger compartment. If at any 
time there is more luggage to carry than there is space in the vehicle to 
accommodate it, then the luggage must be accommodated within a purpose built 
trailer which has been approved by the licensing officer and complies with 
paragraph 15.0 of this Appendix. 

 
10.2 Provision must be made for the secure carriage of passenger’s luggage without 

obstructing any emergency exits. 
 
11.0 Maintenance 
 

11.1 Licensed vehicles and their fittings and equipment shall, at all times when in use, 
be kept in a safe, tidy and clean condition, and in good working order. This applies 
equally to the interior and the exterior of the vehicles. 

 
11.2 Vehicles shall be liable to be inspected and tested at any time. If upon inspection it 

is discovered that a vehicle is not being properly maintained, or kept in good order, 
a notice may be served on the owner to this effect, setting out the defects to be 
remedied. If public safety is compromised by the defects, the further use of the 
vehicle may be prohibited until the defects have been addressed and the vehicle 
has successfully undergone a further inspection. 
 

Page 164

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



45 
 

11.211.3 Licensed Vehicles shall be inspected daily prior to commencing work as a 
licensed vehicle, and the inspection recorded on the daily vehicle inspection 
checklist (found at web-link to be confirmed). 

 
12.0 Accident Reporting and Inspection following Accidents 

 
12.1 If any licensed vehicle is involved in an accident, this must be reported to the 

Licensing Office as soon as reasonably practicable and in any case, within 
seventy-two hours of the occurrence of the accident. Accident reports may be 
made by telephone, in person or through emailing a specified accident form which 
can be downloaded from the Council’s website (Apply to licence taxi or private hire 
vehicle (northdevon.gov.uk) 

 
12.2 Where, following an accident or damage to a licensed vehicle, it is the intention of 

the owner or operator to continue licensed use, the vehicle must be inspected by 
either the hackney carriage enforcement officer or an authorised MOT inspector (at 
the owner’s or operator’s expense) to determine its fitness for continued use. A 
Licensing Officer may suspend the use of a licensed vehicle until it is suitably 
repaired. 

 
12.3 A licensed vehicle which has suffered major accident damage or requires 

substantial mechanical repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle, provided: 
 

(i) the damage to, or defect in, the vehicle has been reported; 
  
(ii) application is made in the usual way for a change of vehicle (albeit 
temporarily); 
 
(iii) the replacement vehicle meets the licensing criteria, as in this Appendix, and 

is suitable to be used for hire purposes; 
 

 
13.0  Modifications 

 
13.1 No material alteration or change in the specification, design, seating capacity, 

condition or appearance of the vehicle may be made without first complying with 
road traffic and insurance legislation and secondly gaining the approval of the 
Licensing Team in writing, at any time while the licence is in force. 

 
14.0  Dealing with Disabilities 

 
14.1 Assistance dogs must be carried when required, except where the driver has 

obtained a medical exemption from so doing. 
 
14.2 In relation to wheelchair access, there is no current requirement for hackney 

carriages to be adapted for the purpose. Where, however, a hackney carriage may 
be utilised for wheelchair access, the following conditions shall apply:  
 

(i) Access to and egress from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed in 
any manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus 

 

Page 165

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

http://northdevon.gov.uk/business/licences-and-permits/taxi-licences/apply-to-license-a-private-hire-or-taxi-vehicle/
http://northdevon.gov.uk/business/licences-and-permits/taxi-licences/apply-to-license-a-private-hire-or-taxi-vehicle/


46 

 

(ii) Wheelchair internal anchorage must be of the manufacturer’s design and 
construction and secured in such a position as not to obstruct any emergency 
exit. 

 
(iii) A suitable seat belt must be available for the occupant of a wheelchair. 
 
(iv) Access ramps or lifts to the vehicle must be securely fixed prior to use, and 

be able to support the wheelchair, occupant and helper. 
 
(v) Ramps and lifts must be securely stored in the vehicle before it may move 
off. 

 
14.3 Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into the 

vehicle must have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/2307). Any such 
equipment must be maintained in good working order and be available for use at 
all times. 

 
14.4 Where a vehicle is designed or adapted to carry a wheelchair, the proprietor shall 

ensure that the driver has received sufficient training to load and convey 
wheelchair users safely and comfortably. 

 
15.0 Trailers 
 

15.1 The use of trailers is permitted, but only as additional luggage space and not as a 
substitute for not meeting the requirements of paragraph 10 of this Appendix. 

 
15.2 The proprietor shall present the trailer for inspection by a Licensing Officer prior to 

its  use and again at each inspection of the vehicle on which the trailer is to be 
towed. 

 
15.3 The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to 

be carried and not for general use. 
 
15.4 The trailer must comply with all aspects of current road traffic legislation and be of 

a type recommended by the vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the 
intended towing vehicle. 

 
15.5 The trailer shall be in good condition and no more than 10 years old. 
 
15.6 The trailer shall be purpose built and manufactured for the purpose for which it is 
intended. 
 
15.7 No advertising shall be permitted on the trailer. 
 
15.8 The trailer shall be fitted with securely fastened covers, which may be of the 

hardtop or canvas tarpaulin type. 
 
15.9 When the trailer is used with the vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council 

specifically for the trailer shall be clearly displayed on the rear of the trailer, with 
the licence plate for the towing vehicle remaining in place. 

 

Page 166

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



47 
 

15.10 The tow bar must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and 
fitted by an approved agent. 

 
15.11 The vehicle must be insured to tow a trailer, and proof of this cover must be 
supplied. 
 
15.12 A charge shall be made for the inspection of the trailer, such charge being payable 

by the proprietor of the vehicle. 
 
15.13 The gross weight of the trailer and the luggage load must be less than 750kg and 

be less than half the weight of the towing vehicle. With a gross trailer weight of less 
than 750kg no braking system is required to be fitted nor will the driver require any 
special categories on his/her driving licence. 

 
16.0 Security Measures  
 

16.1 The Hackney Carriage & Private Hire trade provides a valuable public service, 
especially late at night when other forms of public transport are no longer 
available. Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. CCTV 
cameras can be a valuable deterrent as well as protecting the driver from 
unjustified complaints.  

 
16.2 It is not proposed to make the provision of CCTV cameras in vehicles a 

requirement of the licensing scheme, as it is considered that it is a matter best left 
to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. The hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicle trades are however encouraged to consider the installation of 
CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis and it will then be incumbent 
upon the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an appropriate and secure 
manner in-line with the requirements of the Information Commissioner. With effect 
from 1st July 2022, any newly installed CCTV systems should comply with the 
technical specifications and system requirements listed in Appendix S. This is to 
ensure that any systems installed within licensed vehicles are suitably secure, 
safe, and capable of recording images of appropriate evidential value in the event 
of an incident.. 

 
16.3 Where CCTV is installed in a vehicle a sign is to be displayed in a prominent 

position in the vehicle so that passengers are made aware of the presence of the 
camera. 

 
16.4 In accordance with current guidance from the Information commissioner, the 

Council believes that the installation of audio recording facilities in hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles is not appropriate, as the extent of the 
interference with the right to privacy outweighs the marginal benefits of increasing 
public safety and reducing crime. 

 
17.0  Vehicles Powered by Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG)/Liquefied Natural Gas 
(LNG) 
 

17.1 An applicant for a licence involving a vehicle that has been converted to run on 
LGP or LNG is required to produce, prior to a licence being issued, a certificate 
issued by a member of the LPG Association confirming satisfactory installation, 
examination and testing of the vehicle in accordance with LPG Association Code 
of Practice; and that the vehicle is therefore considered safe. Such certification 

Page 167

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



48 

 

shall be kept available for inspection by an authorised officer of the Council and 
shall form part of the vehicle licence renewal application. 

 
17.2 If an LPG conversion involves installation of an LPG fuel tank in a vehicle’s boot 

space (and possible relocation of the spare wheel) it shall be a requirement that an 
amount of space shall remain free for the stowage of a reasonable amount of 
luggage and any spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location 
that does not impinge on the passenger carrying area of a vehicle. 

 
18.0  Insurance and MOT Test 
 

18.1 At all times during the currency of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
licence, the proprietor shall keep in force in relation to the use of the vehicle as a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle a valid MOT test certificate and policy of 
insurance issued on a Comprehensive or Third Party basis and complying with the 
requirements of the Council in terms of being for the purposes of hire and reward 
and third party indemnity. 

 
18.2 The proprietor of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle shall produce to the 

Council a new MOT test certificate, certificate of insurance or covering note within 
seven days of the expiry of every MOT test certificate, certificate of insurance or 
covering note. 

 
18.3 The proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle shall notify the Licensing Team in 

writing within 7 days of any cancellation of any certificate of insurance or covering 
note, or any extent of the terms, within seven days of such cancellation or 
variations of cover in accordance with Part IV of the Traffic Act 1971 and which 
indemnifies the use of the vehicle for the carriage of passengers for hire or reward. 

 
18.4 Although evidence is not required of public liability insurance on the grant of a 

hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. The Council expects that all licensed 
proprietors ensure that they hold appropriate public liability insurance to cover their 
operation. Likewise it is an expectation that those proprietors with employees hold 
suitable employers liability cover. Licensed operators should refer to Appendix P 
for further information with regard to insurance requirements. 

 
19.0  Licence Plates 

 
19.1 A current licensing plate identifying the vehicle as a hackney carriage or private 

hire shall be securely affixed externally to the rear of the vehicle in a position 
approved by the Council whilst the vehicle is being used for hire purposes and 
shall be kept fully visible and legible at all times. Plates should not be positioned in 
the back window of a vehicle.  

 
19.2 Once affixed, the licence plate will only be removed from the vehicle by: 

(a) an authorised officer of the Licensing Team; 
(b) MOT inspector at an MOT testing station, or; 
(c) in exceptional circumstances be removed with the express permission of 

either of the aforesaid. 
 

19.3 Hackney carriage and private hire repeater licence plates provided by the Authority 
will be fixed to the windscreen in front of the front passenger seat repeating on the 
interior of the vehicle the information contained on the external vehicle plate and is 

Page 168

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



49 
 

to be displayed in all licensed hackney carriages and private hire vehicles so as to 
be clearly visible to passengers at all times. The repeater licence plates for purpose 
build hackney carriage vehicles will be mounted on the lower part of the partition 
between the driver and passenger compartments facing rearwards into the 
passenger compartment.  
 

 
20.0 Replacement of Licensed Vehicle 
 
20.1 Any licensed vehicle suffering major accident damage or requiring mechanical 

repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle provided: - 
 

(i) The accident damage has been reported in accordance with the requirement 
of these conditions or the defect to the licensed vehicle has been similarly 
reported. 

(ii) Application is made in the normal form for a change of vehicle (albeit 
temporary). 

(iii) The replacement vehicle is properly taxed, insured, and MOT tested to the 
requirements of the normal licensed vehicle. 

(iv) The replacement vehicle is of a suitable type to be used for hire purposes. 
(v) The replacement vehicle satisfactorily passes the vehicle inspection 

undertaken by a qualified MOT Examiner. 
 
21.0 Inspections 
 

21.1 In accordance with the provisions of Section 50(1) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976 (as amended) to ensure the maintenance of 
licensed vehicles to a proper standard, the Council has approved a policy of 
periodic random vehicle inspection. 

 
21.2 As such random tests will be conducted to maintain public safety. The cost of the 

inspection will be borne by the Council. 
 
21.3 Inspections may also be required following the report of an accident (see 

paragraph 12.0) and where complaints are received etc. Vehicle proprietors should 
co-operate with the Licensing Authority and make their vehicle available for 
inspection on request.  

 
2.14 Where the enforcement officer is not satisfied with the fitness of any hackney 

carriage or private hire vehicle, the use of the vehicle will be suspended, and the 
officer may choose to confirm its fitness or otherwise by instructing a driver or 
operator to facilitate a vehicle inspection at an authorised MOT test station. 

 
21.5 Where upon inspection, the licensed vehicle has been found to be defective and 

requires re-examination to determine its fitness before resumption of use, the cost 
of that re-examination will be borne by the licence holder. 

 
21.6 Where, at any vehicle inspection test, the vehicle submitted for examination fails in 

the examination and: 
 

(i) A hackney carriage/private hire plate has not previously been issued to the 
vehicle, a licence plate will not be issued until the faults are rectified and the 
vehicle has successfully passed further examination. 

Page 169

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



50 

 

 
(ii) A current hackney carriage/private hire plate has previously been issued to 

the vehicle, an approved MOT testing station will assess the danger to the 
public which may exist if the vehicle is not suspended from use. If, in the view 
of the authorised MOT inspector, such danger exists, the Licensing Office 
should be informed immediately. The hackney carriage/private hire vehicle 
plate may then be subsequently removed from the vehicle. 

 
22.0  Spare Tyres and Wheels 

 

Recent advances in technology have brought into question the use of spare wheels 
and puncture repairs. The devices known to be available at this time are; run flat tyres, 
self-inflation aerosols, self seal tyres and space-saver wheels. 

 
Although they are not unlawful, the council is not in favour of these devices and 
therefore where there is safe and adequate provision for a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel 
well), and it is reasonable to provide a spare when considering factors such as 
whether the tyres fitted are directional, a spare wheel must be provided.  

 
Where it is not possible to carry a spare wheel, alternative devices must comply with 
any legal requirements and the manufacturer’s instructions. Drivers are reminded that 
the above devices are a temporary ‘get-you home’ tyre and they should be particularly 
aware of their responsibilities with regard the maximum operating speed of 50 MPH 
when utilising them.  

  
The above devices should only be used in an emergency and the vehicle should not 
be used to carry passengers until a replacement wheel is fitted or a repair is 
completed by a qualified tyre fitter. If a puncture does occur whilst a fare is being 
taken, particularly a lengthy journey, drivers are advised to seek alternative 
arrangements for continuation of the passengers journey. Where this is not possible 
drivers should complete their fare and return home or to a garage in order to seek an 
appropriate tyre replacement or repair. Under no circumstances should any 
subsequent fares be taken even if pre-booked. 

 
23.0 Advertising Internally within a Vehicle via TV Screens (Digital Media 
Technology) 

 
23.1 Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles may install in-vehicle digital media 

technology to be used for advertising purposes and/or live feed material. To use this 
form of technology for advertising purposes and/or live feed material it must comply 
with the following conditions:  

 
23.2 Digital media systems must be approved in writing by the licensing authority before 

they are installed.  
 
23.3  Advertising material must comply with relevant legislation; guidance issued by The 

Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP); the UK Code of Non-broadcast 
Advertising, Sales Promotion and Direct Marketing (CAP Code); and any rulings of 
the Advertising Standards Authority.  

 
23.4  All material shown on digital media should be appropriate for viewing by children. All 

films/video material must be classified by the British Board of Film Classification as 
Universal or exempt from classification.  

Page 170

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



51 
 

 
23.5  The only live feed material that can be shown is national/local news and weather.  
 
23.6 Screens must be shatterproof. All equipment must be hold a Declaration of 

Conformity and comply with any relevant legislative requirements in respect of their 
safety etc.  

 
23.7  All equipment must be designed, constructed and installed in such a way and in 

such material as to present no danger to passengers or driver, including from 
impact with the equipment in the event of an accident or damage from the electrical 
integrity being breached through vandalism, misuse or wear and tear.  

 
23.8  The equipment must not interfere with any other safety, control, electrical, computer, 

navigation, satellite or radio system in the vehicle.  
 
23.9  The intensity of any screen should not be such as to be visually intrusive or 

dazzling. 
 
23.10  The position of the screen must not obstruct the passenger’s view of the meter and 

the visibility of the screen to following vehicles should be minimal.  
 
23.11  Any screen shall be no larger than 9” (22.86cm) x 5” (12.7cm).  
 
23.12  Any screens should not be visible from the driver position (directly or by reflection). 

Screens may be installed in the driver and front passenger seat headrests, or other 
suitable location agreed by the licensing authority. All ancillary equipment must be 
installed in the driver’s compartment 

 
23.13  The installation must not be such as to weaken the structure or any other 

component part of the vehicle or interfere with the integrity of the manufacturer’s 
original equipment.  

 
23.14  The design must be discreet and complement the interior furnishing of the vehicle.  
 
23.15  The system must include safeguards to maintain the integrity of the system and 

prevent the display of un-approved material.  
 
23.16  Passengers must be able to control the volume level, including turning the sound 

off. 
 
23.17  The driver must have overall control of the volume to make sure it does not distract 

them while driving. The sound should be automatically muted when any intercom is 
operated.  

 
23.18  Passengers must be able to turn the screen off.  
 
23.19  A notice should be displayed within prominent view and physical reach of all  

passenger seats giving instructions to passengers as to adjusting the volume and 
turning the screen off. 

 
23.20  The notice shall be in a suitable format and design for visually impaired people and 

visible in low light conditions.  
 

Page 171

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



52 

 

23.21  The mute/volume control must be accessible from the nearside and offside 
passenger seats.  

 
23.22  Once activated the mute should continue without further activation by the   

passenger until the passenger leaves the vehicle.  
 
23.23 All equipment must be protected from the elements, secure from tampering and 

located such as to have no impact on the seating and luggage carrying capacity of 
the vehicle.  

 
23.24 No advertising will be permitted which causes public offence. 
 
23.25 Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and services, 

cigarettes, electronic cigarettes (or similar) and other tobacco products are 
prohibited. 
 

23.26 Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign are 
prohibited. 

 
23.27 The council may instruct that a particular advert be suspended or withdrawn in the 

event of concerns or substantiated complaints.  
 
23.28 Valid product insurance should be in place at all times for any system  

installed. 
 
23.29  The Council should be presented with the Declaration of Conformity for the 
equipment to be  

installed, a disclaimer absolving the Council of any resultant liability and provided a 
pre-agreed inspection sheet for vehicle inspection.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 172

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



53 
 

Appendix B 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE*/PRIVATE HIRE* VEHICLE LICENSING INSPECTION 
GRANT/RENEWAL/6 MONTHLY TESTLOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS 

PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENSING INSPECTION 
Please delete as appropriate: 
 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE*/ PRIVATE HIRE* VEHICLE LICENSING INSPECTION 
GRANT/ RENEWAL/ 6 MONTHLY TEST 
 

NAME OF OWNER: 
 
ADDRESS: 
 
 
 
TELEPHONE NO.: 
 

VEHICLE REGISTRATION NO.: 
 
MILEAGE READING: 
 
MOT CERTIFICATE NO.: 
 
PLATE NO.: 
 

 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THE VEHICLE MUST BE PRESENTED FOR INSPECTION IN A 
CLEAN AND TIDY CONDITION WITH ALL OIL AND FLUIDS TOPPED UP. THE 
TESTING STATION HAS THE RIGHT TO REFUSE TO INSPECT ANY VEHICLE WHICH 
DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE ABOVE REQUIREMENT. 

The standards are additional to that required to pass an MOT test and includes 
requirements not all covered by the MOT manual. 
Please complete all relevant sections. Any sections that are not applicable should 
be marked N/A. 
THIS REPORT IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INSPECTING MOT EXAMINER 
Under Bonnet/ Mechanical Checks: 
IF THE VEHICLE FAILS THE MOT CONTACT THE LICENSING OFFICE ON 01271 
388870. THIS FORM MUST BE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NORTH 
DEVON COUNCIL’S HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE RULES AND 
REGULATIONS. PLEASE MARK EACH AREA WITH ANY APPROPRIATE CODES 
(CODES FOUND AT THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE) 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Fuel Supply Pipes    

Fuel Tank    

Fuel tank cap/ flap    

Exhaust System    

Exhaust emissions    

Cooling system and 
fluids 

   

Battery mountings    

Power Steering and 
fluids 

   

Steering column coupling    

Steering box/ rack & 
pinion 

   

Steering joints    

Steering column bushes    

Drive shafts     

Gaiters    

Wheel bearings    

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Page 173

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



54 

 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Springs front    

Springs rear    

Front shock absorbers    

Rear shock absorbers    

Rear Axle Mounting 
bushes 

   

Cross members    

Chassis rails    

Oil/ fluid leaks    

 
Braking System: 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Brake pads    

Brake pipes    

Brake hoses    

Brake servo    

Brake fluids    

Brake cylinder    

Footbrake operation    

Parking brake operation    

Fluid leaks    

Wheels and Tyres: 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Wheel & tyre N/S front    

Wheel & tyre O/S front    

Wheel & tyre N/S rear    

Wheel & tyre O/S rear    

Spare wheel & tyre    

Inflation kit    

Locking wheel nut key    

 
Where there is safe and adequate provision for a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel well), and it is 

reasonable to provide a spare when considering factors such as whether the tyres fitted are 

directional, a spare wheel must be provided. If no spare provided, please state 

reason:………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Lights and Electrical: 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Headlights dipped    

Headlights full    

Side lights    

High intensity lights    

Brake lights    

Indicator lights    

Number plate light    

Hazard warning lights    

Reversing lights    

Interior lights    

Heating system    

Air-con system     

Horn    

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Page 174

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



55 
 

Interior checks: 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Seatbelts    

Seat condition    

Pedal rubbers    

Upholstery/ seat cover    

Panels and trim    

Screen wash    

Floor covering/ mats    

Window operators    

Dashboard illumination    

Warning symbols    

 
Exterior Checks: 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Front/ rear wipers    

Front/ rear windscreen     

Panels and trim    

Bumper condition    

Number plate front/ 
rear 

   

Mirrors    

Light covers    

 
Licensing Requirements: 

 If the vehicle is being presented for licensing for the first time, then these elements will be checked 

by a Licensing Officer prior to Licensing. 

Description Pass Fail Remarks 

Taxi meter sealed    

Roof sign (Hackney 
carriage only) 

   

Front and rear taxi 
plate 

   

First aid kit    

Fire extinguisher 
marked with vehicle 
Registration 

   

Fire extinguisher last 
inspected: 

 

 
1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN THE METER IS TURNED ON (IF FITTED).  

2. THE METER MUST BE INTACT (IF BROKEN A LICENSING OFFICER MUST BE INFORMED 

IMMEDIATELY ON TELEPHONE NO. 01271 388415). 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Page 175

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



56 

 

General condition of vehicle: 
 
Excellent   ꙱   Good ꙱   Average   ꙱   Poor   ꙱ 
 
Items failed on Inspection: 

1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………. 

2. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………. 

3. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………. 

4. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………. 

5. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………. 

 
Advisory matters (non-safety critical but require attention/ routine maintenance): 
 
1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………….. 
2. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………….. 
3. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………….. 
4. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………….. 
5. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………….. 
 
IN THE EVENT THAT THE VEHICLE FAILS THE INSPECTION, OR THE EXAMINER IS OF 
THE OPINION THAT THE VEHICLE IS NOT SAFE TO BE USED AS A PUBLIC SERVICE 
VEHICLE, THE EXAMINER MUST CONTACT THE LICENSING TEAM IMMEDIATELY ON 
01271 388415 OR VIA EMAIL licensing@northdevon.gov.uk THE LICENSING TEAM HAVE 
LEGAL POWERS TO SUSPEND OR REVOKE VEHICLE LICENCES. 
 

 
Please endorse here with official MOT Testing 
Station Stamp: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MOT APPROVED TESTING STATION 
ADDRESS AND VTS NUMBER 
 
 
 
I the above named MOT Inspector certify that I 
have undertaken a full inspection of the vehicle 
above with the following registration. 
 
PLEASE INSERT REGISTRATION: 
 
NAME OF MOT INSPECTOR: 
 
 
SIGNATURE M.OT. INSPECTOR: 
 
 
DATE: 
 
 
_______________________ 

Page 176

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

mailto:licensing@northdevon.gov.uk


57 
 

 

MECHANICAL ELECTRICAL 

FUEL SUPPLY PIPES  WIPERS  

FUEL TANK  WASHERS  

FUEL CAP  HEADLIGHTS DIP  

EXHAUST  HEADLIGHTS FULL  

EMISSION GASES  SIDELIGHTS  
TRANSMISSION NUMBER PLATE  

CLUTCH  STOP/TAIL  

GEARBOX  HAZARD   

PROPSHAFT U J  REVERSE  

F W D DRIVESHAFTS  INDICATORS  

DIFFERENTIAL   FOG  

COOLING SYSTEM  INTERIOR  

WHEELS  HEATER   

TYRES: FRONT  1.6MM  HORN  

TYRES: BACK   1.6MM    

IS A SPARE WHEEL PROVIDED? YES/ 
NO BRAKES 

Where there is safe and adequate provision for 
a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel well),  and it is 
reasonable to provide a spare when considering 
factors such as whether the tyres fitted are 
directional, a spare wheel must be provided. If 
no spare provided, please state reason:             

PADS   

PIPELINES  

HOSES  

MASTER CYLINDER  

SERVO  
REAR HUBS/SUSPENSION FOOTBRAKE % EFFICIENCY  

HANDBRAKE % EFFICIENCY  

SPRINGS    

SHOCK ABSORBERS  
CODE 

SWIVEL PIN & BEARINGS  

STEERING COL. COUPLING  WORN REQUIRES 
ATTENTION 

W 

STEERING BOX  LOOSE OR MISALIGNED L 

STEERING JOINT  OIL OR DIRT FOULED O 

POWER STEERING  DANGEROUS/ 
UNROADWORTHY 

D 

OTHER 
 

 ATTENTION REQUIRED TO 
DEFECT 

A 

THIS REPORT IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INSPECTING GARAGE 

1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN METER ARE ON (IF FITTED).  
2. FOR HIRE BADGE MUST GO ON WHEN ROOF LIGHT AND METER IS ON 
3. THE METER MUST BE INTACT (IF BROKEN A LICENSING OFFICER MUST BE 

INFORMED IMMEDIATELY ON TELEPHONE NO. 01271 388870). 
 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE CHECKED FOR SERVICEABILITY AND SAFETY: 

DOORS SEATS 

CONDITION  FRONT  

HINGES  REAR  

 
 
 

 

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Page 177

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



58 

 

DOORS SEATS 

LINING PANELS  SEAT BELTS 

LOCKS  

HANDLES     FRONT  

DOOR PILLARS  REAR  

WINDOWS      FLOOR 

WINDOW OPERATORS  
WINGS CONDITION  

   CARPETS  
   GENERAL 

O/S FRONT  

N/S FRONT     MIRRORS  

O/S REAR  EXTERIOR  

   N/S REAR     INTERIOR  

OTHERS E.G. SPOILERS  CHROMEWORK  

  WINDSCREEN  

BOOT 
REGISTRATION 
PLATE 

 

CABLES  

INTERIOR  LICENSING REQS  

LID  METER SEAL  

FLOOR  FOR HIRE BADGE  

LIGHT  ROOF LIGHT  

  LICENCE PLATE  

OTHER 
FIRST AID KIT  

FIRE EXTINGUISHER 
MARKED WITH 
VEHICLE REG 

 

ROOF  

BONNET 
 
 

 DATE 
EXTINGUISHER 
LAST INSPECTED 

 

SILLS   
MOT APPROVED TESTING STATION 
STAMP OR ADDRESS AND VTS 
NUMBER 

 
NAME OF MOT INSPECTOR 
 

SIGNATURE OF M.OT. INSPECTOR 
 
 
DATE 

BUMPERS  
   CODES 

INOPERABLE/DEFUNCT 1 

SLIGHT CORROSION 1C 

BADLY CORRODED 2C 

MINOR BODYWORK DAMAGE 1D 

MAJOR BODYWORK DAMAGE 2D 

MINOR TRIM DEFECT/CARPETS 1T 

MAJOR TRIM 
DEFECT/CARPETS 

2T 

NOT IN PLACE/NOT 
APPLICABLE 

NIP/NA 

 
THIS REPORT IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INSPECTING GARAGE 

Please return completed form to: The Licensing Team, Environmental Health & Housing 
Services, North Devon Council, Lynton House, Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 1DG or via email 
to licensing@northdevon.gov.uk 

Formatted Table

Page 178

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



59 
 

Appendix C 

 
Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers 

 
In order to promote its licensing objectives as regards hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing, the Council has adopted the following Code of Good Conduct, which should be 
read in conjunction with the other statutory and policy requirements set out in this 
document. 
 
1.0 RESPONSIBILITY TO THE TRADE 

 
Licence holders shall endeavour to promote the image of the Hackney Carriage 
and Private hire trade by: 

 
(a) complying with this Code of Good Conduct; 
 
(b) complying with all the Conditions of their Licence and the Councils Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy; 
 
(c) behaving in a civil, orderly and responsible manner at all times. 

 
2.0 RESPONSIBILITY TO CLIENTS 

 
Licence holders shall: 

 
(a) maintain their vehicles in a safe and satisfactory condition at all times; 
 
(b) keep their vehicles clean and suitable for hire to the public at all times; 
 
(c) attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hiring; 
 
(d) assist, where necessary, passengers into and out of vehicles; 
 
(e) offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage; 
 
(f) not without reasonable cause unnecessarily prolong in distance or in time a 
journey 
 
(g) unless otherwise directed by the hirer, proceed to the destination by the 

shortest possible route; 
 
(h) not eat or drink whilst a vehicle is in motion, and comply with the hirers 

request not to eat or drink in the vehicle at any other time; 
 
(i) comply with the hirers request not to play any radio or other sound producing 

instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending 
or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle. 

 
3.0  RESPONSIBILITY TO RESIDENTS 

 
 To avoid nuisance to residents when picking up or waiting for a fare, a driver shall: 

 
(a) not sound the vehicle’s horn illegally; 

Page 179

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



60 

 

 
(b) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted from any radio or sound 

reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle in which he is driving to 
be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any persons, whether inside or 
outside the vehicle.  

 
(c) not to use Citizen Band Radio receiver/transmitter in a licensed vehicle; 

 
(d) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to residents in 

the neighbourhood, for example switching off engines if required to wait or 
queuing on ranks. 

 
(e) At taxi ranks and other places where hackney carriages ply for hire by forming 

queues, drivers shall, in addition to the requirements above: 
 

(i) rank in an orderly manner and proceed along the rank in order and 
promptly; 
 
(ii) remain in attendance when plying for hire. 

 
(f) At private hire offices a licence holder shall: 

 
(i)  not undertake servicing or repairs of vehicles; 
 
(ii) not allow their radio/cassette players or VHF radios to cause disturbance 

to residents of the neighbourhood; 
 
(iii) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to 

residents of the neighbourhood, which might arise from the conduct of their 
business. 

 
4.0 GENERAL 

 
Drivers shall: 

 
(a) pay attention to personal hygiene and dress so as to present a professional 

image to the public; 
 
(b) be polite, helpful and fair to passengers; 
 
(c) drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians 

and in particular shall not use a hand held mobile phone whilst driving; 
 
(d) obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all time; 
 
(e) comply with the requirements of the Health Act 2006 with regard to no 

smoking in vehicles at any time and displaying of a no-smoking sign in each 
compartment of the vehicle in which people can be carried.  

 
(f) Where employed fulfil their responsibility to ensure compliance with 

legislation regarding the length of working hours;  
 

Page 180

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



61 
 

(g) carry their drivers identity lapel badge provided by the council on his person 
at all times when in charge of a licensed vehicle, and be in such manner and 
position to be plainly visible; 

 
(h) not act as a hackney carriage or private hire driver without the consent of the 

proprietor of the vehicle.  
 
(i) not consume alcohol immediately before or at any time whilst driving or being 

in charge of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle; 
 

(j) not drive while having misused legal or illegal drugs. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
ANY AMOUNT OF ALCOHOL OR DRUGS CAN AFFECT A DRIVER’S 
JUDGEMENT 
 
THE COUNCIL WILL TAKE A VERY SERIOUS VIEW OF ANY DRIVER BEING 
FOUND TO HAVE HAD ANY ALCOHOL OR HAVING MISUSED ANY DRUGS 
WHILST IN CHARGE OF A LICENSED VEHICLE. 

 
5.0 NOTIFICATIONS 
 

5.1 Upon ceasing employment as a licensed driver, the licence-holder must notify the 
Licensing Team in writing, within 7 days, and surrender the licence and badge 
issued by the Council, together with the plate when appropriate. 

 
5.2 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days, of any change 

of address or other contact details (e.g. email address or mobile telephone 
number). 

 
5.3 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48 hours, of 

any arrest and release, charge or conviction or caution for an offence, any anti-
social behaviour order, driving disqualification for any period or any receipt of a 
fixed penalty, imposed  whilst their licence is in force.  

 
6.0 LOST PROPERTY 

 
6.1  Immediately after the termination of a driver’s shift, drivers must carry out a search 

of their vehicle for property that may have inadvertently been left. 
 
6.2  If any property accidentally left in a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle by any 
passenger, is found by or handed to the driver, the driver shall leave it in the same 
condition in which it was found 
 
6.3 Where lost property is found drivers should complete the necessary form on the 

following   
Police website (https://www.devon-cornwall.police.uk/contact/lost-and-found-
property/) with the items that have been found. Items will then be added to a 
police-approved, national database that can be viewed by police nationally. Once 
drivers have completed a form (which can be updated or edited at any time), they 
will receive a lost property reference number. 
 

Page 181

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

https://www.devon-cornwall.police.uk/contact/lost-and-found-property/
https://www.devon-cornwall.police.uk/contact/lost-and-found-property/


62 

 

6.4  Most found property does not need to be passed to police (and it will not now be  
 accepted), but the following items should be taken to Barnstaple Police Station: 

  
o Mobile phones, laptops, cameras – anything with an internal memory. 
o Personal ID – such as passports, driving licence, bank card, utility bills. 
o Drugs. 
o Significant amounts of cash. 

 
6.5  Those items that do not need to be taken to the police station should be kept by a 

driver for a minimum period of 28 days before they are then disposed of (providing 
arrangements have not been made for their collection). Please note that the Council 
do not provide a facility for the collection or storage of lost and found property. 

 
7.0 THE CARRIAGE OF ANIMALS 
 

7.1 A driver must not carry in a licensed vehicle any animal, which belongs to, or is 
being looked after by, themselves, the owner or operator of the vehicle while it is 
being used as a hackney carriage. 

 
7.2 Animals in the custody of passengers may be carried, at the driver’s discretion, 

provided they are restrained in a safe manner. 
 
7.3 A driver must, however carry assistance dogs when requested to by an assistance 

dog user. Assistance dogs include guide dogs for the blind or partially sighted, 
hearing dogs for the hard of hearing, and other assistance dogs, which assist 
disabled people with a physical impairment. Licensed Drivers may wish to visit the 
website link below which provides further information on accredited assistance dog 
schemes via Assistance Dogs UK.  

               
              https://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/members/  
 
7.4 Any licensed driver with a medical condition, which may be exacerbated by dogs, 

may apply for exemption from this condition. A certificate of exemption will only be 
provided upon production of suitable medical evidence. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 182

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

https://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/members/


63 
 

 
 
Appendix D 
 
Dress Code for Licensed Drivers 

 
North Devon Council is committed to encouraging the professional image of the hackney 
carriage and private hire trade, and considers that drivers of licensed vehicles are 
vocational drivers. The Council considers, therefore, that drivers should conform to a 
minimum standard of dress, as set out below, in order to raise the profile of the licensed 
trade. 
 
The Licensing Authority does not impose such standards by way of conditions to any 
licence. It is expected, however, that such standards shall be maintained at all times. 
Failure to comply with the Dress Code shall render a licensed driver liable to the issue of 
penalty points under the scheme set out in Appendix I. 
 
Acceptable Standards of Dress 

 
(1) Tops 

 

Shirts, blouses, T-shirts, or sweat tops should cover the shoulders and be capable 
of being worn inside trousers or shorts. 

 
 Shirts or blouses can be worn with a tie or open-necked. 

 
(2) Trousers/Shorts/Skirts 

 
 Shorts should be tailored. 
 
 It is recommended that drivers do not wear short skirts for personal safety reasons. 
 

(3) Footwear 
 

  Footwear should fit around the heel of the foot. 
 
 Safety shoes with protected toe-caps are recommended. 
 
Unacceptable Standards of Dress 
 

The following are deemed to be unacceptable: 
 
 Clothing or footwear which is unclean or damaged; 
 Clothing printed with words, logos or graphics, which might offend; 
 Studs or sharp-edged clothing; 
 Beach-type footwear (e.g. flip-flops); 
 Footwear with pronounced heels. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 183

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



64 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix E  
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers’ Licences: Application Procedure 

 
1.0 Applications for Hackney Carriage Drivers’ Licences are not limited and may be 

made at any time of the year. Applications are to be made on the prescribed 
application form. An application for a hackney carriage driver’s licence is deemed 
to comprise an application for a private hire driver’s licence as well, for which no 
separate fee is payable. Applicants must complete all relevant fields of the 
application form in order for the application to be considered duly made. In this 
context an application will not be considered duly made without the inclusion of a 
valid email address (the Council will correspond with licence holders primarily via 
email and as such a valid email address is essential). 

 
2.0 Any driver, who only seeks a private hire licence, and not a hackney carriage 

licence, may specify this on the application form. 
 
3.0 Applicants must have held a full driving licence for a period of one year and 

passed those qualifications listed in Section 4.3. 
 
4.0 Applicants are required to comply with those testing procedures outlined in 
Appendix F. 
 
5.0  In support of a completed application form, the applicant must provide the 
following: 
 

(i) A signed DVLA disclosure mandate; (Non UK applicants must register their 
non UK licence with DVLA -See Section 4.4 of Policy) 

 
(ii) Enhanced disclosure from the DBS with a check of the barred lists; (Non UK 

applicants must also provide a “Certificate of Good Conduct” - See Section 
4.4 of Policy) 

 
(iii) The specified fee; 
 
(iv) A medical certificate (see Section 4.10); 
 
(v) Deposit fee for Driver’s Badge  (refundable if the application is refused); 
 
(vi) A digital photograph. A photograph will be required by the Council every three 

years. Photographs may be required prior to this when an individual has 
significantly changed their appearance from the photograph previously held 
by the Council. 

 
(vii) All applicants must provide evidence of their right to work in the UK. 

 

Page 184

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



65 
 

 

Page 185

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



66 

 

Appendix F 
 
The Testing of Applicants 
 
1.0  Introduction 
 

 Applicants for a hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licences will be required 
to undergo written tests as part of the process of satisfying the Council that they 
are suitable persons to hold such a licence. All of the following tests will be 
applicable to both hackney carriage and private hire drivers, with the exception of 
the test for local geography, which will not be required for private hire drivers 
based on the fact that journeys undertaken will always be pre-booked. In addition, 
the Council needs to be satisfied as to the medical fitness of applicants seeking a 
licence.  

 
2.0 Local Geography 
 

Applicants will be tested on their knowledge of North Devon geography, by 
recording the shortest routes between locations in the area. Private hire drivers are 
not required to undertake and pass a test with respect of local geography because 
journeys undertaken will always be pre-booked. 

 
3.0 Highway Code 
 

Applicants will be asked to answer a number of questions as to driving skills, road 
information and etiquette as set out in the Highway Code.  
 

4.0 Council Policy Knowledge Test 
 

Applicants will be tested on their knowledge and understanding of the Hackney 
Carriage    and Private Hire Licensing Policy document. 

 
35.0 Numeracy 
 

Applicants will be tested on their ability to carry out elementary mental arithmetic, 
as encountered in calculating the change to be paid to a potential customer who 
overpays a fare. 

 
46.0 Driver Test Failure 

 
Applicants who fail to achieve a 70% pass rate in any of the tests will be invited to 
take a different test on another occasion. A maximum of three tests may be 
undertaken, after which there is a minimum period of six months before any new 
testing may take place. Applicant’s will not be considered to be fit and proper to 
hold a licence unless or until they have achieved the requisite pass rate in all the 
tests. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



67 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix G 

 
The Consideration of Applications 

 
1.0  Upon receipt of a completed application form, a Licensing Officer will consider the 

application, unless there are details which are missing from the application form, or 
the supporting documents are incomplete. Where the application is incomplete, it 
will not be considered until all of the missing details or documents are supplied.  

 
2.0 Where the Licensing Officer is not satisfied, on the information before him/her, that 

the applicant should be granted a licence, the matter will be referred to a Sub-
Committee of the Licensing Committee. The applicant will be advised of the date, 
time and venue of the Sub-Committee at which the application will be considered. 

 
3.0 At the Sub-Committee meeting, the Council members present will receive a report 

from the Licensing Officer, and will then hear representations from the applicant, 
and may ask any questions of the applicant, before deciding upon whether a 
licence should be granted. The applicant will be told of the outcome immediately, 
and this will be confirmed in writing within 7 days. 

 
Drivers 
 

4.0 If satisfied, from the information available that the applicant is a fit and proper 
person to hold a hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence, the Officer has 
the delegated power to grant the application. 

 
5.0 Successful applicants will be notified in writing, and issued with the appropriate 

licence. Those who are granted drivers’ licences will be issued with drivers’ Lapel 
Badge, which will remain the property of the Council and must be surrendered 
when the driver ceases employment as a driver.  

 
6.0 Unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right to appeal against the 

decision to the magistrates’ court within 21 days of receipt of the formal notice of 
refusal of the application. 

 
Vehicles 

 
7.0 Unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right to appeal against the 

decision to the Crown Court within 21 days of receipt of the formal notice of refusal 
of the application. 

 

Page 187

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



68 

 

Appendix H 

 
Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Convictions 

 
The following guidelines are used to determine the relevance of criminal convictions in 
relation to applications for hackney carriage and private hire licenses.  
 
The guidelines are developed from the ‘Institute of licensing – Guidance on determining 
the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades’ and the 
‘Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards - Assessment 
of Previous Convictions’. 
 
In assessing the various information collected in relation to the ‘fit and proper’ status of an 
applicant or licence holder, the Licensing Authority will apply the following test:  
 
“Would the decision maker(s) charged with the ability to grant a licence, without any 
prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow a person for whom 
you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at 
any time day or night”? 
 
If on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’ the individual should not 
hold a licence. 
 
The wording of this test originates from paragraphs 5.12 & 5.13 (fit and proper test) of the 
Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. 
 
General Policy 
 

1. The Licensing Authority will consider each case on its own merits, and 
applicants/licensees are entitled to a fair and impartial consideration of their 
application/licence. 

 
2. A caution is regarded in exactly the same way as a conviction. 
 
3. Fixed penalties and community resolutions will also be considered in the same way 

as a conviction. 
 
4. Matters which have not resulted in a criminal conviction (whether that is the result of 

an acquittal, a conviction being quashed, decision not to prosecute or an investigation 
which is continuing where the individual has been bailed) can and will be taken into 
account by the licensing authority. In addition, complaints where there was no police 
involvement will also be considered and matters that amount to criminal behaviour 
but which have not resulted in conviction will also be taken into account. 

 
5. In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is 

awaiting trial, the determination will be deferred until the trial has been completed or 
the charges withdrawn. Where an existing licensee is charged, it will be for the 
Licensing Authority to decide what action to take in the light of these guidelines. 

 
6. In all cases, the Licensing Authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in 

question and what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be 
determined on its own merits, and in the light of these guidelines. 

 

Page 188

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



69 
 

7. Any offences committed, or unacceptable behaviour reported whilst driving a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle, concerning the use of a hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle, or in connection with an operator of a private hire vehicle will be viewed 
as aggravating features, and the fact that any other offences were not connected with 
the hackney carriage and private hire trades will not be seen as mitigating factors. 

8.      As the Licensing Authority will be looking at the entirety of the individual, in many 
cases safety and suitability will not be determined solely by a specified period of time 
having elapsed following a conviction or the completion of a sentence. Time periods 
are relevant and weighty considerations, but they are not the only determining factor. 

 
9. In addition to the nature of the offence or other behaviour, the quantity of matters and 

the period over which they were committed will also be considered. Patterns of 
repeated unacceptable or criminal behaviour are likely to cause greater concern than 
isolated occurrences as such patterns can demonstrate a propensity for such 
behaviour or offending. 

 
10. Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal 

situation. In relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do make 
mistakes and lapse in their conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further accepted 
that many learn from experience and do not go on to commit further offences. 
Accordingly, in many cases an isolated conviction, especially if committed some time 
ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal of a licence. 

 
11. It is also important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is a 

continuing requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety and 
suitability. The Licensing Authority has powers to take action against the holder of all 
types of licence (driver’s, vehicle and operator’s) and it must be understood that any 
convictions or other actions on the part of the licensee which would have prevented 
them being granted a licence on initial application will lead to that licence being 
revoked. 

 
12. Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which is 

discovered to have occurred in any part of any application process (e.g. failure to 
declare convictions, false names or addresses, falsified references) will result in a 
licence being refused, or if already granted, revoked and may result in prosecution. 

 
13. As the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of licence applied 

for or held, it is necessary to consider the impact of particular offences on those 
licences separately. However, there are some overriding considerations which will 
apply in all circumstances. 

 
14. Generally where a person has more than one conviction showing a pattern or 

tendency irrespective of time since the convictions, this will raise serious questions 
about their safety and suitability. The Licensing Authority is looking for safe and 
suitable individuals, and once a pattern or trend of repeated offending is apparent, a 
licence will not be granted or renewed. 

 
15. Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence or displays inappropriate 

behaviour which is not detailed in this guidance, the Licensing Authority will take that 
conviction and behaviour into account and use these guidelines as an indication of 
the approach that should be taken. 

 

Page 189

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



70 

 

16.  These guidelines do not replace the duty of the Licensing Authority to refuse to grant 
a licence where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit and proper 
person. Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the Licensing Authority 
will consider the matter from first principles and determine the fitness and propriety of 
the individual. 

 
17. A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct 

responsibility for the safety of other road users and significant control over 
passengers who are in the vehicle. As those passengers may be alone, and may also 
be vulnerable, any previous convictions or unacceptable behaviour will weigh heavily 
against a licence being granted or retained. 

 
18. In relation to single convictions, the following minimum time periods should elapse 

following completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed) 
before a licence will be granted or renewed. This places passenger safety as the 
priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently evidence that they have been 
successfully rehabilitated so that they might obtain or retain a licence.  

 
a) Crimes resulting in death  

 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death 
of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person 
they will not be licensed.  
 

b) Exploitation  
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has 
any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective 
of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed. This 
includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or 
financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list.  
 

c) Offences involving violence against the person  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or 
connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

d) Possession of a weapon  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon 
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

e) Sexual offences  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal 
sexual activity, a licence will not be granted. 
  
In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who 
is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list. 
 

f) Dishonesty 

Page 190

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



71 
 

 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element of the 
offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

g) Drugs 
 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or possession 
with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not 
be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed.  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession 
of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may also have 
to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not 
using controlled drugs. 
 

h) Discrimination 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any form, 
a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion 
of any sentence imposed. 
 

i) Motoring convictions 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the 
granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions may indicate 
that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user and one that is 
suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee does not 
take their professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and suitable 
person to be granted or retain a licence. However, it is accepted that offences can be 
committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not 
necessitate the revocation of a taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the 
Licensing Authority considers that the licensee remains a fit and proper person to retain a 
licence. 
 

j) Drink driving under the influence of drugs 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of 
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the 
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 

k) Using a hand held device whilst driving 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐
held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 

Page 191

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



72 

 

elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
 

l) Other motoring offences 
 
A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life, driving 
under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and has not 
resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles). Where an 
applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or similar offences, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. 
 
A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and also any 
offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including 
vehicles). It also includes driving without insurance or any offence connected with motor 
insurance. Where an applicant has a conviction for a major traffic offence or similar 
offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

m) Hackney carriage and private hire offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected to 
hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be 
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

n) Vehicle use offences 
 

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of a 
vehicle (including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will not be 
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 

 
PRINCIPLES OF THE REHABILITATION OF OFFENDERS ACT 1974 (as amended by 
the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012) 

 
(1) Under the 1974 Act, criminal convictions can become spent after a certain 

period of time, and once spent, for many purposes, can be disregarded 
completely. 

 
(2) The possibility of rehabilitation and the length of time before rehabilitation 

occurs depends on the sentence imposed, and not the offence committed. 
 

(3) Despite the above, the principles of the Act do not apply to applicants for 
hackney carriage and private hire drivers’ licences. This is because the driving 
of taxis is listed as a “Regulated Occupation” in relation to which questions 
may be asked as to the suitability of individuals to be granted a licence. 

 
(4) Although the Act does not prevent judicial authorities (inclusive of the 

Licensing Authority) from taking spent convictions into account; such 
convictions are only admissible in so far as they are relevant to the issue as to 
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

 

Page 192

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



73 
 

(5) The determination as to whether certain convictions are spent, therefore, may 
be a relevant exercise. 

 
(6) The rehabilitation periods to which reference is most commonly made are set 

out in the Ministry of Justice document ‘Guidance on the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 and The Exceptions Order 1975’ which can be accessed 
via the weblink below: Guidance overview: Guidance on the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 and the Exceptions Order 1975 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 193

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-guidance-on-the-rehabilitation-of-offenders-act-1974
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-guidance-on-the-rehabilitation-of-offenders-act-1974


74 

 

Appendix I 
 

Disciplinary Hearings 

 
Introduction 

 
Meetings of a Licensing Sub-Committee will be convened, as and when necessary, to 
consider appropriate disciplinary measures involving proprietors, operators and drivers, 
wherever they have been convicted of offences before the courts, where the offence or 
offences are imprisonable, endorsable, or specifically relate to the use of a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle, or where action has been taken as a result of breaches 
of policy, conditions imposed under a licence, bylaws or legislation. The purpose of such 
meetings shall be for the Sub-Committee to consider which, if any, of the options 
available should be implemented. 

 
The Options Available 

 
The Sub-Committee, after the details of the referral have been outlined, and the licence 
holder has been given the opportunity to address the hearing, as well as ordering 
penalty points (see below) may order one of the following: 

 
 The suspension of the licence 
 The revocation of the licence 
 A refusal to renew a licence 
 The imposition of further conditions 
 Referral to enhanced driver’s course or other relevant training 
 No further action to be taken. 

 
The Sub-Committee may also recommend the prosecution of licence holders, in 
circumstances where there are persistent or serious breaches of conditions, which have 
not been dealt with otherwise. 

 
Where a licence holder appears before a sub-committee having been convicted of an 
offence in a category referred to in Appendix H, the sub-committee will adopt an 
approach similar to the one which it would adopt in relation to a new applicant as 
regards the offence or offences recorded. 
 
A decision by the Sub- Committee to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is 
thought to present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, will be referred to the 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS).  

 

 
 

Page 194

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



75 
 

Appendix J 
 
Offences – Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles and Drivers 
 
Introduction 

 
Two statutes principally create offences relating to Hackney Carriages and Private Hire 

Vehicles: 
 
i) Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 
ii) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
The offences are set out below. Those on page 1 are contrary to the 1847 Act, while those 
on subsequent pages are contrary to the 1976 Act. 
 
In relation to the maximum penalties specified, the levels of fine are currently as follows: 
 
Level 1 - £200; 
Level 2 - £500; 
Level 3 - £1,000; 
Level 4 - £2,500. 
 
a) Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

 

Section Offence Maximum Penalty 
 

40 Giving false information on application for HC proprietor’s 
licence. 

Level 1 

44 Failure to notify change of address of HC proprietor. Level 1 

45 Plying for hire without HC proprietor’s licence. Level 4 

47 Driving a HC without HC driver’s licence. Level 3 

47 Lending or parting with HC driver’s licence. Level 3 

47 HC proprietor employing unlicensed driver. Level 3 

48 Failure by HC proprietor to hold HC driver’s licence. Level 1 

48 Failure by HC proprietor to produce HC driver’s licence. Level 1 

52 Failure to display HC plate. Level 1 

53 Refusal to take a fare. Level 2 

54 Charging more than the agreed fare. Level 1 

55 Obtaining more than the legal fare. Level 3 and 1 
month’s 
imprisonment until 
the excess is 
refunded. 

56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare. Level 1 

57 Failing to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid. Level 1 

58 Charging more than the legal fare. Level 3 

59 Carrying other person than the hirer without consent. Level 1 

60 Driving HC without proprietor’s consent. Level 1 

60 Person allowing another to drive HC without proprietor’s 
consent. 

Level 1 

61 Drunken driving of HC Level 1 

Formatted Table

Page 195

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



76 

 

Section Offence Maximum Penalty 
 

61 Wanton or furious driving or wilful misconduct leading to 
injury or danger. 

Level 1 

62 Driver leaving HC unattended. Level 1 

64 HC driver obstructing other HC’s. Level 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976 

 

Section Offence Maximum Penalty 
 

49 Failure to notify the transfer of a HC proprietor’s licence. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(1) Failure to present a HC for inspection, as required. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(2) Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where the HC is 
stored, if requested. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(3) Failure to report an accident to the Licensing Authority. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(4) Failure to produce the HC proprietor’s licence and 
insurance certificate. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

53(3) Failure to produce the HC driver’s licence. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

57 Making a false statement or withholding information to 
obtain a HC driver’s licence. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

58(2) Failure to return a plate after notice given following 
expiry, revocation or suspension of a HC proprietor’s 
licence. 

Level 3 plus daily fine 
of £10 

61(2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension, 
revocation or refusal to renew. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

64 Permitting any vehicle other than a HC to wait on a HC 
stand. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

66 Charging more than the meter fare for a journey ending 
outside the district, without prior agreement. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

67 Charging more than the meter fare when HC used as 
private hire vehicle. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

71 Interfering with a taximeter. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

73(1)(a) Obstruction of an authorised Officer or Constable. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

73(1)(b) Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised 
Officer or Constable. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to an 
authorised Officer or Constable. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

 

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Page 196

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



77 
 

Section Offence Maximum Penalty 
 

46(1)(a) Using an unlicensed PH vehicle. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

46(1)(b) Driving a PH vehicle without a PH driver’s licence. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

46(1)(c) Proprietor of a PH vehicle using an unlicensed driver. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

46(1)(d) Operating a PH vehicle without a PH operator’s licence. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

46(1)(e) Operating a vehicle as a PH vehicle when the vehicle is 
not licensed as a PH vehicle. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

46(1)(e) Operating a PH vehicle when the driver is not licensed 
as a PH driver. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

48(6) Failure to display a PH vehicle plate. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

49 Failure to notify transfer of a PH vehicle licence. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(1) Failure to present PH vehicle for an inspection, as 
required. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(2) Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where the PH 
vehicle is stored, if requested. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(3) Failure to report an accident to the Licensing Authority. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

50(4) Failure to produce a PH vehicle licence and an 
insurance certificate. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

53(3) Failure to produce a PH driver’s licence. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

54(2) Failure to wear a PH driver’s badge. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

56(2) Failure by a PH operator to keep records of bookings. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

56(3) Failure by a PH operator to keep records of PH vehicles 
operated by him. 

Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

56(4) Failure to produce a PH operator’s licence on request. Level 3 (by virtue of 
s76) 

 

Formatted Table

Page 197

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



78 

 

Section Offence Maximum 
Penalty 
 

57 Making false statement or withholding information to obtain a 
PH driver or operator’s licence. 

Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

58(2) Failure to return plate after notice given following expiry, 
revocation or suspension of a PH vehicle licence. 

Level 3 plus daily 
fine of £10 

61(2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension, 
revocation or refusal to renew. 

Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

67 Charging more than the meter fare when a HC used as PH 
vehicle. 

Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

71 Interfering with a taximeter. Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

73(1)(a) Obstruction of an authorised Officer or Constable. Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

73(1)(b) Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised Officer 
or Constable. 

Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to an authorised 
Officer or Constable. 

Level 3 (by virtue 
of s76) 

 
c) Transport Act 1980 
 

Section Offence Maximum 
Penalty 
 

64(2)(a) Driving a PH vehicle with a roof sign, which contravenes s64 
(1). 

Level 3 

64(2)(b) Causing or permitting a PH vehicle to be driven with a roof 
sign which contravenes s64 (1). 

Level 3 

 
d) Disability Discrimination Act  1995 (as amended) 
 

Section Offence Maximum 
Penalty 
 

36 Driver of a HC refusing to carry a passenger in a wheelchair 
(unless exempted to do so) 

Level 3 

37 Driver of a HC refusing to carry an assistance dog (guide 
dog/hearing dog) (unless exempted to do so) or making an 
additional charge for such a dog.  

Level 3 

37A PH Vehicle Operator refusing to accept a booking for a private 
hire vehicle for a disabled person or for a person with an 
assistance dog. (unless exempted to do so) 

Level 3 

37A PH Vehicle Driver refusing to accept a booking for a private 
hire vehicle for a disabled person or for a person with an 
assistance dog. (unless exempted to do so) 

Level 3 

 

Formatted Table

Page 198

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



79 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 199

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



80 

 

Appendix K 

 
Hackney Carriages – Vehicle Conditions 
 

1.0 Please note that general vehicle conditions for hackney carriages and private hire 
vehicles are found within appendix A. The following conditions are solely for 
hackney carriages. Those conditions solely for private hire vehicles are found 
within Appendix M. 

 
2.0 METERS 
 

2.1 Hackney Carriages shall carry a taxi meter and a “FOR HIRE” illuminating sign 
(front light). Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the 
lights are illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey. 
 

2.2  Existing hackney carriage proprietors are required to fit calendar-controlled meters 
(with the calendar-controlled facility locked) in their hackney carriages by 4th 
November 2012. All hackney carriage vehicles licensed after the 25th August 2011 
are to be fitted with calendar-controlled meters. For those vehicles which seat 
5,6,7,or 8 passengers, meters may be locked in such a way that enables access 
between the tariff for up to 4 passengers or for 5,6,7,  or 8 passengers at that 
particular time only (for example a meter will show tariff 1 or 4, tariff 2 or 5, or tariff 3 
or 6). 

  
2.3  The word ‘FARE’ shall be shown on the face of the meter in plain letters so as to 

clearly apply to the fare recorded. 
 
2.4 The meter shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly visible at all 

times to the persons being conveyed. 
 
2.5 The Licensing Authority will seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the meter 

constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged for whatever 
reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing Office, which 
will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed. 

 
2.6 Meters must be switched on when passengers are seated at the commencement of 

each journey. When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of 
the meter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may 
be charged for a journey.  

 
2.7 All taxi meters must contain either the current Council authorised fares for licensed 

hackney carriages (tariff) or the immediately preceding tariff, (thus a choice of two 
North Devon Council tariffs available to proprietors. Taxi operators must obtain from 
their taxi meter manufacturer or agent confirmation, in writing, of all tariffs 
programmed into their meters, other than the North Devon Council tariffs. This 
confirmation must be supplied to the Licensing Authority on demand so that the 
Licensing Authority can verify that the tariffs do not exceed the tariffs set by the 
Authority. 

 
2.8 Taxi operators are recommended to only program North Devon Council tariffs into 

their taxi meters and are free to offer discounts, as they see fit, at the end of a 
journey. 

 

Page 200

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



81 
 

 
3.0 ROOF SIGNS 
 

3.1 Hackney carriage vehicles, other than those with built-in roof signs, must be fitted 
with an illuminated roof sign showing the word “TAXI” on the front of the sign. As to 
the rear of the sign, the name of the company, or its telephone number, or “TAXI”, 
or any combination of the three may be displayed. 

 
3.2 The roof sign is to be a “bubble” type sign, the cover to be of a one-piece moulded 

design. The sign shall not exceed 500mm x 175mm x 125mm in dimensions. The 
lettering, on both the front and the rear of the sign, shall not be less than 60mm in 
height, and not less than 80mm and not more than 15mm in thickness. 

 
3.3 The roof sign must be centrally mounted on the vehicle roof and be adequately 

secured either directly to the roof or mounted on a single roof bar and secured by 
bolts, straps, or clamps. Magnetic top-lights are permitted as long as they cannot 
be readily pulled off. 

 
3.4 Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the lights are 

illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey. 
 
3.5 Where hackney carriage vehicles are being used in connection with a wedding or 

funeral the Council deems it permissible for the roof sign to be removed solely for 
the period during which the wedding or funeral contract is being carried out. 

 
4.0 ADVERTISING 

 
4.1 Bonnet 

 
One advertisement may be displayed on the bonnet of a vehicle, which must 
include the word ‘Taxi.’ Advertising must include the word ‘Taxi’ which may follow 
the word ‘Taxi’as well as includes the company name, address, telephone number 
and company logo, or any combination of these. 
 

4.2 General 
 

 Other advertising is permitted but only with the express permission of a Licensing 
Officer, who shall prohibit advertising which is disproportionate, unreasonable and 
not in good taste. As a guide the following conditions will be applied to any 
additional request: 

 
(i) All adverts should be appropriate for viewing by children, and no advertising 
will be permitted which causes public offence.  
(ii) Advertising material must comply with relevant legislation; guidance issued 

by The  
Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP); the UK Code of Non-broadcast  
Advertising, Sales Promotion and Direct Marketing (CAP Code); and any rulings of  
the Advertising Standards Authority. 
 
(iii) Advertisements must not encroach onto any part of the windscreens or 
windows. 
 

Page 201

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



82 

 

(iv) Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and 
services,   cigarettes, electronic cigarettes or other similar tobacco products are 
prohibited. 

 
(v) Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign 
are  prohibited. 

 
Any hackney carriage proprietor wishing to display commercial advertising must  
submit a sample of the proposed advertisement to and obtain written approval from 
the Licensing Authority. 
 

5.0  VEHICLES PLYING FOR HIRE 

 
5.1 A licensed hackney carriage vehicle will be entitled to ply for hire within the district 

of North Devon, beyond which it is not obligatory for the driver to contract to carry 
persons for hire under the terms of his licence. 

 
5.2 The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle when standing for hire shall: -  
  

(a) Cause his vehicle to stand on an appointed hackney carriage stand and 
remain in attendance on such vehicle, whilst it remains on such a stand; 

 
(b) Cause his vehicle to stand immediately at the rear of hackney carriage 

vehicles occupying such stand upon his arrival and face in the same direction 
as such other hackney carriage vehicles; 

 
(c) Cause his vehicle to move forward to occupy, at once, the space caused by a 

preceding hackney carriage vehicle on such stand moving off and successive 
hackney carriage vehicles shall do likewise; 

 
5.3 Every such hackney carriage driver shall not: -  

 
(a) Cause his hackney carriage vehicle to stand at the rear of such hackney 

carriage vehicle occupying a stand, if the number of carriages authorised to 
occupy such stand is thereby exceeded; 

 
(b) Refuse a fare without reasonable excuse. 
 
(c) When standing or plying for hire, importune (by calling out or otherwise) any 

person to hire such carriage or use any other persons for the purpose; 
 
(d) Obstruct another licensed driver. 

 
6.0 DEPOSIT OF DRIVERS’ LICENCES AND KEEPING OF RECORDS 

 
6.1      If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle, they shall 

before that person commences to drive the vehicle cause the driver to deliver to the 
proprietor a copy of the driver’s Hackney Carriage driver licence for retention, until such 
time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle or any other 
vehicle in the ownership of the proprietor. 

 
The proprietor shall keep a record book that shall contain the following particulars:  

· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or 

Page 202

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



83 
 

employed to drive the Vehicle; 
·         the name of the person driving the vehicle at any time, including the date, and the time 

the person commenced and finished driving the vehicle; 
·         records of daily vehicle maintenance checks and inspections undertaken; 
·         dates and times of each mechanical inspection and maintenance check; 
·         the name of the person or garage which undertook the inspection or check; 
·         details of defects identified and dates when the defects were corrected; 
  

 The Licensee shall retain this record book for a minimum period of twelve months 
and produce it to the Authorised Officer or a Police Officer if requested to do so at 
the time and place specified. 

 
7.0 VEHICLE TRANSFERS AND ADDRESS CHANGES 

 
7.1 If the proprietor transfers their interest in the vehicle to another individual, or the list of 
individuals with an interest in the vehicle changes, then the proprietor must within 14 days 
give notice of this in writing to the Licensing Authority. The Licensing Authority will then 
update the licence and issue an amended licence document.  
 
7.2 The proprietor must also notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days, of any change 
of address or other contact details (e.g. change of email address or mobile telephone 
number). 

  

Page 203

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



84 

 

 
 
Appendix L 

 
Taxi Stands 

 
Taxi Stands the Licensing Authority has appointed stands for hackney carriages both on 
the public highway and on private land, the use of the latter requiring the permission of the 
landowner. 
 
The use of hackney carriage stands is kept under review, and may be discontinued in 
individual instances where a particular stand has fallen into disuse. Conversely, the 
Licensing Authority shall consider the creation of new stands where there is a perceived 
need. Those who wish the Licensing Authority to consider the creation of new stands 
should write to the Licensing Office, at the address set out at the beginning of this 
document, explaining their reasons in full. 
 
 
Town/Road Location and Size Hours 

Barnstaple 

Railway 
Station 

South side of Station Road. 64.2m rank located outside of the 
Barnstaple Railway Station. 

24 hours 

Tuly Street East side of Tuly Street. 10.2m rank located outside 17 Tuly 
Street. 

24 hours 

Holland Street  West side of Holland Street. 25.2m rank, opposite the rear 
entrance to Marks and Spencer.  

24 hours 

Queen Street  South side of entrance road to car park, accessed from 
Queen Street. 11.1m rank to end of Queens House. 

24 hours 

Queen Street  East side of Queen Street, 17m rank, outside 4-5 Queens 
House.  

24 hours 

Boutport 
Street  

West side of Boutport Street. 35.6m rank located between 70 
Boutport Street and 3 Bridge Buildings the Square. 

24 hours 

Boutport 
Street  

West side of Boutport Street. 5.5m rank, outside of 108 High 
Street (Nisa convenience store) (Loading bay only in day).  

6pm and 
8am 

Boutport 
Street 

East side of Boutport Street. 14.6m rank, located between 42-
44 Boutport Street. (Loading bay only in day)  

6pm and 
8am 

Boutport 
Street 

East side of Boutport Street, 13.8m rank located between 49-
51 Boutport Street. ((Loading bay only in day) 

6pm and 
8am 

Butcher’s Row South side of Butchers Row. 38.1m rank located from Market 
Street cut through to disabled bay outside Queen’s Theatre. 

6pm and 
4am 

Cross Street West side of Cross Street. 24.7m rank between 8-10 Cross 
Street. (Loading bay only in day). 

6pm and 
8am 

Ilfracombe 

 

Marlborough 
Road 

North side of Marlborough Road. 28.7m rank located outside 
of A2B taxi office. 

24 hours 

Oxford Grove North side of Oxford Grove. 45.8m rank, outside of Barclays 
Bank. 

24 hours 

The Quay North side of the Quay. 11.9m long rank commencing at the 
junction with Capstone Road in an easterly direction (outside 
Sandpiper Inn). 

24 hours 

Formatted Table

Page 204

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



85 
 

Town/Road Location and Size Hours 

Ropery Road  South side of Ropery Road. Five vehicle lengths from Ropery 
Road’s junction with Broad Street in a westerly direction. 

24 hours 

  

Formatted Table

Page 205

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



86 

 

Braunton 

 

Exeter Road 
 

West side of Exeter Road.  14.7m rank commencing after the 
bus stop in a southerly direction (end of Squires Fish Restaurant 
to end of Post Office). 

24 hours 

South Molton 

 

Broad Street South side of Broad Street. 10.4m rank, located outside 6 Broad 
Street. 

24 hours  

Woolacombe 

 

Barton Road  South side of Barton Road. 18.2m rank commencing from the 
junction of West Road in an easterly direction 

10pm 
and 6am 

The 
Esplanade  

North side of The Esplanade. 21m rank from the junction of 
Bayview Road and Barton Road. 

24 hours 

Lynton 

 

Lee Road 
 

North side of Lee Road. 6m rank, located outside of the Town 
Hall. 

24 hours 

Lynmouth 

 

Riverside 
Road 

North side of the Esplanade. 5.6m rank, commencing westerly 
from the Esplanade Fish Bar, near Rhenish Tower. 

24 hours 
 

 
 
  

Page 206

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



87 
 

Appendix M 

 
Private Hire Licensing – Private Hire Vehicle Conditions 

 
1.0 For general conditions with regard private hire vehicles please see Appendix A. 
 
2.0 METERS 

 
2.1 A private hire vehicle may be fitted with a fare meter.  
 
2.2 The driver or operator of a private hire vehicle shall make their own agreement 

with the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey. 
 
2.3 If a meter is fitted, it shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly 

visible at all times to the person being conveyed. 
 
2.4 A Licensing Officer will test and seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the 

meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged, for 
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing 
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed. 

 
3.0 VEHICLE MARKINGS 
 

3.1 All private hire vehicles must display door signs stating “Private Hire Advance 
Booking Only” on both sides of the vehicle. North Devon Council will provide pre-
printed stickers with this wording. Alternatively this wording may be incorporated 
into private hire operator door signage so long as the signage complies with the 
following criteria: 
 

- Door signs should be at least 30cm long and 20cm wide (A4 sized);  
- Must contain the words “Private Hire Advance Booking Only”, and the company 

telephone number, and optionally the name of the private hire operator; 
- Lettering must contrast with the background colour so that it is clearly visible, and 

be of at least font size 36; 
3.1- These signs can either be magnetic or vinyl stickers, however the preferred method 

of affixing the sign is by way of vinyl sticker.All private hire vehicles must display 
abe fitted with windscreen sun-strips, with the words “Private Hire Advance Booking 
Only” sticker provided and approved by the Council on both sides of the vehicle, 
displayed in the centre of the strip. The company name and telephone number may 
also be displayed. All lettering shall be not less than 8 cm and no more than 10 cm. 

 
3.2 Sun-strips on the rear windscreen are permissible but not compulsory. 
 
3.33.2 Sun-strips should be positioned so as not to obscure the forward vision of the 
driver. Private Hire Advance Booking Only stickers should be positioned so as not to 
obscure the vision of the driver, and preferably should be placed on both rear doors below 
the window line. 
 
3.43.3 Roof markings are not compulsory, but if used should be mounted securely and 

placed from front to rear of the vehicle. The sign should be illuminated, except 
when passengers are being carried, and have identical wording on each side. 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27 cm

Page 207

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



88 

 

3.53.4 Roof signs should signify “Advanced Bookings Only” and may be followed by the 
Company name and telephone number. Any such signs should be no longer than 
600 mm, no wider than 200 mm and no higher than 250 mm. 

 
4.0 ADVERTISING 
 

4.1 Advertising is restricted to the name and telephone number of the owner or 
operator of the private hire vehicle and to the front door panel only. Advertising of 
other businesses or products or services is not permitted other than advertising 
internally within a vehicle via TV screens (digital media technology) for which 
conditions are contained in Appendix A, Section 23.  

 
4.2 The word “taxi”, “cab” or “hackney carriage” must not be used. 
 
4.3 No alternative words or spellings, such as “Kab”, which would have the effect of 

leading the public to believe that a vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire, 
may be used.  

 

Page 208

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



89 
 

5.0 VEHICLES PLYING FOR HIRE 

 
The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle shall not: -  

 
(a) Cause or permit the vehicle to stand on a road or public place in such a manner as 

to suggest it is standing or otherwise plying for hire or that it is a hackney carriage 
vehicle; 

 
(b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit, on a road or other public 

place, any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle; 
 
(c) Accept an offer for the hire of that vehicle while the driver of that vehicle is on a 

road or any public place except where such an offer is first communicated to the 
driver by telephone; 

 
(d) Use any hackney carriage stand within the North Devon area; 
 
(e) Ply for hire or pick up fares on the highway unless previously booked; 
 
(f) Obstruct any other licensed driver. 
 
6.0 DEPOSIT OF DRIVERS’ LICENCES AND KEEPING OF RECORDS 

 

6.1  If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle, they shall 
before that person commences to drive the vehicle cause the driver to deliver to the 
proprietor a copy of the driver’s Hackney Carriage/ Private Hire driver licence for retention, 
until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle or any 
other vehicle in the ownership of the proprietor. The proprietor shall keep a record book 
that shall contain the following particulars: 
 
· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or 
employed to drive the Vehicle; 
·         the name of the person driving the vehicle at any time, including the date, and the 
time the person commenced and finished driving the vehicle; 
·         records of daily vehicle maintenance checks and inspections undertaken; 
·         dates and times of each mechanical inspection and maintenance check; 
·         the name of the person or garage which undertook the inspection or check; 
·         details of defects identified and dates when the defects were corrected; 
  
6.2 The Licensee shall retain this record book for a minimum period of twelve months 
and produce it to the Authorised Officer or a Police Officer if requested to do so at the time 
and place specified. 

 
 
7.0 VEHICLE TRANSFERS AND ADDRESS CHANGES 
 

7.1 If the proprietor transfers their interest in the vehicle to another individual, or the list of 
individuals with an interest in the vehicle changes, then the proprietor must within 14 days 
give notice of this in writing to the Licensing Authority. The Licensing Authority will then 
update the licence and issue an amended licence document.  
 

Page 209

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



90 

 

7.2 The proprietor must also notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days, of any 
change of address or other contact details (e.g. change of email address or mobile 
telephone number). 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 210

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



91 
 

Appendix N 

 
Private Hire Vehicles– Stretched Limousine Conditions 

 
1.0 Definition 
 

1.1 For the purposes of this policy, a stretched limousine is defined as follows:- 
 
 A stretched limousine is a motor vehicle that has been lengthened by the insertion 

of an additional body section and modified by a coachbuilder. 
 
2.0 Conditions 

 
2.1 Unless specifically stated otherwise below the requirements in Appendix M apply. 
 
2.2 The conditions below are additional requirements specifically for stretched 

limousines licensed as private hire vehicles. 
 
2.3 Bearing factors of public safety in mind, the Council will only consider licensing 

stretched limousines as Private Hire Vehicles where: 
 
2.4 A valid SVA (Single Vehicle Approval) certificate (Minister’s Approval Certificate-

MAC) issued by DVSA, must be provided for the vehicle. 
 
2.5 A valid certificate of conversion by an approved USA converter – either a Qualified 

Vehicle Modifier (QVM) OR A Cadillac Master Coach-builder (CMC) must be 
provided for the vehicle. 

 
2.6 The vehicle must be fitted with tyres of appropriate size and grade to conform with 

the Original Manufacturer’s Specification. 
 
2.7 The vehicle may be left or right hand drive providing there is proof of full DETR 

vehicle type approval. 
 
2.8 Seating capacity must be limited to eight passengers even if the vehicle is capable 

of carrying more than eight passengers. 
 
2.9 Where the passengers in the vehicle consist of persons under the age of 14 years 

they must be accompanied by a responsible adult, other than the driver, who is 
over the age of 18 years. 

 
2.10 Passengers must remain seated while the vehicle is in motion. 
 
2.11 Passengers must not be carried in the front of the vehicle. 
 
2.12 Intoxicating liquor must not be supplied in the vehicle unless there is in force an 

appropriate licence permitting the sale or supply of same. 
 
2.13 If the limousine parks to provide some form of entertainment to it’s passengers, an 

entertainment licence must be in place in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
 
 

Page 211

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



92 

 

Appendix O 
 
Private Hire Licensing - Driver’s Conditions 

 
1.0 CONDUCT OF DRIVER 
 

1.1  The holder of a private hire driver’s licence shall comply with the following 
conditions, which should be read in conjunction with the Code of Good Conduct in 
Appendix C: 

 
2.0 FARES 
 

2.1 The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle shall make their own agreement with 
the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey. 

 
2.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a written receipt for 

the fare paid. 
 
3.0 NOTIFICATION OF CONVICTIONS AND INVESTIGATION 

 
2.1 3.1  Drivers must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48 

hours of any arrest and release, charge or conviction, receipt of a driving 
disqualification for any period of time, receipt of any fixed penalty, or anti-social 
behaviour order imposed on him/her whilst the licence is in force. 

3.12.2 In addition, the Driver must also notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period 
of 48 hours, if they are notified by the Police of an allegation of an offence by them 
that the Police are investigating. Drivers are required to disclose the alleged offence 
and alleged offence date in their notification to the Licensing Team. 

 
4.0       NOTIFICATION OF CHANGES 

43.12  The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days of any change of 
address or other contact details (e.g. change of email address or mobile telephone 
number). 

 
43.23  Upon ceasing employment as a licensed driver, the licence-holder must notify the 

Licensing Team in writing within 7 days and surrender the licence and badge 
issued by the Council together with the plate as and when appropriate.  

 
5.0        ATTENDANCE IN RELATION TO COMPLAINTS 
 

5.1        Drivers shall attend at the place and time requested in writing by the Licensing 
Authority for interview in relation to complaints received by the Licensing Authority. 
Interviews may be recorded for evidential purposes in accordance with the requirements/ 
principles of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) Code B.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



93 
 

 
 
 
 
Appendix P 
 
Private Hire licensing- Operator’s Licence Conditions 
 
1.0 STANDARD OF SERVICE 

 
(i) The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members 

of the public at all reasonable times. 
 
(ii) The operator must ensure, when a vehicle has been hired, that it arrives 

punctually at the appointed place, unless delayed by unforeseen 
circumstances. 

 
(iii) The operator must ensure that premises provided for the purpose of booking 

or waiting are kept clean, and are adequately lit, heated and ventilated. 
 
(iv) The operator shall also ensure that any waiting area provided has adequate 

seating facilities, and telephone facilities are in good working order. 
 
(v) The operator shall fulfil his responsibilities to ensure compliance with 

legislation regarding the length of working hours. 
 

(vi) If dead mileage is to be charged, the hirer shall be informed prior to the 
booking being accepted.   
“Dead mileage” means mileage to the pick-up point and/or return to base 
after reaching the customer’s destination” 

 
 
2.0 RECORDS 

 
(i) The records which must be kept by operators under the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable log or book, 
the pages of which are numbered consecutively. 

 
(ii) Prior to each journey, the operator shall enter the following particulars of each 

private hire booking: 
 

 the date of the booking; 
 the name and address of the hirer; 
 the time of pick-up; 
 the point of pick-up; 
 the destination; 
 the time at which a driver was allocated to the booking; 
 the plate number (or other identification) of the vehicle allocated. 
 

Additionally with effect from 1st January 2023 operators shall also record the 
following:  
a. the name of the driver attending the booking;  
b. the name of any individual that responded to the booking request;  

Page 213

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



94 

 

c. The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle 
 

 
(iii) The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all private hire 

vehicles operated by him/her, such details to include the owners, plate 
numbers and registration numbers of the vehicles, along with details as to the 
drivers of the vehicles, and their call signs. 

 
(iv) All records maintained by the operator shall be kept for at least 12 months 

after entry. 
 
(v)  With effect from 1st January 2023 the operator shall additionally maintain a 

register of all the staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles and be able 
to evidence that the register is compatible with their policy on employing ex-
offenders. This register must also be made available to the Licensing 
Authority upon request within 7 days. 

 
3.0 COMPLAINTS 

 
The operator shall immediately upon receipt notify the Licensing Office in writing of 
any complaints concerning a contract for hire arising from his/her business, such 
notification to include the action taken or proposed as a result of the complaint. 

 
4.0 CHANGE OF ADDRESS 
 

The operator shall notify the Licensing Office in writing of any change of address 
(including any address from which he operates or otherwise conducts his 
business) which takes place during the currency of the licence. Such notice shall 
be given within 7 days of the change of address. 

 
5.0 DISCLOSURE OF CONVICTIONS 

 

The operator shall, within 7 days of conviction, notify the Licensing Office in writing 
of any conviction or fixed penalty imposed on him during the currency of his/her 
operator’s licence. If the operator is a company or partnership, this requirement 
shall apply if any of the directors or partners receive a conviction or fixed penalty. 
 
For new applicants from 1st March 2022 (and all existing operators by 1st January 
2023), applicants for Operator licences shall be required to produce a basic DBS 
disclosure certificate not more than 3 months old, and thereafter to produce a 
basic DBS disclosure certificate annually (unless already licensed as a North 
Devon Hackney carriage/ private hire driver).  
 
From 1st January 2023, Operators shall also be required to obtain a basic DBS 
disclosure certificate for all call handling and dispatching staff. These certificates 
must be made available to the Licensing Authority upon request within 7 days and 
be held for at least 12 months in-line with the record keeping requirements above. 
 
In addition, from 1st January 2023 the Operator must have in place a policy on 
employing ex-offenders (Relevance of Convictions Policy). This policy must be 
provided to the Licensing Authority upon request within 14 days. An example 
policy which Operators may personalise and use as the basis for their own policy 
can be found on the Council’s Licensing webpage (web link). 

Page 214

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



95 
 

 
  

Page 215

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



96 

 

6.0 INSURANCE 
 

The operator shall ensure that a certificate of motor insurance covers every private 
hire vehicle operated by him under the licence, which is compliant with the Road 
Traffic Act 1988 as regards the carriage of passengers for hire or reward. 
 
Private Hire Operators must hold appropriate public liability insurance if premises 
are to be used to allow the public to wait for a vehicle. 

 
7.0 PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER’S LICENCES 

 

The operator shall satisfy himself that every driver engaged by him has acquired a 
private hire driver’s licence and has a badge issued by the Licensing Office. 

 
 
 

8.0 VEHICLE RECORDS 
 

The operator shall keep a record of the following details in respect of each private 
hire vehicle operated by him/her: - 

 
 the year when the vehicle was first licensed for private hire; 
 the vehicle’s make, model and engine size; 
 the registration number; 
 the colour; 
 the number of seats for passengers; 
 whether a meter is fitted; 
 The expiry date of the vehicle licence. 
 
This record must be produced for inspection when requested by a Licensing 
Officer. 
 
It is also recommended that operators record the expiry date of the MOT for each 
vehicle and the date of expiry for the vehicle insurance. 

 
9.0 DISPLAY OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

The operator shall, at all times, keep a copy of these conditions at any premises 
used by him/her for a private hire business, and shall make the same available for 
inspection by fare–paying passengers. 
 

10.0     Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers 
 

Where a Private Hire Vehicle is vehicle is unsuitable for a booking, e.g. where a 
larger vehicle is needed because more than 8 passengers seats are required, or to 
accommodate luggage, the person making the booking must be informed by the 
Operator that a PSV such as a minibus will be used and that a PSV licensed driver 
will be used who is subject to different checks than private hire drivers as they are 
not required to have an enhanced DBS check. The person making the booking must 
agree to this before the booking can be accepted by the Operator. 
 

The above condition shall not apply where the driver assigned to the booking also holds a 
North Devon Hackney carriage/ Private Hire driver licence.  

Page 216

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



97 
 

Appendix Q 
 
Non Motorised Vehicles - Driver and Vehicle Conditions 
 
Driver Conditions 
 

1.0   The Licence holder shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable 
steps to  

ensure the safety of passengers conveyed therein and persons entering and 
alighting from the carriage. 

 
2.0 The Licence holder shall, at all times when acting in accordance with the driver’s 

licence, wear the official badge issued by the Licensing Authority in such a position 
as to be plainly and distinctly visible. 

 
3.0 The Licence holder shall notify the Licensing Team in writing, within 7 days of any 

change of address and, if not self- employed any change of employer. 
 
4.0 The Licence holder shall, at the request of any authorised Officer of the Licensing 

Authority or of any Police Officer, produce his licence for inspection. 
 
5.0 On the surrender, revocation or suspension of the licence the official driver’s badge 

MUST be returned to the Licensing Office, Civic Centre, Barnstaple immediately. 
 
6.0 Any change in the medical condition of the Licence holder, which could impair his 

driving ability, shall be notified immediately to the Licensing Team. 
 
7.0 Details of any offence of which the Licence holder has been convicted shall be 

notified within 7 days in writing to the Licensing Team. 
 
8.0 The licence holder shall not, when standing or plying for hire, wash such carriage in 

any street or public place. 
 
9.0 The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps not to hold up traffic and to allow 

other vehicles to pass. 
 

10.0 The licence holder shall not permit more than the prescribed number of persons to 
travel in the carriage than the number of persons the carriage is licensed to carry. 

 
Conditions Specific to Drivers of Horse Drawn Vehicles 
 

11.0 Non-motorised hackney carriages are exempted from the requirements contained in 
Appendix K, Paragraphs 2.0 and 3.0. 

 

12.0 The driver shall comply with the competency standard specified in paragraph 12.1 of 
this policy. 

 

13.0 Those persons granted a licence to solely drive a non- motorised hackney carriage 
are issued a joint hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence, a specific 
condition of which is that the driver may only drive a non-motorised vehicle (i.e. a 
horse drawn carriage, rickshaw or trishaw) and no other type of licensed vehicle. 

 

Page 217

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



98 

 

14.0 The Licence holder shall be responsible for the safe handling and proper care of the 
horses employed in the operation of the licensed vehicle. 

 
15.0 The Licence holder shall be responsible, when in charge of the vehicle, for the 

collection and satisfactory hygienic disposal of horse excrement, as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the excrement has been deposited. 

 
16.0 Any change in the physical condition of the horse must be notified in writing to the 

Licensing Team 
 
17.0 The licence holder shall not while standing, plying or driving for hire, drive or allow 

to be driven, or harness or allow to be harnessed to the carriage any animal in such 
condition so as to expose any person conveyed or being in such carriage, or any 
person traversing any street, to risk or injury. 

 
18.0 The licence holder shall ensure that every part of the harness of the horse or horses 

is kept in order, so that the horse or horses are properly and securely attached to 
the carriage and under due control. 

 
19.0 Licence holders shall examine the horse/s, harness and carriage carefully at the 

start of each day’s work and assure themselves that everything is in good condition 
and in proper order. 

 
20.0 Licence holders shall not, in any street, feed or allow to be fed any horse harnessed 
or  

otherwise attached to such carriage, except with food contained in a proper bag or 
other receptacle suspended from the head of such horse, or from the centre pole of 
the carriage, or with food from he hand of the person feeding such horse. 
 

21.0 Where the application relates to a horse-drawn vehicle, drivers must produce 
evidence to the authority that they are competent to drive horses in harness. Certification 
to British Driving Society (BDS) Code of Practice for Drivers of Horse Drawn Vehicles 
Working on the Public Highway is required for new drivers. Those drivers previously 
licensed with the authority in the last three years may alternatively hold the BDS Level 3 
Road Driving Safety Qualification for Pairs and Singles or have demonstrated equivalent 
competence. For grooms the standard is BDS level 2 Unit Certificate for the Harness 
Horse Groom. The Council will consider alternative qualifications that are to the equivalent 
standard. Any expense involved in producing such certification shall be met by the 
applicant or licence holder. 
 
Conditions relevant to Licensed Non-Motorised Vehicles 

 
22.0 The proprietor shall, report to the Licensing Team as soon as possible, or in any event 

within 72 hours, any accident involving a non-motorised hackney carriage in their 
control. 

  

23.0 The proprietor shall keep in force a policy of insurance appropriate to a carriage 
used for public hire and reward and covering third party liability both in respect of 
physical injury or death AND in respect of damage to personal belongings. A 
minimum sum of £2million is required. A valid copy of the insurance certificate or 
cover note shall be produced on application and shall be carried in the carriage at all 
times and shall be produced to an authorised Officer of the Council or a Police 
Constable for inspection whenever required. 

Page 218

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



99 
 

 
24.0 The proprietor shall notify the Licensing Team in writing of any alteration that is 

proposed to be made to any part of the vehicle, before such alteration is carried out. 
 
25.0 The vehicle shall be kept in good order, the inside and outside clean and braking 

machinery efficient. 
 
26.0 The seats of the vehicle shall be properly cushioned or covered, fittings and 

furniture shall be kept clean and adequate for the convenience of persons travelling 
in the vehicle.  

 
27.0 The official licence plate, issued by the Licensing Authority, must be affixed to the rear 

of the vehicle. Such licence plate shall be returned to the Licensing Authority if the 
vehicle licence is surrendered, revoked or suspended. 

 

28.0 The official fare card must be displayed inside the vehicle so as to be clearly visible 
to passengers in the vehicle at all times subject to any specific exemption granted 
by the Licensing Authority. 

 
29.0 When the vehicle is being used for hire, no person shall be authorised to drive the 

vehicle other than a person currently licensed to drive that type of vehicle and 
wearing the official badge. 

 
30.0 The vehicle (carriage, harness etc) may be inspected and tested by an Authorised 

Officer of the Council or by a Police Officer at all reasonable times.  
 
31.0 If the Authorised Officer or Police Constable inspecting the vehicle is not satisfied as 

to its fitness he may give written notice to the Proprietor to make the vehicle 
(carriage, harness etc) available for further inspection and testing at such 
reasonable time and place as may be specified, and the vehicle licence may be 
suspended until the Authorised Officer or Police Constable is satisfied as to the 
fitness of the vehicle. 

 
Conditions Specific to Horse –Drawn Vehicles 

 
32.0 No horse shall be harnessed to, or used in connection with the vehicle hereby 

licensed unless, within the preceding twelve months, an approved Royal College 
Veterinary Surgeon has examined the horse and issued a certificate of fitness. 
Horse passports and veterinary certificates for those horses to be used must be 
provided on application for a licence, and for any additional horses certificates shall 
be delivered to the Licensing Authority immediately. 

 
33.0 No horse shall be in harness for more than seven hours in any one-day and if in 

harness for seven consecutive hours, shall during that period have a break of not 
less than one hour and shall be fed and watered. 

 
34.0 A horse in which in any one day is harnessed to, or used in connection with a 

licensed hackney carriage shall not be used at any time during that day for any 
other purpose. 

 
35.0 Veterinary papers relating to the horse in harness should be available for inspection 

on request by an authorised officer. 
 

Page 219

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



100 

 

36.0 The proprietor shall at all times comply with the requirements of Department of 
Transport’s Code of Practice for Horse Drawn Vehicles. 

 
37.0 No horse under six years of age, mare in foal or within three months of foaling shall 

be used to for the purposes of a hackney carriage. 
 
General  
 
38.0 In any other respects, the provisions and conditions relating to hackney carriages, 

as set out in this document, apply to non-motorised hackney carriages except in so 
far as the context of the provisions or conditions clearly dictates that reference is 
being made to motor vehicles or the driving of such motor vehicles. 

  
 
APPENDIX R 
 
EXECUTIVE HIRE EXEMPTION POLICY 
 

Under section 75(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, a local 
authority may, by way of a notice to the proprietor of a private hire vehicle, exempt such a 
vehicle from the requirement to display plates on the vehicle and also from the requirement 
for drivers of such vehicles to wear their private hire driver’s badge. 
 
North Devon Council will only provide a Notice of Exemption from the requirement to 
display plates in accordance with the Policy below. The notice will also exempt the 
proprietor from having to comply with the licence conditions relating to display of “advance 
booking only” door signage. 
 
The Notice will be granted subject only to written request by a proprietor and compliance 
with the Policy. 
 
This Policy relates to individual private hire vehicle proprietors wishing to carry out 
Corporate/Executive Hire Chauffeur type work and other ‘special’ journeys which require a 
higher specification and more prestigious vehicle. 
 
This Policy specifically excludes vehicles being used for day-to-day private hire circuit work 
such as pubs, shopping and other similar journeys which must comply with the Act, and 
relevant private hire vehicle licence conditions at all times. 
 
In view of the public safety implications of vehicles working without signage each 
application will be considered on its individual merits and on its compliance with the Policy. 
 
All applicants wishing to provide vehicles and drivers to carry out work covered by this 
Policy are advised to consult with the Licensing Team prior to purchasing a vehicle. 
 
Approved work for which vehicles can be exempt  

 
An exemption will only be granted to a proprietor engaged substantially (e.g. 95% of 
hirings) in the provision of: 
 
1. Corporate bookings to transport employees and/or clients on corporate business 
journeys  
 

Page 220

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



101 
 

and/or 
 
2. Airport and other ‘special’ journeys where the client specifically requests a vehicle of a 
prestige specification at the time of booking. 
 

When applying for an exemption notice the proprietor will need to demonstrate 
“corporate/executive work” by the submission of evidence such as copies of contract 
specifications, details of account customers, records of hirings and/or evidence of need. 
 
Approved Vehicle Specification 

 
In view of the substantial number of makes and models of vehicles available, it is preferred 
not to produce a definitive list of vehicle makes and models that could be approved.  
 
The approval of an exemption will therefore be based on the cost, reputation, specification, 
appearance, perception and superior comfort levels of a vehicle, and the fact that it will not 
resemble a non-exempt private hire vehicle licensed to undertake the ‘normal’ day to day 
circuit work. Each application will be considered on its individual merits but the final 
decision for approval or refusal will remain with the Service Lead on Licensing. 
 
1. Saloon and hatchback vehicles will generally only be licensed for 3 passengers only 
plus the driver allowing sufficient space for adult passengers to travel comfortably in full 
size seats. 
 
2. Vehicles seating more than 4 passengers will be licensed only for sufficient numbers of 
passengers to travel comfortably. Each seat must be of adequate dimensions and must 
permit direct access into and out of the side doors of the vehicle without the need to move, 
remove or fold down any seat. No vehicle modifications from the manufacturer’s 
specification are accepted. 
 
3. Drivers are required to wear a suit or jacket and trousers/ skirt plus a shirt/ blouse at all 
times. This dress code must be followed at all times the vehicle is being used to undertake 
a booking. Jackets may be removed where weather conditions require it. 
 

 
Removal of Executive Hire Exemption 

Holders of an Executive Hire Exemption are required to return their Executive Hire 
Exemption Notice within 7 days following written request from the Licensing Authority. The 
decision to request the return of the notice will rest with the Service Lead on Licensing and 
is final.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 221

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



102 

 

 
APPENDIX S 

 
North Devon District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Safety Camera 
Technical Specifications and System Requirements 
 
1.1 Specification: 100% solid state design or a proven vibration and shock resistant 

system. 
 

Details: The system should not have any fan and the recording should be vibration and 
shock proof, i.e.: - Flash-based SSD (100% industrial grade), - Hard disk with both 
mechanical anti-vibration and anti-shock mechanism and self-recovery and self-check file 
writing system. 
 
1.2 Specification: System activation (on / off) switch to be located in a position where it is 

not accessible from inside the vehicle (i.e. in the boot / engine compartment). 
 

Details: The system is required to be active at all times that the vehicle is being used as a 
licensed vehicle. This will allow the facility for the system to be deactivated during times 
when the vehicle is being used for private purposes (e.g. domestic use). The switch that 
deactivates the system must be located within the vehicles boot or engine compartment 
(i.e. it must only be possible to deactivate the system from outside of the vehicle). 
 
1.3 Specification: First-in/first-out buffer recording principle. 
 
1.4 Specification: Images must be exported in commercially available formats. 
 
1.5 Specification: Images must be preserved in the event of loss of power. Battery back-up 

will not be permitted. 
 
1.6 Specification: Image data shall be recorded and stored in a unit separate from the 

camera head. 
 
1.7 Specification: The system must ‘go to sleep’ to reduce battery drain during prolonged 

idle time. It must be capable of immediate reactivation. 
 
1.8 Specification: Images recorded by the system shall not be displayed within the vehicle. 
 
Storage Capacity 
1.9 Specification: Minimum of seven days of recording capacity. 

 
Details: The camera system must be capable of recording and storing a minimum of seven 
days of images of HD1 (720/288) size or better. 
 
2 Specification: Images must be clear in all lighting conditions. 

 
Details: System to provide clear images in bright sunshine, shade, dark and total darkness. 
Also, when strong back light is present. 
 
Camera head 
 
2.1 Specification: Camera installation non-obstructive. 

Page 222

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



103 
 

Details: The camera and all system components shall be installed in a manner that does 
not interfere with the driver’s vision or view of mirrors or otherwise normal operation of the 
vehicle. 
 
2.2 Specification: Field of view to capture all passengers in the vehicle. 

 
Details: The lens of the camera must be of a type that captures the driver and all 
passengers of the vehicle on the recorded image. The lens must be of a style not to create 
a “fishbowl” effect. 
 
2.3 Specification: Compatible for use in vehicles with a partition/ larger vehicles. 

 
Details: Camera systems used in vehicles with partitions or larger vehicles must be 
adapted to provide clear images of the entire vehicle interior. This may be accomplished 
with the use of multiple camera heads. 
 
Storage Device (Recorder) 
 
2.4 Specification: Impact and shock resistance. 

 
Details: The recorder/ storage unit shall be impact resistant, sufficient to withstand a typical 
car accident, or striking with a large, heavy object such as a suitcase. 
 
2.5 Specification: Recorder/ storage unit in concealed location. 

 
Details: The recorder/ storage unit shall be concealed from view and effectively 
inaccessible except by authorised personnel (e.g. under the drivers seat). 
 
2.6 Specification: Recorder/ storage unit to be securely affixed to the vehicle. 
 
2.7 Specification: All stored images must be time and date stamped. 
 
2.8 Specification: The system shall record images at the rate of four images per second. 
 
2.9 Specification: System must continue to record images for 30 minutes after engine is 

shut off. 
 
Downloading Technical Specification 
 
3 Specification: Windows 10 compatible. 
 
3.1 Specification: Wireless Download Prohibited. 

 
Details: Unit must not allow for wireless downloads. Wireless diagnostic may be used. All 
wireless hardware to be disabled. 
 
System Information 
3.2 Specification: Clarity of operating instructions. 

 
Details: The system shall be provided with clear and concise operation instructions which 
are written with due consideration to varying levels of literacy. 
 
3.3 Specification: Image Protection. 

Page 223

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



104 

 

Details: All captured images must be protected using encryption software that meets or 
exceeds the current FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or equivalent. 
 
System requirements in relation to Vehicle Inspection Facility – Inspections 
 
3.4 Specification: Provision of system status/health indicator. 

 
Details: The system shall have an indicator showing when it is operational and when there 
is a malfunction. 
 
3.5 Specification: Designed/Installed to be testable by North Devon Council Licensing 

Team 
 

Details: The system shall be designed and installed such that the system may be easily 
tested/ inspected by Licensing Team staff to ensure that all features are operating and that 
images are being recorded as prescribed. 
 
General 
3.6 Specification: Reliability in operational and environmental conditions. 

 
Details: The system shall provide reliable and full functionality in all operational and 
environmental conditions encountered in the operation of taxis. 
 
3.7 Specification: Programmability of image timing parameters. 

 
Details: It shall be possible to change timing and parameters without the requirement to 
change components. 
 
3.8 Specification: Manufacturer/ proprietor to supply cables and software to North Devon 

Council. 
 
 

Page 224

Agenda Item 11
Appendix a



North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 

Amendments. 

This consultation ran from 16 March 2022 until 11 May 2022. 

51 responses were received. 

Q1 Do you agree with the proposal to reduce the upper age limit for vehicles 

at first licensing? 
Option Responses 

Maybe 8 

Yes 12 

No 31 

 

Q1. Do you agree with the proposal to reduce the upper age limit for vehicles 

at first licensing? 

 

Q2 We asked for any comments on question one. 
26 comments were made. 

Just a blunt tool and will impact on taxi services 

The cost of these vehicles means not everyone will be able to afford it, you will see a decline in taxi 

numbers within Barnstaple. 

Or less if possible as things are changing so fast 

Requiring a newer (and therefore more expensive vehicle) would increase overheads on an already 

slim profit margin given the high insurance and day to day running costs. All taxi drivers would love 

to drive more modern and environmentally friendly vehicles but simply cannot afford them. 

Its hard enough to get started with a new car up to 5 years old at present with running cost and fuel 

prices  

Page 225

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Hackney license vehicles are very well looked after and specifically looking at the No2 and carbon 

output of the vehicle ages up to 3 years are very similar if not very equivalent of vehicles of that up 

to 5 years.  This would just impose for those in the industry with limited funds (affected by covid 19 ) 

u able to upgrade or buy new vehicles in there price ranges  

Taxi Work is slim on the ground so to add this expense is not reasonable when so many good cars up 

to 5 years old still available and perfectly fit for purpose. 

Using an arbitrary age is grossly unfair. It does not take in to account any other factor, such as 

millage  

As a Taxi operator, the financial impact this would have on my company would be catastrophic. 

Because this will price people out, it will add on between 2000 to 3000 the newer the vehicle, this 

for some people just isn't workable.  

Total costs of operation are getting too high 

1. Stage coach and other PSV carrier operate a large fleet of 10 plus year old vehicles without 

restriction. 2. limiting the age of vehicle with the additional strains of Covid 19 pandemic loss of 

earnings would result in a major influx of unemployed Taxi drivers being unable to afford new 

vehicles having already placed fund in maintaining current ones  3. Specifications on vehicles in the 

last 5 year ( excluding fully electric vehicles ) have very similar output of green house gases but also 

the lack of charging ports located wouldn’t make full electric an alternative this would require a lot 

of infrastructure expansion  

If people don't buy a new car they opt for what is affordable and a 5 year old car may be all that can 

be afforded at that time. 

It will make it harder for younger people to get into the profession without getting into unnecessary 

debt 

Older cars are just as clean if they're well-maintained 

If the vehicle is well maintained and passes MOT emissions requirements this should be sufficient. 

Some smaller would be unable to afford replacing the vehicle and increased maintenance costs 

Newer cars are safer, more environmentally friendly and hopefully moving too Hybrid / full electric. 

Companies will be having to fit the bill and after covid cannot afford 

Most taxi drivers cant afford newer vehicles  

We thought it was 3 Years anyway 

The Taxi trade has taken a battering over the last two years due to the pandemic and enforcing this 

at this stage is another blow. Leave it to 5 years and then maybe rethink it again in 2025? 

Its pass m.o.t.so it can be used on road  

the best diesel emissions are from euro 6 vehicles they came out for the most part in 2015 and have 

not been improved on since , there is not a euro 7 for example,. 

As a small taxi company in a rural area we can not afford to up date all our vehicles at short notice it 

would cost £100k + .We have just got back to working again after covid many firms had to take loans 

to cover them selves even the Government bounce back loans need to be paid back and are not as 

Page 226

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



cheep as was told. In normal times I would replace a car every year but because of covid this did not 

happen. This will be an issue with many rural companies.   In any cars most diesel cars became ulez  

compliant after 2015 so the pollution issue does not mean we cant run 5 yr old vehicles... I think you 

just need to add the emissions test at mot and again at the 6 month check to confirm all is well. I 

personally would not wish to drive a £20k car in rural Devon lanes where the hedge touches both 

sides of the car at once grass in the centre of it and tractors flying around every bend yet that is 

what we do all the time . Of course the larger companies in Barnstaple will love this because it will 

get rid of competition companies will fail and close down or at least reduce the size of the fleet as i 

will have to that means people will no longer have a job without commuting adding more pollutants. 

The town taxi cartels will not take someone shopping or for an appointment if they live in Lee Bay of 

Woolhanger or the many other outlying areas that we the rural taxis cover and who suffers the 

customer the old and the vulnerable who need our services.    We do not have the infrastructure in 

place to go the green that the Government asks for Im sure I read somewhere that the council 

should put charge points on taxi ranks once electric cars are excepted as taxis are you going to do 

that we would not be able to work for 3 hrs without charging , how can we be expected to do that. 

to conclude Devon at the moment and the vehicles available do not make for good service to the 

people of Devon 

ANY DIESEL TAXI WILL MEET EURO 6, SO REDUCING THE MINIMUM AGE LIMIT TO THREE YEARS WILL 

MAKE NO IMPROVEMENT TO EMISSION QUALITY, BUT WILL INCREASE COSTS AT A TIME WHEN TAXI 

OWNERS ARE RECOVERING FROM A VERY LEAN PERIOD. 

As a medical professional, i believe this is putting a lot of pressure financially on people who are 

working over 60 hours a week to earn a living as many taxi companies do. You are targeting the one 

of the worst affected working force, who had to shut down all business during the pandemic and 

have not had chance to recover from this. Many are in debt due to the pandemic and your proposal 

will ensure they get into even more debt to buy new vehicles to come in line with your proposed 

policy. As a health care professional, i am concerned how this will affect the mental wellbeing, as 

well as physical (working all the hours god sends to pay for everything) wellbeing. 

 

Q3. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce an upper age limit for 

licenced vehicle renewal? 
Option Responses 

Maybe 9 

Yes 14 

No 28 

 

Page 227

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

Q4. Comments to question 3. 
24 comments were made. 

No, as long as a vehicle is in good condition and passes the mot and taxi inspection then that should 

be enough. 

I think even 10 years is far too long 

Many owners take great care and constantly keep their vehicles in high quality condition and this 

should be taken into consideration  

If the car is still in good condition and being serviced regularly what's the issue 

As same answer to q1 

Vehicle inspected are done very restrictively  every 6 months once vehicle becomes 5 Years old . If a 

vehicle manages to get to 10 years old then it has been very well looked after being approx 300,0000 

Miles on the clocks    

Again, grossly unfair when vehicles are kept in tip top condition, pass all tests etc why should they be 

refused. Seems like restriction of trade. Torridge, I believe have no age limits at all!  

I maintain my vehicles implicitly and they are older vehicles, why should I be penalised and 

discriminated against for choosing to look after my older vehicle. 

as covered in previous comments . 

Yes there are a lot of vehicles that are over the present age limit. They are inspected twice a year 

and have to pass emissions test at the time of an mot. With all the money and staff that has been 

lost during the pandemic and still not have recovered from this, and now with the price of fuel and 

energy prices rising all the time, it is not really the time to bring this in. I feel this would put a lot of 

taxi companies at the point  of closing. Maybe it could be put back for another year to give the taxi 

trade time to recover . 

This just seems to be picking on the poorest traders, if it passes the mot and taxi test it should be 

fine 

Upper limit yes but 11 years isn't old for a well-maintained car. 

Page 228

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



n/a 

More costs for companies, could lead to losing lots of companies that cannot afford to upgrade 

vehicles  

You make older vehicles have 2 tests a year 

We only use our Taxi`s as we were instructed to keep our DCC School contracts with 8 seats or less 

we had to get them Taxi plated 

The standard of vehicles nowadays is far superior then what they used to be! An upper age limit of 

15 would be suitable and stick with the Council Inspection which should be twice a year from 8 years 

old! 

I think it is fine the way it is 

It pass test who knows what is what 

Are you offering help to the companies who have older vehicles, I suspect not if they are looked 

after and serviced they can run as clean as a new car 

As before if this is brought in then some companies will not be able to afford the replacements and 

so its the customer who suffers again taking away the competition from the bigger companies so 

they can take it all but only what they wish to not the depths of Exmoor or other rural areas. If this is 

bought in it needs to be done slowly over a number of years to give companies a chance to carry on 

working. 

AFTER A VERY LEAN 2 YEARS NOW IS NOT THE TIME TO INTRODUCE THIS LIMIT 

In my profession as a community health care professional, i drive around the rural country lanes in 

my car and i would absolutely not want to drive round these roads in a brand new car as it causes 

body damage, under side damage and puts more wear and tear on the vehicle.  

Where’s the money going to come from for rual seasonal taxi drivers after not working for two years 

 

Q5. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce alternative vehicle standards 

for wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles? 
Option Responses 

Maybe  9 

Yes 14 

No 28 

 

Page 229

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

Q6. Comments to question 5. 

17 comments were made. 

see previous answer 

If the council want to put out grants to help us taxi drivers to upgrade our vehicles that should be 

considered  

This is without doubt a double standard that is pushing someone's agenda. It is not fair 

Why are these vehicles any different from any other taxi, just because they maybe adapted! 

all vehicles regardless of use should be treated the same  

and to increase the number of WAVs available as many wheelchair users struggle to find suitable 

transport options. 

Should be able to up to 10years, due to the price of these vehicles. Again seems to be an attack on 

the poorest traders 

Why not if the journeys are local. Wouldn't want to go far in one though. 

Agree with reason for accessibility not sure about why it would be applied to low emission? 

More costs for smaller independent companies and sole traders 

Although we do not have a Taxi with wheelchair access we do have a PCV Minibus with wheelchair 

access 

for zero emissions i think even more of a relative incentive would suit. 

I agree in principle but again I would say with the standard of these vehicles these days the twice 

yearly inspection should be extended to 10 years 

you ask about low emission cars but we do not have the charging capacity in the area, Devon on the 

whole is rural and very hilly you will know this a friend of mine has an electric car and because of the 

limited mileage has to be aware of % of usage she lives in Lee cross to travel from her home to 

Woolacombe and back she uses 12% of her charge a distance of 4 miles but means going up the hill 

Page 230

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



out of Woolacombe, she uses the same amount to Barnstaple and back 22 miles . Until a more 

suitable fuel package comes along when driving in north Devon Diesel is the most economic and 

efficient way to drive 

I have always said that all companies with multiple vehicles should have one wheelchair accessible 

car for every six or seven of the total fleet . We do not have the infrastructure for zero emission cars  

Q7 Do you agree with the proposal for the council to become members of the 

National Register and to review all applications for new licences against it? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 11 

Yes 34 

No 6 

 

 

 

Q8. Comments to question 7. 

10 comments were made. 

If as  a new driver you have nothing to hide then this will make no difference to a driver. 

Temporary suspensions should not be added unless a breach is proven  

Good idea in principle. 

Public safety 

Yes if this would show you drivers that have been refused a licence in other areas 

Page 231

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



You already do the highest checks you will be wasting more money. 

whatever keeps the public safe 

 

Q9. Do you agree with the proposed procedure for vehicle write-offs? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 15 

Yes 28 

No 8 

 

 

Q10. Comments to question 9 
9 comments were made. 

Depends on individual circumstances  

Any vehicle that is ( Written off  ) shouldn’t be licenced regardless of damage 

This seems reasonable  

A lot of write offs are unrecorded, can you guarantee a taxi won't be one? 

Insurance write offs are an industry scam. 

Do you mean the same reports as are now used for cat N and D if so thats fine but there are not 

many qualified people in the area to do them 

As long as they are checked by a registered vehicle engineer who specialises in this 

Page 232

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Q11. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce daily safety/ roadworthiness 

checks for Licenced vehicles? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 9 

Yes 27 

No 15 

 

 

Q12. Comments to question 11 
26 comments were made. 

It’s down to the Licenced driver to already perform these checks. way too much paperwork for the 

council and what's to say people won’t fabricate the answers anyway. Terrible idea. 

I am ambulance crew. We have to check our vehicles every day 

The licencing officers used to carry out spot checks on vehicles. This should be reinstated not passed 

to the vehicle owner. 

Each drivers should be doing these checks each day as part of their job  

We personally already implement this routine for defect notifications  

We do this anyway or at least I do, don’t see it being needed and really not environmentally friendly 

paper wise 

Contentious, professional owners / drivers will be ensuring vehicles are fit for purpose already. 

Those that don't... Still won't. But all of us will have an additional burden placed on our time. Not fair 

Coming from a HGV background I agree with this 

Page 233

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Why do we pay for an mot, why do why pay the additional taxi check list, this seems like another 

unnecessary check, why don't you just take over the taxi company and rent out your own cabs and 

do you own checks, it seems you want to run it like a council bus service  

Weekly OK, daily too excessive  

This should be common sense and understanding to keep log of any defects etc to be sorted  

Drivers should be doing this anyways, enforcement would cost more than its worth 

why not? 

Will the council be paying for the extra time for drivers to do these checks if hired only to do council 

school transport 

Should be doing this anyway  

We do this anyway as part of our PCV Operators licence 

excellent idea and welcome clarity for drivers. 

But only basics on a daily basis like tyres, oil, lights, windscreen wipers and wash. The operator 

should be keeping a closer eye on a weekly basis 

A driver should do this anyway  

As a driver these basic things should be done every day but what happens when a driver maybe 

swaps from one car to another or swaps drivers ,I think you could give a little trust to people who 

are professional drivers after all and do this for a living 

My fleet is checked daily any fault reported to me and action taken if there are vehicles on the road 

that should not be you should sort it out with those owners and drivers not give the rest of us more 

paperwork for something we already do 

DRIVER    S CARRY OUT THESE VEHICLE CHECKS & RECORDING THESE DETAILS IS TIME CONSUMING 

& NOT NECESSARY. AS I MAY BE DRIVING AS MANY AS 3 DIFFERENT VEHICLES IN A DAY THIS WOULD 

ALSO BE VERY TIME CONSUMING 

However, you'd expect this to already be happening by the drivers since they should be prioritising 

public safety, a document to prove this is only going to give people a bigger work load. It would also 

be very hard to enforce. 

All our cars are checked daily there’s no need to cause paperwork that has to be admined and stored  

That’s done on a daily basis anyway  

As long as regularly enforced by Licensing 

Q13. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce record keeping 

requirements for Hackney carriage proprietors? 
Option Responses 

Maybe 6 

Yes 27 

No 18 

Page 234

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

 

 

Q14. Comments to question 13. 
18 comments were made. 

You will lose drivers from too much paperwork and hoops to jump through. The independent drivers 

will mostly quit, because of low tariffs and small returns at the moment anyway. Only the Big 

companies will be left and that will reduce competition within North Devon. 

They need to be kept accountable 

I thought this would be normal practice  

Unnecessary  

What is the data protection implication of this by keeping data? This worries me! 

This would be as previously mentioned common sense to keep up to date with vehicle maintenance 

A responsible business should already do this 

Don't know why this hasn't happened already. 

n/a 

Just concerned that I drive taxi connection for Lynton school and connection from Brendon to to 

Filers bus for Ilfracombe.  I'm happy to do checks. But my taxi is kept with me and driven by me, 

although owned By Webbers. I think that item 1 on the list is over the top when I only use the bus on 

a split shift for 3hrs a day. the vehicle is very rarely used for any other purpose 

We do this but is not recorded all in one book, each of our vehicle has its own Vehicle maintenance 

book and we have another folder with all our driver details and then we have a duty folder that 

records all the vehicle and who is driving them have maintenance 

Page 235

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Great idea, safety is paramount, all drivers should be thoroughly checked and any sub contracted 

self-employed drivers within a taxi company should be assessed by council and taxi company 

directors 

At what cost to who 

I think owners of vehicles do this already all employees keep such records anyway as for vehicles 

after doing all this paperwork every day when can they get out and drive me to work again not 

needed where is the trust in people 

I do not think this is anywhere near reasonably necessary we can all give you receipts for work done 

but you are again trying to pass the buck to drivers and companies who work diligently more testing 

by yourselves would be more appropriate how are we to have time to work with all the paper work 

to fill in. Think about it driver fills his daily check form in,a tyre is getting near the 2mm mark he 

informs me he then uses another car and fills another form in I then check for myself fill in a form go 

to garage and replace tyre fill in a form go home and collate all this together half a day gone for a 

tyre makes no sense and where do we store all this paperwork can we send it to the council once a 

week or month  i fill a form i take it to garage g  

THIS LEVEL OF RECORD KEEPING WOULD CREATE VAST AMMOUNTS OF PAPERWORK & STORAGE & 

AGAIN WOULD BE VERY TIME CONSUMING  

More pressure on people that are already over -worked and under paid, stress levels are a concern 

and should be a priority of the council to ensure worker wellbeing. 

Cost to much time and admin and we are not storing paperwork when there’s no need for time 

consuming paperwork 

 

Q15. Do you agree with the above proposal to replace sun strips with “Private 

Hire Advance Booking Only” stickers? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 9 

Yes 26 

No 16 

 

Page 236

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

16. Comments to question 15. 
12 comments were made. 

This would make it impossible to flag down a taxi is you were - say- stuck waiting for a bus that 

wasn't coming. 

Additional stickers are not required in view  

As long as they to placed in the same position on all vehicles  

front sun-strips are already fit for purpose  

The strip is outdated  

n/a 

Only just used for Devon county council school runs  

can't see any point in removing strips that are already on there. but happy with the stickers if the 

council are providing them, but will the stickers say which company the vehicle belongs to? 

We only use out Taxis for School Contracts, we are not a Taxi Business who can ring up for a Taxi 

For Private Hire operators who already have the sun strips then they should be allowed to keep 

them because removal maybe at a cost? For operators like Driving Miss Daisy Barnstaple we already 

have our Daisy logos and information on the sides of our vehicles so this would be compromised! 

more added cost to council and damage to paint when removed easy to remove from glass 

adds more costs for the owner and may damage paintwork also people are used to seeing the screen 

strip and might make it easier for none badges drivers to pick up 

 

Page 237

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



17. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce record keeping requirements 

for private hire vehicle proprietors? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 5 

Yes 30 

No 16 

 

 

 

 

Q18. Comments to question 17 

10 comments were made. 

Why should they be exempt 

Unnecessary  

Same as Hackney no! 

n/a 

I'm only a driver so n/a to me 

Same comment as for Hackney Carriage proprietors applies 

Private hire maybe parked up three/four days so who fill this in 

I’m sure they do it already 

Page 238

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



for the same reasons 

Too much pressure on people already 

 

19. Do you agree with the proposal to make it a licence condition for drivers to 

attend an interview upon written request by the Licensing Authority? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 15 

Yes 22 

No 14 

 

 

Q20. Comments to question 19. 

16 Comments were made. 

Terrible idea, Can be done over the phone. Shocking idea, will a police officer be present?? How do 

drivers complain about passengers? 

I feel this would be open to abuse and would eventually cause drivers to leave the profession all 

together and would cause extra work- load to the already strained licensing authority. 

Depends who would be conducting these interviews 

Depending on the severity of complaint I would agree to certain degree as some complaint could 

even been seen as malicious themselves   

This could be used maliciously by competitors 

Page 239

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Depends on the severity but if a council can issue a licence it can take it away 

Depends on the severity and/or history. Waste of time if someone’s just having a whinge. 

as long as it is a valid compliant  

This would not apply to us as we are not a Taxi Business 

yes because this will help us to better understand and address complaints as well. 

At the earliest opportunity but maybe offer the option of three possible dates? 

Investigate pull the driver in after investigation. Some one can complain just too be spiteful to the 

driver 

an informal interview should take place first then you should say if its to go further and the driver 

can then take a solicitor to interview where you can then record the conversation under oath 

I think that to have a driver in and being able to record a statement should only be done by the 

police and a solicitor is present  if you wish to ask questions then do so if you wish to take it further 

then the driver should be allowed his civil rights and you may be falling short of the law 

Why would they need to? 

Video calls can be used for this purpose saving time and stress 

 

21. Do you agree with the proposals in relation to notification of vehicle 

transfer and changes of contact details? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 12 

Yes 36 

No 3 

 

Page 240

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

 

Q22. Comments on question 21 
10 comments were made. 

Surely this is a no brainer 

How is this different from now?  

I thought this was required any way  

Licencing office staff are already impossible to reach 

n/a 

I'm not a proprietor, so this question is n/a to myself 

This is also a great idea, especially if car being loaned out has been re-classed by DVLA 

Surely that’s already in place 

thought we already did this 

I would assume this already happens? 

 

Q23. Do you agree with the proposal for private hire operators to be required 

to inform customers where larger vehicles such as minibus will be used and 

the driver has a PSV licence? 
 

Option  Responses 

Maybe 10 

Page 241

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Yes 30 

No 11 

 

 

 

Q24. Comments on question 23. 

10 comments were made. 

can't understand the relevance. 

This just does not happen  

Reasonable  

All psv drivers should have dbs anyway  

maybe PSV drivers should also be required to have enhanced DBS checks if they carry passengers on 

any journey 

ALL our drivers ARE  DBS checked to the enhanced level SO THIS IS NOT TRUE 

These days the PSV checks should definitely include the DBS check and why don't they? 

DBS checks should always be carried out in all hackney carriage drivers 

why ...a notice in the vehicle would suffice 

why not just have a sticker on the bus 

 

Page 242

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Q25. Do you agree with the procedure put forward for dealing with executive 

hire exemptions (exemption from displaying a plate during executive/ chauffer 

work)? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 13 

Yes 20 

No 18 

 

 

 

Q26. Comments to question 25. 

9 Comments were made. 

should apply to both hackney and private hire or none at all. 

As long as they are working within the remits of there licence surely this is enough  

A plate should be displayed  

I believe all licensed vehicle should be badged as to show that they are a licensed vehicle  

i would propose that driver is required to carry with but not display , some clients prefer a covert 

source of travel  

Is there a legal definition of ' executive/ chauffer work'; all seems a bit pointless if not. 

N/A from me again 

Yes these signs are not attractive 

Page 243

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



no point if you have stickers all over the side of the vehicle anyway 

 

Q 27. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce technical specifications and 

system requirements for newly installed CCTV systems? 
 

Option Responses 

Maybe 10 

Yes 24 

No 17 

 

 

 

Q28. Comments to question 27. 

15 Comments were made. 

There have to be standards 

All well putting cctv in cars just remember whos paying 

CCTV systems are not compulsory and therefore should be up to the operator to decide which 

device to install , Dashcam systems also act as a good prevention of crime, restricting the 

requirements of these camara system could potentially cause people to stop using them  

The use of CCTV in a taxi may help drivers who are out in the early hours of the morning and help 

with their safety.  

As long as the spec isn't financially prohibitive  

Page 244

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



Subject to vehicles stating there is CCTV, how long records kept and not misused, 

More costs to companies after covid 

I drive a school taxi and I'm not the owner of the vehicle. CCTV good in one way, it can protect 

drivers as well as passengers 

Safety of drivers and passengers  

i think this costs a large amount but other businesses have to do it as well. it should be mandatory 

for all taxis and ph vehicles and all systems newly installed or not. this will help to professionalise the 

service in north devon and hopefully encourage better behaviour from passengers eventually. Too 

many decent people are put off driving a taxi because of the lack of support when passengers 

behave badly and dangerously, especially late at night. Taxi drivers should feel safe and respected at 

work. 

Picture clarity should be based on HD cameras with anti dazzle  

Cost to who and who can access this info 

councils who have insisted on this are helping with payment to owners with a subsidy  

when this came about several years age councils were giving grants fot cctv will you 

Dont agree with CCTV in vehicles that face customers, gone so long without them, we are in devon, 

generally quite safe and theyre costly. should be down to individual companies to decide, shouldnt 

be mandated. 

 

Q29. Do you agree that these technical specifications should only be applied 

to CCTV systems installed after 1st July 2022 as opposed to also applying to 

currently installed systems (thereby potentially requiring upgrade of existing 

systems)? 
Option Responses 

Maybe 9 

Yes 24 

No 18 

 

Page 245

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

Q30. Comments to questions 29. 

4 comments were made. 

Upgrades should be mandatory too. 

Cost  

if in then why would they not be good enough most are just for external not internal. I had 2 fitted 

now disconnected . customers did not like them on the rank we were often walked past to other 

cars because we showed the cctv signs on the cars, once removed no walk byes 

as above 

Q31. Do you agree that the technical specifications are sufficiently detailed 

and give appropriate guidance? 
Option Responses 

Maybe 21 

Yes 17 

No 13 

 

Page 246

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



 

Q32. Comments to question 31. 

9 comments were made. 

Test it 

These systems are not readily available.  And I think restricting the requirements of these cameras 

will put people off using them at all  

Doesn't go into any detail  

Drivers should also take drug and alcohol testing, records should be maintained. This should include 

Council or police randomly carrying out checks  

I can't see any tech specs to comment? 

I think clear and simple guidance as to the responsibilities of the driver as a data controller and the 

role and responsibilities of the police service should be made clear in the specification if possible. 

Who see this ? 

How can people answer this unless they are knowledgeable on the subject .Are you stating you will 

be introducing mandatory cctv  

Should not be made mandatory 

 

Page 247

Agenda Item 11
Appendix b



This page is intentionally left blank



Consultation summary – Revising North Devon Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private hire policy 

Consultation from 14th March until 9th May 2022. 

51 responses to electronic consultation, 1 response by email 

Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

North Devon Council is 
proposing to reduce the age 
limit for new licenced vehicles 
from 5 years currently, to 3 
years (or up to 4 years if the 
application is accompanied by 
a vehicle inspection report in-
line with the Vehicle Inspection 
Checklist). 
 
 
 
 

12 Yes 
31   No 
8  Maybe 

Requiring a newer (and therefore more 
expensive vehicle) would increase 
overheads on an already slim profit margin 
given the high insurance and day to day 
running costs. All taxi drivers would love to 
drive more modern and environmentally 
friendly vehicles but simply cannot afford 
them. 
 
Using an arbitrary age is grossly unfare. It 
does not take in to account any other 
factor, such as millage 
 
Specifications on vehicles in the last 5 
year ( excluding fully electric vehicles ) 
have very similar output of green house 
gases 
 
Older cars are just as clean if they're well-
maintained 
 
Any diesel taxi will meet Euro 6, so 
reducing the age limit to 3 years will make 
no improvement to emission quality, but 
will increase costs at a time when taxi 
owners are recovering from a very lean 
period. 

The consultation responses against the proposed 
reduction in the age limit for new licenced 
vehicles frequently reference the increased costs 
this policy measure would add to the taxi trade, 
and this is a valid concern given the rise in 
second hand car prices as the country recovers 
from Covid-19 (a shortage of new cars being 
manufactured has significantly inflated prices in 
the second-hand car market).  
 
Responses also reference the Euro Emission 
Standard, with the most recent standard Euro 6, 
coming into effect from late 2015. This means that 
any vehicle manufactured after that time will be 
compliant with the most recent emission standard 
and hence compliant with Low Emission Zones 
found in other parts of the country.  
 
Since the North Devon Council consultation was 
launched, the Department for Transport has also 
launched a national consultation on a new draft 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best 
Practise Guidance, which states the following: 
“The setting of an arbitrary age limit may be 
inappropriate and counterproductive and result in 
higher costs to the trade and ultimately 
passengers”, and “Licensing authorities should 
not impose age limits for the licensing of vehicles 

P
age 249

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

but should consider more targeted requirements 
to meet its policy objectives on  
emissions, safety rating and increasing 
wheelchair accessible provision”  
 
In Light of the consultation responses received 
and the comments in the draft Best Practise 
Guidance, it is therefore recommended that the 
policy with respect to new vehicles be amended 
to say “for all new vehicles plated for the first time 
by the Council (including existing proprietors on 
the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required 
to comply with the following condition(s): 
Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission 
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent) 
and be less than 5 years old”.   
 
The Euro 6 emission standard is the most recent 
emissions standards published to date, and their 
use would link to wider Council objectives around 
reducing emissions and protecting the 
environment. They would also broadly compare to 
the standard recently implemented at Torridge DC 
(locally benchmarked). 
 

Should the Council introduce 
an upper age limit for licenced 
vehicle renewal? 
 

14 Yes  
28 No 
9 maybe  

Many owners take great care and 
constantly keep their vehicles in high 
quality condition and this should be taken 
into consideration. 
 
Again, grossly unfair when vehicles are 
kept in tip top condition, pass all tests etc 
why should they be refused. Seems like 

 
The proposal to introduce an upper age limit for 
licenced vehicle renewal was linked to policy 
aspirations to ensure a reduction of emissions 
from the North Devon taxi and private hire fleet, 
and is linked to the wider corporate priority to 
“Cherish and protect our environment”.  
 

P
age 250

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

restriction of trade. Torridge, I believe 
have no age limits at all. 
 
Yes there are a lot of vehicles that are 
over the present (proposed) age limit. 
They are inspected twice a year and have 
to pass emissions test at the time of an 
mot. With all the money and staff that has 
been lost during the pandemic and still not 
have recovered from this, and now with 
the price of fuel and energy prices rising 
all the time, it is not really the time to bring 
this in. I feel this would put a lot of taxi 
companies at the point of closing. Maybe it 
could be put back for another year to give 
the taxi trade time to recover. 
 
Upper limit yes but 11 years isn't old for a 
well-maintained car. 
 
 

Most taxis and private hire vehicles in North 
Devon are diesel and those approaching 10 years 
old or older will likely comply with the Euro 5, or in 
a small number of cases the Euro 4 standard. 
Newer vehicles manufactured from late 2015 
onwards would comply with the current emission 
standard (Euro 6), which advocates significantly 
lower emissions than cars which comply with 
previous emission standards.  
 
Comments regarding older vehicles being well-
maintained are relevant with respect to reliability 
and safety, but do not address the need to reduce 
emissions. It is however acknowledged that there 
are very significant financial and supply issues 
with both car manufacturing and the second-hand 
car market at the present time, and the ongoing 
impact of Covid-19 and rising CPI inflation figures 
continue to impact the financial viability of the taxi 
and private hire trade. It is therefore 
recommended that in Light of the consultation 
responses received and the comments in the draft 
Best Practise Guidance stated above, that the 
draft policy with respect to vehicle renewal be 
amended to say “From 1st January 2026, upon 
application for vehicle licence renewal, proprietors 
will be required to comply with the following 
condition(s): 
Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission 
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent). 
 
 

P
age 251

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

It would also be open to the Licensing Committee 
to re-evaluate this implementation date again in 
future should the situation dictate this.  
 
 
 

3. An alternative vehicle 
standard is proposed in 
relation to Wheelchair 
accessible and ultra-low/ zero 
emission vehicles. The 
proposed vehicle standard 
aims to encourage the uptake 
of Wheelchair accessible and 
ultra-low/ zero emission 
vehicles 

Yes 14 
No 28 
Maybe 9 

All vehicles regardless of use should be 
treated the same 
 
Agree with reason for accessibility not 
sure about why it would be applied to low 
emission? 
 
I agree in principle but again I would say 
with the standard of these vehicles these 
days the twice yearly inspection should be 
extended to 10 years 
 
In North Devon there are definitely not 
enough wheel chair accessible vehicles 
however, low emission vehicles, i.e., 
electric vehicles, there are no means to 
charge electric cars in rural locations. Not 
only this but most taxi drivers are not rich 
people, they live in terrace houses or 
blocks of flats with no designated parking 
and no means to facilitate a charging 
point. 

There are currently a limited number of 
wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAVs) in North 
Devon, and anecdotally the Licensing team are 
aware of difficulties in booking these vehicles as 
demand for their services appears to outstrip the 
number of vehicles available. The draft Best 
Practise Guidance also states the following 
“Licensing authorities should consider ways to 
incentivise an increase in wheelchair accessible 
vehicle provision”. It would therefore seem a 
sensible and reasonable policy aspiration to aim 
to incentivise the uptake of WAVs.  
 
With respect to ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles, 
the Licensing Committee acknowledged the lack 
of charging infrastructure in North Devon, and 
wrote to the Secretary of State for Transport on 
7th March regarding this, and requesting that the 
Ultra-Low Emission Taxi Infrastructure scheme be 
prioritised for funding again, and that specific 
funding provision be earmarked for more rural 
local authority areas. 
 
Given that the draft Best Practise Guidance does 
not support the use of vehicle age limits, it is 
recommended that this proposal is amended to 
focus specifically on encouraging the uptake of 

P
age 252

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

WAVs (ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles would be 
licensable under proposal 1 above as they 
already exceed the Euro 6 emission standard). It 
is therefore proposed that for WAVs the policy be 
amended to say “for all new wheelchair 
accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the 
Council, proprietors will be required to comply 
with the following condition(s): 
Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 
emission standard or above (or recognised UK 
equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the 
Euro 4 emission standard or above (or recognised 
UK equivalent)”. As almost all wheelchair 
accessible vehicles are diesel, this provision 
would allow the plating of older vehicles than for 
standard taxi/ PHVs, and as such help to reduce 
the initial purchase costs (thereby incentivising 
their uptake, and acknowledging that WAVs tend 
to be more expensive to run on account of their 
frequent larger size). 
 

4 It is proposed that the 
Council become members of 
the National Register of 
Revocations and Refusals and 
review all applications for new 
licences against it 
 

Yes 34 
No 6 
Maybe 11 

If as a new driver you have nothing to hide 
then this will make no difference to a 
driver. 
 
Temporary suspensions should not be 
added unless a breach is proven. 
 
Good idea in principle. 
 
You already do the highest checks you will 
be wasting more money. 
 

There appears to be broad agreement in the 
merits of this proposal and as such it is 
recommended that it is implemented as proposed.  
 
Furthermore, since the consultation commenced 
a new piece of legislation has passed royal 
assent (the taxi and PHVs (Road Safety and 
Safeguarding) Act 2022), which mandates two 
main changes to taxi licensing from 31st May: 

- Firstly, that Licensing Authorities that have 
information about a taxi or PHV driver 
licensed by another authority that is 

P
age 253

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

 
 
 
 

relevant to safeguarding or road safety 
concerns in its area, must share that 
information with that authority. 

- Secondly, the act will require licensing 
authorities in England to input, into a 
central database, instances where the 
authority has refused, suspended, chosen 
not to renew or revoked a taxi 
or PHV driver’s licence. 

 
Guidance on the second aspect (the national 
database),has yet to be issued by central 
government, but it is expected that the existing 
National Register of Revocations and Refusals 
will be used for this purpose. 
 
In relation to the comment about suspensions, 
this is not part of the proposed changes, and the 
Authority would continue to follow best practise 
guidance and case-law in respect to these 
instances.  
 
With respect to current high-level checks, it is 
presumed that this relates to enhanced DBS 
checks. An enhanced DBS would identify prior 
criminal investigations and convictions, but not 
previous licence refusals, suspensions, or 
revocations (applicants currently sign a 
declaration covering this).  
 

5 It is proposed that the policy 
section on vehicle write off 
codes be amended and 

Yes 28 
No 8 
Maybe 15 

This seems reasonable 
 

There appears to be broad agreement in the 
merits of this proposal and as such it is 
recommended that it is implemented as proposed. 

P
age 254

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

expanded in-line with changes 
to vehicle write off codes made 
by the DVLA 
 
 

Do you mean the same reports as are now 
used for cat N and D if so thats fine but 
there are not many qualified people in the 
area to do them 

 
Whilst the category of write-off have been 
changed, the approach to this of using a 
registered vehicle engineer would remain the 
same.  
 

6 It is proposed to introduce a 
requirement for vehicle 
proprietors/ drivers to 
undertake basic daily checks 
on the safety/ roadworthiness 
of their licenced vehicle 
 

Yes 27 
No 15 
Maybe 9 

It’s down to the Licenced driver to already 
perform these checks. way too much 
paperwork for the council and what's to 
say people won’t fabricate the answers 
anyway. Terrible idea. 
 
The licencing officers used to carry out 
spot checks on vehicles. This should be 
reinstated not passed to the vehicle owner 
 
Each driver should be doing these checks 
each day as part of their job 
 
Weekly OK, daily too excessive 

The responses to this proposal tended to fall into 
two categories; those that felt this proposal was 
unnecessary or an unreasonable burden, and 
those who felt the idea was positive and/ or stated 
they already did this. Several other responses 
mentioned the need for enforcement of this if it is 
introduced.  
 
It is hoped that a requirement to undertake basic 
daily checks and record this on a weekly record 
sheet would lead to improvements in vehicle 
maintenance/ safety.  
 
Furthermore, it is felt that the requirement to 
record this on a daily basis would introduce a 
minimal admin burden as the main time taken 
would be in undertaking the basic checks, which it 
is expected most drivers would be doing anyway 
as part of their existing maintenance/ safety 
regime.  
 
It is therefore recommended that this is 
implemented as proposed. 
 
 

7 It is proposed to introduce 
certain record keeping 

Yes 27 
No 18 

You will lose drivers from too much 
paperwork and hoops to jump through. 

The responses to this proposal have been 
reviewed and it is considered that this 

P
age 255

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

requirements for Hackney 
carriage proprietors as a 
condition of licence 
(specifically records of who 
drives the vehicle, records of 
daily vehicle checks, and 
maintenance records). 
 

Maybe 6  
A responsible business should already do 
this. 
 
Cost too much time and admin and we are 
not storing paperwork when there’s no 
need for time consuming paperwork 

requirement would not place an unreasonable 
burden on Hackney carriage proprietors. Rather it 
is considered that such a requirement would have 
a benefit of enhancing vehicle safety, and would 
be of significant benefit when complaints are 
received as Licensing/ Police Officers will be able 
to establish the driver of the vehicle at the time of 
the complaint in a timelier manner. 
 
It is therefore recommended that this proposal is 
implemented as proposed. 

8 It is proposed that the 
requirement for private hire 
vehicles to have a sun strip 
saying “private Hire”, be 
replaced with door stickers to 
the same effect 

Yes 26 
No 16 
Maybe 9 

front sun strips are already fit for purpose 
 
The strip is outdated 
 
Can't see any point in removing strips that 
are already on there. but happy with the 
stickers if the council are providing them. 
 
more added cost to council and damage to 
paint when removed easy to remove from 
glass 

The requirement for Private Hire vehicles to have 
a sun strip saying “Private Hire” is outdated and 
not always applicable to all makes/ models of 
vehicle. 
 
Door stickers to the same effect are widely used 
in other authorities, and would have the 
advantage of being applicable to all makes/ 
models. The stickers would be provided by the 
Council at vehicle licensing/ renewal. Vehicle 
proprietors may wish to mount the stickers onto 
magnetic sheets to avoid direct application onto 
paintwork (the requirement would be to display 
these at all times whilst the vehicle is in use as a 
PHV). Vehicles which already have a sun strip 
would be permitted to either keep them in place or 
remove them as they wish.  
 
It is therefore recommended that this proposal is 
implemented as proposed. 

P
age 256

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

9 It is proposed to introduce 
record keeping requirements 
for private hire vehicle 
proprietors in parallel with that 
set out above for Hackney 
carriage proprietors on the 
basis that these records would 
have equal relevance to the 
private hire trade. 
 

Yes 30 
No 16 
Maybe 5 

Why should they be exempt 
 
Private hire maybe parked up three/four 
days so who fill this in 
 
 

There appears to be broad agreement in the 
merits of this proposal and as such it is 
recommended that it is implemented as proposed. 
 
The record keeping requirement would only apply 
on days when a vehicle is in use as a Hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle.  

10 It is proposed to introduce a 
requirement for licenced 
drivers to attend an interview 
with Licensing Officers where 
requested to do so in relation 
to a complaint received by the 
Council. 
 

Yes 22 
No 14 
Maybe 15 
 

Terrible Idea, Can be done over the 
phone. Shocking idea, will a police officer 
be present?? how do drivers complain 
about passengers? 
 
Depends on the severity and/or history. 
waste of time if someone’s just having a 
whinge 
 
At the earliest opportunity but maybe offer 
the option of three possible dates? 
 
I think that to have a driver in and being 
able to record a statement should only be 
done by the police and a solicitor is 
present  if you wish to ask questions then 
do so if you wish to take it further then the 
driver should be allowed his civil rights and 
you may be falling short of the law 

The main point of this proposal is it would compel 
a licence holder to engage with the Council in 
relation to a complaint investigation, whereas 
currently, some drivers ignore emails and calls 
from the licensing authority thereby delaying the 
investigation. A key part of investigating 
complaints received is hearing objectively both 
sides of the story, so it is essential we get the 
licence holders version of events at an early 
stage.  
 
The recording of complaint interviews in 
accordance with the requirements/ principles of 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
(PACE) Code B would formalise the evidence 
collection process, and it would be open to the 
driver to attend alongside a legal advisor as they 
would have notice of the interview date, and be 
able to have a copy of the interview record post 
interview. Drivers would not be under arrest and 
attendance would be voluntary, but failure to 
attend without a reasonable excuse may (if 
adopted), lead to referral to a Licensing Sub- 

P
age 257

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

Committee for consideration as a breach of 
licence condition.  
 
It is therefore recommended that it is 
implemented as proposed. 

11 Vehicle proprietors are 
required by law to notify the 
Licensing Authority when they 
transfer a vehicle to another 
individual. It is proposed to 
emphasise this within the 
policy via amended wording 
and to extend this provision to 
notification of address/ contact 
detail changes. 
 

Yes 36 
No 3 
Maybe 12 

Surely this is a no brainer 
 
I would assume this already happens? 

There appears to be broad agreement in the 
merits of this proposal and as such it is 
recommended that it is implemented as proposed. 
 
Proprietors/ licence holders would be encouraged 
to notify by emailing the Licensing Team inbox as 
this is monitored daily each weekday.  

12 It is proposed to introduce a 
requirement for private hire 
operators to inform customers 
where larger vehicles such as 
minibus will be used and that 
this may mean that the driver 
has a PSV licence and as such 
is subject to different checks 
than private hire drivers as 
they are not required to have 
an enhanced DBS check 
 

Yes 30 
No 11 
Maybe 10 

All PSV drivers should have DBS anyway 
 
These days the PSV checks should 
definitely include the DBS check and why 
don't they? 
 
Why not just have a sticker on the bus? 
 
 

There appears to be broad agreement in the 
merits of this proposal and as such it is 
recommended that it is implemented as proposed. 
 
As it stands PSV licence holders are not subject 
to an enhanced DBS check as part of their 
licensing process. Prior notification would enable 
the customer to be aware of this and potentially 
make alternative arrangements where they are 
unhappy about this.  

13 On occasion private hire 
vehicle proprietors may wish to 
request permission for the 
vehicle to be used for 
executive/ chauffer work 

Yes 20 
No 18 
Maybe 13 

Should apply to both hackney and private 
hire or none at all. 
 

Executive hire exemptions are fairly common 
requests and are dealt with in a similar way by 
most Licensing Authorities. The policy wording 
proposed here is similar to numerous other Devon 
Authorities. 

P
age 258

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

without having to display a 
licence. The proposed policy 
sets out the procedure and 
requirements for exemption 
requests. 
 

I believe all licensed vehicle should be 
badged to show that they are a licensed 
vehicle. 
 
I would propose that driver is required to 
carry with but not display, some clients 
prefer a covert source of travel 
 

 
The provision is usually only applicable to private 
hire vehicles on the basis that most authorities 
require Hackney carriage to have a roof light.  
 
This Policy specifically excludes vehicles being 
used for day-to-day private hire circuit work such 
as pubs, shopping and other similar journeys 
which must comply with the Act, and relevant 
private hire vehicle licence conditions at all times. 
 
In view of the public safety implications of 
vehicles working without signage each application 
will be considered on its individual merits and on 
its compliance with the Policy. 
 
It is therefore recommended that it is 
implemented as proposed. 

14. It is proposed that with 
effect from 1st July 2022, any 
newly installed CCTV systems 
should comply with the 
technical specifications and 
system requirements listed in 
Appendix S of the Policy. 
 

Yes 24 
No 17 
Maybe 10 

CCTV systems are not compulsory and 
therefore should be up to the operator to 
decide which device to install , Dashcam 
systems also act as a good prevention of 
crime, restricting the requirements of these 
camara system could potentially cause 
people to stop using them. 
 
I think this costs a large amount but other 
businesses have to do it as well. It should 
be mandatory for all taxis and PH vehicles 
and all systems newly installed or not. This 
will help to professionalise the service in 
North Devon and hopefully encourage 

As part of the recent review of the Taxi Policy in-
light of changes brought about by the Statutory 
Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards, North 
Devon Council considered whether CCTV should 
be made mandatory, but concluded that there 
was insufficient evidence to justify local 
circumstances requiring mandatory CCTV.  
 
As a result the installation of in-car CCTV remains 
a voluntary measure to be considered by each 
proprietor. 
 
Should a proprietor opt for CCTV installation the 
proposed standard would give clear technical 
specifications which would ensure any system 

P
age 259

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

better behaviour from passengers 
eventually. 
 
Councils who have insisted on this are 
helping with payment to owners with a 
subsidy 
 

installed is suitably secure and produces footage 
of good evidential value. CCTV systems which 
conform to the technical spec proposed are 
significantly more expensive than similar dash-
cam type products, but typically have a number of 
advantages over such products, including clearer 
footage and better performance in different light 
conditions, thereby providing footage of 
significantly better evidential value.  
 
It remains the case that only a small number of 
local authorities have made CCTV mandatory, 
and only a limited number have offered any form 
of grant funding to encourage uptake (typically 
where funding has been offered this has been via 
the Community Safety Partnership).  
 
It is therefore recommended that it is 
implemented as proposed. 

15. It is proposed that if 
adopted the CCTV technical 
standard should only be 
applicable to systems installed 
after 1st July 2022 
 

Yes 24 
No 18 
Maybe 9 

If in then why would they not be good 
enough most are just for external not 
internal. I had 2 fitted now disconnected . 
customers did not like them on the rank 
we were often walked past to other cars 
because we showed the CCTV signs on 
the cars, once removed no walk byes 

If the proposed technical standard was to be 
applicable to all currently installed CCTV systems 
then it is anticipated that the majority of existing 
systems would require upgrading, at significant 
cost to the proprietor.  
 
It is also anticipated that given CCTV is non-
mandatory in North Devon licenced vehicles, that 
in the above scenario some proprietors may opt 
to remove their current system instead of paying 
for upgrade, which Officers felt would be a 
retrograde step. 
 

P
age 260

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



Consultation Question 
 

Responses Additional Consultation Comments Officer Comments and recommendations 

It is therefore recommended that if the CCTV 
technical specification is approved, that this 
should only be applicable to systems installed 
after 1st October 2022.  

16. Respondents were asked if 
they felt the technical 
specifications are sufficiently 
detailed and give appropriate 
guidance 
 

Yes 17 
No 13 
Maybe 21 

These systems are not readily available.  
And I think restricting the requirements of 
these cameras will put people off using 
them at all. 
 
I think clear and simple guidance as to the 
responsibilities of the driver as a data 
controller and the role and responsibilities 
of the police service should be made clear 
in the specification if possible. 
 

Systems which conform to the proposed 
specification are available, but they are expensive 
(£300 +), and generally require installation by an 
automotive engineer/ electrician. The inclusion of 
such technical specifications may therefore put 
proprietors off installing a CCTV system, but this 
is balanced against the systems that are fitted 
being secure and of good evidential value 
(something which is not always the case with 
dashcam type systems). 
 
A link to the Information Commissioner website 
which includes guidance on the responsibilities for 
Data Controllers can be inserted within Appendix 
A of the policy (point 16.2 Appendix A: Vehicle 
Conditions). 

    

 

P
age 261

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix c



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

North Devon Council 

Report Date:12th September 2022 

Topic: Bicclescombe Nursery Site 

Report by: Helen Bond Property Manager 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. North Devon Council have owned this site for a number of years, it has now 

been unoccupied since 2005 and efforts to dispose of the site on the open 

market since 2007 have not been successful. 

1.2. The last report to S & R Committee was in January 2021, when the site had 

exchanged contracts to a local developer, this transaction failed to complete 

and the purchaser withdrew from the acquisition process. 

1.3. In September 2021, the Property Manager made a funding application to the 

Brownfield Land Release Fund for monies to potentially develop the site for 

Self and Custom Build Housing.  This bid was successful and NDC were 

awarded £500,000.00 for infrastructure works to open the site up and dispose 

of individual sites for the purpose of self and custom build,  The key date 

being September 2023,  but the infrastructure works need to be instigated by 

March 2023 and the funding budget committed at this point.   

1.4. The release of this site creates the potential to facilitate a social housing 

project for the town. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Bicclescombe Nursery Site is passed by disposal of the freehold to the 

Ilfracombe CLT and the CLT in partnership with the chosen Registered 

Housing Provider for the development of Custom Build Social Housing in 

association with Middlemarch as facilitator. With the CLT actively leading the 

project to enable community development. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. To provide potentially 17 units of social housing for Ilfracombe. 

3.2. To enable the scheme to be developed, the funding obtained by the BLRF to 

be invested in the property and the outputs of the funding achieved in the 

defined timescales 

3.3. To achieve a capital receipt with mitigated risk to NDC 

3.4. To support the local community with a much needed social housing project 

4. REPORT 

4.1. The Funding Application for the BLRF was undertaken at pace to meet the 

relevant deadlines.  Initially it was intended that should funding be granted the 

Property Team would seek to employ the funding to resolve some of the 

Page 263

Agenda Item 12



 

 

infrastructure issues with the subject site and then release sites for self and 

custom build at a rate below normal market value. 

4.2. On this basis, we would have been looking to sell the sites for up to 15 units for a 

price in the region of £30k to 50k per plot, which could total up to £450,000.00 to 

£750,000.00. NDC has over 133 parties on its self and custom build register (10 

indicating that Ilfracombe is their 1st to 3rd choice) and there is a distinct lack of 

these opportunities in the District 

 

4.3. At this stage whilst we have the BLRF funding of £500,000.00, this is not 

anticipated to be sufficient to resolve all of the infrastructure issues with this site, 

and funding generated from the disposal of site would need to be employed to 

deliver all of the plots, thereby substantially reducing the net capital return on 

market sales and presenting a delivery and financial risk to NDC. 

 

4.4. It is well known that there is a housing crisis in North Devon. Ilfracombe has the 

added complications of having: 

- High numbers of second homes and holiday lets  
- Low levels of affordable housing stock  
- Zero new affordable homes since 2006/2007.  
- Viability issue on the town’s allocated strategic extension site resulting in just 

10% of affordable housing.  
- Poor housing quality within the small amount of remaining private rented 

sector properties 
-  

4.5 The Affordable Housing Team confirm that, Ilfracombe have been supported by 

NDC via Middlemarch since 2019/2020 working on involving the community as 

well as on site searches but with limited options available. This year they were 

legally established as Ilfracombe CLT. “Custom-build” can still be achieved 

through the community-led affordable housing model and in addition 

Middlemarch’s preferred Registered Housing Provider (RP), ‘Aster’ can attract 

high levels of external capital grant funding.  

 

4.6The Planning and Property Teams are mindful that this is effectively a gated 

community site and that tenure moving forward needs to be blended to create the 

best environment in order to make the scheme a long term success. 

 

4.7Middlemarch are confident that a custom build scheme for 100% social rent 

would work with this scheme. A project consisting of 100% social rented homes 

for local people would be preferable to including shared ownership.  It is the RP 

view that it is much more difficult to involve potential purchasers in the 

design/customisation of homes than it is to involve potential customers of the 

rented homes, particularly with the current mortgage market making it difficult to 

hold on to a mortgage offer for a long period. .It would also be unfortunate to lose 

one or more of the shared ownership homes over time if and when purchasers 

Page 264

Agenda Item 12



 

 

were able to staircase to full ownership of their properties and potentially then sell 

them on the open market. 

 

4.8NDC engaged with Specialist Regeneration Developers, Igloo Regeneration in 

order to access advice on how to take this project forward.  Self and Custom 

Build is a specialist type of development and not straightforward to deliver.  

Igloo’s input has been necessary to move the project forward in line with the tight 

timescales involved – delivery of the first site to the market by September 2023 

and spend of the £500,000 grant awarded. 

 

4.9 Igloo’s option report has been submitted in draft but the Roadmap is still open for 

discussion. 

4.10The Co-Creation workshop; hosted by Igloo, was well supported in terms of local 

interest and a strong interest was demonstrated by the Fledging Ilfracombe 

Community Land Trust.  Officers involved in the project will work together to 

produce a framework for the type and tenures of the property and present this to 

members.  This detail will follow in a further Hi-Light Report and take into account 

Affordable Home delivery and the CLT’s interest, as well as delivery viability. 

4.11As a priority, the Property Manager has commissioned local architects to 

commence preparing a Hybrid Planning Application on outline terms but with 

detailed provisions for the site infrastructure.  This scheme is being revised to 

accommodate the needs of Middlemarch and the CLT.  This process has 

demonstrated how challenging the topography of the site is in terms of the 

substantial change in levels.  The transfer of the site to the CLT as one delivery 

provider means that the outputs of the fund are more deliverable than individual 

sites being sold off and the delivery and financial risk to NDC are mitigated. 

4.12 By starting the process, it enables the application to be processed and the 

infrastructure works to commence in line with the funding timeline to enable 

project delivery. 

4.13The current scheme being developed looks to achieve 15 units with the addition 

of 2 units in the existing building, subject to arboriculture and ecological 

requirements. The homes would all be to the Nationally Described Space 

Standard.  

4.14We have considered the potential to retain the existing building for either NDC 

retention or for a separate market sale.  The location of this building would make 

its separation from the main site a barrier and create further difficulty to the main 

schemes development.  Its retention also presents a risk to NDC in terms of its 

delivery, this risk would be discharged if the building is passed to the partnership 

of Ilfracombe CLT and Aster and would generate a further capital receipt.   

Page 265

Agenda Item 12



 

 

4.15This building could be considered by the CLT as a community building, but this 

is likely to prove difficult from a viability and sustainability perspective, we 

therefore recommend it is included as two further social housing units to 

maximise the outputs of the project. It would be the intention of NDC officers, that 

the CLT retains the freehold in perpetuity, helping to ensure good long-term 

management by Aster under a long-term lease.  

4.16This should include ensuring a workable relationship with the sites future tenants 

to enable community development to be established.  There will need to be 

careful ongoing consideration of the nature of tenure offered at the site to ensure 

sustainability in the future. 

4.17The disposal of the site to the CLT will satisfy the outputs of the BLRF and the 

outputs for the funding requirements should be satisfied on the completion of the 

sale to the partnership of Ilfracombe CLT and Aster.  This mitigates the risk to 

NDC in achieving the required outputs. 

 

4.18The sale will generate a capital receipt based on the Housing Providers 

exception site plot rates of up to £12,000.00 per plot, potentially up to 

£204,000.00 where a pair of flats could count as one plot. The price would only 

be lower than this if advised by formal valuation once the infrastructure works 

are complete. Subject to the Council having sufficient Community Housing 

Fund grant, the team can be funded and appointed by ICLT. The RP would 

bring its own Employer’s Agent to provide advice on costs, tendering and 

management of the build contract. Middlemarch provides technical advice to 

CLT/RP partnerships for the first year from legal set-up from North Devon 

Council’s Community Housing Fund allocation (Ilfracombe has a firm place on 

this programme) and recovers its costs thereafter through Collaboration 

Agreements with RPs. The affordable housing team have been working with 

Aster on the CLT scheme at Mortehoe and Woolacombe CLT scheme as the 

selected Registered Provider who will be bringing nearly £3m of funding from 

their own monies as well as the Homes England Affordable Homes Programme 

into North Devon. Aster have expressed a firm interest in Ilfracombe as well, as 

the report mentions. The benefit of this is that Aster also have to spend their 

funding and deliver to tight timescales and it will be in their interest to work to 

our deadline, mitigating NDC costs going forward, to create what we hope will 

be an exemplar scheme for the town and NDC. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. Financial – securing planning permission.  The further financial implications 

surrounding the potential capital return to the Council are set out in section 4 

of this report. 

5.2. Project Management – implementing infrastructure works 

Page 266

Agenda Item 12



 

 

5.3. Legal – Facilitating legal transfer of site 

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a 

result of this report.  If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment 

(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and 

Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk. 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist 

(EAC) form available on Insite.  If there are no environmental implications 

arising from your proposals please state that there are none.  If after 

completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please 

provide a brief summary.  If you require any further information please 

contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer.  Email completed 

EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk  

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:  We will use our assets, skills and 

infrastructure to shape and improve public services and enable economic 

growth in the District. 

8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or:  Provision of social housing 

8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development:  regeneration of a stagnant 

site 

 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 

9.2. Referred or delegated power? 

 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 

the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of 

the report. 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 

Councillors and Officers: Jaimie Jeyes – Service Lead – Housing Market Balance 

Page 267

Agenda Item 12

mailto:equality@northdevon.gov.uk
mailto:donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: Strategy & Resources November 2022 

Topic: BRINGING THE THREE WEEKLY COLLECTIONS TRIAL TO AN END 

Report by: Paul Burton 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. In 2017, North Devon Council (NDC) selected 3,500 properties (App 1) to 

take part in a 3 weekly trial. These properties in and around Barnstaple have 

their black bins collected every 3 weeks and their (unlimited) recycling 

collected weekly. The trial aimed to reduce black refuse and increase 

recycling.  

1.2. The trial has now run for 5 years and although there is some evidence that it 

has resulted in increased recycling rates in some parts of the trial area, at 

least initially, it is not conclusive.  

1.3. NDC is currently experiencing difficulties in maintaining an efficient and 

effective recycling service across the district due to resource issues and is 

not yet in a position to roll out three weekly collections across the district. If 

the trial were brought to a close and NDC reverted to fortnightly black bin 

collections across the district, crews and drivers can be reallocated to 

recycling rounds.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. This report recommends the three weekly trial is brought to a close and black 

bin collections return to fortnightly, in line with the rest of the district. 

2.2.  Drivers, crews and vehicles from the trial area rounds are to be redeployed 

on recycling rounds.      

2.3. NDC revisits the idea of three weekly black bin collections across the whole 

district when recycling rounds are fully resourced, operating satisfactorily and 

the infrastructure is in place to deal with the material. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. The trial area has continued for 5 years with no agreed end date to the trial.  

3.2. NDC is currently experiencing difficulties in maintaining a satisfactory 

recycling service due to resource shortages, particularly drivers and loaders. 

Ending the trial and reallocating existing crews more efficiently will help to 

resolve the recycling round operational issues. 

3.3. We are aware of the positives and negatives from the trial area so there is no 

real advantage in continuing the trial any longer with no confirmed end date. 

We are not yet in a position at this time to roll out three weekly bin collections 

Page 269

Agenda Item 13



 

 

across the whole district, but will review this again when we have the 

necessary infrastructure in place and when resourcing issues allow.  

4. REPORT 

4.1. The 3 weekly trail showed that initially refuse reduced while recycling rates 

increased in the trial area (App 2). During this initial period, 5 temporary 

recycling advisors were employed by NDC to work in the trial areas, to 

educate and assist residents with recycling and help them reduce black bin 

waste. There is now only 1 Recycling Advisor employed by NDC and we 

have seen black bin waste increasing again as a result. 

 

4.2. During the trial period, tonnages for residual black bin waste have increased 

(App 2) whilst recycling tonnages have decreased. This may be due to the 

fact residents are permitted to leave black side waste out and the fact that 

trial has continued for so long. 

 

4.3.  At present, NDC experiences difficulties in operating an effective and reliable 

recycling and waste service across the district, particularly during busy 

holiday periods. This is due to a combination of driver shortages, increasing 

volumes of recycling and larger rounds due to the construction of new 

homes. The trial rounds require 2 x HGV Drivers, 3 x Loaders and 1 van 

driver at various times over the 5 day week. Extra resources need to be 

found every 3 weeks for the trial area, this being 1 x bin lorry with 3 staff (for 

5 days), 1 x small bin lorry with 2 staff (for 1 day), 1 transit with 1 staff (for 1 

day).  Operationally this causes difficulties for Supervisors, who need to plan 

their requirements based on the same numeric requirements each week. 

 

4.4. To ease the problems with recycling rounds noted at point 4.5, it seems 

sensible to end the three weekly trial and reorganise crews to bolster the 

recycling rounds and bring consistency to the black rounds across the whole 

district.  

 

4.5. Residents in the Trial area often complain about equality, in that they 

perceive that they are receiving a different black bin service to the rest of the 

district.  

 

4.6. Currently, NDC are scoping a project to improve the layout of the yard and 

process hall and bring in new recycling balers at Brynsworthy Environment 

Centre. This will allow us to recycle material more efficiently and potentially 

increase income for the sale of recycled materials. This project is dependent 

on the requested capital funds being approved by NDC members but it is 

Page 270

Agenda Item 13



 

 

unlikely that our current facility will be able to handle increased amounts of 

recycling materials and so carrying out an upgrade is an essential element of 

planning for increased recycling.  

 

4.7. By stopping the trial now, we are not dismissing the idea of returning to a 3 

weekly collection in the future once the necessary infrastructure is in place, 

but we can also explore other options for increasing recycling rates by 

learning from other councils that have been able to do this whilst still 

maintaining a 2 weekly collection routine.  

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1.  BY accepting the recommendations above, this would release the resources 

required to help resolve the operational issues highlighted in section 4. 

 

5.2. Refuse rounds will need to be reset to a fortnightly schedule. This is a 

reasonably simple process with very minimal collection day changes for 

some customers. This can be done in house within a day or two. 

  

5.3.  A communications exercise will be needed to inform residents in the trial 

area they will be returning to fortnightly black bin collections and to explain 

the reasons for doing so. 

 

5.4. If the recommendations are rejected, then the rounds will remain as they are, 

there is a risk of reputational damage for prolonging a trial for so long with no 

obvious end in sight. There is also a likelihood that the above highlighted 

inefficiencies will have a cost impact on the current revenue budgets if we 

continue to deliver an inconsistent recycling service. 

 

6. EQUALITY ASSESSMENT 

6.1. By bringing the 3 weekly trial to a close, we restore equality to the district, 

with every one receiving a fortnightly collections (apart from those flats that 

are on a weekly collection). 

 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. An EIA has been completed (enc) which highlights a saving approximately 

100 tCO2e per annum, by cancelling the trial round. 

Page 271

Agenda Item 13



 

 

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

 

The commercialisation agenda – Positive impact due to better use of 

available resources.  

Improving customer focus – Positive impact for customers in trial area 

who feel they are receiving a different black bin service to the wider district. 

Improved recycling service with less missed collections. 

Regeneration or economic development – Positive impact, less 

uncollected recycling on the streets. 

Environment – Positive impact through more efficient recycling. Possible 

negative reaction to the message we are not rolling out three weekly 

collections across the district. We need to be mindful of this and keep the 

public informed of the commitment we have to achieving the 63% recycling 

target for recycling rates by 2035. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 272

Agenda Item 13



 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 

Recycling trial area  

Since 5 June 2017 we have been trialling: 

 weekly unlimited recycling collection 
 three weekly black bin/bag collection 
 Households in this area can request unlimited recycling boxes, green bags 

and brown bags 
The trial area covers the following areas: 

 Challacombe 
 Bratton Fleming 
 Part of Brayford 
 Arlington 
 Shirwell 
 Landkey 
 Whiddon Valley 
 Forches 
 Snapper 
 Stoke Rivers 
 Chelfham 

The trial area is shown below: 

 

 

Page 273

Agenda Item 13



 

 

 

Appendix 2 

Black bin tonnages in Trial area 

2016/17 Pre-trial 1625  

2017/18  874 

2018/19 963 

2019/20 1152 

2020/21 1335 

2021/22 1121 

This is an increase of 28%  

 

 

 

Recycling 
Tonnages in Trial 
Area Year 

Average weekly 
Trial tonnage 

Pre trial 9.23 

2017 (Nov) 17.54 

2021 (Nov) 11.49 

 

NDC Recycling Rate since 2017 

2017/18 45.5% 

2018/19 45.6% 

2019/20 49.5% 

2020/21 49.4% 

 

 

 

Page 274

Agenda Item 13



 

 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 7 NOVEMBER 2022 

Topic: COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 

Report by: REVENUES AND BENEFITS MANAGER 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1.  In April 2013, as part of the national welfare reform, the government 

changed the way financial support for Council Tax was managed. This meant 

that the national Council Tax Benefit system, which helped people with low 

incomes meet their Council Tax obligations, was replaced by new Council 

Tax Reduction schemes designed, administered and managed by Local 

Authorities. 

1.2. This change did not affect pension age claimants whose scheme is 

prescribed by central government. 

1.3. Each year we have to review our scheme. The Devon Revenues and 

Benefits Officers Group work together in reviewing schemes across the 

county. 

1.4. Pensioners, subject to their income, can receive up to 100 per cent support 

towards their Council Tax. 

1.5. Since 2013, the majority of authorities have required all working age 

applicants to pay a minimum payment. In North Devon our working age 

applicants pay at least 20 per cent of their charge.  

1.6. Working age applicants in the Teignbridge District Council area can still 

receive 100 per cent support towards their Council Tax. As with many 

Councils nationwide, other Devon Councils are now considering increasing 

support to 100 per cent for those households on the lowest of incomes.  The 

proposal for 2023-2024 is that we at North Devon increase ours. 

1.7. Additionally we are also proposing to disregard emergency increases in 

national welfare benefits and certain crisis payments paid to taxpayers. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

That Strategy and Resources; 

2.1. Recommends to Council that it adopts the Council Tax Reduction scheme 

(Appendix A) which has been changed to increase support, as detailed in 

the report, to the households on the lowest of incomes. 

Page 275

Agenda Item 14



 

 

2.2. Recommends to Council that the scheme is also amended to include 

disregards for any emergency increases in national welfare benefits and 

certain crisis payments made to taxpayers (Local Welfare Provision). 

 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

3.1. To ensure that the Council adheres to the legislative requirement to provide a 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023-24. 

3.2. That by adopting the proposed changes to the scheme, the Council helps 

households on low income at this time of financial hardship. 

4. REPORT 

 

4.1. The current prescribed scheme protects pension age customers with up to 

100 percent support. Since its introduction in 2013, our scheme for working 

age customers requires everyone to pay at least 20 percent towards their 

Council Tax liability. Prior to 2013, Council Tax Benefit provided up to 100 

percent support for working age applicants on low incomes. 

4.2. Many of our low-income taxpayers have struggled to pay the minimum 20 

percent contribution. This leads to additional costs being added to the 

balance on their Council Tax bill, court and enforcement action and, in many 

cases, the amounts demanded are eventually written off as they are deemed 

uncollectable. The cost of administering these cases has increased 

significantly over the last few years and are borne solely by the Council. With 

the difficulties experienced in recovery, the relatively low level of payment by 

the customer and the high administration costs incurred, it no longer makes 

the amounts economically viable to collect. Notwithstanding the negative 

effects to those poorest households. 

 

      4.3 Therefore we are proposing the following changes to the current working age    

Council Tax Reduction scheme; 

Proposal 1 

To increase the maximum Council Tax Reduction that a customer can receive 
from 80 percent to 100 percent of their Council Tax liability. 

At present the maximum reduction a customer can receive is 80 percent of 
their Council Tax liability. We have seen a significant increase in Council Tax 
arrears for low income households. Because of the current financial situation, 
our lowest income households are finding it increasingly difficult to pay their 
current 20 percent contribution. 

Page 276

Agenda Item 14



 

 

The benefits of this proposal are; 

 Our lowest income households could have their full Council Tax liability 
covered by their Council Tax Reduction entitlement. 

 As all discount bands would have to change in line with this increase, 
customers in other discount bands would also receive more Council Tax 
Reduction.  

 Savings in Council Tax recovery costs and improved efficiency of staff 
resource. 

The drawbacks of this proposal are; 

 An increase in the cost of the scheme (NDC’s share is 10%), although this 

is offset in part by reduced collection costs. 

 

The proposed new discount bands will be as in the grid below (the income 
amounts will be uprated in line with Government benefit increases which will be 
announced later in the year); 
 

Page 277

Agenda Item 14



 

 

  Discount 
Single 

person 
Couple 

Single with 

child/children 

Couple with 

child/children 

Band 1 
100 

percent 

£0 to 

£78.00 

£0 to 

£122.00 
£0 to £ 148.00 £0 to £192.00 

Band 2 
80 

percent 

£78.01 

to 

£111.00 

£122.01 

to 

£155.00 

£148.01 to 

£181.00 

£192.01 to 

£225.00 

Band 3 
60 

percent 

£111.01 

to 

£144.00 

£155.01 

to 

£188.00 

£188.01 to 

£214.00 

£225.01 to 

£258.00 

Band 4 
40 

percent 

£144.01 

to 

£177.00 

£188.01 

to 

£221.00 

£214.01 to 

£247.00 

£258.01 to 

£291.00 

Band 5 
20 

percent 

£177.01 

to 

£210.00 

£221.01 

to 

£254.00 

£247.01 to 

£280.00 

£291.01 to 

£324.00 

No 

discount 
0 percent 

£210.01 

and 

above 

£254.01 

and 

above 

£280.01 and 

above 

£324.01 and 

above 

 

Proposal 2  
 
To disregard emergency increases in national welfare benefits.  
 
Where the Government makes emergency increases to national welfare 
benefits, the scheme will give the Council the discretion to disregard those 
increases if they would have a negative effect on Council Tax Reduction 
awards. 
 
The benefits of this proposal are; 

 

Page 278

Agenda Item 14



 

 

 The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the 
scheme. 

 

 It will ensure that the receipt of these payments will not have an adverse 
effect by reducing any award of Council Tax Reduction. 

The drawbacks of this proposal are; 

 There are no drawbacks to this change as it will maintain the level of 
Council Tax Reduction awards. 

Proposal 3  
 
The scheme will disregard certain crisis payments paid to taxpayers (Local 
Welfare Provision)  

During difficult times and when there is a crisis, the Government makes 
payments to assist households. This change will allow the Council to 
disregard such payments so that it will not have an adverse effect on Council 
Tax Reduction awards. 
 

The benefits of this proposal are; 

 The change is simple and administratively easy to incorporate within the 
scheme. 

 It will ensure that the receipt of these payments will not have an adverse 
effect by reducing any award of Council Tax Reduction 

The drawbacks of this proposal are; 

 There are no drawbacks to this proposal as it will maintain the level of 
Council Tax Reduction awards. 

 

4.4 The Council undertook a comprehensive consultation on the proposals             

during the period 7 September 2022 – 19 October 2022. This consultation was 

promoted in the following ways;  

 Press release in local newspaper 

 North Devon Council website 

 Social Media (Facebook and Twitter) 
 

4.5 A total of 96 responses to the consultation were received. The results are shown, 

in full, in Appendix B. The majority of responses received were in favour of the 

proposed changes.  

4.6 Precepting Authorities and the local Citizens Advice were also consulted and 
their responses, where received, are shown in Appendix C (Fire service) and 
Appendix D (Devon County Council).  

Page 279

Agenda Item 14



 

 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. An increase in the cost of the scheme, although this is offset in part by 

reduced cost of resource in the collection of unpaid Council Tax 

5.2. Prior to 2013/14 the Council Tax Benefit Scheme cost the public purse in the 

region of £7.50m. 

5.3. The first year of the CTR Scheme was originally forecast to cost £6.57m.  

The schemes have so far cost -: 

 

Year 1   (2013/14) the scheme cost £6.26m 

Year 2   (2014/15) the scheme cost £5.95m 

Year 3   (2015/16) the scheme cost £5.69m 

Year 4   (2016/17) the scheme cost £5.59m 

Year 5   (2017/18) the scheme cost £5.45m 

Year 6   (2018/19) the scheme cost £5.50m 

Year 7   (2019/20) the scheme cost £5.60m 

Year 8   (2020/21) the scheme cost £7.2m (of which £0.66m was the               

              Covid 19 CTR Hardship Fund 

Year 9   (2021/22) the scheme cost £6.8 (of which £0.054m is Covid 19 CTR  

              Hardship Fund 

Year 10 (2022/23) has a current forecasted cost of £6.7m. Modelling on the 

above proposals shows a potential increase of £841,500 (North Devon 

Council’s share is 9.14 percent).  

 

5.4. The Council Tax collection rate currently budgeted for in North Devon is 97 

percent. It used to be higher but then when we adopted the Council Tax 

Reduction scheme in 2013, collection rates overall started to fall. This is 

because collecting the 20 percent Council Tax from the poorest families was 

a challenge. These debts are stacking up considerably and proving to be very 

difficult to collect. 

The impact from this within the current collection fund is an ever growing debt 

in this area, together with increased bad debt provision – so this is a growing 

cost within the collection fund. 

These proposals would enable us to free up resource to concentrate on 

increasing the tax base and recovering collectable debt.  

  

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a 

result of this report.  If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 280

Agenda Item 14



 

 

(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and 

Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk. 

6.2. No equality implications have been identified. 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist 

(EAC) form available on Insite.  If there are no environmental implications 

arising from your proposals please state that there are none.  If after 

completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please 

provide a brief summary.  If you require any further information please 

contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer.  Email completed 

EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk 

7.2. There are no environmental implications arising from the proposals in this 

report. 

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:   

8.1.2. Improving customer focus – the proposed changes to our CTR scheme   

will help the most financially disadvantaged households in the North   

Devon Council area.  

8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development 

 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: Article 4.4 

9.2. Referred or delegated power? Referred 

 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 

the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author 

of the report). 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 

Councillors and Officers: Julie Dark – Revenues and Benefits Manager 

 

Page 281

Agenda Item 14

mailto:equality@northdevon.gov.uk
mailto:donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk


 

 

 

Page 282

Agenda Item 14



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
     

        
  

North Devon District Council 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme Policy 

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 1 Page 283

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

    

          

      

        

          

     

                
       

      

       

        
    

        
     

        

         

         
   

          

     

     

         

         

         

       

     

          

      

         

       

         

           

     

      

      

     

     

     

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme.....................................................................6 

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this policy........................................12 

3.0 Definition of non-dependant .....................................................................................................20 

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number.............................................................20 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit ....................................21 

6.0 Not used .....................................................................................................................................21 

7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control.....21 
Persons subject to immigration control.......................................................................................23 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) ...................................................................................24 

9.0 Membership of a family .............................................................................................................30 

10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 
or young person. ........................................................................................................................30 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 
of the household ........................................................................................................................31 

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4.......................................................................................................32 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council Tax Support purposes .........................................32 

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage .....................................................................................................................................33 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 34 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis....................................................................................34 

18.0 Not used .....................................................................................................................................35 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners .........................................................................35 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners ..................................................................35 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings.............................................................................35 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits ............................................................36 

23.0 Calculation of weekly income ....................................................................................................36 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc...........................................................................36 

25.0 Earnings of employed earners....................................................................................................37 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners ......................................................................37 

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners.............................................................................................38 

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners ....................................................................39 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners ..................................................41 

29A.0 Minimum Income Floor..............................................................................................................41 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings ................................................................................42 

31.0 Capital treated as income ..........................................................................................................44 

32.0 Notional income.........................................................................................................................44 

33.0 Capital limit ................................................................................................................................48 

34.0 Calculation of capital..................................................................................................................48 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 2 Page 284

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

         

    

      

      

     

       

     

     

      

      

            

      

       

        

        

        

       

       

         

      

      

    

        

      

     

     

        

      

         

      

          

    

          

      

                

        

       

         

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person..........................................................................48 

36.0 Income treated as capital...........................................................................................................48 

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom.............................................................................48 

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom....................................................................49 

39.0 Notional capital ..........................................................................................................................49 

40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule................................................................................................50 

41.0 Capital jointly held .....................................................................................................................53 

42.0 Not used .....................................................................................................................................53 

43.0 Student related definitions ........................................................................................................55 

44.0 Treatment of students ...............................................................................................................58 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax support .......................................58 

46.0 Calculation of grant income .......................................................................................................59 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed............................................60 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed ................................61 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard..................................................61 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded..............................................................................................61 

51.0 Treatment of student loans........................................................................................................61 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans...............................................................................................................63 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds................................................................................63 

53.0 Disregard of contribution...........................................................................................................63 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income.......................................................................................63 

55.0 Income treated as capital...........................................................................................................63 

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation..........................................................64 

57.0 Maximum council tax support....................................................................................................66 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions .......................................................................................................66 

59.0 Not used .....................................................................................................................................67 

60.0 Extended reductions: - Movers Generally .................................................................................67 

62.0 - 63.0 Not used...........................................................................................................................67 

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin .......................................................................................69 

65.0 - 66.0 Not Used.............................................................................................................................69 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect ..........................................................69 

Sections 68– 74A ...................................................................................................................................70 

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council Tax Support purposes .............................................70 

68.0 Who may claim...........................................................................................................................71 

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under an authority’s scheme ...........71 

69A.0 Date on which a claim made ......................................................................................................73 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically .......................................................................................74 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence .........................................................................................74 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 3 Page 285

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

     

         

         

      

      

        

           

       

         

    

     

                 
      

     

     

      

       

      

     

    

              

    

        

         
   

    

        

      

         

            

        

        

    

    

           

    

    

    

          

72.0 Evidence and information ..........................................................................................................74 

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of claim .......................................................................................75 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances ...................................................................................76 

75.0 Decisions by the authority..........................................................................................................78 

76.0 Notification of decision ..............................................................................................................78 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax support .....................................................................78 

78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid .....................................................................................79 

79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction..................................................................................................79 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled............................................................................80 

81.0 Offsetting ...................................................................................................................................80 

82 – 90 Not used....................................................................................................................................80 

91.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s 
Revenues and Customs (HMRC).................................................................................................82 

92.0 Collection of information ...........................................................................................................82 

93.0 Recording and holding information ...........................................................................................82 

94.0 Forwarding of information .........................................................................................................82 

95.0 Persons affected by Decisions....................................................................................................84 

96.0 Revisions of Decisions ................................................................................................................84 

97.0 Written Statements....................................................................................................................84 

98.0 Terminations ..............................................................................................................................84 

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority 86 

Section 100............................................................................................................................................87 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction ...........................................................................87 

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 
Act ..............................................................................................................................................88 

101.0 Interpretation.............................................................................................................................90 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication.................................................................90 

103.0 Use of intermediaries.................................................................................................................90 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication..................................90 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information .............................................................91 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information.................................................................................................91 

106A.0Proof of content of information.................................................................................................91 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance ...................................................................................................93 

Schedule 1 .............................................................................................................................................94 

Calculation of the amount of Council Tax Reduction in accordance with the Discount Scheme ..........94 

Schedule 2 .............................................................................................................................................97 

Not used ................................................................................................................................................97 

Schedule 3 .............................................................................................................................................98 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings .........................................................................98 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 4 Page 286

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    

            

    

    
  

Schedule 4 ...........................................................................................................................................100 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings.........................................100 

Schedule 5 ...........................................................................................................................................111 

Capital to be disregarded ....................................................................................................................111 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 5 Page 287

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
        

 
         

          
 

            
          

                
           

 
           

 
        
        

  
         
       

   
       

   
          

    
          

  
          

  
          
           
         
       

    
         

 
 

         
    

         
       

 
            

                
              

      
          
  

      
    

    
 

      
 

        
 

             

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

1.1 The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme 
for the period 1st April 2023 until 31st March 2024. 

1.2 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working 
age applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2023 for a period of one financial year. 

1.3 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 
following: 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2012; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 

Regulations 2013; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Regulations 2014 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2018; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes Prescribed Requirements)(Amendment)(England) 

Regulations 2022: and 
• Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 

2012). 

The Council has no discretion in relation to the calculation of Council Tax Reduction in respect 
of the pension age scheme. 

The scheme for pension age applicants – Central Government’s scheme as defined by the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

1.4 There are three main classes under the prescribed pension credit age scheme, for each of which 
there are qualifying criteria. In all cases, individuals must not be of a prescribed class exempted 
from reduction, such as a person subject to immigration control with limited leave to remain. 
The definition of a pension credit age person is a person who; 

a. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
b. is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not; 

i. a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or 

ii. a person with an award of universal credit 

The three prescribed classes are as follows; 

Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount. 

On any day Class A consists of any person who is a pensioner: 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 6 Page 288

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                      
                

         
           

                  
             

  
                

  
        
            

 
        

 
             

                       
                

         
           

                  
             

  
        

         
  

            
   

                
      

         
              

 
      

 
             

                   
                

         
  

   
                  

            
             
  

 
          

           
           

           
 

        
                    

   
                  

           
                   

               

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of persons prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated 
in accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
f. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount. 

On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 to the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where; 
(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and   
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount; 

g. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
h. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class C: alternative maximum Council Tax Reduction 

On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; 

c. in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 
d. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
e. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme; and 
f. in relation to whom the condition below is met. 

The condition referred to in sub-paragraph f. is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to 
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum Council 
Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, 
or aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

The above applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 
a. is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for 

the purposes of discount; 
b. is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
c. is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 7 Page 289

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

             
         

    
               
               

      
                 

             
   

                   

           
    

  
 

              
       

         
    
       
        

        
          

         
   
            

       
        

         
        

                 
       
 

          
 

            
               

           
            

         
            

     
       

 
              

                
             

       
 

  
       

         
              

        
         

(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; or 
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

d. is not a person who, jointly with the applicant, falls within the same paragraph of section 
6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the 
applicant; or 

e. is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount. 

Disregard of certain incomes 

1.5 For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, the Council has resolved 
to enhance the government scheme (as defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 to disregard in full the following: 
a. a war disablement pension; 
b. a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
c. a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence 
of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

d. a guaranteed income payment; 
e. a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
f. a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
g. pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 
The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme. 

THE SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE APPLICANTS – THE COUNCIL’S LOCAL SCHEME 

1.6 The adopted scheme for working age applicants is a means test, which compares income against 
a level of discount. Full details of the working age scheme of the authority are contained within 
this document from section 2 onwards. The authority is required to specify a scheme for 
working age and therefore this scheme only applies to a person who; 
a. has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
b. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 

on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or on universal credit. 

1.7 The Council has resolved that there will be two classes of persons who will receive a reduction 
in line with adopted scheme. There will be two main classes prescribed for, for each of which 
there will be a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction as specified within section 7 of this scheme. 

Class D 
To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must: 
a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 8 Page 290

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
           
  
           

       
          

 
       
         

           
            

    
     

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
  

universal credit. 
c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is solely or mainly resident; 
d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 

calculated; 
g. not have capital savings above £6,000; 
h. not have income above the levels specified within the scheme; 
i. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income is within a range of incomes specified 
within Schedule 1; and 

j. has made a valid application for reduction. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 9 Page 291

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

             
 

  

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Details of support to be given for working age applicants for the financial year 
2023/24 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 10 Page 292

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

Sections 2- 8 

Definitions and interpretation 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 11 Page 293

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  

        
   

            
           
         
           
          

       
     
              

         
              

                 
   

           
              

                  
           

                
    

    
        
          

            
      

             
      

            
    

                
 

               
        
             

        
   

                    
   

                
 

           
                
                

        
   

            
       

 
             

        
              

         

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this policy 
2.1 In this policy– 

‘the Act’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
‘the Administration Act’ means the Social Security Administration Act 1992; 
‘the 1973 Act’ means the Employment and Training Act 1973; 
‘the 1992 Act’ means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
‘the 2000 Act’ means the Electronic Communications Act 2000; 
‘Abbeyfield Home’ means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or incorporate which are affiliated to that Society; 
‘adoption leave’ means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave 
by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘applicant’ means a person who the authority designates as able to claim Council Tax Support 
– for the purposes of this policy all references are in the masculine gender but apply equally to 
male and female; 

‘application’ means an application for a reduction under this scheme: 
‘appropriate DWP office’ means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing 
with state pension credit or office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of claims 
for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
‘assessment period’ means such period as is prescribed in sections 19 to 21 over which income 
falls to be calculated; 
‘attendance allowance’ means– 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the Act; 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of the Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) 

of Part 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under 
paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any analogous payment; or 
(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 
pension; 
‘the authority’ means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 
virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 
‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work 
Schemes) Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain 
Employment) Regulations 2013; 
‘basic rate’, where it relates to the rate of tax, has the same meaning as in the Income Tax Act 
2007 (see section 989 of that Act). 
‘the benefit Acts’ means the Act and the, the Jobseekers Act 1995 and the Welfare Reform Act 
2007; 
‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided to a family, for a charge 
which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or repared 
meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the 
accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that 
accommodation or associated premises; 
‘care home’ in England and Wales has the meaning assigned to it by section 3 of the Care 
Standards Act 2000 and in Scotland means a care home service within the meaning assigned to 
it by section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 
‘the Caxton Foundation’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
‘child’ means a person under the age of 16; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 12 Page 294

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

          
          

  
                   
            

              
 

            
            

           
            

            
            

         
           

    
             

                 
             
                 

     
           

               
            

            
         
             
      

  
        

 
         

       
              

      
              

     
           
           
           

             
       

                 
   

       
          

 
           

  
           

  
           

      
            

              
         
                

‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child 
Benefit (General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit 
(General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015; 
‘child tax credit’ means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
‘the Children Order’ means the Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995; 
‘claim’ means a claim for council tax support; ‘applicant’ means a person claiming council tax 
support; 
‘close relative’ means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- in-law, 
step-parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one 
member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
‘concessionary payment’ means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund 
or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the 
benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act are charged; 
‘the Consequential Provisions Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit and Council tax support 
(Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2006; 
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance 
and a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has 
effect apart from those provisions; 
‘converted employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision 
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations; 
‘council tax benefit’ means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
‘council tax reduction scheme’ has the same meaning as ‘council tax support or reduction’ 
‘council tax support (or reduction) ’ means council tax reduction as defined by S13a Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended); 
‘couple’ means; 

a. a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same 
household; 

b. a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as if 
they were a married couple or civil partners; 

c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members 
of the same household; or 

d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living 
together as if they were civil partners, 
and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) Two people of the same sex are to be 
treated as living together as if they were civil partners if, and only if, they would be 
treated as living together as husband and wife were they of opposite sexes. The 
above includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The Marriage (Same 
Sex Couples) Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014; 

‘date of claim’ means the date on which the claim is made, or treated as made, for the purposes 
of this policy 
‘designated authority’ means any of the following; 
the local authority; or a person providing services to, or authorised to exercise any function of, 
any such authority; 
‘designated office’ means the office designated by the authority for the receipt of claims for 
council tax support; 
(a) by notice upon or with a form approved by it for the purpose of claiming council tax 

support; or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent 

by electronic means or otherwise on application; or 
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above; 
‘disability living allowance’ means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
‘dwelling’ has the same meaning in section 3 or 72 of the 1992 Act; 
‘earnings’ has the meaning prescribed in section 25 or, as the case may be, 27; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 13 Page 295

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                
             

   
           

                
                 

        
 

          
            

           
        

   
            

          
          

           
         
         

     
           

               
         

       
 

              
             

 
               

  
            

   
            

 
        

        
           
  

                
            

            
          

          
  

           
      

         

           
                

 
  

            
       

     
              

     

‘the Eileen Trust’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions; 
‘electronic communication’ has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the 2000 Act; 
‘employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the Act and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity 
pay; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations’ means the Employment 
and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) Regulations 2010; 
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes 
for assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State that is designed to assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-
employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered by The Jobseekers Allowance 
(Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended by the Jobseekers 
(Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’; 
‘employment zone’ means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 
60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an ‘employment zone programme’ means 
a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist applicants for a 
jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 
‘employment zone contractor’ means a person who is undertaking the provision of facilities in 
respect of an employment zone programme on behalf of the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions; 
‘enactment’ includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of 
the Scottish Parliament; 
‘extended payment (or reduction)’ means a payment of council tax support payable pursuant 
to section 60; 
‘extended payment (or reduction) period’ means the period for which an extended reduction 
is payable in accordance with section 60A or 61A of this policy; 
‘extended payment or extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)’ means a 
payment of council tax support payable pursuant to section 61; 
‘family’ has the meaning assigned to it by section 137(1) of the Act and Section 9 of this 
scheme; 
‘the Fund’ means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 
benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme 
established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
“the Grenfell Tower charitable funds” means the funds identified in the document entitled 
“Charity Commission for England and Wales – Grenfell Tower charitable funds update – 29th 
January 2019; 
“the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund” means the £5 million fund announced on 
16th June 2017 and administered by Westminster City Council for the benefit of households 
affected by the fire at Grenfell Tower on 14th June 2017; 

“Grenfell Tower support payment” means any payment made by the council of the Royal 
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea to an individual as a result of the fire at Grenfell Tower on 
14th June 2017 
“guarantee credit” 
‘a guaranteed income payment’ means a payment made under article 14(1)(b) or article 
21(1)(a) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005(b); 
‘he, him, his’ also refers to the feminine within this policy 
‘housing benefit’ means housing benefit under Part 7 of the Act; ‘the Housing Benefit 
Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 14 Page 296

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

           
        

             
         

        
          

   
             

       
               
          

       
                

       
        

  
              

       
           

      
  

            
         
    

           
            
          

            
 

                  
       
             

             
   

             
         

    
              

            
    
           

            
             

  
             

          
               

        
         

   
             

          
              

  
            

             
         

‘Immigration and Asylum Act’ means the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; 
‘an income-based jobseeker’s allowance’ and ‘a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance’ have the 
same meaning as they have in the Jobseekers Act by virtue of section 1(4) of that Act; 
‘income-related employment and support allowance’ means an income-related allowance 
under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘Income Support Regulations’ means the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(a); 
‘independent hospital’– 

(a) in England, means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales, has the meaning assigned to it by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland, means an independent health care service as defined in section 2(5)(a) and (b) 
of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 

‘the Independent Living Fund (2006)’ means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one 
part and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the 
other part; 
‘invalid carriage or other vehicle’ means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means 
the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as 
appropriate; 
‘limited capability for work’ has the meaning given in section 1(4) of the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘limited capability for work-related activity’ has the meaning given in section 2(5) of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘the London Bombing Relief Charitable Fund’ means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the 
purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims 
(including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 
7th July 2005; 
‘lone parent’ means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of 
the same household as a child or young person; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 29th 
January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No.2) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
‘the Macfarlane Trust’ means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among 
those suffering from haemophilia; 
‘main phase employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a 
component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 except in Part 1 of 
Schedule 1; 
‘the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme’ means a scheme within section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State that is designed to provide work or work related activity for up to 30 hours per week 
over a period of four consecutive weeks with a view to assisting applicants to improve their 
prospect of obtaining employment; 
‘maternity leave’ means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work 
either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996; 
‘member of a couple’ means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
‘MFET Limited’ means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 15 Page 297

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

      
      

              
                

               
     

             
              

           
       

   
               

          
 

     
              

           
         

    
         

           
              

   
   
                  
                

      
          
  

                 
      

   
              

        
  

         
             

       
             

   
             

         
    

         
    

          
      

         
        

          
    

         
               

       
         

     
              

made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by 
the NHS with blood or blood products; 
‘mobility supplement’ means a supplement to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 refers; 
‘mover’ means a applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident and in 
respect of which the applicant liable to pay council tax from a dwelling in the area of the 
appropriate authority to a dwelling in the area of the second authority; 
‘net earnings’ means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with section 26; 
‘net profit’ means such profit as is calculated in accordance with section 28; 
‘the New Deal options’ means the employment programmes specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations and the training scheme specified in regulation 
75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
‘new dwelling’ means, for the purposes of the definition of ‘second authority’ and sections 60C, 
and 61C the dwelling to which a applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant 
is or will be resident; 
‘non-dependant’ has the meaning prescribed in section 3; 
‘non-dependant deduction’ means a deduction that is to be made under section 58; 
‘occupational pension’ means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for 
relieving hardship in particular cases; 
‘occupational pension scheme’ has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes 
Act 1993 as amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013; 
‘ordinary clothing or footwear’ means clothing or footwear for normal daily use, but does not 
include school uniforms, or clothing or footwear used solely for sporting activities; 
‘partner’ means– 
(a) where an applicant is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; or 
(b) where an applicant is polygamously married to two or more members of his household, 

any such member to whom he is married; 
‘parental bereavement leave’ means leave under section 80EA of the Employment Rights Act 
1996; 
‘paternity leave’ means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A or 80B 
of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘payment’ includes part of a payment; 
‘pension fund holder’ means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the 
scheme concerned; 
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014; 
‘pensioner’ a person who has attained the age at which pension credit can be claimed; 
‘person affected’ shall be construed as a person to whom the authority decides is affected by 
any decision made by the council; 
‘person on income support’ means a person in receipt of income support; 
‘personal independence payment’ as defined within the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
’personal pension scheme’ means– 
a. a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as 

amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013; 
b. an annuity contractor trust scheme approved under section 20 or 21of the Income and 

Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) 
or that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004; 

c. a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme 
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

‘policy of life insurance’ means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on 
death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on 
human life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums 
for a term dependent on human life; 
‘polygamous marriage’ means a marriage to which section 133(1) of the Act refers; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 16 Page 298

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

              
 

           
    

       
                  
    

     
    
   

     
     

   
   
    

              
          

   
               
     
             
          

               
        

     
           

                  
                

  
                 
   
    

         
   

     
          

           
         

     
        

      
    

              
  

         
            

              
  

       
     

           
                 

      
               

      
         

’public authority’ includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public 
nature; 
‘qualifying age for state pension credit’ means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of 
the State Pension Credit Act 2002)– 
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the 
same day as the man; 
’qualifying contributory benefit’ means; 
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying income-related benefit’ means 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying person’ means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 
‘reduction week’ means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and 
ending with a Sunday; 
‘relative’ means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
‘relevant authority’ means an authority administering council tax support; 
‘rent’ means ‘eligible rent’ to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit Regulations refers less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under regulation 74 (non-
dependant deductions) of those Regulations; 
‘resident’ has the meaning it has in Part 1 or 2 of the 1992 Act; 
‘Scottish taxpayer’ has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 
’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the 
new dwelling 
’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the 
new dwelling; 
‘self-employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the Act; 
‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment 
whilst participating in– 
a. an employment zone programme; 
b. a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act 

(functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); or 

c. the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
d. a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 

Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 
e. Back to Work scheme. 

‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are 
to 

a. a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 

b. the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not 
being consulted as described in that sub-paragraph; 

‘single applicant’ means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
‘the Skipton Fund’ means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 
Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 17 Page 299

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

          
                 

         
  

                 
             

            
    

            
           

              
 

            
                    
   

             
 

             
         

           
             
             

             
        

         
    

                
            

          
             

      
          

           
     

        
   

           
        

               
        

             
              

   
               

 
               
         

      
                
         

            
  

             
     

            
            

           

hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions. 
’special account’ means an account as defined for the purposes of Chapter 4A of Part 8 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or Chapter 5 of Part 10 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations; 
‘sports award’ means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of 
the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
‘State Pension Credit Act’ means the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
‘student’ has the meaning prescribed in section 43; 
‘subsistence allowance’ means an allowance which an employment zone contractor has agreed 
to pay to a person who is participating in an employment zone programme; 
‘support or reduction week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 
‘the Tax Credits Act’ means the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in 
the next; 
‘training allowance’ means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable– 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Young 
People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or Welsh Ministers; 
(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 
instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, the department or 
approved by the department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of 
the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers. 
It does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect of a 
person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than 
under arrangements made under section 2 of the 1973 Actor is training as a teacher; 
‘the Trusts’ means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust; 
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012, the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, 
Supplementary, Incidental and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2014; 
‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating 
Order 2014 and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015; 
‘voluntary organisation’ means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of 
which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
’war disablement pension’ means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect 
of disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
‘war pension’ means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s 
pension; 
‘war widow’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in 
respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘war widower’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to 
a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘water charges’ means; 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 
of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under 
a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far 
as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 18 Page 300

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

             
          
            
      

      
  

                  
        

 
                   

             
 

 
           

      
          

             
         

        
 

                   
             

             
      

     
                  

          
          

      
          

         
       

 
         

     
     

             
        

          
                   

             
           

   
 

           
        

 
                 

             
       

 
  

	
               

   	

‘week’ means a period of seven days beginning with a Monday; 
’Welfare Reform Act’ means the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘Working Tax Credit Regulations’ means the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum 
Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended1; and 
‘young person’ has the meaning prescribed in section 9(1). 

2.2 In this policy, references to an applicant occupying a dwelling or premises as his home shall be 
construed in accordance with regulation 7 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006. 

2.3 In this policy, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 
shall be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and shall otherwise be treated as a whole 
penny. 

2.4 For the purpose of this policy, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any day 
in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- based 

jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 
27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made 
under section 17A of the Jobseekers Act (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance 
is not payable); or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and 
which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under 
section 17A of that Act; 

(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for 
the purposes of section 20A of that Act; 

(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 
9 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

2.4A For the purposes of this policy, a person is on an income-related employment and support 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support 
allowance is payable to him and on any day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- related 

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act disqualification; or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and 
which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- related employment 
and support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 
of that Act. 

2.5 For the purposes of this policy, two persons shall be taken to be estranged only if their 
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 

2.6 In this policy, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who 
would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

1 The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 19 Page 301

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

   
 

          
       

 
    

       
                

                  
           

      
           

                   
       

             
            

 
            

         
         

 
           

      
          

   
       
          

  
         

         
           

            
          

 
         

             
            

          
      

 
      

 
                  

               
 

 
    

       
            

         
           

    
             

       

	
 	

3.0 Definition of non-dependant 

3.1 In this policy, ‘non-dependant’ means any person, except someone to whom paragraph 3.2 
applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides. 

3.2 This paragraph applies to; 
a. any member of the applicant’s family; 
b. if the applicant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person 

who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 
c. a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his 

household by virtue of section 11(membership of the same household); 
d. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally 

liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under sections 6, 7 or 75 of 
the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

e. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling; 

f. a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the 
applicant or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

3.3 Excepting persons to whom paragraph 3.2 a) to c) and f) refer, a person to whom any of the 
following sub-paragraphs applies shall be a non-dependant– 
a. a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect 

of the dwelling and either; 
i. that person is a close relative of his or her partner; or 

ii. the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 
commercial basis; 

b. a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 
authority to have been created to take advantage of the council tax support scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of 
the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to 
make payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 

c. a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to 
his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that 
dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the authority is satisfied that the change 
giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of the support scheme. 

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number2 

4.1 No person shall be entitled to support unless the criteria below in 4.2 is satisfied in relation both 
to the person making the claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is claiming 
support. 

4.2 This subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if– 
a. the claim for support is accompanied by; 

i. a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 

ii. information or evidence enabling the national insurance number that has been 
allocated to the person to be ascertained; or 

b. the person makes an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 
which is accompanied by information or evidence enabling such a number to be so allocated 

2 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 20 Page 302

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

      
    

     
  
     

   
             

 
  
      

 

 

           
 

     
            
               
       

      
     

    
 

   
 

              
 

       
 

                 
          

   
 

      
               

 
 

              
                 

     
 

               
      

        
              

     
         

      
       

  
             

           
              

              
   

and the application for reduction is accompanied by evidence of the application and 
information to enable it to be allocated. 

4.3 Paragraph 4.2 shall not apply– 
a. in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom council tax support is claimed; 
b. to a person who; 

i. is a person in respect of whom a claim for council tax support is made; 
ii. is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act; 
iii. is a person from abroad for the purposes of this scheme; and 
iv. has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit 

5.1 This scheme applies to a person if: 
(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a 

partner, his partner, is; 
(a) a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 

income-related employment and support allowance; or 
(b) a person with an award of universal credit. 

6.0 Not used 

7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control 

Persons treated as not being in Great Britain 

7.1 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for the purposes 
of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.2 Except where a person falls within paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being 
in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

7.3 A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in 
one of those places. 

7.4 For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right, which exists by 
virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations; 
(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 

that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 

of such a jobseeker; 
(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 

under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (5) of 
that regulation of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (in a case 
where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would otherwise be deprived 
of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen). 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 21 Page 303

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
                

       
        

        
             
  

      
         

    
         

            
  

         
  

               
        

        
            

              
  

 
           

          
   

                 
          

   
 

 
           

          
   

    
        

        
           

             
                  
   

          
      

     
                 
           

       
             

            
      

        
           

 
      

	
            
 

7.4A For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by 
virtue of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United 
Kingdom under the Immigration Act 1971 by virtue of— 

(za) a person granted leave in accordance with the immigration rules made under 
section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971(1), where such leave is granted by virtue 
of— 
(i)the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy; or 
(ii)the previous scheme for locally-employed staff in Afghanistan (sometimes 
referred to as the ex-gratia scheme); 

(zb) a person in Great Britain not coming within sub-paragraph (za) or (e)(iv) who left 
Afghanistan in connection with the collapse of the Afghan government that took place 
on 15th August 2020 

(a) (Removed by the Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 

(b) Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; 
(c) being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of Appendix EU 

to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; or 
(d) having arrived in the United Kingdom with an entry clearance that was granted under 

Appendix EU (Family Permit) to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of 
that Act. 

7.4B Paragraph (4A)(b) does not apply to a person who— 
(a) has a right to reside granted by virtue of being a family member of a relevant person of 

Northern Ireland; and 
(b) would have a right to reside under the EEA Regulations if the relevant person of Northern 

Ireland were an EEA national, provided that the right to reside does not fall within 
paragraph (4)(a) or (b) 

7.5 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is— 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 

or a self-employed person; 
(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a); 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 
(ca) a family member of a relevant person of Northern Ireland, with a right to reside 

which falls within paragraph (4A)(b), provided that the relevant person of Northern 
Ireland falls within paragraph (5)(a), or would do so but for the fact that they are not 
an EEA national; 

(cb) a frontier worker within the meaning of regulation 3 of the Citizens’ Rights (Frontier 
Workers) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020; 

(cc) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (cb), who has been granted 
limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom by virtue of Appendix EU 
to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 19713 where that 
leave is— 
(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 

3 As amended by the Immigration Act 2014 and the Immigration Act 2014 (Commencement No. 2) Order 2014 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 22 Page 304

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

           
       

              
      

 
      
          

             
              

 
           

  
              

        
 

                 
     

 
          

            
            

   
 

   
            

   
        

       
         
               
         
    
            
            
             
    
              
          

        
 

     
 

           
         

  
              

              
             

            
   

 
             

 

   

              

(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession which 
came into effect on 1st April 2012, or 

(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the 
Displaced Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005. 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules; 
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4). 

7.6 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 
Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 

7.7 A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 
overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom. 

7.8 In this regulation— 
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999; 
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; and 
the Immigration (European Economic Area) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2014 and 
references to the EEA Regulations are to be read with Schedule 4 to the Immigration and 
Social Security Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 (Consequential, Saving, Transitional 
and Transitory Provisions) Regulations 2020 
“EEA national” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the EEA Regulations; 
“family member” has the meaning given in regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations, 
except that regulation 7(4) of the EEA Regulations does not apply for the purposes of 
paragraphs (4B) and (5)(ca); 
“relevant person of Northern Ireland” has the meaning given in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to 
the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; and 
“Her Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006. 

Persons subject to immigration control 

7.9 Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of 
paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.10 A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social 
and Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified 
the Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is 
lawfully present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the 
purpose of paragraph 7.9 

7.11 “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 115(9) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

7A.0 Transitional provision 

7A.1 The above does not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2015— 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 23 Page 305

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                    
          

               

  

    

                        
        

           
            

    
 

                  
     

        

             
            

         

              

            
       

             
           

  

      
            

        

           

        

           
         

   

              

          

           
      

 
          
        

        
        
               
         

 
         

     
 

   
               

(a) is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an 
authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act; and 

(b) is entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, until the first of the events in 

paragraph 7A.2 occurs. 

7A.2 The events are— 

(a) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme 
established under section 13A(2) of the Act; or 

(b) the person ceases to be entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
7A.3 In this section “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) 

8.1 A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a period 
of temporary absence from that dwelling. 

8.2 In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means: 

(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on 
which a person resides in residential accommodation where and for so long as: 

(i) the person resides in that accommodation in Great Britain; 

(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence 
from the dwelling of more than 52 weeks, 

where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it 
suits his needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit 
his needs; 

(b) a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the 
first whole day of absence from the dwelling, where and for so long as: 

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 

(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 

(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 

(c) a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with 
the first whole day of that absence, where and for so long as: 

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 

(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 

(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and 

(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 
circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period and 

(d)subject to sub-paragraphs (2F), (3C), (3E) and (3G) and where sub-paragraph (2E) applies, 
a period of absence outside Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, beginning with the first day 
of that absence from Great Britain where and for so long as: 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resides is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks. 

8.2A The period of 13 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(b) shall run or continue to run during 
any period of absence from Great Britain. 

8.2B Where: 
(a)a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A); 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 24 Page 306

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

            
              

               
 

           
      

 
            

     
 

  
               

          
              

               
 
          

       
 

    
        

            
   

 
           

 
           
   

    
      
               

 
           

          
            

           
      

 

    

          
  

           

          
    

           

         
     

  

    

       

             
             

      

(b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, 
for less than 13 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and 
(c)at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary 
absence, 
then any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall not 
be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b). 

8.2C The period of 52 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(c) shall run or continue to run during 
any period of absence from Great Britain. 

8.2D Where: 
(a)a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A); 
(b)that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, 
for less than 52 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and 
(c)at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary 
absence, 
then, any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall 
not be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(c). 

8.2E This sub-paragraph applies where: 
(a)a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

8.2F If the temporary absence referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(d) is in connection with the death 
of: 
(a) the person’s partner or a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s 
partner is responsible; 
(b)the person’s close relative; 
(c)the close relative of the person’s partner; or 
(d) the close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner 
is responsible, 
then the period of 4 weeks in the opening words of sub-paragraph (2)(d) may be extended by 
up to 4 further weeks if the relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person 
to return to Great Britain within the first 4 weeks (and the reference in sub-paragraph (iii) of 
that paragraph to a period of 4 weeks shall, where the period is extended, be taken as 
referring to the period as so extended). 

8.3 This sub-paragraph applies to a person who— 

(a) is detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, 
to reside— 

(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or 

(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, 
or is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction; 

(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 

(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, medical 
treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation other than 
residential accommodation; 

(d) is following, a training course; 

(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person; 

(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent 
from the dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of 
receiving medically approved care or medical treatment; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 25 Page 307

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

          
  

   

           
    

              
        

 
      

       
     

       
            
           

    
 

    
      

              
  

            
   

 
         

                 
     

   
              
            

 
    

    
          

 
            

   
 

         
                 

     
        
              
            

  
 

   
        

          
 
         

   
 

         
                 

        

(g) is receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other than 
residential accommodation; 

(h) is a student; 

(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to 
whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies; or 

(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a 
person who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 

8.3A This sub-paragraph applies to a person (“P”) who is: 
(a)detained in custody on remand pending trial; 
(b)detained pending sentence upon conviction; or 
(c)as a condition of bail required to reside— 
(i)in a dwelling, other than a dwelling P occupies as P’s home; or 
(ii)in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007(7), 
and who is not also detained in custody following sentence upon conviction. 

8.3B This sub-paragraph applies where: 
(a)a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the person is a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas, a mariner or a continental 
shelf worker; 
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

8.3C Where sub-paragraph (3B) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as: 
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(b)the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(c)the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks. 

8.3D This sub-paragraph applies where— 
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (b), (c), (g) or (j) of sub-paragraph 
(3); 
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

8.3E Where sub-paragraph (3D) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as: 
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 
unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 

8.3F This sub-paragraph applies where: 
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (a), (d), (e), (f), (h) or (i) of sub-
paragraph (3); 
(c)immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling. 

8.3G Where sub-paragraph (3F) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 4 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as: 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 26 Page 308

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

        
              
          

  

 

    

              
         

               
            

     

             
         

 

              
 

           
             

            

            

                  
         

 

  
       

              
       

             
        

             
        

                 
 

                 
        

              
             

      
        

           
              

              
  

       
 

         
         
            
                 

      

     

   

(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 
unlikely substantially to exceed that period.”; 

8.4 This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 

(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by a 
court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the Mental 
Health Act 1983, or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and 
Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 or, in Northern 
Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986); and 

(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the provisions 
of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989 

8.5 Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary 
release— 

(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 
under sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), 
as if he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 

(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3A), he must be treated as if he remains in detention; 

(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who is 
liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident. 

8.6 In this paragraph— 
“continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 
service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 
activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998; 
“designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order in 
Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the United 
Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may be exercised; 
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or 
member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or vessel, 
where— 
(a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew or 
any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in 
whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage;”; 

“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner; 
“member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of the 
regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed Forces 
Act 2006(10)), who is absent from the main dwelling because the person has been posted 
outside of Great Britain to perform the duties of a member of Her Majesty’s regular forces or 
reserve forces; 

“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient 
in any hospital or similar institution; 
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and 
subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of 
Norway or such member State, or any other area which is from time to time specified under 
section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998;” 

“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in: 

(a) a care home; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 27 Page 309

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

   

   

            
        

 

           
               

          
     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
  

(b) an independent hospital; 

(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or 

(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or 
constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority; 

“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on 
behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government 
department or the Secretary of State 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 28 Page 310

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   
 
  

Sections 9 - 11 

The family for Council Tax Support purposes 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 29 Page 311

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
     

 
          

   
               

         
  

     
              

        
             

            
       

                
         

       
 
            

                   
        

         
     

         
            

           
           

          
         

        
  

 
       

     
       

       
        

 
          

       
 

              
   

 
              

      
 

 
                 

              
        

         
  

                
    

  

9.0 Membership of a family 

9.1 Within the support scheme adopted by the Council ‘family’ means; 
a. a married or unmarried couple; 
b. married or unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom one of 

them is or both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; 
c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 

same household (with or without children); 
d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 

as if they were civil partners (with or without children), 
e. and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) two people of the same sex are to be regarded 

as living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as 
living together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex; 

f. except in prescribed circumstances, a person who is not a member of a married or 
unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom that person is 
responsible and who is a child or a young person; 

For the purposes of the scheme a child is further defined as a ‘child or young person’ 
A ‘child’ means a person under the age of 16 and a ‘Young Person’ is someone aged 16 or over 
but under 20 and who satisfies other conditions. These conditions are: 

• they are aged 16, have left 'relevant education' or training, and 31 August following 
the sixteenth birthday has not yet been passed; 

• they are aged 16 or 17, have left education or training, are registered for work, 
education or training, are not in work and are still within their 'extension period'; 

• they are on a course of full-time non-advanced education, or are doing 'approved 
training', and they began that education or training before reaching the age of 19; 

• they have finished a course of full-time non-advanced education, but are enrolled on 
another such course (other than one provided as a result of their employment); 

• they have left 'relevant education' or 'approved training' but have not yet passed 
their 'terminal date'. 

9.2 Paragraph 9.1 the definition of child or young person shall not apply to a person who is; 
a. on income support ; 
b. an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income related employment and support 

allowance; or be entitled to an award of Universal Credit; or 
c. a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 applies. 

9.3 The definition also includes a child or young person in respect of whom there is an entitlement 
to child benefit but only for the period that Child Benefit is payable 

. 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person. 

10.1 Subject to the following paragraphs a person shall be treated as responsible for a child or young 
person who is normally living with him and this includes a child or young person to whom 
paragraph 9.3 applies 

10.2 Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person shall be 
treated for the purposes of paragraph 9.1 as normally living with; 
a. the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of him; or 
b. if there is no such person; 

i. where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the 
person who made that claim; or 

ii. in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 30 Page 312

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
               

       
       

 

             
    

 
          

         
             

         
          

   
 

             
  

           
       

          
           

 
         

       
 

                 
 

               
  

         
  

       
        

        
  

 
               

          
         

 
          

       
 

                
        

            
       

            
              

       
 

    
 
  

10.3 For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person shall be the responsibility of only one 
person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the 
child or young person under this section shall be treated as not so responsible. 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a 
member of the household 

11.1 Subject to paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3, the applicant and any partner and, where the applicant or 
his partner is treated as responsible by virtue of section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
to be treated as responsible or not responsible for a child or young person) for a child or young 
person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, shall be treated 
as members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent 
from that household. 

11.2 A child or young person shall not be treated as a member of the applicant’s household where 
he is– 
a. placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the 

Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in 
Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 

b. placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to adoption; 
or 

c. placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption 
and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 

11.3 Subject to paragraph 11.4, paragraph 11.1 shall not apply to a child or young person who is not 
living with the applicant and he– 

a. is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 
enactment; or 

b. has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior 
to adoption; or 

c. has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 
the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009; or in accordance with an adoption 
allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 
2007 (adoption allowances schemes). 

11.4 An authority shall treat a child or young person to whom paragraph 11.3 a) applies as being a 
member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where; 
a. that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; 

and 
b. the authority considers that it is responsible to do so taking into account the nature and 

frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 

11.5 In this paragraph ‘relevant enactment’ means the Army Act 1955, the Air Force Act 1955, the 
Naval Discipline Act 1957, the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958, the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968, the Family Law Reform Act 1969, the Children and Young Persons Act 1969, 
the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, the Children Act 1975, the Domestic Proceedings and 
Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978, the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 1978 Act 1978, the 
Family Law Act 1986, the Children Act 1989, the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Legal Aid, 
Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 as amended. 

Sections 12 – 14 Not Used 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 31 Page 313

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

           

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council Tax Support purposes 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 32 Page 314

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

            
 

   
   
     

 
 

 
             

             
     
 

                
      

          
    

            
         

 
 

             
  

 
  

  
      

         
              

                  
    

 
          

         
  

               
       

           
            

   
           

         
 

           
        

       
 

             
         

 
         

           
          

 
  

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage 

15.1 The income and capital of: 
a. an applicant; and 
b. any partner of that applicant, 

is to be calculated in accordance with the following provisions. 

15.2 The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and 
capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to 
any partner of that applicant. 

15.3 Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married polygamously to two or 
more members of his household: 
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to 

each such member; and 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with 

the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

15A.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit 

15A.1 In determining the income of an applicant 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit the authority may, subject to the following provisions of this 
paragraph use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and 
his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of 
determining the award of universal credit. 

15A.2 The authority may adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of 
(a) income consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with 
subparagraph (3); 
(b) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 3 to this scheme (sums to be 
disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners); 
(c) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 4 to this 
scheme (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners); 
(d) section 33 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 
treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's 
case; 
(e) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable); and 
(f) any sum determined by the authority to be in respect of an award for housing costs. 

15A.3 The amount for the award of universal credit may be determined by multiplying the amount of 
the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

15A.4 sections 33 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) and 52 and 53 
(disregards from income) apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any 
adjustments which fall to be made to the figure for income under sub-paragraph (2) 

15A.5 In determining the capital of an applicant; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 33 Page 315

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
     

             
           

         

            
             

           
           

        
       
         

   
 

               
         

          
        

           

     
         

           
       

         
                  

 
        

           
      

             
           

      
            

      
 

       
           

             
 

         
    

         
               

       
               

      
       

    
 

           
        

    

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority may use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the 
Secretary of State for the purpose of determining that award 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 
16.1 Where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and the applicant have entered into 

arrangements in order to take advantage of the council tax support scheme and the non-
dependant has more capital and income than the applicant, that authority shall, except were 
the applicant is on income support, an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, treat the applicant as possessing capital and 
income belonging to that non-dependant, and, in such a case, shall disregard any capital and 
income which the applicant does possess.` 

16.2 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital and income belonging to a non-dependant 
under paragraph 16.1 the capital and income of that non-dependant shall be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions in like manner as for the applicant and any reference 
to the ‘ applicant’ shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be construed for the 
purposes of this scheme as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
17.1 For the purposes of this scheme and in line with regulation 34 of the Housing Benefit 

Regulations 2006 (disregard to changes in tax, contributions etc.), the income of an applicant 
shall be calculated on a weekly basis; 

a. by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance 
with this Section and in line with Sections 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006; 

b. by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated in line with regulation 52 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (calculation to tariff income from capital); and 

c. by then deducting any relevant child care charges to which section 18 (treatment of child 
care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of the average weekly income 
or, in a case where the conditions in paragraph 18.2 are met, from those earnings plus 
whichever credit specified in sub- paragraph (b) of that paragraph is appropriate, up to a 
maximum deduction in respect of the applicant’s family of whichever of the sums 
specified in paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

17.2 The conditions of this paragraph are that; 
a. the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the 

lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified 
in paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

b. that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is in 
receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

17.3 The maximum deduction to which paragraph 17.1 c) above refers shall be; 
a. where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child 

care charges are paid, £175.00 per week. 
b. where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom relevant 

child care charges are paid, £300.00 per week. 
The amounts stated in this paragraph shall be amended in accordance with the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

17.4 For the purposes of paragraph 17.1 ‘income’ includes capital treated as income under section 
31 (capital treated as income) and income, which an applicant is treated as possessing under 
section 32 (notional income). 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 34 Page 316

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    

      

 
          

          
        

      
       
       

            
         

           
  

 
                 

   
            

       
        

           
       

           
 

 
               

       
             

        
 

           
   

       
 

              
          

            
         

 
           

      

      
 

               
           

                  
     

       
 

             
      

 
           

        

18.0 Not used 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners 

19.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as an employed earner his 
average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment– 

a. over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or 
treated as made and being a period of 

i. 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
ii. 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 

b. whether or not sub-paragraph 19.1a i) or ii) applies, where an applicant’s earnings fluctuate, 
over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or treated 
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated 
more accurately. 

19.2 Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in paragraph 
19.1 a)(i) or (ii) 
a. if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and 

those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment 
his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to those earnings; 

b. in any other case, the authority shall require the applicant’s employer to furnish an 
estimate of the applicant’s likely weekly earnings over such period as the authority may 
require and the applicant’s average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to 
that estimate. 

19.3 Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes during an award the authority shall 
estimate his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment 
over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated 
accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

19.4 For the purposes of this section the applicant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 
sections 25 and 26 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners 

20.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as a self-employed earner 
his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that 
employment over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may 
be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed a year. 

20.2 For the purposes of this section the applicant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 
section 27 to 29 of this scheme 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings 

21.1 An applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings shall, except where paragraph 18.2 
applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly income 
may be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks; 
and nothing in this paragraph shall authorise an authority to disregard any such income other 
than that specified in Schedule 4 of this scheme 

21.2 The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account shall be 
the period in respect of which that support is payable. 

21.3 For the purposes of this section income other than earnings shall be calculated in accordance 
with paragraphs 30 to 32 of this scheme 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 35 Page 317

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

      
 

       
 

                   
     

 
                

          
 

                
   

        
        

              
 

 
         

    
 

            
              

        
             
       

                 
   

               
          

 
 

           
             

         
   

       
 

   
 

   
  
            

            
            

   
                    

          
   

    
 

              
         

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 

22.1 This section applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 

22.2 Where this section applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account shall 
be the period set out in paragraph 22.3 

22.3 Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is; 
a. a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment 

is paid; 
b. a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is 

due to be paid; 
c. a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on 

which the instalment is due to be paid; 
d. a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the 

instalment is due to be paid. 

22.4 For the purposes of this section ‘tax credit’ means child tax credit or working tax credit. 

23.0 Calculation of weekly income 

23.1 For the purposes of sections 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 21 (average 
weekly income other than earnings) and 22 (calculation of average weekly income from tax 
credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made; 
a. does not exceed a week, the weekly amount shall be the amount of that payment; 
b. exceeds a week, the weekly amount shall be determined– 

i. in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

ii. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the quotient 
by 7. 

23.2 For the purpose of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 
amount of earnings of an applicant shall be determined by dividing his earnings over the 
assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying 
the quotient by 7. 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 

24.1 In calculating the applicant’s income the appropriate authority may disregard any 
legislative change 
a. in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
b. in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
c. in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the Act or in the lower 

earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under the Act, the lower 
or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under the Act or the amount specified 
in section11(4) of the Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

d. in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, 
B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable 
under the Act; 

e. in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 

for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 36 Page 318

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

     
            

      
    
      

         
         

       
       

   
    
           

          
 

           
  

            
            

          
        

           
       

      
              

   
      

       
    

          
        

          
         

         
      

 
      

       
       

      
   
          

 
 

          
 

        
 

            
        

        
 

           

	
           

      	

25.0 Earnings of employed earners 
25.1 Subject to paragraph 25.2, ‘earnings’ means in the case of employment as an employed earner, 

any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes– 
a. any bonus or commission; 
b. any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
c. any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for 

the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
d. any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption 

of the employment; 
e. any payment by way of a retainer; 
f. any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 
including any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of– 

g. (i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and his place of 
employment; 

(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a 
member of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 

h. any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 

i. any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension 
on medical or maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

j. any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Act (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes); 

k. any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay, shared parental 
pay or statutory adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland; 

l. any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave, shared parental leave, bereavement leave 
or adoption leave or is absent from work because he is ill; 

m. the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 
3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended 4. 

25.2 Earnings shall not include– 
a. subject to paragraph 25.3, any payment in kind; 
b. any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of employment; 
c. any occupational pension 
d. any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service 

user. 

25.3 Paragraph 25.2 a) shall not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in paragraph 
25.1 m) 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners 

26.1 For the purposes of section 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), the earnings of 
an applicant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be 
taken into account shall, subject to paragraph 26.2, be his net earnings. 

26.2 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, 

4 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 
2013 and Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 37 Page 319

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

        
 

          
            

     
      

  
     

        
  

        
    

              
         

            
             

   
   

 
           

   
 

        
           

           
   

              
  

                
           

 
             

        
         

        
               

           
          

         
              
              

     
           

            
  

         
         

  

     
 

                
                 

            
         

  

specified in paragraphs 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 

26.3 For the purposes of paragraph 26.1 net earnings shall, except where paragraph 26.6 applies, be 
calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less; 
a. any amount deducted from those earnings by way of 

i) income tax; 
ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the Act; 

b. one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 26.5 in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 

d. where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory 
maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted 
for those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions 
under the Act. 

26.4 In this section ‘qualifying contribution’ means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

26.5 The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
contribution shall be determined– 
a. where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 

26.6 Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 2) of 
the section 19 (average weekly earnings of employment earners), his net earnings shall be 
calculated by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less– 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic 
rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the 
applicant is entitled under sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish 
taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were 
actual earnings. 

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners 

27.1 Subject to paragraph 27.2, ‘earnings’, in the case of employment as a self- employed earner, 
means the gross income of the employment any allowance paid under section 2 of the 1973 Act 
or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 to the applicant for the 
purpose of assisting him in carrying on his business unless at the date of claim the allowance 
has been terminated. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 38 Page 320

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
             

            
      
       
        

 
    

           
      

     
          
             

         
           

 
 

                
                  

         
           

             
          

     

        
 

             
      
                 

    
               

              
           

          
       

     
         

 
 

           
 

 
              

        
    

           
      

    
  

          
         

         
 

 
               

27.2 ‘Earnings’ shall not include any payment to which paragraph 27 or 28 of Schedule 4 refers 
(payments in respect of a person accommodate with the applicant under arrangements made 
by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health 
authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
applicant’s care) nor shall it include any sports award. 

27.3 This paragraph applies to– 
a. royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 

copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 
b. any payment in respect of any– 

(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to 
the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the applicant is the first owner of the 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original contributor to the book of work 
concerned. 

27.4 Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which paragraph 27.3 applies, those 
earnings shall be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to 
the number obtained (and any fraction shall be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) 
by dividing the earnings by the amount of council tax support which would be payable had the 
payment not been made plus an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be 
disregarded from the payment under Schedule 3 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of 
earnings) as appropriate in the applicant’s case. 

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

28.1 For the purposes of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self- employed earners) the earnings 
of an applicant to be taken into account shall be 
a. in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment; 
b. in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in partnership or 

is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) 
Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less– 

i. an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions 
payable under the Act calculated in accordance with section 29 (deduction of tax 
and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

ii. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (11) in respect of 
any qualifying premium. 

28.2 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net profit, any sum, where applicable, specified 
in paragraph 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 

28.3 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1 a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 
paragraph 28.9 applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings for the employment 
over the assessment period less 
a. subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 

period for the purposes of that employment; 
b. an amount in respect of; 

(i) income tax, and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance with 
section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (28.11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 

28.4 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1b) the net profit of the employment shall be calculated by 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 39 Page 321

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

        
      

    
 

               
 

   
       
        

 
        
            
    
          

    
 

                 
 

        
          

     
 

            
                

 
 

     
            

 
       

              
  

         
         

           
 

                 
        

 
  
        

            
        

 
 

             
             

              
      

 
         

            
         

    
              

    
                

taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, subject to 
paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the 
purposes of the employment. 

28.5 Subject to paragraph 28.6 no deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4, in 
respect of– 
a. any capital expenditure; 
b. the depreciation of any capital asset; 
c. any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment; 
d. any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
e. the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 
f. any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment, and 
g. any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to 

any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 

28.6 A deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of the repayment of 
capital on any loan used for– 
a. the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; and 
b. the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable 

under an insurance policy for its repair. 

28.7 The authority shall refuse to make deduction in respect of any expenses under paragraph 28.3 
a) or 28.4 where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has 
been reasonably incurred. 

28.8 For the avoidance of doubt– 
a. deduction shall not be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of any sum unless 

it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 
b. a deduction shall be made thereunder in respect of– 

i. the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 
assessment period; 

ii. any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the 
extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 

iii. any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment 

28.9 Where an applicant is engaged in employment, as a child minder the net profit of the 
employment shall be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less an amount in respect 
of 

a. income tax; and 
b. national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance 

with section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 
c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 28.1 in respect of 

any qualifying contribution. 

28.10 For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 
earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or 
employed earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments shall not be offset against his 
earnings in any other of his employments. 

28.11 The amount in respect of any qualifying premium shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
premium shall be determined 
a. where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and divided the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 40 Page 322

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

            
 

             
           

       
 

               
             

              
                 

         
        

            
                 

           
 

 
           

   
          

      
            

           
         

     
            

         
            

             
             

        
 

    
           

          
  

             
 

    
 

                  
               

           
           
               

     
 

          
             

           
          

  
  

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 

28.12 In this section, ‘qualifying premium’ means any premium which is payable periodically in respect 
of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of claim. 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 

29.1 The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under section 28.1b) i), 28.3 b) i) or 28.9 
a) i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) shall be calculated on the basis of the 
amount of chargeable income and as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 
257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to 
his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the 
basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied 
and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph shall be calculated on a 
pro rata basis. 

29.2 The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under paragraphs 
28.1 1 b)(i); 28.3 b) ii) or 28.9 a shall be the total of– 
a. the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 

11(3) of the Act at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the 
applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of the 
Act (small profits threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if 
the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year shall be 
reduced pro rata; and 

b. the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of 
the Act (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage 
rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as 
exceeds the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains 
applicable for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment 
period is less than a year, those limits shall be reduced pro rata. 

29.3 In this section ‘chargeable income’ means– 
a. except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 

any expenses deducted under paragraph (28.3)(a) or, as the case may be, (28.4) of 
section 28; 

b. in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

29A.0 Minimum Income Floor 

29 A.1 Where no start up period (as defined within 29A.2) applies to the applicant or partner, the 
income used by the Council in the calculation of their award will be the gross amount declared 
by the applicant or a substituted amount whichever is the higher. This substituted amount 
shall not be less than 35 hours multiplied by the national living wage(or national minimum 
wage as appropriate) From that, the Council will deduct only an estimate for tax, national 
insurance and half a pension contribution (where a pension contribution is being made). 

29 A.2 The Council shall determine an appropriate start up period for the employment activity being 
conducted by the applicant or partner. This will normally be one year from the date of 
commencement of the employment activity. During this period, no Minimum Income Floor 
shall be applied. The start-up period ends where the person is no longer in gainful self-
employment. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 41 Page 323

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                   
            
           

  
 

      
        

  
 

                  
  

             
  

         
         

 
           

          
         
             

                
 

           

      
 

              
          

       
   

 
           

     
 

                   
          

  
 

                   
           

        
 

 
                    

              
                 

         
 

 
                  

      
 

         
           

          
 

29 A.3 Where an applicant or partner holds a position in a company that is analogous to that of a 
sole owner or partner in the business of that company, he shall be treated as if he were such 
sole owner or partner and in such a case be subject to the substituted amount where 
appropriate. 

29 A.4 No start-up period may be applied in relation to an applicant where a start-up period has 
previously been applied, whether in relation to a current or previous award of a Council Tax 
Reduction. 

29 A.5 In order to establish whether to award a start up period, the applicant must satisfy the Council 
that the employment is 
• Genuine and effective. The Council must be satisfied that the employment activity is 

being conducted; and 
• Being conducted with the intention of increasing the income received to the level that 

would be conducive with that form of employment. 

29 A.6 For the purposes of determining whether an applicant is in gainful self-employment or meets 
the conditions for a start up-period, the Council will require the applicant to provide such 
evidence or information that it reasonably requires to make that decision, the Council may 
also require the self employed person to attend an interview for the purpose of establishing 
whether the employment is gainful or whether the conditions for a start up period are met. 

29 A.7 The Council may at any time suspend the action of the Minimum Income Floor. 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings 

30.1 For the purposes of section 21 (average weekly income other than earnings), the income of an 
applicant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account shall, subject to 
paragraphs 27.2 to 27.4, be his gross income and any capital treated as income under section 
31 (capital treated as income). 

30.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income under paragraph 
30.2, any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 4. 

30.3 Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way 
of recovery the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 30.1 shall be the gross 
amount payable. 

30.4 Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 
employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations, the amount of that benefit to be taken 
into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 

30.5 Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act is subject 
to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit 
which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 27.1 
shall be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that 
deduction. 

30.6 In paragraph 30.5 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending 
with 5th April in the next. 

30.7 Paragraph 30.8 and 30.9 apply where a relevant payment has been made to a person in an 
academic year; and that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 
payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 42 Page 324

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

               
                 

           
   
  
  

             
            

      
            

                 
          

         
                

          
             

     
        

 
                

        
       

   
               

                
     

 
            

        
                 

          
       

            
 

                  
             

       
   
            

       
         

   
      
            

     
     
      
     

          
   

 
                

 
       
                  

           
           

30.8 Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken 
into account for the assessment period for the purposes of paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person 
to whom paragraph 30.7 applies, shall be calculated by applying the formula– 
A - (BxC) 
D 
Where 
A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he 
remained a student until he last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which 
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on 
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 
C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, 
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 51.2 had the person not 
abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled 
to council tax support immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had 
that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 
D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

30.9 Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 
relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of 
paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person to whom paragraph (30.8) applies, shall be calculated by 
applying the formula in paragraph 30.8 but as if– 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, 
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was 
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 

30.10 In this section– ‘academic year’ and ‘student loan’ shall have the same meanings as for the 
purposes of sections 43 to 45, ‘assessment period’ means– 
a. in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 

reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last 
day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to 
that person; 

b. in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, 
the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the 
person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction 
week which includes– 

i. the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant 
payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 

ii. the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment 
was payable to that person. 

whichever of those date is earlier 
‘quarter’ in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on; 
a. 1st January and ending on 31st March; 
b. 1st April and ending on 30th June; 
c. 1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
d. 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
‘relevant payment’ means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 46.7 or both. 

30.11 For the avoidance of doubt there shall be included as income to be taken into account under 
paragraph 30.1 
a. any payment to which paragraph 25.2 (payments not earnings) applies; or 
b. in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act including support provided by virtue of regulations made 
under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of essential 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 43 Page 325

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

               
            

 

     
 

                  
                 

           
         

  
 

            
 

                
 

                  
 

 
                 

          
               

           

   
 

                 
           

 
     

  
         
         

          
    

         
           

      
          
   
     

   
       

            
                

 
   

 
              

              
               

         
        

               
 

living needs of the applicant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations 
made under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act. 

31.0 Capital treated as income 

31.1 Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the claim is 
made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, shall, if 
the aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the applicant’s capital 
otherwise calculated in accordance with sections 33 to 42 of this scheme exceeds £6,000, be 
treated as income. 

31.2 Any payment received under an annuity shall be treated as income. 

31.3 Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income shall be treated as income. 

31.4 Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act shall be treated as 
income 

31.5 Where an agreement or court order provides that payments shall be made to the applicant in 
consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments are to be made, 
wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the 
applicant (but not a payment which is treated as capital), shall be treated as income. 

32.0 Notional income 

32.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the 
purpose of securing entitlement of support or increasing the amount of that support. 

32.2 Except in the case of– 
a. a discretionary trust; 
b. a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit; 

d. any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); 

e. any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; 
f. rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the 1973 Act; 
g. child tax credit; or 
h. working tax credit, 
i. any sum to which paragraph 32.13 applies; 
any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by the applicant but only 
from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

32.3 – 32.5 Not used 

32.6 Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in paragraph 32.7 made– 
a. to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under or by a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection 
Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that 
member; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 44 Page 326

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

               
              

          
              

               
      

   
            

         
                

          
 

            
            

       
         

        
         

         
  

         
         
           

  
          

        
         

          
     
              

           
       

      
               
     
               
         

 
                  

               
             

            
              

    
 

      
         
        

            
           

            
 

 
     

            
             

      

b. to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family 
(but not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that 
member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of 
that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable; 

c. to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept 
or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

32.7 Paragraph 32.6 shall not apply in respect of a payment of income made– 
a. under the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 

(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

b. pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
c. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation– 

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation75(1)(a)(iv)of those Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations or; 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

d. in respect of a previous participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
e. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 

payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on 
behalf of the creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

32.8 Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit (other than council tax support) under the 
benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April 
in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority shall treat the applicant as 
possession such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in 
that year, whichever date the authority shall select to apply in its area, to the date on which the 
altered rate is to take effect. 

32.9 Subject to paragraph 32.10, where– 
a. applicant performs a service for another person; and 
b. that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 

employment in the area, the authority shall treat the applicant as possessing such 
earnings (if any) as is reasonable for that employment unless the applicant satisfies the 
authority that the means of that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for 
the service. 

32.10 Paragraph 32.9 shall not apply– 
a. to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 

volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to 
provide those services free of charge; or 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 45 Page 327

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
           

          
          
          

           
       

               
          

  
             

            
 

 
        

  
 

                 
           

               
  

 
              

             
             

           
           
       

        
             

                 
         

         
                

            
      

           
            
  

         
    

 
                

          
   

  

b. in a case where the service is performed in connection with– 
(i) the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance 
with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, other than where the 
service is performed in connection with the applicant’s participation in the Intense 
Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations or 
(ii) the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training 
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training 
allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole 
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in 
that programme ; or 

c. to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of 
State (or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement 
starts. 

32.10A In paragraph 32.10 (c) ‘work placement’ means practical work experience which is not 
undertaken in expectation of payment. 

32.11 Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of paragraph 32.1 to (32.8), 
the foregoing provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount 
of that income as if a payment has actually been made and as if it were actual income which he 
does possess. 

32.12 Where an applicant is treated a possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.9 the foregoing 
provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those 
earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he 
does possess except that paragraph (3) of section 26 (calculation of net earnings of employed 
earners) shall not apply and his net earnings shall be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings which he is treated as possessing, less; 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the starting rate or, as the case may be, the starting rate and the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under 
sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (personal allowances) as 
is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the 
earnings to which the starting rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rate basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension schemee. 

32.13 Paragraphs (32.1), (32.2), (32.6) and (32.9) shall not apply in respect of any amount of income 
other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s 
participation as a service user. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 46 Page 328

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

         

  

Sections 33 – 42 & Schedule 5 

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council Tax Support purposes 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 47 Page 329

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

   
             

       

    
               

            
        

 
           

     

        
 
              

     

     
            

 
 

                 
           

 
               

    
 

               
             

          
 

                
      

 
                  

            
            

       
 

           
           

            
  

 
                 

  
 

                 

       
 

           
     

33.0 Capital limit 
33.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the prescribed amount is £6,000 and no support shall be 

granted when the applicant has an amount greater that this level 

34.0 Calculation of capital 
34.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the capital of an applicant to be taken into account shall, 

subject to paragraph (34.2), be the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this 
scheme and any income treated as capital under section 36 (income treated as capital). 

34.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under paragraph (34.1), 
any capital, where applicable, specified in Schedule 5. 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person 

35.1 The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant’s family shall not be 
treated as capital of the applicant. 

36.0 Income treated as capital 
36.1 Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 applies and paid at 

intervals of at least one year shall be treated as capital. 

36.2 Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable 
to income tax under Schedule D or E shall be treated as capital. 

36.3 Any holiday pay which is not earnings under section 25(1)(d) (earnings of employed earners) 
shall be treated as capital. 

36.4 Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28, 
47 or 48 of Schedule 5, any income derived from capital shall be treated as capital but only from 
the date it is normally due to be credited to the applicant’s account. 

36.5 In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made 
by the applicant’s employer shall be treated as capital. 

36.6 Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 
other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the 
London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, shall be treated as capital. 

36.7 There shall be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 
person in respect of which assistance is received under the self- employment route, but only in 
so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that 
person was receiving such assistance. 

36.8 Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum shall be 
treated as capital. 

36.9 Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit shall be treated as capital. 

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 

37.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom shall be calculated at its current 
market or surrender value less– 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 48 Page 330

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

               
        

       
 
       

 
                  

                
 

                    
       

             
    

   
                 

            
           

   
     

    
          
      

   
         

       
         

          
       
   
    

       
             

      
 

                
              

               
         

        
         

               
             

          
               

               
      

   
              

         
                

         
 

             
             

a. where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent.; and 
b. the amount of any encumbrance secured on it; 

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 

38.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom shall be 
calculated 
a. in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 

Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value. 

b. in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in 
the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, 

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent. and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

39.0 Notional capital 
39.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to council tax support or increasing the amount of that support 
except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with section 40 (diminishing 
notional capital rule). 

39.2 Except in the case of 
(a) a discretionary trust; or 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 5; or 
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 

which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); or 
(f) any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by him but only from the 
date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

39.3 Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in paragraph (39.4), made 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal 
pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be 
treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family 
(but not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that 
member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of 
that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept 
or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

39.4 Paragraph 39.3 shall not apply in respect of a payment of capital made 
(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 49 Page 331

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

         
  

         
            

  
          
            

 
             

 
  

   
  

             
 

         
          

     
          

           
        

       
         

     
           

         
              

               
    

        
    

           
               

         
       

 
             

         
 

                 
               

       

     
               

     
           

           
  

         
      

              
          
                
      

          

Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund; 

(b) pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation 
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the 

Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those 

Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation17A(7) of those 

Regulations; or 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

(bb) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
Enterprise Scheme; 

(bc) in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme; 

(c) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 
payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom 

the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject 
to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate 
under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on 
behalf of the creditors; and 

(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is 
not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

39.5 Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole 
owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole 
owner or partner and in such a case 
(a) the value of his holding in that company shall, notwithstanding section 34 (calculation of 

capital) be disregarded; and 
(b) he shall, subject to paragraph 39.6, be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal 

to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company 
and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating 
that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

39.6 For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 
the amount which, he is treated as possessing under paragraph 39.5 shall be disregarded. 

39.7 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs 39.1 to 39.2 the 
foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital, which he does possess. 

40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule 
40.1 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under section 39.1 (notional capital), the 

amount which he is treated as possessing; 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to 

(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in paragraph 40.2 are 
satisfied; or 

(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, shall be 
reduced by an amount determined under paragraph 40.3; 

(b)in the case of a week in respect of which paragraph 40.1(a) does not apply but where 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in paragraph 40.4 is satisfied, shall be 
reduced by the amount determined under paragraph 40.4. 

40.2 This paragraph applies to a reduction week or part-week where the applicant satisfies the 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 50 Page 332

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
         
           

  
                

       
       
               

         
           

        
              

                 
            

    
          

       
               

      
 

             
         

           
       

    
 

             
         

           
 

             
       
             

         
             

 
               

       
           

    
                

   
             

       
              

           
                

         
            

       
            

             
             

        
             

  

conditions that 
(a) he is in receipt of council tax support; and 
(b) but for paragraph 39.1, he would have received an additional amount of council tax 

support in that week. 
40.3 In a case to which paragraph 40.2 applies, the amount of the reduction for the purposes of 

paragraph 40.1(a) shall be equal to the aggregate of 
(a) the additional amount to which sub-paragraph 40.2 (b) refers; 
(b) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit 

or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect 
of the whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations (notional capital); 

(c) where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to 
which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week 
to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income 
Support Regulations (notional capital); 

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the 
whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations (notional capital) 
and 

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the 
amount of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would 
have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of reduction week to which paragraph 
40.2 refers but for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations (notional capital). 

40.4 Subject to paragraph 40.5, for the purposes of paragraph 40.1(b) the condition is that the 
applicant would have been entitled to council tax support in the relevant week but for 
paragraph 39.1, and in such a case the amount of the reduction shall be equal to the aggregate 
of 
(a) the amount of council tax support to which the applicant would have been entitled in 

the relevant week but for paragraph 39.1; and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph is 
the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined by dividing the 
amount of council tax support to which he would have been so entitled by the number 
equal to the number of days in the part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained 
by 7; 

(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations, have 
been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect 
of the reduction week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount 
which is equal to– 
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would 

have been entitled; or 
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit 

to which he would have been entitled, 
and, for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, 
that amount shall be determined by dividing the amount of housing benefit to which he 
would have been so entitled by the number equal to that number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; 

(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations, have 
been entitled to income support in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning 
of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations, which includes the last day of the relevant week, 
the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income support to which he would have been so entitled 
by the number equal to the number of days in the part- week and multiplying the 
quotient so obtained by 7 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 51 Page 333

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

              
      

        
                

            
       

          
          

               
       

         
           

         
             

          
                  

         
 

          
          
   

           
          

           
         

 
  

          
              

        
           

           
       

               
  

           
 

             
         
       

 
    

  
             

 
               

 
      
            

         
     

         
          

        
             

  
          

(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, 
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the reduction 
week, within the meaning of this scheme, which includes the last day of the relevant 
week, the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this 
sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be 
determined by dividing the amount of the income-based jobseeker’s allowance to which 
he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; and 

(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of 
those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount must be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income-related employment and support allowance to 
which he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in that 
part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7. 

40.5 The amount determined under paragraph 40.4 shall be re-determined under that paragraph if 
the applicant makes a further claim for council tax support and the conditions in paragraph 40.6 
are satisfied, and in such a case– 

(a) sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) of paragraph 40.4 shall apply as if for the words ‘relevant 
week’ there were substituted the words ‘relevant subsequent week’; and 
(b)subject to paragraph 40.7, the amount as re-determined shall have effect from the 
first week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

40.6 The conditions are that 
(a) a further claim is made 26 or more weeks after 

(i) the date on which the applicant made a claim for council tax support in respect of which 
he was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 39.1; 

(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with 
paragraph 40.5, the date on which he last made a claim for council tax support which 
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to council tax support, whichever last 
occurred; and 

(b) the applicant would have been entitled to council tax support but for paragraph 39.1. 

40.7 The amount as re-determined pursuant to paragraph 40.5 shall not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a 
case the higher amount shall continue to have effect. 

40.8 For the purposes of this section 
(a) ‘part-week’ 

(i) in paragraph40.4(a)means a period of less than a week for which council tax support 
is allowed; 
(ii) in paragraph 40.4(b)means a period of less than a week for which housing benefit is 
payable; 
(iii) in paragraph 40.4 (c),(d)and(e)means– 

(aa) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support , an 
income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

(bb) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
(b) ‘relevant week’ means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question 

of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of section 39.1 
(i) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to council 
tax support; or 
(ii) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 52 Page 334

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

       
    

    
        

 
 

          
             

   

   
 

         
            

               
             

            
                

  

   
 
  

re-determining his entitlement to council tax support on that subsequent occasion and 
that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing 
to receive, council tax support; 
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to heads (i) and (ii) 
of this sub-paragraph the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the 
later or latest such part-week; 

(c) ‘relevant subsequent week’ means the reduction week or part-week which includes the 
day on which the further claim or, if more than one further claim has been made, the last 
such claim was made. 

41.0 Capital jointly held 

41.1 Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 39(5) 
(notional capital) where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled 
in possession to any capital asset they shall be treated as if each of them were entitled 
in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing 
provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of capital 
which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which the applicant 
does possess 

42.0 Not used 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 53 Page 335

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

         

  

	
              	

Sections 43 - 56 

Definition and the treatment of students for Council Tax Support purposes5 

5 Amounts shown in sections 43 to 56 will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 54 Page 336

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    
 

  
                 

           
          

        
           

   
          

      
          
       

             
          
            

 
 

         
            
       
  

           
             

       
  

         
          

         
        

        
      

         
  

      
   
         

                 
      

                  
        

             
   

            
              
             

          
           
           

        
             

  
           

            
             

          

43.0 Student related definitions 

43.1 In this scheme the following definitions apply; 
‘academic year’ means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st July 
or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, 
the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the 
course during August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the 
academic year of the course shall be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 
‘access funds’ means; 
a. grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
b. grants made under section 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
c. grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 

1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1997in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other 
payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial 
difficulties; 

d. discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding 
under sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 
2009; or 

e Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
‘college of further education’ means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 
1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
’contribution’ means; 
a. any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary 

of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in 
ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

b. any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority consider that it is reasonable for the following person to contribute towards 
the holder’s expenses; 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holders parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 

‘course of study’ means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether 
or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 
‘covenant income’ means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of 
Covenant by his parent; 
‘education authority’ means a government department, a local education authority as defined 
in section 12 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined 
in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 an education and library board 
established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any 
body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or 
any analogous government department, authority, board or body of the Channel Island, Isle of 
Man or any other country outside Great Britain; 
‘full-time course of study’ means a full time course of study which; 
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a 
full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers 
at a college of further education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher 
education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers;; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 55 Page 337

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                   
             

               
      

              
           

       
         

             
           
  

                  
     

        
        
            
         

            
            
           

      
              

 
           

       
          
    

   
      
          

              
         

                    
          

  
                   

       
    

                   
           

                     
                

              
    

                
        

            
        
           

   
                

             
            
   

                  
  

              

(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves 
more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to 
the number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out— 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning 
agreement signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either 
of those persons for the delivery of that course; or 
(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on 
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that 
course; or 

(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at 
a college of further education and involves— 
(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the 
number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 
(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 
learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured 
learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours 
exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document 
signed on behalf of the college; 

‘full-time student’ means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course; 
‘grant’ (except in the definition of ‘access funds’) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition allowance or bursary but does 
not include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 
4 or paragraph 53 of Schedule 5 applies; 
‘grant income’ means 

(a) any income by way of a grant; 
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

‘higher education’ means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; ‘last day of the course’ means; 
a. in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or 

the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever 
is the later; 

b. in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect 
of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

‘period of study’ means– 
a. in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the 

start of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
b. in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case 

may be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, 
the period beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, the year’s 
start and ending with either– 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s 
grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year, 
or, if he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at 
such a rate had he had one; or 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation 
appropriate to his course; 

c. in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning 
with that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

‘periods of experience’ means periods of work experience which form part of a 
sandwich course; 
‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 
‘modular course’ means a course of study which consists of two or more modules, the 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 56 Page 338

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

      
      

         
         

         
 

     
            

        
       

          
         

               
      

                 
           

      
               

        
 

                  
        

         
  

       
   

            
                

          
       

      
 

            
              

                   
            
         

              
        

            
                 

          
           

 
        

  
               

             
           

         
     

            
        

               
 

successful completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is considered 
by the educational establishment to have completed the course. 
’sandwich course’ has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans), (Scotland), 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 
‘standard maintenance grant’ means– 
(a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or 

undertaking a course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the 
area comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount 
specified for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) for such a student; 

(b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, 
the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 

(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, the amount of money specified as ‘standard maintenance allowance’ for the 
relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland 
Guide issued by the student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the 
case of a bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education 
authority; 

(d) in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 

‘student’ means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is 
attending or undertaking– 
(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
(b) a qualifying course; 
‘student’ loan’ means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations 

made under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and shall include, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Student’s Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007 

43.2 For the purposes of the definition of ‘full-time student’, a person shall be regarded as attending 
or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course 
(a) in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would 

be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on 
the day on which that part of the course starts and ending; 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 
attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 

(b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts 
attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such 
earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

43.3 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 43.2, the period referred to in that sub-
paragraph shall include; 
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed to successfully complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-
time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course 
for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the 
course. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 57 Page 339

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    
 

        

         
 

              
       

 
                 

                  
          

 
     

          
   
     

          
   

         
            

      
               

          
            

             
     

              
       

               
          

   
            

      
                 

        
        

  
              

             
     

   
        

    
            
         

        
         

 
          

         
 

           
          
      

         

44.0 Treatment of students 

44.1 The following sections relate to students who claim Council Tax Support 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax support 

45.1 Students (except those specified in paragraph 45.3) are not able to claim Council Tax Support 
under Classes D and E of the Council’s reduction scheme. 

45.2 To be eligible for support, the student must be liable for Council Tax under Section 6 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and they must not be deemed to be a full time student or a 
persons from abroad within the meaning of section 7 of this scheme (persons from aboard). 

45.3 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a student 
(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this scheme, include the disability premium or 
severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include, but for this scheme, the disability premium but 
for his being treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with 
regulations made under section 171E of the Act; 
(e)who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the Act (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for 
this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days 
shall be treated as one continuous period; 
(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated 
as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose 
any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be 
treated as one continuous period. 
(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person; 
(h)who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989, or, in Scotland, boarded out within 
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(i) who is; 

(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, or 
(ii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the Act 
(child and qualifying young person); 

(j) in respect of whom 
i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 
2 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes 
a sum under paragraph (1)(d) or regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances 
(Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of 
regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, 
in respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii) a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 or under 
or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998; 
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or 
(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 58 Page 340

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

        
         
   

 
     

 
            

    
 

         
           
            

                  
 

 
              

     
 

          
         

       
 

              
 

          
       

        
  
 

             
         

            
 

            
         

                
        
          

      
    

     
 

            
     

 
         

 
      
  
          

     
                 

  
           

 

Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, 

on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

45.3A For the purposes of paragraph 45.3(h)(i) the student must have begun, or been enrolled or 
accepted onto the course before attaining the age of 19 

45.4 For the purposes of paragraph 45.3, once paragraph 45.3(e) applies to a full-time student, if he 
then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

45.5 In paragraph 45.3(h) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 
any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 

45.6 A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 45.3 applies, shall be treated as 
satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

45.7 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in paragraph 45.8 
if; 
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is; 
(i) engaged in caring for another person; or 
(ii) ill; 

(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in engaging in caring for that person or, as 
the case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 

(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in 
paragraph 45.8. 

45.8 The period specified for the purposes of paragraph 45.7 is the period, not exceeding one year, 
beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before; 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 

resume attending or undertaking the course, 
which shall first occur. 

46.0 Calculation of grant income 

46.1 The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 
46.2 and 46.3, be the whole of his grant income. 

46.2 There shall be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment; 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study 

away from the student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he 

resides during his course; 
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside of the United 

Kingdom; 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 59 Page 341

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
                
  

              
                  

       
            
            

    
          

  
 

              
          

         
    

 
            

 
               

          
               

         
      

                
                

         
            

 
                 

            
          

            
           
  

 
                    

          
            

            
        

 
                  

            
             

            
           

       
 

              
          

              
        

 
          

(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course; 
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant. 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part III of the Children Act 1989. 

46.3 Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, 
there shall be excluded from the student’s grant income; 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b)the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or 
not any such costs are incurred. 
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended). 

46.4 There shall also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998. 

46.5 Subject to paragraphs 46.6 and 46.7, a student’s grant income shall be apportioned; 

(a) subject to paragraph 46.8, in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the period of study and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

46.6 Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2004 shall be apportioned equally 
over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the 
year, 53. 

46.7 In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 
student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants to which neither paragraph 46.6 nor section 50 (other amounts to 
be disregarded) apply, shall be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

46.8 In the case if a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 
study shall be excluded and the student’s grant income shall be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last 
day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 

47.1 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 
contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account 
for that period and any summer vacation immediately following shall be the whole amount of 
the covenant income less, subject to paragraph 47.3, the amount of the contribution. 

47.2 The weekly amount of the student’s covenant shall be determined– 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 60 Page 342

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

          
         

      
 

             
         
                

     

          
 

             
    

       
             

            
             

          
      

        
           

          
 

                    
        

     
               

           
   

             
             

        
 

             
   

     
 

          
          

           
           

            
           

     

      
 

         
 

  
                  

         
 

             

(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under paragraph 
47.1 by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 

(b) by disregarding from the resulting amount, £5. 

47.3 For the purposes of paragraph 47.1, the contribution shall be treated as increased by the 
amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 46.2(g) (calculation of grant 
income) falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 

48.1 Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant income 
shall be calculated as follows; 
(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 46.2 (a) to (e) (calculation 
of grant income) necessary as a result of his attendance on the course shall be disregarded; 
(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not 

so disregarded, shall be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 
(c) there shall be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would 

have been disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and 46.3 (calculation of grant income) 
had the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

(d) the balance, if any, shall be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 shall be disregarded. 

48.2 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 
the amount of his covenanted income shall be calculated in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a) 
to (d) of paragraph 48.1, except that; 
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant shall be abated by the amount of such grant 

income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 
46.2 (a) to (e); and 

(b) the amount to be disregarded under paragraph 48.1(c) shall be abated by an amount 
equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and (g) and 46.3. 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard 

49.1 No part of a student’s covenant income or grant income shall be disregarded under paragraph 
15 of Schedule 4 to this scheme 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded 

50.1 For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans 
treated as income in accordance with section 51, any amounts intended for any expenditure 
specified in paragraph 46.2 (calculation of grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance 
on the course shall be disregarded but only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure 
exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraphs 46.2 or 
46.3, 47.3, 48.1(a) or (c) or 51.5 (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment 
of student loans) on like expenditure. 

51.0 Treatment of student loans 

51.1 A student loan shall be treated as income. 

51.2 In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income 
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

payable in respect of that period shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week ,the first day of which coincides 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 61 Page 343

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

             
               
           

 
             

      
 

                  
             

        
           

         
        

           
              

          
  

 
                  

          
    

            
           

            
          

      
        

      
 
            

   
         
           
     

        
      

 
           
 

            
          
          

 
               

           
                

   
               

      
           

                   
         

                
 

     
 

            

with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year; 
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the 

course is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending 
with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes with last day of the course, 

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a 
loan which is payable in respect of that academic year shall be apportioned equally 
between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately 
precedes, the last day of that academic year but excluding any reduction weeks falling 
entirely within the quarter during which, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, the 
longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, ‘quarter’ 
shall have the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005; 

(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 
duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year shall be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincide with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or 
the first day of the autumn term, 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

(d) in any other case, the loan shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 
beginning with the earlier of; 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the 

first day of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall be disregarded £10. 

51.3 A student shall be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where; 
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 

51.4 Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under paragraph 51.3, the amount of 
the student loan to be taken into account as income shall be, subject to paragraph 51.5 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a 

sum equal to 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking 
reasonable steps to do so; and 
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if; 

(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire 
in respect of that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 

51.5 There shall be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under paragraph 51.4 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 62 Page 344

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

            
          

     
         

  

    
                  

              
       

       

        
 

           
     

 
                

  
 

               
           

            
              

              
                

  
 

         
                

        
        

         
 

    
 

   
 
                 

       
          

   

      
 

                  
           

  

     
 

                  
  

 

(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether 

or not any such costs are incurred. 
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended). 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans 
51A. 1A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations 

made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 
22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds 

52.1 This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which 
paragraph 55.2 or 55.3 (income treated as capital) applies. 

52.2 A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which paragraph 52.3 applies, shall be 
disregarded as income. 

52.3 Subject to paragraph 52.4 of this section and paragraph 35 of Schedule 4, 
a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, 

ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family and 

b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for 
which that applicant or member is liable, shall be disregarded as income to the extent of 
£20 per week. 

52.4 Where a payment from access funds is made– 
(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before 

receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the 
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a 
student, 

that payment shall be disregarded as income. 

53.0 Disregard of contribution 

53.1 Where the applicant or his partner is a student and for the purposes of assessing a contribution 
to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, 
an amount equal to that contribution shall be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that 
other partner’s income. 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income 

54.1 Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purpose of 
assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account shall be 
disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

55.0 Income treated as capital 

55.1 Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income shall be 
treated as capital. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 63 Page 345

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                      
 
                    

             
                
               

       
               

            
              
     

  

55.2 Any amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum shall be treated as capital. 

55.3 An amount paid from access fund as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 
other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an 
item other than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, 
shall be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
56.1 In calculating a student’s income the authority shall disregard any change in the standard 

maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s 
course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 64 Page 346

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

       

  

Sections 57 – 63 

The calculation and amount of Council Tax Support 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 65 Page 347

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

     
 

              
                   

  
      

            
               

        
    

          
             

         
         

 
                

                  
         

 
              

           
        

         
           

          
 

                  
      

   
          

            
 

                    
      

 
       

              
  

           
            

         
              

           
   

 
            

 
          

  
     

        
       

     
        

           

57.0 Maximum council tax support 

57.1 Subject to paragraphs 57.2 to 57.4, the amount of a person’s maximum council tax support in 
respect of a day for which he is liable to pay council tax, shall be 100 per cent, of the amount A 
divided by B where; 
(a) A is the lower of either; 

i. amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which 
he is liable, subject to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling 
under the 1992 Act; or 

ii. the amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of a dwelling within Band D subject to any discount 
which may be appropriate to the person’s circumstances; and 

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year 

57.2 In calculating a person’s maximum council tax support any reduction in the amount that person 
is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any enactment in, or 
made under, the 1992 Act, shall be taken into account. 

57.3 Subject to paragraph 57.4, where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons but excepting any 
person so residing with the applicant who is a student to whom paragraph 45.2 (students who 
are excluded from entitlement to council tax support) applies, in determining the maximum 
council tax support in his case in accordance with paragraph 57.1, the amount A shall be divided 
by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

57.4 Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with 
only his partner, paragraph 57.3 shall not apply in his case 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions 
58.1 Subject to the following provisions the non-dependant deductions in respect of a day referred 

to in section 57 (maximum council tax reduction) shall be £4 x 1/7. 

58.2 Only one deduction shall be made under this section in respect of a couple or, as the case may 
be, members of a polygamous marriage. 

58.3 Where in respect of a day– 
a. a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 

dwelling and that day; 
b. other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for 

council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 or 
77 or 77A of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

c. the person to whom sub-paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the 
liable persons, the deduction in respect of that non-dependant shall be apportioned equally 
between those liable persons. 

58.4 No deduction shall be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling 
if the applicant or his partner is– 
a. blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 (additional condition for the 

disability premium); or 
b. receiving in respect of himself: 

• attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for: 
i. a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) 

of The Act; or 
ii. an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

• the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 66 Page 348

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

   
       

     
        

          
        

       
           

        
         
 

   

       
  

          
           
      
      

       
          

    
 

 
  

	
 	

component but for: 
i. a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) 

of The Act; or 
ii. an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

c. the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving that 
allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

d. an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance with 
any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows for a 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution; 

59.0 Not used 

60.0 Extended reductions: - Movers Generally 6 

60.1 Where; 
a. an application is made to the authority for a reduction under its scheme, and 
b. the applicant or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction from; 

(i) another billing authority in England; or 
(ii) a billing authority in Wales, 
the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled 
under its Council Tax Reduction scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

62.0 - 63.0 Not used 

6 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 67 Page 349

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
  

Sections 64 – 67 

Dates on which entitlement and changes of circumstances are to take effect 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 68 Page 350

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

     
                

             
         

    

        
 

          
         

          
           

               
             

     
 

               
           

 
                    

           

                   
 

                
       

 
         

       
 

               
         

               
          

 
            

             
            

            
        

       
 

               
                

            
               
    

 

 

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin 
64.1 Subject to paragraph 64.2, any person to whom or in respect of whom a claim for council tax 

reduction is made and who is otherwise entitled to that support shall be so entitled from the 
date on which that claim is made or is treated as made. 

65.0 - 66.0 Not Used 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 

67.1 Except in cases where section 24 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) applies and 
subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a change of circumstances which affects 
entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s scheme (“change of 
circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of the reduction week following the date on 
which the change actually occurs, and where that change is cessation of entitlement to any 
benefit under the benefit Acts, the date on which the change actually occurs shall be the day 
immediately following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

67.2 Subject to paragraph (3), where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 
council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 

67.3 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 
of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under sections 11 
or 12 of that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect. 

67.4 Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change takes 
effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 

67.5 Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their separation, it 
takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 

67.6 If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but for 
this paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with paragraphs (1) to (5) 
they take effect from the day to which the appropriate paragraph from (2) to (5) above refers, 
or, where more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day. 

67.7 Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, 
other than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the Act, is paid in respect 
of a past period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the 
change of circumstances shall take effect from the first day on which such income, had it been 
paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into 
account for the purposes of this scheme. 

67.8 Without prejudice to paragraph (7), where the change of circumstances is the payment of 
income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of circumstances takes 
effect from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously paid in that period at 
intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the 
purposes of this scheme. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 69 Page 351

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

         

  

Sections 68– 74A 

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council Tax Support purposes 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 70 Page 352

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    
 

                 
                  

    
 

              
  

          
        

           
       

           
           

          
            

  
         

    
 

                     
      

                   
              
          

  
 

                 
   

          
              

        
         

  
 

                     
          

       
           

  
 

               
           

           
     

         
              

 
    

  
        

     

	
   	
 	

68.0 Who may claim7 

68.1 In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application shall be made by 
whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such one of 
them as the authority determines. 

68.2 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act, and; 
(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to apply, or as the 

case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or 

appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply 
or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 

that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application 
on behalf of that person. 

68.3 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act and paragraph (2) does not apply to him, an authority may, upon written application 
made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint that person 
to exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that person might 
be entitled under the authority’s scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums 
payable to him. 

68.4 Where the authority has made an appointment under paragraph (3) or treated a person as an 
appointee under paragraph (5); 
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing 

to the authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) any such appointment shall terminate when the authority is notified of the appointment 

of a person mentioned in paragraph (2). 

68.5 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 
unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under 
regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to 
act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them 
under paragraph (3). 

68.6 Anything required by an authority’s scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time 
being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned paragraph (2) above or by or 
to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of any 
such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under an authority’s scheme8 

69.1 Paragraphs 2 to 8 apply to an application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme. 

69.2 An application may be made— 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of Schedule 7 Council 

Tax Reductions (Prescribed requirements) Regulations 2012 or 

7 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
8 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 71 Page 353

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

              
    

 
                  

 
             
 

            
                    

    
            

         
         

  
 
             

        
        

 
 

          
           
                  

         
     

   
            

               
 

 
              

             
 

 
             

           
         

     
 

                 
             

  
 

               
         

              
 

 
            

             
 

     
              

      
                

           
              

(c) (where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 
such applications) by telephone. 

69.3 (1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the offices of the authority on a 
properly completed form. 
(2) The form will be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 

69.4. Where an application received by the authority is defective because 
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by the 

authority as being properly completed; or 
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the authority 

does not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information and 
evidence, 

the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to 
complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, 
supply the applicant with the approved form or request further information and 
evidence. 

69.5. (1) Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
(a) the form provided by the authority has not been properly completed; or 
(b) if it is made in writing, but not on the form provided by the authority, and the authority 

does not consider the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case; 

the authority may request the applicant to complete the defective application or (as the case 
may be) supply the applicant with the form to complete or request further information or 
evidence. 

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if completed 
in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide 
information and evidence in connection with the application. 

69.6. (1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority will provide 
the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not 
provide all the information the authority requires. 

69.7. In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only 
valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances 
provided by the authority. 

69.8. (1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority will provide the person making 
the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the 
information the authority requests during the telephone call. 

69.9 Notwithstanding other paragraphs within this section, the authority will determine the method 
by which claims are to be made as well as where claims should be sent or delivered. 

69.10 Where an applicant (‘C’)– 
(a) makes a claim which includes (or which C subsequently requests should include) a period 

before the claim is made; and 
(b) from a day, in that period, up to the date when C made the claim (or subsequently 

requested that the claim should include a past period), C had continuous good cause for 
failing to make a claim (or request that the claim should include that period), 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 72 Page 354

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

           

    
         

    
        

        
        
           
       

         
        

         
  

   
         

       
      
           

        
          
        

       
   

          
       

             
           

      
             

       
             

          
       

              
  

       
       

         
 

          
   

         
          

   
 

     
              

              
        

               
              

         
       

           
              

the claim is to be treated as made on a date determined by the authority. 

69A.0 Date on which a claim made 
69A.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is 

(a) in a case where; 
(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an 
income- related employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit 
has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 
(ii) the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one month of 
the date on which the claim for that income support, jobseeker's allowance, 
employment and support allowance or universal credit was received, 

the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that 
claim; 
(b) in a case where— 

(i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance 
or has an award of universal credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect 
of the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the authority’s offices within 
one month of the date of the change, 

the date on which the change takes place; 
(c) in a case where— 

(i) the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his 
death or their separation, entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and 
(ii) where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme 
within one month of the date of the death or the separation, 

the date of the death or separation; 
(d) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to the applicant following 
the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
application, the date of first notification; 
(e) in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the offices of the 
authority. 

69A.2 For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(a) a person who has been awarded an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance is to 
be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately precede the first day 
in that award and on which he would, but for regulations made under— 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
have been entitled to that allowance. 

69A.3 Where the defect in an application by telephone: 
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 
(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has 
sufficient information to decide on the application. 

69A.4 The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first 
instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 73 Page 355

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
     

            
             

      
              

 
              

             
            

     
    

              
           

            
 

        
              
            
            
          
         
 

         
              

               
            

      
               

          
                  

      
              

      
 

 
            

           

    
 

         
        

       
            

         

   
 

                
        

            
         

	
 	

are satisfied. 
69A.5 The conditions are that— 

(a) where the authority receives the properly completed application or the information 
requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer 
period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(b) where an application is not on approved form or further information requested by 
authority applies; 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be;   
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested within one month 
of the request;  or, 
in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices 
the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one 
month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable. 

69A.6 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in United 
Kingdom, where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is 
anticipated that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), 
he may apply for a reduction under this scheme at any time in that period in respect of that 
tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the authority is to treat the 
application as having been made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 

69A.7 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in United Kingdom, 
where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the reduction week 
immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of the opinion that 
unless there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
for a period beginning not later than 
(a) in the case of an application made by a pensioner, the seventeenth reduction week 
following the date on which the application is made, or 
(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth 
reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week immediately 
preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a reduction 
accordingly. 

69A.8 Sub-paragraph (7) applies in the case of a person who has attained, or whose partner has 
attained, the age which is 17 weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit. 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically 

70.1 The authority may accept such evidence, documents and certificates to support the claim 
electronically where it feels that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence 
71.1 The authority may accept such evidence to support the claim by telephone where it feels 

that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

72.0 Evidence and information9 

72.1 Subject to paragraph (2), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a reduction 
under an authority’s scheme has been awarded, shall furnish such certificates, documents, 
information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any question 
arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in 

9 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 74 Page 356

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

         
            

 
 

              
     

 
          

 
                

        
                  

        
             

 

      

            
         

  

        
        

  

      
           

      

                
            

      
         

          

          
        

      
 

                 
           
 

               
      

 
                   

   
 

             
           

 

	
     	

order to determine that person's entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under 
its scheme and shall do so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such 
longer period as the authority may consider reasonable. 

72.2 Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, information 
or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (4) applies. 

72.3 Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (1), the authority shall; 

(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme has been 
awarded of his duty to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; and 

(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed, indicate to him either orally or by 
notice or by reference to some other document available to him on application and 
without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is to be notified. 

72.4 This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 

(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
Fund; 

(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made 
under certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006); 

(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 29(9)(b) or (c) (non-dependant 
deductions) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (second adult's gross income) other than 
a payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

72.5 Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded 
or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a member of, or 
a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension scheme, he must 
where the authority so requires furnish the following information 

(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 

(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable 
 the personal pension scheme to be identified. 

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of claim 10 

73.1 A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has 
been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the offices of the authority. 

73.2 Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with this scheme, the amendment 
may also be made by telephone. 

73.3 Any application amended in accordance with paragraph (1) or (2) will be treated as if it had been 
amended in the first instance. 

73.4 A person who has made an application may withdraw it at any time before a decision has been 
made on it by notice to the offices of the authority. 

10 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 75 Page 357

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

               
      

 
                 

 
 

      
 

           
         

               
         

        
    
   

             
          

   
            

  
         
 

       
        
         
             

       
         

    
             

               
    

    
 

             
         

                    
 

 
 

  

	
 	

73.5 Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with this scheme, the withdrawal 
may also be made by telephone. 

73.6 Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with paragraph (4) or (5) shall have effect when 
it is received. 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances11 

74.1 Subject to paragraphs (2), (5) and (6), if at any time between the making of an application to an 
authority and a decision being made on it there is a change of circumstances which the applicant 
(or any person acting on his behalf) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his 
entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under that authority’s scheme, that person is 
under a duty to notify that change of circumstances by giving notice to the authority; 
(a) in writing; or 
(b) by telephone; 

(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose unless the 
authority determines that in any particular case or class of case notification may not be 
given by telephone; or 
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be given 
by telephone; or 

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case. 

74.2 The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying changes in; 
(a) the amount of a council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance 

or an income-related employment and support allowance, or who has an award of 
universal credit, in circumstances which affect the amount of income support, an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support 
allowance or universal credit but not the amount of the reduction under this scheme to 
which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to income support, an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support 
allowance or universal credit. 

74.3 Notwithstanding paragraph (2)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by paragraph (1) to notify the 
authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that a person who 
was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he ceases to be a child or 
young person. 

11 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 76 Page 358

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

     
  

Sections 75- 90 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Support 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 77 Page 359

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

     
                  

       

    
 

       
 

                 
 

                 
  

 
             

 
   
      

 
          

    
 

               
            

        
   

 
         

 
 

               
              

    
 

    
  

           
    
           

    
               

            
     

           
          

            
    
      

       
 

          
                

	
 	
 	
 	

75.0 Decisions by the authority12 

75.1 An authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under its scheme within 14 
days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

76.0 Notification of decision13 

76.1 The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under this 
scheme 
(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter; 
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter. 

76.2 Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
include a statement— 
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 74.1; 
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 
that duty; and 
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction 
or its amount. 

76.3 A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, 
within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the 
authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter 
set out in the notice. 

76.4 The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (3) must be sent to the person requesting 
it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

76.5 For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision 
of the authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are 
affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (6). 

76.6 This sub-paragraph applies to— 
a)the applicant; 
b)in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable 
for the time being to act— 
(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may be, 
receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with 
Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit 
on the person’s behalf; or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 
a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 68.2. 
c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 68.3 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax support14 

77.1 Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme in respect of his liability 
for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year (“the 

12 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
13 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
14 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 78 Page 360

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

       
             

      
   
         

             
      

               
     

          
   

 
          

          
 

  
                  

       
             

            
 

           
             

         
          

                 
          

            
     

                 
                

     
 

         
            

    
 

         
 

                 
     

 
                  

                 
          

  
 

     
                 

                 
      

	
  	
 	

chargeable year”), the authority must discharge his entitlement; 
(a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) of the 

Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 
(b) where; 

(i) such a reduction is not possible; or 
(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme; or 
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax 
and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by making 
payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded where 
necessary to the nearest penny. 

77.2 The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the amount 
of that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of paragraph (1). 

77.3 In a case to which paragraph (1)(b) refers; 
(a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the chargeable 

year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been made, is 
insufficient to enable his entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s scheme in 
respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax becoming due any 
outstanding reduction; 
(i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year; 

(b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has discharged 
the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction under the 
authority’s scheme in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if that is not 
reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter 

(c) in any other case, the reduction under the authority’s scheme must be paid within 14 
days of the receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is not 
reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter. 

77.4 For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's council 
tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 
1992 refers (council tax payments). 

78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid 15 

78.1 Subject to section 80 (payment on death) and paragraph (2), any payment of the amount of a 
reduction must be made to that person. 

78.2 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme 
made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an 
appointment or is treated as having been so appointed, the amount of the reduction may be 
paid to that person. 

79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction16 

79.1 Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under an authority’s scheme to a 
person, it is determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person 
was entitled, the authority must either; 

15 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
16 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 79 Page 361

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                   
          

             
    

                
              

            
 

       
 

           
             

                
       
   

 

  
 

                   
        

           
          

     

   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

	
 	

(a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 
possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the 
council tax of the authority as it has effect for the chargeable financial year until that 
shortfall is made good; or 

(b) where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of any 
shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the decision 
being made or if that is not reasonable practicable, as soon as possible afterwards. 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled17 

80.1 Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not possible to 
award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax for which he was 
liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction to his executor or 
administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax (Administration and 
Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

. 

81.0 Offsetting 

81.1 Where a person has been allowed or paid a sum of council tax support under a decision which 
is subsequently revised or further revised, any sum allowed or paid in respect of a period 
covered by the subsequent decision shall be offset against arrears of entitlement under the 
subsequent decision except to the extent that the sum exceeds the arrears and shall be treated 
as properly awarded or paid on account of them. 

82 – 90 Not used 

17 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 80 Page 362

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

      
  

Sections 91 – 94 

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Support purposes 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 81 Page 363

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

              
     

 
           

        
              

            
    

 
              

              
   

    
 

       
          
        
     
     
        

 
     

 

    
 

   
         
               

          
 

   
 

        
          

    
         

              
 

 
  

	
             

91.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) 

91.1 The authority will use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council 
Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within 
Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and the Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services 
etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

91.2 Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share 
information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in 
accordance with Data Protections requirements18. 

92.0 Collection of information 

92.1 The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for council 
tax support, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from– 
(a) persons making claims for council tax support; 
(b) other persons in connection with such claims; 
(c) other local authorities; or 
(d) central government departments including the DWP and HMRC 

92.2 The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained. 

93.0 Recording and holding information 

93.1 The authority may 
(a) may make a record of such information; and 
(b) may hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose 
of forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering council tax support. 

94.0 Forwarding of information 

94.1 The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims 
to or awards of council tax support to which the relevant information relates, being 
(i) a local authority; 
(ii) a person providing services to a local authority; or 
(iii) a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to council tax 
support. 

18 Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014 and Data Retention Regulations 2014 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 82 Page 364

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

       
  

Sections 95 – 98 

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council Tax Support 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 83 Page 365

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    
                   

 
  
              

      
               

       
         

    
               
          

           
     

 

    
            

             
       

          
         

            
          

         
  

          

   
                

               
           

       
 

  
            

      
        
       

 
            

     
        
       

                
        

 
 
  

95.0 Persons affected by Decisions 
95.1 A person is to be treated as a person affected by a relevant decision of the authority here that 

person is; 
a. an applicant; 
b. in the case of a person who is liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act 
(i) a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit or support on his behalf, 
(ii) in Scotland, a tutor, curator, judicial factor or other guardian acting or appointed in 
terms of law administering that person’s estate, or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to receive benefit or support appointed 
by the person liable to make those payments under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise; 

c. a person appointed by the authority under this scheme; 

96.0 Revisions of Decisions 
96.1 Subject to the provisions in this scheme, a relevant decision (‘the original decision) may be 

revised or further revised by the authority, which made the decision where the person affected 
makes an application for a revision within; 

(i) one month of the date of notification of the original decision; or 
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow. 

96.2 The authority may revise or further revise that original decision at any time. Where further 
information is required from the person affected, the authority shall request such information 
and evidence as it feels is reasonable. Such information must be supplied within; 

i) one month of the date of notification of the additional information; or 
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow 

97.0 Written Statements 
97.1 Subject to the provisions in the scheme, the authority may upon a written request issue a 

written statement to a person affected to further explain the decision of the authority in 
relation to Council Tax Support. The request must be received within one month of the date of 
the notification being issued by the authority. 

98.0 Terminations 
98.1 The authority may terminate support in whole or in part the Council Tax Support where it 

appears to the authority that an issue arises whether; 
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council Tax Support are or were fulfilled; or 
b. a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded. 

98.2 The authority may terminate, in whole or in part the Council Tax Support where it appears to 
the authority that an issue arises whether; 
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council Tax Support are or were fulfilled; or 
b. a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded. 
Where the person fails to provide information to the authority as requested in relation to any 
matter relating to their liability for Council Tax 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 84 Page 366

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
 
  

Section 99 

Appeals against the authority’s decisions 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 85 Page 367

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

         
 

             
      
         

              
     
 

   
      
   

      
          

 
 

            
       

                 
      

 
  

	
  	
            	

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority19 

99.1 A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority, which affects; 
a. the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or 
b. the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled, 

may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds 
on which, he is aggrieved. 

99.2 The authority must 
a. consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
b. notify the aggrieved person in writing; 

i. that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
ii. that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps 

taken. 

99.3 Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, 
or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(b) 
within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to the valuation tribunal under 
section 16 of the 1992 Act20. 

19 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
20 As amended by the Tribunal Procedure (Amendment No 3 ) Rules 2014 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 86 Page 368

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   
  

Section 100 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 87 Page 369

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

           
 

                  
   

    
       
 

                
       

   
      
  

	
 	

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act21 

100. 1 An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act must 
be made; 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with this scheme 

100.2 An application to the authority for a reduction not in accordance with paragraph 1 on the 
grounds of Exceptional Hardship under this scheme must be made: 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by any means acceptable to the authority. 

21 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 88 Page 370

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  
  

	
   	

Section 101 – 106A22 

Electronic Communication 

22 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 89 Page 371

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
  

   
              
       
 

      
 

     
       
 

              
            
   
 

           
          
   
 

         
        
   
      

    
     

 
        

  
 

        
         
 

               
    
 

              
          

    
 

    
            
          

        

        
 

               
            
       

    
    

   
 

101.0 Interpretation 
101.1 In this Part; 

“information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of an 
authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication 

102.1 The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
awards of, reductions under its scheme. 

102.2 A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 
the matters referred to in paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in paragraphs (3) to (6) 
are satisfied. 

102.3 The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of 
the authority. 

102.4 The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of: 
a. authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
b. electronic communication; 
c. authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic 

communication; and 
d. subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 

102.5 The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is 
in a form approved for the purposes. 

102.6 The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form 
as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 

102.7 Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 

102.8 In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
Executive of the authority for the purposes of this section. 

103.0 Use of intermediaries 

103.1 The authority may use intermediaries in connection with; 
a. the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
b. the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 

and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 

104.1 Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be 
treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of an 
authority’s scheme on the day the conditions imposed: 

a. by this section; and 
b. by or under an enactment, 

are satisfied. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 90 Page 372

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

       
      
 

  
                
  

         
 

   
             

   
            

     
              
     

     
 

                
            
     
             
  
             
    
 

                
           
            
    
 

               
              
          

      
 

                
               
      

 

 

 
 
 

104.2 The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 
different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 

104.3 Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 
means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
delivered. 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 

105.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of: 
a. the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 

official computer system; or 
b. the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication 

from an official computer system, 
the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name 
is recorded as such on that official computer system. 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information 

106.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is presumed to 
have been the case where; 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system. 

106.2 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this is 
presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not 
been recorded on an official computer system. 

106.3 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and 
date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 

106A.0 Proof of content of information 

106A.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is presumed to be 
that recorded on an official computer system. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 91 Page 373

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 
  

Section 107 

Counter Fraud and Compliance 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 92 Page 374

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
 

                
         

              
      
       

 
           

            
 

             
             
          

         
            

 
 

           
       
          
         
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance 

107.1 In order to protect the finances of the authority and also in the interests of all council taxpayers, 
the authority will undertake such actions as allowed by law to; 

a. Prevent and detect fraudulent claims and actions in respect of Council Tax Support; 
b. Carry out investigations fairly, professionally and in accordance with the law; and 
c. Ensure that sanctions are applied in appropriate cases 

107.2 The authority believes that it is important to minimise the opportunity for fraud and; 
a. will implement rigorous procedures for the verification of claims for council tax 

support; 
b. will employ sufficient Officers to fulfil the authority’s commitment to combat fraud; 
c. will actively tackle fraud where it occurs in accordance with this scheme; 
d. will co-operate with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Her Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs and take part in joint working including prosecutions; and 
e. will in all cases seek to recover all outstanding council tax. 

107.3 The authority shall put into place such administrative policies, procedures and processes as 
are necessary to ensure that the actions outlined within paragraph 107.1 and 107.2 can be 
carried out successfully. In particular the authority shall undertake actions provided by the 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
2013. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 93 Page 375

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

            
 

  

Schedule 1 

Calculation of the amount of Council Tax Reduction in accordance with the 
Discount Scheme 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 94 Page 376

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
            

    
 

      
 

 
 

      

      

      

      

      

 
      

  
           

                
              
               
           

          

          
      
        
         

                
    

             
               

           

                 
  

               
          

            
            

  

1 The authority’s Council Tax Reduction scheme from 2023/24 shall be calculated on the basis 
of the following Banded Discount Scheme: 

Discount Single 
person Couple Single with 

child/children 
Couple with 
child/children 

Band 1 100% £0 to 
£78.00 

£0 to 
£122.00 £0 to £ 148.00 £0 to £192.00 

Band 2 80% £78.01 to 
£111.00 

£122.01 to 
£155.00 

£148.01 to 
£181.00 

£192.01 to 
£225.00 

Band 3 60% £111.01 to 
£144.00 

£155.01 to 
£188.00 

£188.01 to 
£214.00 

£225.01 to 
£258.00 

Band 4 40% £144.01 to 
£177.00 

£188.01 to 
£221.00 

£214.01 to 
£247.00 

£258.01 to 
£291.00 

Band 5 20% £177.01 to 
£210.00 

£221.01 to 
£254.00 

£247.01 to 
£280.00 

£291.01 to 
£324.00 

No 
discount 0% £210.01 

and above 
£254.01 and 
above 

£280.01 and 
above 

£324.01 and 
above 

2 Where the applicant is responsible for more than one dependant child or young person and 
who is resident in the household, a single amount of £68.27 only shall be added to the 
income levels stated within the table above. This represents a limit of two dependants per 
household. This limit shall not apply where the applicant would, but for the operation of this 
scheme, be entitled to a disability premium or disabled child premium. 

3. The amount of discount to be granted is to be based on the following factors: 

a. The maximum Council Tax Reduction as defined within this scheme; 
b. The Council Tax family as defined within this scheme 
c. The income of the applicant as defined within this scheme; 
d. The capital of the applicant as defined within this scheme. 

4 For the sake of clarity all incomes shown within the table above are weekly in accordance with 
the scheme requirements and definitions. 

5 Discount bands vary depending on both weekly income and the household (family as defined 
within this scheme). For the sake of clarity, it should be noted that in any application for 
reduction is limited to a maximum of two dependant children or young persons. 

6 Any applicant who capital is greater than £6,000 shall not be entitled to any Council Tax 
Reductions whatsoever. 

7. The authority may increase the level of incomes within the grid specified in paragraph 1 on 
an annual basis by the appropriate level of inflation measured by the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI) at 1st October preceding the effective financial year or by a percentage representing the 
increase in personal allowance within the applicable amounts for Housing Benefit for the 
relevant financial year. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 95 Page 377

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

             
              

    

                
       

     
 

                 
      
             
  
 

                
        

               
 

 
  

8. In exceptional circumstances, or at such time as Government increases welfare benefits 
beyond the level of if inflation, the authority may vary either the discount levels or the income 
ranges to ensure that applicants are not disadvantaged. 

8. Where an applicant or partner is in receipt of a relevant benefit namely Income Support, 
Income Related Employment and Support Allowance or Income Based Jobseeker’s Allowance, 
discount will be awarded at Band 1 level. 

9. Where, but for the operation of this scheme, the applicant would have been entitled to a 
disability premium, enhanced disability premium, severe disability premium or a disabled child 
premium, an amount shall be deducted from the applicant’s income equivalent to the value of 
that premium. 

10. Where, but for the operation of this scheme, the applicant would have been entitled to a work-
related activity component or support component within their Employment and Support 
Allowance, an amount shall be deducted from the applicant’s income equivalent to the value of 
that component. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 96 Page 378

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Schedule 2 

Not used 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 97 Page 379

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    
 
  

	
               

	

Schedule 3 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings23 

23 All amounts within this schedule will be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 98 Page 380

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

           
        

    
          
                    

      
         

 
  

1. There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, £25 per week (the standard 
earnings disregard). This shall apply irrespective of the claimant’s household and only one 
disregard shall be applied per claim. 

2. The disregard shall apply where the applicant or partner is in work. 
3. Where, but for the operation of this scheme, the applicant would have been entitled to a 

disability premium, enhanced disability premium or a severe disability premium a further 
amount of £25 shall be deducted from the applicant’s net earnings. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 99 Page 381

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

	
              	

Schedule 4 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings24 

24 Any amounts shown in this schedule will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 100 Page 382

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
                

     
 

                    
          

 
                  

          
                

  
 

                  
         
    

            
     

 
                 

 
              

       
 

            
       

 
                 

          
 

 
                  

             
            

               
    

 
         

 
           

      
    
    
     
 

           
        

          
       

 
      

 
                    

   
   

          
          

1. Any amount paid by way of tax on income, which is to be taken into account under section 30 
(calculation of income other than earnings). 

A2. Any payment made to the claim and in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 

A3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme or Back to Work Scheme, but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of 
the payment. 

2. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is– 
(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
(b) volunteer, 

if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated 
as possessing any earnings under section 32.0 (notional income). 

2A. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation as a service user. 

3. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 

4. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance the whole of his income. 

5. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s 
income. 

6. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, 
was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but 
ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the 
Housing Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the 
whole of his income. 

7. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment 

8. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of; 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 7 or 10; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 

9. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

10. Any attendance allowance. 

11. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 
analogous payment. 

12. (1) Any payment– 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to; 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 101 Page 383

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

    
         

      
         

       
 

         
         

 
       

        
 

           
  

 
          

 
           
            
           

          
                      

        
 

 
                  

       
 

                   
      

             
     

           
       

                 
       

            
                

           
 

           
           

         
          

 
       

      
    
            

            
  

      
            

  
           
    
          

school expenses; grant of scholarships etc); 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 
1980 (power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and 
paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section14 or section181 of the Education Act 2002(power of Secretary of State 
and National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 

(iii) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 
to; 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

13. Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 
Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 

14 (1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment; 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, 
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the 1973 Act or section 2(5) of the 
Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is 
a Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been 
completed. 

(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where 
the applicant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax 
or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 

15 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments; 
(a) a charitable payment; 
(b) a voluntary payment; 
(c) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose 

funds are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to 
the applicant; 

(d) a payment under an annuity purchased; 
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the 

applicant; or 
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, 
in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 

(e) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) received by virtue of any 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 102 Page 384

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

          
   

 
               
               

   
              

     
 

       
        

   
        
          

        
         

         
     
            

 
         

          
          
            
     
 

         
              
            
 

                  
           

            
               
   

            
       
              

           
 

         
           

       
 

                 
       

          
             

           
 

           
        

           
            

     
            

     

agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of 
any personal injury to the applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall not apply to a payment, which is made or due to be made by– 
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the 

applicant’s family; or 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 

member of the applicant’s family. 

16. 100% of any of the following, namely 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 

under paragraph 9 or 10); 
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as 

is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 

to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special 
provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or 
of the Republic of Austria. 

17. Subject to paragraph 35, £15 of any; 
(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the Act; 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the Act. 

18. (1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under section 41 
(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub- paragraph (2), not income 
derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5. 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 2, 4 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5 but 
only to the extent of– 

(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the 
period during which that income accrued; or 

(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of 
the dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that 
income accrued. 

(3) The definition of ‘water charges’ in paragraph 2(1) shall apply to sub-paragraph (2) of this 
paragraph with the omission of the words ‘in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling 
which a person occupies as his home’. 

19. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course 
at an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, 
which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating– 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of 
the Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998(c), that 
student’s award; 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under 
that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 
(c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 103 Page 385

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
             

 
                   

 
              

        
          

           
   

       
            

        
         

      
           

     
    

   
 

                  
 

                   
        

                 
    

             
           

             
               

 
                 

     
          

                
      
  
           

     
            

            
      

   
            

     
 

              
              

  
 
            

              
   

 
              

               
 

20. (1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either; 

(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; 
or 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 
awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 19, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to– 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less 

the weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

whichever is less. 

21. Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non- dependant. 

22. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 
person other than one to whom paragraph 21 or 23 refers and there is a contractual liability to 
make payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or 
a member of his family– 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person 
and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 

23. (1) Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 
board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such 
accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to– 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect 
of such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20.00, 100 per cent. 
of such payments; 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20.00, £20.00 and 50 per 
cent. of the excess over £20.00. 

(2) In this paragraph, ‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided 
to a person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, 
for a charge which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some 
cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than 
the person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are 
consumed in that accommodation or associated premises. 

24. (1) Any income in kind, except where regulation 30(11)(b) (provision of support under 
section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act in the calculation of income other than 
earnings) applies. 

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ‘income in kind’ does not include a payment to a 
third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant. 

25. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 104 Page 386

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                    
        

             
         
        

      
    

   
               

       
      

         
     

                 
               

        
          

    
            

          
  

 
                 

  
    

      
        

        
    

        
        

        
 

 
               

 
   
           

 
    
             
           

      
    

          
       

  
 

                   
        

          
    

 
           

              
           

              

26. (1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family– 
(a)pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 

Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(b) 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters); or in accordance with 
an Adoption Allowance Scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and 
Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (Adoption Allowances Schemes) 

(b)not used 
(ba) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) 

of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
contribution to a child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person 
as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 
1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
Order, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

(d)in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989(c) (special guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made 
to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002. 

27. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 
arrangements made 
(a) by a local authority under– 

(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland)Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

28. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (‘the person concerned’), who 
is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by– 
(a) a health authority; 
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the 

person concerned; 
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 

1977 or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006; or 

(f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 

29. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 

or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for 
children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

29A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989(e) or section 29 of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995(local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 105 Page 387

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

   
     
         
        
        
 

        
 

         
  

           
           
        

             
        

    
               

 
           
    

          
         

        
 

 
                    

  
 

                 
            

 
              

 
             

     
 

                  
        
              

      
              

         
         

 
                  

         
              

            
            

         
         

         
       

         
         

        
          

to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 

(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b)is aged 18 or over, and 
(c)continues to live with the applicant. 

30. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 
insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments; 

(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his 
home; or 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit 
Act 1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shall only be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to– 
(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (b); 
and 
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on– 

(i) that policy; or 
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph(1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure 
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the 
applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(a). 

31. Any payment of income which, by virtue of section 36 (income treated as capital) is to be treated 
as capital. 

32. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act (the Social Fund) or any local 
welfare provision as defined by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 
2013 

33. Any payment under Part 10 of the Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 

34. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

35. The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 
income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 15.2 (calculation of 
income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be 
disregarded under paragraph 47.2(b) and paragraph 48.1(d) (calculation of covenant income 
where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is 
assessed), paragraph 51(2) (treatment of student loans), paragraph 52(3) (treatment of 
payments from access funds) and paragraphs 16 and 17 shall in no case exceed £20 per week. 

36. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 106 Page 388

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
               

        
               

            
             

            
           

  
           
        

         
        

          
 

             
                
 

       
          
         

    
         
                 

       
  

                 
   

               
         

   
              
           

       
     

    
         

               
          

  
          
 

                 
                

    
           

          
   

 
         

 
                     

    
 

       
 

                   

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed 
a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under 
or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the 
benefit of; 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where; 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 

student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where; 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a 
civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or 
had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

37. Any housing benefit or council tax benefit. 

38. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

39. - 40. not used 

41. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 107 Page 389

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

        
 

    
 

                    
      

 
    

 
      

             
         

  
              

       
    

            
       
      

             
        

 
 

                  
              

        
              

 
             

        
 

           
               

                   
       

           
        

    
            

       
 

 
                

         
        

    
           

 
    
      
   
   
        

     
          

          
 

for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 

42. Not used 

43. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or section 80 of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax). 

44. Not used 

45. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment or repayment, mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1). 

46. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

47. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 
a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 

48. (1)Where, but for this scheme, an applicant’s applicable amount would include an amount by 
way of a family premium, £15 of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, 
whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s former 
partner, or the applicant’s partner’s former partner. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to 
be taken into account in any week, all such payments such be aggregated and treated as if they 
were a single payment. 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance shall, for the purpose of 
sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-
paragraph (1). 

48A. (1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 
young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant’s family, 
except where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant’s partner. 
(2) In paragraph (1) 
‘child maintenance’ means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under; 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991; 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 
or the sheriff court books; 
‘liable relative’ means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 
definition. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 108 Page 390

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
    

 
                  

         
     

 
     

 
                   

                
          

 
 

               
           

                 
             

 
         

           
             

        
 

                
         

           
 

     
            
      

        
         

           
            

      
            
        

      
 

                
 

             
          

      
 

    
 

                  
          

           
 

           
         

            
 

                 

49. Not used 

50. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

51. Any guardian’s allowance. 

52. (1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Parts 2, 3 or 5 of the Act, any increase 
in the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 
(unemployability supplement) of the Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase 
is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, 
Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase 
in the rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of 
whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

53. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence 
to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

54. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983(a) (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), 
the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

55 (1) Any payment which is 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or 
(b)surviving civil partner of a person; 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and equal 
to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘the Dispensing Instruments’ means the Order in Council of 19th December 
1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 
1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

55A. Any council tax support or council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 

56. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 16 of Schedule 3, where the 
applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that 
paragraph, any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10 

56A.–56B. Not used 

57. Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 
12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

58. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 
assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person– 

(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 
activity; 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 109 Page 391

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

          
 

       
    

 
                 

        
         

              
              

 
           

            
       

 
                  

           
         

 
               

          
 

 
              

          
  

 
                    

        
         

         
 

            
    

 
                  

    
 

       
 

    
 

            
   

 
              

           
 

               
 

 
 

 
  

by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 
in respect of which such assistance is or was received. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall apply only in respect of payments, which are paid to that person 
from the special account 

59. (1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect 
of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing 
or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member 
of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which 
that applicant or member is liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 
the sport in respect of which the award was made. 

60. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 
amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that 
reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

61. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

62. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 as amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
(Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2013. 

63. (1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes, in England, a county council. 

64. Any emergency increases in national welfare benefits by Government where the increase would 
have a detrimental effect on any reduction awarded. 

65. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments 

66. Any payment of child benefit. 

67. Any Carer’s Allowance 

68. Any payments disregarded for Housing Benefits under the Social Security (Emergency Funds) 
Amendment) Regulations 2017 

69. Any payment made under any of the following - the Grenfell Tower charitable funds, the 
Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund, or Grenfell Tower support payment. 

70. Any local welfare payment made by the local authority in respect of any Government or local 
initiative. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 110 Page 392

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

	
              	

Schedule 5 

Capital to be disregarded25 

25 Any amounts shown in this schedule will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 111 Page 393

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
          

          
        

             
        

 
 

              
         

         
 

                
               

            
         

 
                 

                 
       

 
 

                 
             

            
       

 
         

             
           

 
              

           
       

 
      

 
                

       
 

                  
                 

          
               

             
     
             

              
    

 
                 

             
        

     
 

             
      

1. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 
applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular 5, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling 
is situated; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
applicant’s family and of polygamous marriage), only one dwelling shall be disregarded under 
this paragraph. 

A2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but 
only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

A3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment 
but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of payment. 

2. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant, which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

3. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 
applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part– 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his 
home where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision shall not 
apply where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or 
divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

5. – 6. Not Used 

7. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 
applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub- leases or sub-tenancies. 

8. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes 
of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where– 

(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 
or bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business; 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the claim for council tax support is made, 
or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-
engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the 
assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 112 Page 394

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

     
 

                
          

          
 

 
          

      
        
      
   
      

   
         
    

 
             

 
 

           
          

     
     

        
       

         
 

        
             

              
 

 
          

            
          

                
             

   
        
             

       
 

    
               

      
           

             
           

                
   

 
    

     
              
    

             

activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

(3) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 
which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset. 

9. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of;
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 7, 9 or 10 of Schedule 4; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the Act; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary 
payment. 

(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or 
allowances amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph 
(3) as ‘the relevant sum’) and is 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 
regulation 1(2) of the Decisions and Appeals Regulations; and 
(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 

sub-paragraph (1) shall have effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety 
during the award of council tax support, for the remainder of that award if that is a longer 
period. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph(2),’the award of council tax support’ means– 
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof 
where it is paid in more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 
which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the applicant; 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s 
partner at the date of his death. 

10. Any sum 
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 

possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that 

it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, which is to 
be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it 
was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to 
effect the repairs, replacement or improvement. 

11. Any sum– 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 or section 338(1) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 as a 
condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 113 Page 395

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                 
   

 
                

              
 

 
                

   
 

                   
                  

      
 

              
           

 
   

              
         

          
   

             
   
             

       
        

               
   

 
          

   
 

                
 

             
       

 
          

 
                    

 
 

                   
         
            

       
 

           
                 

               
           
 

 
     
           
     

for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to 
enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

12. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 
intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to council tax support or to 
increase the amount of that support. 

13. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 

14. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the 
right to receive any payment under that trust. 

14A. (1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) 
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
applicant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that 
injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which 
the applicant no longer possesses it; 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are 
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of 
it to purchase an asset. 

(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 

15. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 

16. The value of the right to receive any income, which is disregarded under paragraph 13 of 
Schedule 3 or paragraph 25 of Schedule 4. 

17. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

18. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 
any outstanding instalments. 

19. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

19A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial 
assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on to the 
applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 114 Page 396

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

       
 

           
 

                   
         

            
 

 
                   

 
 

           
     

 
                  

             
 

 
               

           
            

     
         

         
       

         
         

        
          

 
               

        
               

             
            
             

            
           
         

         
        

          
 

               
            

 
       

         
          
 

    
         

                 
          

 
              

(c) continues to live with the applicant. 

20. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act. 

21. Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan 
interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or 
improvements to the home. 

22. Any capital which, by virtue of sections 31 or 51 (capital treated as income, treatment of student 
loans) is to be treated as income. 

23. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

24. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Charitable 
Fund. 

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a 
civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had 
not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by 
any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where– 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child ,a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 115 Page 397

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

  
 

               
         

   
              
              

       
      
    

         
                 

           
  

        
 

         
              
     

 
           

         
    

 
             

           
            

           
 

 
         

          
             

     
 

                
            

           
 

               
        

         
              

         
    

 
              

           
               
          

 
                     

   
 

    
 

            

person’s death. 

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was 
or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under 
or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited the Skipton Fund , the 
Caxton Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

25. (1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 
home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, 
his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who 
is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘dwelling’ includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 
formerly occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is 
impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on 
which the dwelling is situated. 

26. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

27. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, 
or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession 
and commence occupation of those premises. 

28. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or 
such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

29. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

30. Not used 

31. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 116 Page 398

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
          

 
               

     
 

                     
          

 
             

              
   

 
    

 
                 

           
             

 
                

           
      

 
         
       

   
                  

            
         

 
             

             
                  
         

 
       

           
         

  
           

       
    

           
       
      

              
            

        
               

 
 

                  
          

        
                  

          
 

32. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme 

33. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest 
in the property in respect of which rent is due. 

34. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

35. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt 
of the payment. 

36. Not used. 

37. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or, as the case may 
be, section 80 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (reduction of liability for council tax), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

38. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988 
or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local 

housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be 
used– 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be 
completed and the applicant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 

39. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 53 of Schedule 4 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 54 or 55 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

40. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment, or repayment mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment or 
repayment. 

41. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 117 Page 399

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

                
 

                   
        

         
 

                  
         

     
 

    
 

                
          
 

          
              
 

             
           

        
 

         
                   

             
                  

              
      

         
           
         

 
 

                   
           
       

         
          

    
 

                 
 

    
 

                 
            

           
              

 
                     

                
   

 
           

             
              

     

41A. Any payment made under Part 8A of the Act (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 

42. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 
scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for 
a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

43. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

44. Not used 

45. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
(Employment) Act 1958 to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 

46. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant satisfies the conditions in section 131(3) 
and (6) of the Act (entitlement to alternative maximum council tax support), the whole of his 
capital. 
(2) Where in addition to satisfying the conditions in section 131(3) and (6) of the Act the 
applicant also satisfies the conditions in section 131(4) and (5) of the Act (entitlement to the 
maximum council tax support), sub-paragraph (1) shall not have effect. 

47. (1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and 
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 
under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by 
order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from; 
(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 
is under the age of 18. 

48. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 
section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from 
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under 

the age of 18. 

49. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 

50. Not used 

51. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-
employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of 
establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was 
received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 

52. (1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 
payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 118 Page 400

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

 
            
             

     
 

   
        

         
           
           

          
       

                
             

        
        

 
         

  
            

          
           

         
          

                    
             

 
 

   
 

               
          

     
 

                    
      

 
                 

         
   
   
       
       

 
     

 
             

    
   
        

        
          

            
  

           
              

       

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or other 
special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in 
respect of which the award was made. 

53. (1) Any payment; 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to– 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and 
National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education 
or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act ; 

or in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to; 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

53A.-53B. Not used 

54. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

55. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks 
from the date of receipt of the payment. 

56. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of– 

(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant’s partner; 
(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 

by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 

57. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or 
a member of an applicant’s family who is 

(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s 
death; or 

(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person 
who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at 
the date of the diagnosed person’s death. 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 119 Page 401

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

         
      

         
    

    
               

     
    
               

 
      

          
     
      

    
           

             
          

   
        

         
           

         
   

         
      

        
          

     
             

       
               

    
    
               
  

    
             

 
       
           
       
        

     
   

     
      
      

         
         

            
 
              

              
    

           
             

(2) Where a trust payment is made to; 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall 
apply for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made 
and ending on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending two years after that date; 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending– 
(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person– 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s 
family who is– 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed 
person’s partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed 
person’s parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death; or 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a 
person who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his 
partner) at the date of the diagnosed person’s death, 
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of 
any trust payments made to that person. 

(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to– 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
two years after that date; or 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and 
ending– 

(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person 

(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 

whichever is the latest. 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person– 

(a)being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
(b)being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 

(6) In this paragraph– ‘diagnosed person’ means a person who has been diagnosed as 
suffering from, or who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, 
variant Creutzfeld- Jakob disease; 
‘relevant trust’ means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 120 Page 402

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



       	

            
       
 

              
           

      
           
         
           

   
 

                    
        

         
 

        
 

                  
              

          
 

                   
     

 
                

         
 

                 
     

 

disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
‘trust payment’ means a payment under a relevant trust. 

58. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or 
the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner 

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, 

during the Second World War. 

58 (1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service, which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes in England a county council. 

60. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under section 12A to 12D 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

61. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

62. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 
14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 

63. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments) 

North Devon District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 121 Page 403

Agenda Item 14
Appendix a



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023-24  
 

This consultation ran for 6 weeks from 7 September 2022 until 19 October 2022. 

The online questionnaire received 96 responses from members of the public in 

relation to the three proposed changes. 

Proposal 1: To increase the maximum Council Tax Reduction that a 

customer can receive from 80% to 100% of their Council Tax liability. 
 

“Do you agree with this change to the scheme?” 

Yes  56 

No  34 

Don’t Know 6 

“If you disagree, what alternative would you propose?” 

31 people gave the following responses: 

 Many on low incomes have difficulties with budgeting and priortisation priority bills, 

rather than have the issues of paying 20% of their council tax bill. This support does 

not support those that are on low incomes and miss out on being eligible for universal 

credit by a few pounds who are the ones that struggle the most to pay their council 

tax bill in full. 

 Because you will come knocking on the doors of those who pay or reduce services 

even more  

 Stay as it is 

 "I am a council tax payer (Band E)  

 My husband and I both work full time (min wage) we do not get any council tax help 

but with the cost of living and 2 children (one we are supporting at university) we are 

struggling  

 I would be better off not working and receive benefits- this shouldn’t be the case! 

Work should always be the best option. 

 I would prefer you giving a discount to people like us too. Our energy bills are 

through the roof, mortgage rates rises, food and everything else going up " 

 That a continued contribution should remain whether it is the current 20% or reduced 

to 10 - 15%. Everyone should pay something as that is fair 

 Keep it at 80% that is more than fair and still allows council to take some money to 

avoid it costing those who do not qualify for a reduction 

 Suspend the debt recovery scheme and review in 1 year. By increasing the levels, 

you are paying out more and receiving less. Those that can & do pay should 

continue. to. 

 Reduce it for families that have two parents working full time trying to make ends 

meet and not claiming any benefits instead of always looking after the low income  

 Maintain current system. There needs to be a personal link between the demand for 

new/improved services and the payment for these. Total exemption from tax is 

prejudicial to the individual's responsibility towards society at large. 

Page 405

Agenda Item 14
Appendix b



 Remain with the current scheme.  It is important that people who receive benefits 

from council tax contribute to the costs of those benefits, even if that contribution is 

only nominal. 

 "I am in a low income bracket yet receive no help towards the ever increasing costs 

to run a home. Even though part of my benefit is made up of low income I receive no 

help because of my life savings being over the threshold. 

 My low income remains the same and I am now financing daily living costs from the 

little savings I have. Sooner or later the savings will be below the threshold but my 

income will still be low. The system only works for some and not all." 

 You are not considering those adults who are not income based for assessment of 

benefits. Those of us thar are only £11 over any limit get no help at all. I am objecting 

as I can’t afford an increase 

 Reduce to 50% the maximum allowance. Include in any calculations emergency 

payments of all types. 

 People should still have to contribute to their council tax, regardless. Even if this is a 

smaller percentage. A total discount encourages poor money management.  

 Raise income tax thresholds  

 Keep as it is 

 Cannot agree or disagree at this stage 

 I don’t like the idea of just writing off council tax accounts outstanding. It just 

encourages some people not to pay. Pensioners such as ourselves who pay their 

way, don’t have a huge income but don’t qualify for pension credits end up paying for 

others (some of which could probably pay) and end up having other services reduced 

or hacked to pay for it all.  

 "That a contribution is paid and if not paid they lose a sliding percentage of their 

reduction. 

 This will encourage payment of the lower amount.  

 Quicker acknowledgement of arrears so that default is limited to two payments before 

assistance given to recover debt! " 

 "Stop giving handouts to free loaders. These people just want life handed to them on 

a plate and when they dont pay hard working people have to pay more Council Tax 

to make up for it.  

 Make them pay 100% and give up their fags, booze etc" 

 For people who are in arrears, set up a type of repayment scheme that is more 

manageable for them  

 "As a pensioner these planned changes would not affect me.  Such benefits would 

undoubtedly be useful for those on low income whom we must consider - fortunately, 

there appear to be many ways they can seek help. However, by helping this group 

we are continually putting the burden on others.  Surely we should also consider 

those who have and continue to work hard in an endeavour to improve their standard 

of living.  It often seems there is very little consideration given to this group.  I feel we 

should leave the council tax system as it is." 

 Who makes up the shortfall to the Council’s income for the delivery of services? 

People on lower incomes use the same services as everyone else and these need to 

be paid for. Maybe the Government should step and and support the public sector 

appropriately by returning the central support grant. 

 Give discounts without take in consideration means test benefits and do the 

discounts automatically by band for everyone  

 No alTERNATIVE, everyone should pay something 

 I would propose that the minimum income floor (MIF) should not be used to calculate 

eligibility for reduction but actual income. If someone is earning over the MIF then the 

Page 406

Agenda Item 14
Appendix b



reduction should not be needed. Applying this is pushing people who are already 

struggling into further poverty and debt, as there has been a cost of living emergency 

declared in North Devon, I see that  this would dramatically help.  

 You are basically saying that you are unable to collect overdue payments so you are 

going to make changes so that these people aren't asked to pay anything so there 

will be a saving because there won't be any money to collect 

 Because you will find a way to make the rest of us pay, when services were cut 

during Covid you didnt cut Council Tax, I am a pensioner but you continue to 

increase year after year, the monthly amount is extortionate !!! 

 People should have the core services covered but should not have access to pools 

and library’s or the tip until they pay the full rate  

 Leave as is 

 I don’t necessarily propose an alternative but wonder where the funds are coming 

from taken into account the budget deficits and wonder how a 100 percent reduction 

will be funded. 

Proposal 2: To disregard emergency increases in national welfare 

benefits. 
 

“Do you agree with this change to the scheme?” 

Yes  71 

No  10 

Don’t know 15 

“If you disagree, what alternative would you propose?” 

15 people gave the following responses: 

 either a % of the additional income should be taken into account or all of it  

 What is the degree of negative affect when emergency payments are made. Those 

that can & do pay should continue to. Those that receive the extra benefit will still 

benefit. 

 "The increases should be disregarded.  

 A great deal of claimants are on low income but are disregarded becauuse they have 

savings or because their National Insurance contributions are up to date. Their benfit 

is still made up because of low income but no help is offered until their life savings 

are exhausted. Then in old age they are told to sell there belongings to pay for the 

health care that they may need. " 

 As previously stated 

 To continue with existing policy 

 Emergency increases are just that, to cover a sudden increase in the cost of living. 

Making people pay more council tax won't help, but they SHOULD still contribute to 

encourage good money and responsibility management. 

 Increase income tax thresholds 

 Reduce handouts to freeloaders 

 "As a pensioner these planned changes would not affect me.  Such benefits would 

undoubtedly be useful for those on low income whom we must consider - fortunately 

there appear to be many ways they can seek help. However by helping this group we 

are continually putting the burden on others.  Surely we should also consider those 

Page 407

Agenda Item 14
Appendix b



who have and continue to work hard in an endeavour to improve their standard of 

living.  It often seems there is very little consideration given to this group.  I feel we 

should leave the council tax system as it is." 

 Give the benefit for everyone without means tested benefits and taking in 

consideration the tax band 

 I would propose that the minimum income floor (MIF) should not be used to calculate 

eligibility for reduction but actual income. If someone is earning over the MIF then the 

reduction should not be needed. Applying this is pushing people who are already 

struggling into further poverty and debt, as there has been a cost of living emergency 

declared in North Devon, I see that  this would dramatically help.  

 It is very important especially during these difficult times to understand that North 

Devon Council are not obliged to apply the minimum income floor to their council tax 

reduction scheme. Their use of the MIF is driving people who rely on seasonal work 

and self employment into poverty. Not all councils use the MIF to calculate 

entitlement to Council Tax Reduction and it is therefore a postcode lottery. The MP 

for North Devon has declared a Cost of Living Emergency in North Devon and if the 

council were to stop using the MIF to calculate CTR, it would help stop local families 

from falling into desperate poverty. Thank you for your time. 

 Disagree with keep letting people off paying and making pensioners pay more. 

 Get a job, or a better paid job  

 You say there are no drawbacks but that in itself can’t be correct. There are no 

drawbacks to persons in receipt of the support but people who are not in receipt will 

end up funding this so the drawback is to those not in receipt. 

Proposal 3: The scheme will disregard certain crisis payments paid to 

taxpayers (Local Welfare Provision). 
 

“Do you agree with this change to the scheme?” 

Yes  73 

No  11 

Don’t know 12 

“If you disagree, what alternative would you propose?” 

17 people gave the following responses: 

 "disregard but if their financial circumstances change the money should be repaid" 

 I agree assuming that the current council tax reductions (80%) remain in place. 

 I propose to continue with the current scheme.  Where central government introduces 

crisis payments, it is important that residents of our area receive them too.  No one 

should be discriminated against on the basis of where they live. 

 Yes to no adverse effects on low income households. Even though their are many 

low income household not all are included in your council tax reduction schemes. If 

you can disregard payments perhaps savings that vulnerable residents have should 

be disregarded in order for them to benifit from schemes such as council tax 

reduction. 

 I think it should be done by house banding. Those on banding c and below should 

get help 

 Continue with existing policy. 

Page 408

Agenda Item 14
Appendix b



 The taxpayer should absolutely get help!  

 Increase income tax thresholds 

 In principal, sounds good.  However, our discount is based on the fact that our 

physically disable son lives with us.  How would we be effected? 

 The same reasons apply to this question as in my first. We shouldn’t just write off 

outstanding accounts. Defer yes, write off NO 

 reduce handouts 

 "As a pensioner these planned changes would not affect me.  Such benefits would 

undoubtedly be useful for those on low income whom we must consider - fortunately 

there appear to be many ways they can seek help. However by helping this group we 

are continually putting the burden on others.  Surely we should also consider those 

who have and continue to work hard in an endeavour to improve their standard of 

living.  It often seems there is very little consideration given to this group.  I feel we 

should leave the council tax system as it is.  " 

 I would propose that the minimum income floor (MIF) should not be used to calculate 

eligibility for reduction but actual income. If someone is earning over the MIF then the 

reduction should not be needed. Applying this is pushing people who are already 

struggling into further poverty and debt, as there has been a cost of living emergency 

declared in North Devon, I see that  this would dramatically help.  

 you say no drawbacks but you will find a way to pass the increase to others 

 Sorry disagree and think people should be more responsible for themselves ie don’t 

have children if you can’t afford them. 

 Get a job and stop sponging off the rest of us  

 I agree that having a banded scheme gives claimant certainty and reduces 

administration costs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 409

Agenda Item 14
Appendix b



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 411

Agenda Item 14
Appendix c



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

 
Jon Triggs 
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief 
Executive 
North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre, 
Roundswell,  
Barnstaple  
EX31 3NP 

Devon Finance Services 
County Hall 

Topsham Road 
Exeter 
Devon 

EX2 4QD 

 Tel: 01392 
 email:  

 
Date: 19th October 2022 

Dear Jon 
 

North Devon District Council - Working Age Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 

 
Thank you for your e-mail of 13th October in which you provided financial analysis of the 
proposed changes to your Working Age Council Tax Reduction Scheme for the year 
2023/24.  Your financial analysis estimates that the overall cost will be “roughly £841,500,“ 
of which the County Council’s share would be £605,880. 
 
You have identified that the overall cost would be offset by improved collection rates.  You 
mention an improvement of 0.5% to 97.5% (which was what the budgeted collection rate 
was up to 2020/21 – before COVID).  You estimate that this would offset half of the cost of 
the scheme. 
 
Council tax is its largest source of income for the County Council and is essential to help 
finance the provision of services to vulnerable people in Devon.  The increasing demand on 
services – particularly on social care – are placing huge pressures on the County Council’s 
budget.  Consequently, this proposed reduction to the council tax base (setting the council 
tax base lower than it would have been without these changes) will reduce the resources 
available to deliver key services. 
 
Due to the likely, significant adverse impact on Council Tax income for Devon County 
Council, we would be forced to implement additional cuts to vital services to the people of 
Devon overall including the people of North Devon. 
 
Therefore, we have no alternative but to formally object to these proposals at this time, and 
we urge you to reconsider. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 

Angie Sinclair 
Director of Finance and Public Value 

Page 413

Agenda Item 14
Appendix d



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

North Devon Council 

 

Title of Decison Requested: North Devon Policy Household Support 

Fund 3 

 

Decision requested by decision maker: To approve the North Devon Policy 
Household Support Fund 3  

1. BACKGROUND / REASONS FOR THE DECISION REQUEST 

1.1.  Policy needs to be adopted prior to November 2022 Strategy & Resources 

Committee meeting as scheme needs to be in place by end October 2022. 

2. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial 

implications.  If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed 

budget.  If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be 

financed). 

2.1. Funding provided via Household Support Fund, allocation from Devon 

County Council £291,270 

3. ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED?  

3.1. N/A 

4. ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED? 

4.1. N/A 

5. DISPENSATION IF GRANTED 

5.1. N/A 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this request 

(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author): 

6.1. Policy attached 

7. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN (Please note all who have been consulted on 

this decision): 

7.1 None 

8. OFFICER REQUESTING DECISION TO BE TAKEN: (please insert name and 

job title): Sarah Higgins, Head of Customer Focus 

 

9. NAME OF DECISION TAKER: (please insert name and job title): Chief Executive 

 

Page 415

Agenda Item 15



 

 

10. DATE DECISION TAKEN: 20/10/22 

 

 

11. APPROVED BY DECISION TAKER: Yes (*Please delete as appropriate) 

 

12. DECISION TAKER’S COMMENTS: Approve. The scheme needs to be approved 

urgently so that it can be introduced and so there is no time to take to committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 416

Agenda Item 15


	Agenda
	2 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 5th September 2022
	6 Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 2022 - 23
	2022.11.07 Item 6 Appendix A

	7 Performance and Financial Management Q2 Report 2022 - 23
	2022.11.07 Item 7 Appendix A
	2022.11.07 Item 7 Appendix B
	2022.11.07 Item 7 Appendix C
	2022.11.07 Item 7 Appendix D
	2022.11.07 Item 7 Appendix E

	8 Environmental Policy - Progress on Implementation
	9 Adoption of Works In Default Policy
	2022.11.07 Item 9 Appendix A Works in Default Policy

	10 Energy Company Obligation (ECO)
	2022.11.07 Item 10 NDC Statement of Intent ECO4 Flex DRAFT
	2022.11.07 Item 10 Trading Standards charter  Retrofit in Devon

	11 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Amendments
	2022.11.07 Item 11 Appendix A NDC DRAFT Taxi and PH Policy
	Structure Bookmarks
	Part
	Span
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022

	Span
	Span
	 
	 
	 
	Published by

	 
	The Licensing Team

	Span
	Environmental Health & Housing Services

	Span
	North Devon Council

	Span
	Span
	Lynton House

	Barnstaple EX31 1DG

	Span
	 
	Version 178.0 effective from 1 March September 2022

	Span
	Span
	(First published November 2005)

	Span
	 
	Telephone: 01271 388870

	Telephone: 01271 388870

	customerservices@northdevon.gov.uk

	customerservices@northdevon.gov.uk


	 

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	 
	https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/licensing
	https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/licensing
	https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/licensing

	 

	Span
	Span
	Span
	 
	Span
	 
	H2
	Contents Page Nos To
be updated

	Span
	 
	Introduction ...........................................................................................................................4

	Span
	Arrangement of Sections ......................................................................................................6

	Span
	 
	Section 3 Hackney Carriage Licensing: Proprietors ...................................................7

	Span
	Section 4 Hackney Carriage Licensing: Drivers..........................................................9

	Span
	Span
	Section 5 Hackney Carriage Licensing: Fares...........................................................15

	Span
	Span
	Section 6 Hackney Carriage Licensing: Taxi Stands.................................................17

	Span
	Span
	 
	Section 7 Private Hire Licensing: Operators and Vehicles ........................................18

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Section 8 Private Hire Licensing: Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles........19

	Span
	Span
	Section 9 Private Hire Licensing: Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel
21

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Section 10 Private Hire Licensing: Exempted Vehicles ...............................................22

	Span
	Span
	Section 11 Private Hire Licensing: Drivers.............................................................. ...23

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	 
	Section 12 Non-motorised Hackney Carriages ...........................................................24

	Span
	Span
	 
	Section 13 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:
Disciplinary and Enforcement Measures ......................................................26

	Span
	Formatted: Normal
Formatted: Font: 10 pt
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
	Span
	Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Formatted Table
Formatted Table
Formatted Table
Formatted Table
	Span
	Section 14 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:
Delegated Powers.........................................................................................28

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Section 15 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:
Offences........................................................................................................29

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Section 16 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing:
Fees.................................................... ..........................................................30

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	Span
	 
	Appendices

	 
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles

	Span
	Span
	Appendix A – General Conditions ............................................... ................................31

	Span
	Span
	Span
	Appendix B – Vehicle Inspection Checklist ..................................................................40

	Span
	Formatted Table
	Span
	Span
	Span
	 
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers

	Span
	Span
	Appendix C – Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers .........................................42

	Span
	Span
	Appendix D – Dress Code for Licensed Drivers............................................................46

	Span
	Span
	Formatted Table
	Span
	Appendix E – Application Procedure .............................................................................47

	Span
	Span
	Appendix F – Testing of Applicants ..............................................................................48

	Span
	Span
	Appendix G – The Consideration of Applications..........................................................49

	Span
	Span
	Appendix H – The Relevance of Convictions................................................................50

	Span
	Appendix I – Disciplinary Hearings................................................................................55

	Span
	Appendix J – Offences ..................................................................................................56

	Span
	 
	Hackney Carriage Vehicles

	Span
	Span
	Appendix K – Hackney Carriage Conditions .................................................................59

	Span
	Appendix L – Taxi Stands .............................................................................................62

	Span
	Span
	 
	Private Hire Vehicles

	Appendix M – Private Hire Vehicle Conditions..............................................................64

	Span
	Span
	Appendix N – Stretched Limousines..............................................................................66
	Span
	 
	Private Hire Drivers

	Appendix O – Private Hire - Driver’s Conditions ...........................................................67

	Span
	Span
	 
	Private Hire Operators

	Appendix P – Private Hire - Operator’s Licence Conditions.........................................68

	 
	Non Motorised Vehicles – Driver and Vehicle Conditions

	Appendix Q - Horse-drawn carriage conditions ............................................................71

	 
	Executive Hire Exemption Policy

	 
	Appendix R – Executive Hire Exemption Policy ...................................................... 78

	 
	CCTV Technical Specification and System Requirements

	 
	Appendix S – Licensed Vehicle CCTV Technical Specifications and System
Requirements.................................................................................................................. 80

	 
	 
	1.0 Introduction

	 
	1.1 This statement of licensing policy is written pursuant to the powers conferred by
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which
places on North Devon Council (the “Licensing Authority”) the duty to carry out its
licensing functions as to hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.

	1.1 This statement of licensing policy is written pursuant to the powers conferred by
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which
places on North Devon Council (the “Licensing Authority”) the duty to carry out its
licensing functions as to hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.

	1.1 This statement of licensing policy is written pursuant to the powers conferred by
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which
places on North Devon Council (the “Licensing Authority”) the duty to carry out its
licensing functions as to hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.

	1.1 This statement of licensing policy is written pursuant to the powers conferred by
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which
places on North Devon Council (the “Licensing Authority”) the duty to carry out its
licensing functions as to hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.




	 
	1.2 In setting out its policy, the Licensing Authority shall promote the following
objectives:

	1.2 In setting out its policy, the Licensing Authority shall promote the following
objectives:

	1.2 In setting out its policy, the Licensing Authority shall promote the following
objectives:

	1.2 In setting out its policy, the Licensing Authority shall promote the following
objectives:




	 
	(i) The protection of public health and safety;

	(i) The protection of public health and safety;

	(i) The protection of public health and safety;



	 
	(ii) The establishment of a professional and respected hackney carriage and
private hire trade;

	(ii) The establishment of a professional and respected hackney carriage and
private hire trade;

	(ii) The establishment of a professional and respected hackney carriage and
private hire trade;



	 
	(iii) Access to an efficient and effective public transport service;

	(iii) Access to an efficient and effective public transport service;

	(iii) Access to an efficient and effective public transport service;



	 
	(iv) The protection of the environment

	 
	1.3 In promoting the above objectives the licensing authority will embrace the
principles of:

	1.3 In promoting the above objectives the licensing authority will embrace the
principles of:

	1.3 In promoting the above objectives the licensing authority will embrace the
principles of:

	1.3 In promoting the above objectives the licensing authority will embrace the
principles of:




	 
	a) Fairness and reasonableness to the users of taxis and the trade.

	 
	b) Promotion of free trade.

	 
	c) Open consultative decision-making.

	 
	d) Adoption of best practice guidance where applicable, e.g. from the
Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards

	 
	L
	L
	Span
	1.4 In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Licensing
Authority shall have regard to this policy document and the objectives set out
above.
	1.4 In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Licensing
Authority shall have regard to this policy document and the objectives set out
above.



	 
	1.5 Despite the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement measure shall
be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority
to depart substantially from its policy, clear and compelling reasons shall be given
for so doing.

	1.5 Despite the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement measure shall
be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority
to depart substantially from its policy, clear and compelling reasons shall be given
for so doing.

	1.5 Despite the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement measure shall
be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority
to depart substantially from its policy, clear and compelling reasons shall be given
for so doing.

	1.5 Despite the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement measure shall
be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority
to depart substantially from its policy, clear and compelling reasons shall be given
for so doing.




	 
	1.6 When carrying out it’s regulatory function the Licensing Authority will do so in
accordance with the Licensing Enforcement Policy and will do so in a transparent,
accountable, proportionate and consistent way and will target regulatory activities
only at cases in which action is needed.

	1.6 When carrying out it’s regulatory function the Licensing Authority will do so in
accordance with the Licensing Enforcement Policy and will do so in a transparent,
accountable, proportionate and consistent way and will target regulatory activities
only at cases in which action is needed.

	1.6 When carrying out it’s regulatory function the Licensing Authority will do so in
accordance with the Licensing Enforcement Policy and will do so in a transparent,
accountable, proportionate and consistent way and will target regulatory activities
only at cases in which action is needed.

	1.6 When carrying out it’s regulatory function the Licensing Authority will do so in
accordance with the Licensing Enforcement Policy and will do so in a transparent,
accountable, proportionate and consistent way and will target regulatory activities
only at cases in which action is needed.




	 
	1.7 The aim of the licensing process in this context is to regulate the hackney carriage
and private hire trade in order to promote the above objectives. It is the Licensing
Authority’s wish to facilitate well-run and responsible businesses which display a
sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the general public.

	1.7 The aim of the licensing process in this context is to regulate the hackney carriage
and private hire trade in order to promote the above objectives. It is the Licensing
Authority’s wish to facilitate well-run and responsible businesses which display a
sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the general public.

	1.7 The aim of the licensing process in this context is to regulate the hackney carriage
and private hire trade in order to promote the above objectives. It is the Licensing
Authority’s wish to facilitate well-run and responsible businesses which display a
sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the general public.

	1.7 The aim of the licensing process in this context is to regulate the hackney carriage
and private hire trade in order to promote the above objectives. It is the Licensing
Authority’s wish to facilitate well-run and responsible businesses which display a
sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the general public.




	 
	1.8 This policy shall take effect from 1 March 2022 during which time it shall be kept
under review and revised as appropriate. A full review will take place every five
years.

	1.8 This policy shall take effect from 1 March 2022 during which time it shall be kept
under review and revised as appropriate. A full review will take place every five
years.

	1.8 This policy shall take effect from 1 March 2022 during which time it shall be kept
under review and revised as appropriate. A full review will take place every five
years.

	1.8 This policy shall take effect from 1 March 2022 during which time it shall be kept
under review and revised as appropriate. A full review will take place every five
years.




	 
	1.9 Upon implementation of this policy, the Licensing Authority expects licence-holders
to comply with its terms immediately, except in regard to certain provisions for
which a time-scale for compliance has been stated within the relevant section of
this policy.
	1.9 Upon implementation of this policy, the Licensing Authority expects licence-holders
to comply with its terms immediately, except in regard to certain provisions for
which a time-scale for compliance has been stated within the relevant section of
this policy.
	1.9 Upon implementation of this policy, the Licensing Authority expects licence-holders
to comply with its terms immediately, except in regard to certain provisions for
which a time-scale for compliance has been stated within the relevant section of
this policy.
	1.9 Upon implementation of this policy, the Licensing Authority expects licence-holders
to comply with its terms immediately, except in regard to certain provisions for
which a time-scale for compliance has been stated within the relevant section of
this policy.



	  
	1.10 In drawing up this policy, the Licensing Authority has consulted with the following:

	1.10 In drawing up this policy, the Licensing Authority has consulted with the following:

	1.10 In drawing up this policy, the Licensing Authority has consulted with the following:

	1.10 In drawing up this policy, the Licensing Authority has consulted with the following:




	 
	 Representatives of the hackney carriage and private hire trade

	 Representatives of the hackney carriage and private hire trade

	 Representatives of the hackney carriage and private hire trade


	 The Devon and Cornwall Constabulary

	 The Devon and Cornwall Constabulary


	 Devon County Council Environment Department

	 Devon County Council Environment Department


	 Devon County Council (School Contracts)

	 Devon County Council (School Contracts)


	 Devon County Council Highways

	 Devon County Council Highways


	 Vehicle and Operator Services Agency

	 Vehicle and Operator Services Agency


	 Local Disability Charities

	 Local Disability Charities


	 Local businesses and their representatives

	 Local businesses and their representatives


	 Local residents and their representatives

	 Local residents and their representatives


	 Barnstaple Town Centre Management

	 Barnstaple Town Centre Management


	 Regional Transport and General Workers Union Representatives

	 Regional Transport and General Workers Union Representatives



	 
	1.11 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those consulted prior to this
policy statement taking effect.

	1.11 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those consulted prior to this
policy statement taking effect.

	1.11 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those consulted prior to this
policy statement taking effect.

	1.11 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those consulted prior to this
policy statement taking effect.




	 
	1.12 Under Section 177 (4) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 Licensing
Authorities must have regard to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi
and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. In drawing up this policy the Licensing
Authority has thoroughly considered all aspects of the above guidance. A
public consultation on the incorporation of the DFT Standards into the
Licensing Authority Hackney carriage and Private hire policy was conducted
between 14th December 2020 and 8th February 2021, and the revised policy
was considered by the Licensing and Community Safety Committee on 18th
January 2022.

	1.12 Under Section 177 (4) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 Licensing
Authorities must have regard to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi
and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. In drawing up this policy the Licensing
Authority has thoroughly considered all aspects of the above guidance. A
public consultation on the incorporation of the DFT Standards into the
Licensing Authority Hackney carriage and Private hire policy was conducted
between 14th December 2020 and 8th February 2021, and the revised policy
was considered by the Licensing and Community Safety Committee on 18th
January 2022.

	1.12 Under Section 177 (4) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 Licensing
Authorities must have regard to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi
and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. In drawing up this policy the Licensing
Authority has thoroughly considered all aspects of the above guidance. A
public consultation on the incorporation of the DFT Standards into the
Licensing Authority Hackney carriage and Private hire policy was conducted
between 14th December 2020 and 8th February 2021, and the revised policy
was considered by the Licensing and Community Safety Committee on 18th
January 2022.

	1.12 Under Section 177 (4) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 Licensing
Authorities must have regard to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi
and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. In drawing up this policy the Licensing
Authority has thoroughly considered all aspects of the above guidance. A
public consultation on the incorporation of the DFT Standards into the
Licensing Authority Hackney carriage and Private hire policy was conducted
between 14th December 2020 and 8th February 2021, and the revised policy
was considered by the Licensing and Community Safety Committee on 18th
January 2022.




	 
	1.13 In addition to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards the Licensing Authority has also fully considered the
Institute of Licensing document Guidance on Determining the Suitability of
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades and has
used this as the basis for Appendix H of this document (The Relevance of
Convictions). A consultation on proposed changes to the relevance of
convictions section of this document was conducted between 11th November
and 23rd December 2019.
	1.13 In addition to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards the Licensing Authority has also fully considered the
Institute of Licensing document Guidance on Determining the Suitability of
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades and has
used this as the basis for Appendix H of this document (The Relevance of
Convictions). A consultation on proposed changes to the relevance of
convictions section of this document was conducted between 11th November
and 23rd December 2019.
	1.13 In addition to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards the Licensing Authority has also fully considered the
Institute of Licensing document Guidance on Determining the Suitability of
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades and has
used this as the basis for Appendix H of this document (The Relevance of
Convictions). A consultation on proposed changes to the relevance of
convictions section of this document was conducted between 11th November
and 23rd December 2019.
	1.13 In addition to the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards the Licensing Authority has also fully considered the
Institute of Licensing document Guidance on Determining the Suitability of
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades and has
used this as the basis for Appendix H of this document (The Relevance of
Convictions). A consultation on proposed changes to the relevance of
convictions section of this document was conducted between 11th November
and 23rd December 2019.



	2.0 Arrangement of Sections

	 
	2.1 In order to provide clarity for potential applicants for hackney carriage licences or
for existing licence holders, this policy document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:

	2.1 In order to provide clarity for potential applicants for hackney carriage licences or
for existing licence holders, this policy document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:

	2.1 In order to provide clarity for potential applicants for hackney carriage licences or
for existing licence holders, this policy document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:

	2.1 In order to provide clarity for potential applicants for hackney carriage licences or
for existing licence holders, this policy document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:




	 
	 Proprietors (Section 3)

	 Proprietors (Section 3)

	 Proprietors (Section 3)


	 Drivers (Section 4)

	 Drivers (Section 4)


	 Fares (Section 5)

	 Fares (Section 5)


	 Taxi stands (Section 6)

	 Taxi stands (Section 6)



	 
	2.2 In relation to private hire licensing, this document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:

	2.2 In relation to private hire licensing, this document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:

	2.2 In relation to private hire licensing, this document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:

	2.2 In relation to private hire licensing, this document sets out the Licensing Authority’s
expectations, intentions and guiding principles under the following headings:




	 
	 Operators (Section 7)

	 Operators (Section 7)

	 Operators (Section 7)


	 Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles (Section 8)

	 Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles (Section 8)


	 Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel (Section 9)

	 Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel (Section 9)


	 Exempted Vehicles (Section 10)

	 Exempted Vehicles (Section 10)


	 Drivers (Section 11)

	 Drivers (Section 11)



	 
	2.3 The following sections are in relation to both hackney carriage and private hire
licensing:

	2.3 The following sections are in relation to both hackney carriage and private hire
licensing:

	2.3 The following sections are in relation to both hackney carriage and private hire
licensing:

	2.3 The following sections are in relation to both hackney carriage and private hire
licensing:




	 
	 Disciplinary and Enforcement Measures (Section 13)

	 Disciplinary and Enforcement Measures (Section 13)

	 Disciplinary and Enforcement Measures (Section 13)


	 Delegated powers (Section 14)

	 Delegated powers (Section 14)


	 Offences (Section 15)

	 Offences (Section 15)


	 Fees (Section 16)

	 Fees (Section 16)



	 
	2.4 Provisions relating to non-motorised hackney carriage vehicles (i.e.: horse-drawn
vehicles, rickshaws and trishaws) are set out separately in this document in
section 12.
	2.4 Provisions relating to non-motorised hackney carriage vehicles (i.e.: horse-drawn
vehicles, rickshaws and trishaws) are set out separately in this document in
section 12.
	2.4 Provisions relating to non-motorised hackney carriage vehicles (i.e.: horse-drawn
vehicles, rickshaws and trishaws) are set out separately in this document in
section 12.
	2.4 Provisions relating to non-motorised hackney carriage vehicles (i.e.: horse-drawn
vehicles, rickshaws and trishaws) are set out separately in this document in
section 12.



	 
	 
	3.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Proprietors

	 
	 
	3.1 Licence Application

	 
	Those persons wishing to make application for the grant or renewal of a hackney
carriage vehicle licence should submit an application using the Council’s specified
form. Forms should be accompanied with the following documentation:

	  
	a) Vehicle registration document (V5) or lease document.

	a) Vehicle registration document (V5) or lease document.

	a) Vehicle registration document (V5) or lease document.


	b) Certificate of insurance showing cover for hire purposes.

	b) Certificate of insurance showing cover for hire purposes.


	c) Current MOT certificate.

	c) Current MOT certificate.


	d) Vehicle inspection report.

	d) Vehicle inspection report.


	e) Current licence fee.

	e) Current licence fee.


	f) A basic disclosure certificate from the DBS (unless the proprietor is already
licenced as a North Devon Hackney carriage/ Private Hire Driver).

	f) A basic disclosure certificate from the DBS (unless the proprietor is already
licenced as a North Devon Hackney carriage/ Private Hire Driver).



	          
	Applicants must complete all relevant fields of the application form in order for the
application to be considered duly made. In this context an application will not be
considered duly made without the inclusion of a valid email address (the Council will
correspond with licence holders primarily via email and as such a valid email
address is essential).

	 
	A Basic Disclosure submitted alongside any application must be no more than three
calendar months old from the date of issue when submitting the application to the
Licensing Authority. In relation to the consideration of convictions, cautions,
warnings, arrests, reprimands and other ‘relevant information’, the Council will use
the policy set out in Appendix H.

	 
	 
	Licences are granted for a period of one year. Failure to renew a licence before the
expiry date will result in the applicant being required to make a new application for
the grant of a vehicle licence. The grant of vehicle licences will require compliance
with section 3.5 which includes the requirement that a vehicle must comply with the
Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent), and be less than
5 years old.

	 
	 
	In exceptional circumstances the Licensing Authority may choose to waive the
requirement for a meter test to be undertaken (providing the meter seal is not
broken). Circumstances solely related to the renewal process, for example a mere
failure to renew on time leading to financial consequences will not be deemed
exceptional. ‘Exceptional’ in this instance will only apply where failure to renew is
due to unforeseen circumstances, for example where the applicant has been unable
to apply due to a significant accident or emergency situation.

	 
	North Devon Council does not accept any part applications in relation to vehicles
(applications without those documents listed at a) to e) above) because it has to be
satisfied in order to grant a licence that all appropriate requirements have been met.
However as outlined above the authority may waive the requirements in 3.0 in
exceptional circumstances where individuals have been unable to apply on time.
	 
	On successful determination of a licence proprietors will be issued a vehicle issued
plate for which a plate deposit fee must be paid. Plates should be displayed as
outlined in Appendix A, Paragraph 19.0.

	 
	3.2 Environmental Considerations

	 
	The Council fully supports the use of vehicles that use cleaner environmentally
friendly fuels.

	 
	It is considered that efforts should be made, through the licensing policy, to improve,
as far as possible, the efficiency of vehicles licensed in the district by, in particular,
reducing the levels of CO2 emitted. Appendix A Paragraph 17.0 makes it clear that
LPG conversions to vehicles are perfectly acceptable.

	 
	Clearly emissions from taxis and private hire vehicles could be reduced further by
encouraging better maintenance of vehicles and by switching off engines when
stationary or idling, particularly at taxi ranks. This is something which is highlighted
in the Code of Good Conduct, and in particular in relation to responsibilities to
residents in Appendix C, Paragraph 3.0.

	 
	3.3 Conditions

	 
	The Licensing Authority is empowered to impose such conditions, as it considers
reasonably necessary in relation to the grant or renewal of a hackney carriage
licence. The following represent the minimum standards, which are expected. They
should be read in conjunction with conditions for both hackney carriage and
private hire vehicles set out in Appendix A and those specific to hackney carriages
set out in Appendix K

	 
	3.4 Limitation of Numbers

	 
	The Licensing Authority has no policy to limit the number of hackney carriages,
which may be licensed within the North Devon District Council area. This policy was
reviewed by Council on the 9th February 2010 and following the review there is no
change to this policy. This does not, however, imply that there is to be no regulation
of hackney carriages, as the Licensing Authority intends that quality controls shall
be rigorously maintained in relation to both the vehicle and the driver.

	 
	3.5 Maximum Age of Hackney carriage Vehicle Standards: Hackney Carriage
Vehicle First Licence (Except wheelchair accessible vehicles)

	 
	 
	For all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council (including existing proprietors on
the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to comply with the following
condition:

	Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised
UK equivalent) and be less than 5 years old.

	 
	Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly
where an application for the grant of a hackney carriage licence is made
when the vehicle in question is more than 5 years old or a lower emission
standard, the application must be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee
for consideration.
	 
	The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old or
less than the Euro 6 emission standard, but each such application will be
considered on it’s own merits. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle,
and the mileage will be relevant.

	 
	 
	Vehicles must be less than 3 years old when presented for first licensing.

	 
	Additionally, a first licence may be issued to a vehicle that is more than three but
less than four years old provided a comprehensive report into the mechanical fitness
of the vehicle has been undertaken in accordance with the Council’s vehicle
inspection requirements (Vehicle Inspection Checklist- Appendix B), and any
essential works identified have been carried out and evidence provided to establish
this. An application for the grant of a first licence where the vehicle in question is
more than 4 years old, shall not be granted. However, the applicant will be given the
right to apply for the application to be considered by a licensing sub-committee if
they feel that their particular circumstances justify a deviation from the existing
Policies. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be
relevant.

	 
	 
	 
	This provision shall not apply to non-motorised vehicles.

	 
	3.6 Hackney carriage Vehicle Standard: Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles

	 
	North Devon Council recognises its responsibility to ensure that the hackney carriage and
private hire trade is accessible to all members of the community. It is therefore the
intention of this policy to incentivise the licensing of wheelchair accessible vehicles.
This policy recognises that these types of vehicles can involve additional costs to
the proprietor in either purchasing or running-costs, and as such the vehicle
standard for these vehicles has been amended from that for other vehicle types as
follows:

	 
	For all new wheelchair accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the Council
proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition(s):

	Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4
emission standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent).

	Wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles must be less than 6 years old
at first licensing.

	 
	3.7 Hackney Carriage Vehicle Renewal (Except wheelchair accessible vehicles)

	 
	From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, proprietors will be
required to comply with the following condition:

	Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised UK
equivalent).

	Vehicles presented for renewal that are less than 10 years old can be renewed by
Licensing Officers under delegated powers.
	 
	Vehicles presented for renewal that are between 10 and 11 years old can be
renewed by Licensing Officers under delegated powers provided that the vehicle is
presented for inspection in a satisfactory condition, and the vehicle has passed its
vehicle renewal inspection.

	 
	Vehicles presented for renewal that are more than 11 years old will be referred to
the licensing sub-committee for determination. Such applications should be
submitted at least 6 weeks prior to the expiry date on the licence, as it may take
several weeks to convene a licensing sub-committee. Applicants will be advised to
provide a comprehensive report into the mechanical fitness of the vehicle as
outlined above. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be
relevant.

	 
	 
	3.8 Hackney carriage Vehicle Renewal: Wheelchair Accessible and Ultra-low/ zero
emission vehicles

	 
	From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, wheelchair
accessible vehicle proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition:

	Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent).There is currently no upper age
limit for the renewal of wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles,
these vehicles will still be required to pass the Council’s vehicle inspection on a
twelve-month basis until the vehicle is 8 years old, and thereafter every six months.

	 
	This provisions of sections 3.5 to 3.8 shall not apply to non-motorised vehicles.

	 
	 
	 
	3.9 Vehicle Size

	 
	Vehicles may be licensed for up to eight passengers.

	 
	3.10 Advertising

	 
	Detailed provisions as to permitted vehicle markings which relate to the proprietor’s
business are set out in Appendix K. Other advertising is permitted but only with the
express permission of a Licensing Officer, who shall not allow advertising which is
disproportionate, unreasonable and not in good taste.

	 
	3.11 Vehicle Testing

	 
	A hackney carriage vehicle shall be tested once per year until it is 6 years old (8
years old for wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles), and
thereafter twice per year, at six monthly intervals. All vehicles must pass the vehicle
test as detailed in Appendix B no more than eight weeks before the grant or renewal
of the licence. The second vehicle test (applicable to older vehicles), must be
passed no less than five months and no more than seven months before the expiry
date of the licence.

	 
	The test must be carried out by an authorised MOT examiner at a testing station
approved by the Ministry of Transport, and must be conducted against an inspection
Formatted: Font: 12 pt
	checklist, which is exhibited at Appendix B. This is in addition to an MOT, which for
Hackney Carriages is required at 1 year old and thereafter. If the vehicle has not
passed the vehicle test it cannot be used as a licensed vehicle even during the
duration of an existing licence and any existing licence will be suspended.

	 
	3.12 Livery

	 
	There are no requirements to display the Council logo on vehicles.
	  
	4.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Drivers

	 
	4.1 Conditions

	 
	The Licensing Authority is not permitted to attach conditions to a hackney carriage
driver’s licence. However, all Hackney carriage drivers are also licensed to drive
private hire vehicles, and as such shall be subject to any conditions attached to
their private hire driver’s licence and expected to comply with them as set out in
the appendices to this document. All drivers are expected to comply with a Code of
Good Conduct, as set out within Appendix C.

	 
	4.2 Code of Good Conduct

	 
	The Licensing Authority considers that a professional driver shall not charge above
the maximum fare, shall adopt safe and passive driving techniques and set a good
example to other road users. The standards expected are set out in the Code of
Good Conduct, which is included in this policy document at Appendix C.

	 
	The Licensing Authority has also adopted a Dress Code for licensed drivers, which
is exhibited at Appendix D.

	 
	4.3 Age, Experience and Qualification standards

	  
	Whilst there are no age restrictions imposed, the Licensing Authority shall not
grant a licence to drive a Hackney Carriage to any person unless they have held a
full driving licence for a period of one year and have passed a qualification listed in
A and B below:

	 
	A

	 
	 Driving standard assessment equivalent to the Driver and Vehicle Standards
Agency taxi driving assessment , or

	 Driving standard assessment equivalent to the Driver and Vehicle Standards
Agency taxi driving assessment , or

	 Driving standard assessment equivalent to the Driver and Vehicle Standards
Agency taxi driving assessment , or



	 
	 The Public Carrying Vehicles Test (or an equivalent or higher qualification as
approved by the Authority).

	 The Public Carrying Vehicles Test (or an equivalent or higher qualification as
approved by the Authority).

	 The Public Carrying Vehicles Test (or an equivalent or higher qualification as
approved by the Authority).



	 
	B

	 
	 BTEC Level 2 Certificate in the Introduction to the Role of the Professional Taxi
and Private Hire Driver (previously named the BTEC Intermediate Award in
Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire), or

	 BTEC Level 2 Certificate in the Introduction to the Role of the Professional Taxi
and Private Hire Driver (previously named the BTEC Intermediate Award in
Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire), or

	 BTEC Level 2 Certificate in the Introduction to the Role of the Professional Taxi
and Private Hire Driver (previously named the BTEC Intermediate Award in
Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire), or



	 
	 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Road Passenger Vehicle Driving (Community,
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicles and Chauffeurs), or

	 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Road Passenger Vehicle Driving (Community,
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicles and Chauffeurs), or

	 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Road Passenger Vehicle Driving (Community,
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicles and Chauffeurs), or



	 
	 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Passenger Carrying Vehicle Driving, or

	 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Passenger Carrying Vehicle Driving, or

	 The Edexcel Level 2 NVQ in Passenger Carrying Vehicle Driving, or



	 
	 An equivalent or higher qualification as approved by the Authority.

	 An equivalent or higher qualification as approved by the Authority.

	 An equivalent or higher qualification as approved by the Authority.



	 
	Although existing drivers are not required to undertake and pass the BTEC
Intermediate Award in Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire, they are
encouraged to undertake and pass these tests.
	 
	With effect from 1st March 2022 all prospective applicants for dual Hackney
carriage/ private hire drivers licences will within 12 months of the licence being
granted, provide documentary evidence of completing North Devon Council
approved child sexual exploitation and safeguarding awareness training.

	 
	With effect from 1st March 20227th November 2022 all existing licenced drivers
seeking the renewal of their licence will, within 12 months of any licence being
renewed, undertake child sexual exploitation and safeguarding awareness training
(CSE awareness).

	 
	all licensed taxi and private hire drivers must have undertaken or be booked onto
North Devon Council approved Child Sexual Exploitation and Safeguarding training
prior to the 1st January 2023.

	 
	It should be noted that existing drivers who fail to make their renewal application
on time will be treated as a grant application. All drivers are advised to place their
licence expiry in their diary and to apply for their driver’s renewal in good time.

	 
	 
	4.4 Authorisation to Work in the UK

	 
	All applicants will need to demonstrate that they are authorised to work in the UK
before an application for the grant of a driver’s licence may be considered. The
Licensing Authority will operate its application procedures in line with guidance
issued by the UK Border Agency on Prevention of Illegal Working and its associated
Code of Practice.

	 
	Further information can be obtained from www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/ or

	Further information can be obtained from www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/ or

	https://workpermit.com/
	https://workpermit.com/

	. Identification documents may be scanned and forwarded
to the Home Office for verification.


	 
	4.5 Certificates of Good Conduct

	 
	The Licensing Authority recognises that a DBS disclosure will only give
background details of any convictions, cautions etc. that were effected in the UK,
Channel Islands, and Isle of Man.

	 
	It is therefore the policy of the Licensing Authority to require, where appropriate, a
certificate of good conduct (or suitable equivalent document) from any applicant
who has been resident in any country (other than the UK, Channel Islands and
Isle of Man) for any length of time since the age of ten (i.e. the UK age of criminal
liability) or, where appropriate, since any (pre)existing licence was granted.

	 
	For the purposes of this general policy requirement, the Licensing Authority will
normally:

	(a) interpret the term 'resident in any country' in its widest possible meaning and to
include any period other than work deployments or holidays of less than 6 months
duration or any period of service in HM armed forces.

	(b) require a certificate of good conduct (or suitable equivalent document) to be
provided in respect of each country in which the applicant may have previously
lived.

	Formatted: Superscript
Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.27 cm
Formatted: Superscript
	NB: The licensing authority notes that different countries and jurisdictions may
recognise and use a different minimum age of criminal liability. Where appropriate, a
statement of good conduct must reflect the relevant minimum age of criminal liability
for the country concerned.

	 
	Additional requirements of certificates of good conduct

	 
	To ensure authenticity, currency and efficiency of use, the Licensing Authority
requires that certificates of good conduct (or suitable equivalent) be:

	 
	(a) translated and submitted in written English;

	(b) authenticated/certified as a true and accurate record by the relevant Embassy;
and

	(c) dated within 6 months of the date of submission or within a period otherwise
considered appropriate in the circumstances.

	 
	Relevance of certificates of good conduct

	 
	As it will otherwise be unable to satisfy itself of the applicant’s propriety, the
licensing authority will normally refuse any application for a hackney carriage and/or
private hire driver’s licence where the applicant fails to provide or obtain suitable
and sufficient certificates of good conduct where these may be appropriate.

	 
	However, the licensing authority recognises that not all states or provinces can
provide for certificates of good conduct. Therefore, in genuinely exceptional
circumstances, the licensing authority may require alternative documentation (i.e.
suitable equivalent documents) and/or seek to undertake alternative investigation of
the propriety of the applicant.

	 
	By way of providing for some background history, the exceptional arrangements
referred to will normally only be applied where the applicant can demonstrate a
minimum of five years official residency in the UK prior to application. Where
appropriate, alternative investigations and/or validation of documentation may be
undertaken through relevant agencies such as Interpol.

	 
	4.6 Driving Licences

	 
	The Licensing Authority requires an applicant’s driving licence to reflect the
address in the UK where the applicant resides.

	 
	4.7 Application Procedure

	 
	An application for a hackney carriage driver’s licence shall be made on the
Council’s specified application form. This form is a dual application form, and any
application shall be deemed to comprise an application for both a hackney carriage
and a private hire driver’s licence, unless the applicant indicates otherwise. The
application procedure is set out in Appendix E. Applicants must complete all
relevant fields of the application form in order for the application to be considered
duly made. In this context an application will not be considered duly made without
the inclusion of a valid email address (the Council will correspond with licence
holders primarily via email and as such a valid email address is essential).
	 
	If satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person the Licensing Authority will
grant a licence for a period of three years unless an applicant’s personal
circumstances dictate the granting a licence for a period of one year.

	 
	4.8 DVLA Driver Licence Check

	 
	As part of the Council’s fit and proper test, all applicants must sign a DVLA
disclosure mandate, which is valid for a period of three years. The DVLA mandate
allows approved Council personnel to access a web-based DVLA system in order
to check on driving licence entitlements and endorsements.

	 
	If on request drivers decide not to sign a disclosure mandate at any time during the
period of their licence, their licence will be suspended until such time as the validity
of their DVLA licence can be confirmed, showing that they are a fit and proper
person.

	 
	Applications for the grant of a licence will not be approved until all driving licence
entitlement and endorsement data is received by the Council and it proves
satisfactory in accordance with this policy.

	 
	A signed mandate is sufficient for the Council to issue a licence on renewal.
However, any issues subsequently identified which would prove unsatisfactory with
regard to this policy will then be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee in line
with Appendix I.

	 
	When a driver surrenders their hackney drivers licence a mandate is immediately
cancelled.

	 
	4.9 Testing of Applicants

	 
	The Licensing Authority shall not grant a licence to drive a hackney carriage unless
it is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person. In order to determine such
fitness, the applicant shall be required to undertake the following:

	 
	 Written tests as to the applicant’s knowledge of:

	 Written tests as to the applicant’s knowledge of:

	 Written tests as to the applicant’s knowledge of:



	 
	(a) Local geography

	(a) Local geography

	(a) Local geography


	(b) The Highway Code

	(b) The Highway Code


	(c) The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy

	(c) The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy


	(d)(b) Numeracy.

	(d)(b) Numeracy.



	 
	The procedures in relation to the above are set out Appendix F.

	 
	4.10 The Consideration of Applications

	 
	The Licensing Authority shall consider the application once the appropriate tests
have been undertaken, and the application form and supporting documents are
complete. The relevant elements of the procedure to consider the merits of the
application are set out in Appendix G.

	 
	4.11 Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Disclosures
	 
	Before the Licensing Authority shall consider an application for the grant of a
driver’s licence, the Applicant must provide an Enhanced DBS disclosure of
criminal convictions (including a check of the barred lists). The Council has
arranged for a private company to carry out the DBS checks on their behalf but
drivers will need to make their application through a licensing officer to ensure their
application is processed in a timely manner

	 
	With effect from 1st April 2022, all new driver applicants and existing driver licence
holders upon renewal application, are required to subscribe to the DBS update
service. Licenced drivers must produce their most recent enhanced DBS certificate
within 7 days upon request from the Licensing Authority. Applicants must also give
consent to the checking of the status of their DBS certificate online at any time. If
on request drivers decide not to sign a DBS mandate at any time during the period
of their licence, their licence will be suspended until such time as the validity of
their DBS certificate can be confirmed.

	 
	For non-UK applicants, see paragraph 4.5 of this section.

	 
	The Council will only accept Enhanced DBS disclosures that are less than three
calendar months old at the date of issue by the DBS.

	 
	The Council is bound by rules of confidentiality, and will not divulge information
obtained to any third parties. The applicant for a DBS disclosure will be sent their
DBS disclosure to their home address.

	 
	Care should be taken to complete DBS application forms accurately as failure to
do so will delay the process of obtaining a DBS disclosure.

	 
	In line with guidance issued by the DBS, North Devon Council will not accept DBS
certificates from another body, e.g. Devon County Council, due to the risk factors
involved.

	 
	4.12 Relevance of Convictions and Cautions

	 
	The guidelines contained in Appendix H (Relevance of convictions), are developed
from the ‘Institute of licensing – Guidance on determining the suitability of
applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades’ and the
‘Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards -
assessment of previous convictions’.

	 
	Upon receipt of the certificate from the Disclosure & Barring Service, an Officer of
the Licensing Authority will compare any disclosed information with the adopted
policies relating to relevance of convictions and determine whether the applicant
should be referred to a Licensing Sub -committee for them to determine whether
the applicant is fit and proper to hold a licence.

	 
	Guidance in relation to specific offences, along with a summary of the principles of
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, is given in Appendix H. In general terms,
the more recent, serious and relevant to public safety the offence is, the less likely
that an application will be granted.

	A refusal to licence an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver
licence does
	not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a
vehicle or private hire vehicle operator licence. The safety and suitability of an
individual to hold each licence type will be considered independently of any driver
licence refusal/ revocation in light of the information received/ held.

	 
	4.13 Medical Examination

	 
	A medical certificate is required before a licence may be granted, irrespective of
the age of the applicant. A DVLA Group 2 standard of medical fitness for
professional drivers is required. Certificates must be completed by a Doctor
currently registered with the General Medical Council and approved to conduct
driver medicals by North Devon District Council (weblink to list of current approved
providers), or a GP from their registered practice, who has access to an applicant’s
medical records.

	 
	North Devon Council holds specified medical examination forms, these are
available for applicants to present to the examining Doctor. The applicant shall be
responsible for paying the fee for the examination to the relevant surgery, and for
providing the examining Doctor with a copy of their ‘Summary of medical records’
which is obtainable free of charge from their GP surgery upon request. On
completion of the examination, a confidential report will be submitted to the
Licensing Office. This report will be returned to the applicant.

	 
	North Devon Council no longer accept evidence via a HGV licence entitlement on
a driving licence that a driver has passed a Group 2 medical. All applicants are
required to provide evidence of a Group 2 standard medical completed and signed
fit, as the medicals for DVLA HGV renewals do not include a declaration that the
person is medically fit to hold the licence.

	 
	Existing drivers must produce to the Council a new medical certificate within seven
days of the date of the expiry of a previous certificate.

	 
	Any applicant or licence holder must be medically examined every 5 years, whilst
individuals of 65 years and over, must be examined annually.

	 
	Licence holders must immediately advise the Council of any deterioration of their
health that may affect their driving capabilities and which may negate their ability to
pass a Group 2 medical standard examination. Examples include high blood
pressure, angina, diabetes, vision disorder, fainting, blackouts, drug taking or
alcoholism. Where there is any doubt as to the medical fitness of the applicant, the
Council may require the applicant to undergo and pay for a further medical
examination by a Doctor appointed by the Council. The Doctor’s recommendation
will be final.

	 
	4.14 Central Database The National Register of Revocations and Refusals

	 
	The Licensing Authority will review all applications for new licences against the
Central Database National Register of Revocations and Refusals. If an applicant
has been refused/revoked by another authority, this may not debar an applicant
from holding a licence, however the Licensing Authority will give weight to the
decision made by that authority in considering the application. Additionally, if an
applicant has had another licence refused/revoked which is not declared on an
Formatted: Font: 12 pt
Formatted: Font: 12 pt
	application form, this will raise concerns about the honesty and integrity of the
applicant and is likely to lead to refusal.

	 
	North Devon Council will record all decisions to refuse and revoke a driver’s licence
on the Central Database of Revocations and RefusalsNational Register, and will
provide details of the reasons for each decision to another licensing authority upon
receipt of a suitable data protection request.

	 
	 
	4.15 Grant of Licences

	 
	A successful applicant will be granted a hackney carriage driver’s licence, along
with a private hire driver’s licence, for a three-year period from the date of grant,
subject to the power to grant a licence for a shorter period, should this be
appropriate in the circumstances.

	 
	 
	4.16 Renewals

	 
	Although there is no statutory duty placed on North Devon Council to issue
reminders, holders of existing hackney carriage drivers’ licences will be reminded,
in the month preceding their expiry, when their licences are due to be renewed.
However, the responsibility to apply for renewal in good time ultimately rests with
the Licence Holder. Application forms, appropriate fees, and supporting
documentation, as set out in Appendix E, must be submitted at least 7 days prior
to the expiry of the previous licence. Drivers are recommended to place their
licence expiry date in their diary and apply in good time.

	 
	Applicants for renewal are required to provide an Enhanced DBS disclosure from
the Disclosure & Barring Service every three years or on an earlier occasion if
requested by the Licensing Authority. Applicants who are aged 65 or over will need
to provide evidence of their medical fitness to hold a licence upon renewal each
year.

	 
	Failure to renew a licence before the expiry date will result in the applicant being
required to make a new application for the grant of a new licence. The applicant
will be required to comply with Appendix E of this policy which includes the
necessity to undertake and pass the DVSA Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
Assessment test AND the BTEC Intermediate Award in Transporting Passengers
by Taxi and Private Hire (or higher or equivalent tests approved by the Licensing
Authority, see paragraph 4.3 of this section).

	 
	In exceptional circumstances the Licensing Authority may choose to waive those
testing requirements outlined at Paragraph 3 of Appendix E and Appendix F, and
the requirement for a disclosure & barring check, provided that the one held by the
authority is less than three years old. Circumstances solely related to the renewal
process, for example a mere failure to renew on time leading to financial
consequences will not be deemed exceptional. ‘Exceptional’ in this instance will
only apply where failure to renew is due to unforeseen circumstances, for example
where the applicant has been unable to apply due to a significant accident or
emergency situation.

	 
	Formatted: Font: 12 pt
	4.17 Licence Application Tax Check

	 
	From 4 April 2022, licensing authorities are required to carry out checks to make
sure applicants are aware of their tax responsibilities or have completed a tax
check.

	 
	New applicants will therefore be required to confirm on their application form that
they are aware of their tax responsibilities, whilst applicants renewing their licence
will need to complete a tax check and obtain a tax check code from the HMRC
which must be provided on their application form.

	The Licensing Authority is not permitted to grant or renew a licence until a valid tax
check code has been provided.
	 
	 
	 
	H2
	5.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Fares

	 
	5.1 Prescribed rates

	 
	The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle, whether by agreement or otherwise, shall
not charge any fare greater than the rate prescribed by the Council in the
document ‘North Devon Council’s Hackney Fares’, except as set out below.

	 
	5.2 Separate Fares

	 
	The driver of a Hackney Carriage Vehicle shall not charge greater than the
prescribed rate of fares as issued by the Licensing Authority, see ‘North Devon
Council’s Hackney Fares’ document. A licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicle or
licensed hire car may be used for hire or reward at separate fares BUT ONLY
WHERE:

	 
	a) All the passengers carried on the occasion in question booked their journeys
in advance; and

	a) All the passengers carried on the occasion in question booked their journeys
in advance; and

	a) All the passengers carried on the occasion in question booked their journeys
in advance; and



	 
	b) Each of them consented, when booking the journey, to sharing the use of the
vehicle on that occasion with others on the basis that a separate fare would be
payable by each passenger for their own journey on that occasion.

	b) Each of them consented, when booking the journey, to sharing the use of the
vehicle on that occasion with others on the basis that a separate fare would be
payable by each passenger for their own journey on that occasion.

	b) Each of them consented, when booking the journey, to sharing the use of the
vehicle on that occasion with others on the basis that a separate fare would be
payable by each passenger for their own journey on that occasion.



	 
	c) The total fare for all passengers does not exceed the fare on the meter for the
journey.

	c) The total fare for all passengers does not exceed the fare on the meter for the
journey.

	c) The total fare for all passengers does not exceed the fare on the meter for the
journey.



	 
	The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle shall make their own agreement with
the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey.

	 
	5.3 Table of Fares

	 
	The maximum fares prescribed by the Licensing Authority are set out ‘North Devon
Council’s Hackney Fares’ document. A table of authorised fares will be provided to
each hackney carriage licence holder and must be displayed in each vehicle so
that it is easily visible to all hirers. Applicants will also be provided by the authority
with a fare tariff explanation sheet which must be kept in the vehicle and produced
upon request, and a ‘How to complain/ comment’ sticker which must be displayed
prominently within the vehicle.

	 
	 
	5.4 Review

	  
	Hackney carriage tariffs will be reviewed upon request by a representative section
of Hackney carriage Drivers/ Proprietors when cost of fuel and other expenses will
be taken into account. Any requests for review of tariffs will be referred to the
Licensing Committee

	for determination. This process is subject to statutory consultation periods.

	 
	5.5 Fare Tariff Criteria

	 
	In considering requests to vary a table of fares and in considering any
representations
	received in response to the statutory consultation period of a fare tariff review, the
following criteria will be utilised:

	 
	 Reasonable and fair to all stakeholders.

	 Reasonable and fair to all stakeholders.

	 Reasonable and fair to all stakeholders.


	 Proportionate with the locality.

	 Proportionate with the locality.


	 Benchmarked with other local authorities.

	 Benchmarked with other local authorities.


	 Justified.

	 Justified.


	 Simple, and easily calculated.

	 Simple, and easily calculated.


	 Designed with a view to practicality.

	 Designed with a view to practicality.


	 In line with published best practice guidance.

	 In line with published best practice guidance.


	 Mathematically correct and capable of being entered onto a meter.

	 Mathematically correct and capable of being entered onto a meter.


	 Structurally the same for vehicles of different seating capacity.

	 Structurally the same for vehicles of different seating capacity.


	 Designed where possible to avoid either deliberate or accidental over-charging.

	 Designed where possible to avoid either deliberate or accidental over-charging.



	 
	5.6 Charging under the maximum

	 
	There are no provisions in the relevant legislation or this policy, which prevent the
driver of a hackney carriage vehicle from charging less than the fare shown on the
meter.

	 
	5.7 Receipts

	 
	A hackney carriage driver must, if requested by the passenger, provide him/her
with a written receipt for the fare paid.
	6.0 Hackney Carriage Licensing - Taxi Stands

	 
	6.1 Appointed Stands

	 
	The Licensing Authority has appointed stands for hackney carriages within the
North Devon Council area, both on public and private land. The appointed stands
are listed in Appendix L.

	 
	6.2 Waiting on Stands

	 
	It is an offence for any person to cause or permit any vehicle other than a hackney
carriage to wait on any stand for hackney carriages (under Section 64 Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976).

	.

	 
	Drivers of hackney carriages may only wait on a stand whilst plying for hire or

	waiting for a fare; drivers who park on a stand and leave their vehicle unattended

	are committing an offence. under Section 62 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847.
Leaving a vehicle unattended on the rank causes significant frustration to other
hackney carriage drivers, and is viewed as a serious matter by the Licensing
Authority who may instigate prosecution proceedings, and/ or refer the matter to a
Licensing Sub-Committee as a disciplinary matter.

	 
	Drivers should also be aware that Civil Enforcement Officers are empowered to

	issue fixed penalty notices in relation to vehicles parked on a taxi rank in

	contravention of the above legislation.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	H2
	7.0 Private Hire Licensing – Operators and Vehicles

	 
	7.1 Requirement for Licence

	 
	Any person who operates a private hire service (who is not a hackney carriage
proprietor who permits hackney carriages to be used for private hire) must apply to
the Licensing Authority for a private hire operator’s licence.

	 
	7.2 Conditions

	 
	The Licensing Authority has power to impose such conditions on an operator’s
licence, as it considers reasonably necessary. The standard conditions usually
considered to be reasonably necessary are set out in Appendix P.

	 
	The conditions for private hire vehicles (i.e. those vehicles not licensed as hackney
carriages) are set out in Appendix A and M. No attempt must be made by the
holder of a private hire operator’s or driver’s licence, to lead or cause the general
public to believe that the vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire.

	 
	7.3 Obligations

	 
	A private hire vehicle may only be despatched to a customer by a private hire
operator who holds an operator’s licence. Such a licence permits the operator to
make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire
vehicle. A private hire operator must ensure that every private hire vehicle is driven
by a person who holds a private hire driver’s licence.

	 
	7.4 Application

	 
	Application for an operator’s licence is made on the prescribed form, together with
the appropriate fee.

	 
	Applicants must complete all relevant fields of the application form in order for the
application to be considered duly made. In this context an application will not be
considered duly made without the inclusion of a valid email address (the Council
will correspond with licence holders primarily via email and as such a valid email
address is essential).

	 
	The Licensing Authority will decide whether the applicant is a fit and proper person
to hold an operator’s licence.

	 
	In making a decision with respect of whether a person is a fit and proper person to
hold an operators licence, the Licensing Authority will require applicants to produce
a Basic Criminal Record Disclosure.

	 
	The Council is bound by rules of confidentiality, and will not divulge information
obtained in respect of this disclosure to any third parties.

	 
	A Basic Disclosure will be required on grant of a licence and thereafter every year,
or on an earlier occasion if requested by the Licensing Authority.

	 
	In terms of an Operators Licence, a Basic Disclosure will be required of all those
applicants listed in the application (individuals, partners, and directors) who do not
	hold a valid hackney carriage/private hire driver’s licence issued by North Devon
Council.

	 
	A Basic Disclosure submitted alongside any application must be no older than
three calendar months old from the date of issue when submitting the application
to the Licensing Authority.

	 
	Further to the above applicants must also provide a ‘Certificate of Good Conduct’
in line with the requirement for hackney carriage drivers contained at Section 4.5.

	 
	If satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person the Licensing Authority will
grant a licence for a period of five years unless an applicant’s personal
circumstances dictate the granting a licence for a period of one year.

	 
	In relation to the consideration of convictions, cautions, warnings, arrests,
reprimands and other ‘relevant information’, the Licensing Authority will use the
policy set out in Appendix H.

	 
	 
	7.5 Address from which an operator may operate

	 
	Upon grant of an operator’s licence, the Licensing Authority will specify the
address from which the operator may operate. The operator shall notify the
Licensing Authority in writing of any change of his/her address, (whether this is a
home address or the address from he/she operates), or other contact details
(change of email address or contact telephone number) during the period of the
licence, within 7 days of such change-taking place.

	 
	7.6 Public Liability Insurance

	 
	Operators who operate from premises which are open to the public and to which
the public has access are required to provide proof of public liability insurance for
the premises up to £2million.

	 
	7.7 Bases outside the North Devon Council Area

	 
	The Council will not grant an operator’s licence for an operator with an operating
base that is outside the Council area. This is to ensure that proper regulation and
enforcement measures may be taken by the Council and is in no way intended to
be a restraint of trade. All three licenses for the operator, vehicle(s) and driver(s)
must be issued by this Council.

	 
	7.8 Private Hire Vehicle Standard: Private Hire Vehicle First Licence (Except
wheelchair accessible vehicles)

	For all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council (including existing
proprietors on the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to comply with the
following condition:

	Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised
UK equivalent) and be less than 5 years old.

	 
	Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly
where an application for the grant of a private hire vehicle licence is made
when the vehicle in question is more than 5 years old or a lower emission
	standard, the application must be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee
for consideration.

	 
	The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old or
less than the Euro 6 emission standard, but each such application will be
considered on it’s own merits. Factors such as the condition of the vehicle, and the
mileage will be relevant.

	 
	7.9 Private Hire Vehicle Standard: Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles

	For all new wheelchair accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the Council
proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition(s):

	Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent).

	 
	7.10 Private Hire Vehicle Renewal (Except wheelchair accessible vehicles)

	From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, proprietors will
be required to comply with the following condition:

	Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised
UK equivalent).

	 
	7.11 Private Hire Vehicle Renewal: Wheelchair Accessible vehicles

	From 1st January 2026, upon application for vehicle licence renewal, wheelchair
accessible vehicle proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition:

	Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4 emission
standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent).

	 
	 
	Maximum Age of Vehicles

	 
	Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly
where an application for the grant of a hackney carriage/ private hire vehicle licence
is made when the vehicle in question is more than 5 years old, the application must
be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee for consideration.

	 
	The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old,
but each such application will be considered on it’s own merits. Factors such as the
condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be relevant.

	 
	This provision shall not apply to non-motorised vehicles.

	 
	7.12 Vehicle Testing

	 
	A private hire vehicle shall be tested once per year until it is 6 years old (8 years
old for wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles), and thereafter
twice per year at six monthly intervals. All vehicles must pass the vehicle test as
detailed in Appendix B no more than eight weeks before the grant or renewal of
the licence. The second vehicle test (applicable to older vehicles), must be passed
no less than five months and no more than seven months before the expiry date of
the licence.

	The test must take place at a testing station approved by the Ministry of Transport,
and must be conducted against an inspection checklist, which is exhibited at
	Appendix B. This is in addition to a MOT, which for private hire vehicles is required
at 3 years old and thereafter. If the vehicle has not passed the vehicle test it
cannot be used as a licensed vehicle even during the duration of an existing
licence and any existing licence will be suspended.

	 
	7.13 Fares

	 
	The operator of a private hire vehicle shall make his/her own agreement with the
hirer as to the fare for a particular journey.

	 
	8.0 Private Hire Licensing - Stretched Limousines and Novelty Vehicles

	 
	8.1 Stretched Limousines are specialist vehicles, which have been modified. Any
stretching of a vehicle takes it outside the manufacturer’s original specification and
may potentially have a detrimental effect on the structural integrity of the vehicle.
There are significant public safety issues to be addressed when licensing such
vehicles. However the Council acknowledges the guidance issued by the
Department for Transport in it’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best
Practice Guidance, that such vehicles have a legitimate role to play in the private
hire trade, meeting a public demand. To this end, the Council will refer any
applications for stretched limousines to the Licensing Sub Committee for a
decision.

	 
	8.2 Imported stretched limousines are normally checked for compliance with British
regulations under the Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) inspection regime. Therefore
this Council requires that a SVA certificate be presented at the time of application.
This provides evidence that the vehicle has been tested by DVSA before being
registered and licensed (taxed) by DVLA. The SVA test verifies that the converted
vehicle is built to certain safety and environmental standards. (There are some
vehicles that have gained registration without a SVA and these may not comply
with British regulations)

	 
	8.3 Stretched Limousines, which clearly have more than 8 passenger seats are
outside of the PHV regime and cannot therefore be licensed as a private hire
vehicle. In circumstances where it is difficult to determine the exact number of
passenger seats but the vehicle has obtained a SVA certificate, this Council will
consider the case on its merits and the case will be referred to the Licensing Sub
Committee for a decision. If a licence is granted under these circumstances it will
be a condition of that licence that the vehicle will not carry more than 8
passengers, even if it is physically possible for it to do so.

	 
	8.4 Applications for the licensing of Novelty vehicles such as ex-military vehicles, ex�fire engines or other vehicles of unusual design or construction will, as for
stretched limousines be referred to Licensing Sub Committee for a decision. Each
case will be considered on it’s own merits.

	 
	8.5 Appendix N sets out conditions for stretched limousines.

	 
	8.6 Stretched Limousines are the subject of future public consultation by the
Department for Transport and further guidance may be issued in the future.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	9.0 Private Hire Licensing – Executive Hire, Chauffeur Services, Airport Travel
etc.

	 
	There is no longer any exemption for a vehicle from licensing where it is used only
for carrying passengers for hire or reward under a contract for the hire of the
vehicle for a period of not less than 7 days. The abolition of a previously existing
exemption, by way of The Road Safety Act 2006, Sect 53 requires all such
vehicles to be licensed as Private Hire Vehicles and drivers of such vehicles must
hold a private hire vehicle licence. In general the following vehicles, if they seat up
to eight persons will now need a Private Hire Vehicle Licence:

	 
	 Stretched Limousines

	 Stretched Limousines

	 Stretched Limousines


	 Executive Hire

	 Executive Hire


	 Chauffeur services

	 Chauffeur services


	 Airport transfer services

	 Airport transfer services


	 Hotel Cars

	 Hotel Cars


	 Club & Pub Transport

	 Club & Pub Transport


	 Courtesy Services where passengers are driven

	 Courtesy Services where passengers are driven


	 Some hospital car services and school car services- if they are used for both
patient

	 Some hospital car services and school car services- if they are used for both
patient



	transfer and social events.

	 
	If you are in any doubt as to whether you need a Private Hire Vehicle Licence or
not, you should contact the Licensing team.

	 
	Refer to Appendix A and M for the vehicle conditions.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	10.0 Private Hire Licensing - Exemptions

	 
	 
	10.1 Section 80 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 defines a
private hire vehicle as:

	10.1 Section 80 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 defines a
private hire vehicle as:

	10.1 Section 80 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 defines a
private hire vehicle as:

	10.1 Section 80 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 defines a
private hire vehicle as:




	 
	“A motor vehicle constructed or adapted to seat fewer than nine passengers, other
than a hackney carriage or public service vehicle or a London cab or tramcar,
which is provided for hire with the services of a driver for the purpose of carrying
passengers”.

	 
	Clearly there are a range of vehicles that could potentially fall within this definition,
certainly more so that those which are solely used to provide a conventional
‘minicab’ service. In deciding what is and what is not a private hire vehicle, North
Devon Council will take a balanced view of the facts of any one case, taking into
account any relevant case law and the ‘Department for Transport Private Hire
Vehicle Licensing – A Note For Guidance from the DFT’.

	 
	10.2 Funeral Vehicles

	 
	There is no requirement for a vehicle to be licensed where it is being used in
connection with a funeral, or is being wholly or mainly used by a person carrying
on the business of a Funeral Director for the purpose of funerals.

	 
	10.3 Wedding Vehicles

	 
	A vehicle does not need to be licensed while it is being used in connection with a
wedding. Where a person “providing a wedding service” claims an exemption,
he/she is required to obtain a written certificate of the exemption from the
Licensing Authority. Such written certificate will restrict the use to specific wedding
contracts.

	 
	10.4 Volunteer Drivers

	 
	Volunteer drivers are unlikely to need to obtain a private hire vehicle licence if they
do not receive payment for the use of their time and vehicle, other than the
reimbursement of reasonable expenses.

	 
	10.5 Childminders

	 
	Childminders transporting children in their care to school are unlikely to need a
licence, unless there is a specific requirement in their contract with the family for
the provision of transport in return for the payment provided.

	 
	10.6 Ambulances/Vehicles Operating as Formal Patient Transport Services

	 
	Drivers operating these types of vehicles are unlikely to need a licence provided
they carry patients who have been assessed as having a medical need for
	transport, are subject to the laws of patient confidentiality and driver training and
background checks have been carried out under the Patient Transport Service
scheme.

	 
	If you are in any doubt as to whether you need a Private Hire Vehicle Licence or
not, you should contact the Licensing team.
	 
	  
	11.0 Private Hire Licensing - Drivers

	 
	11.1 Conditions

	 
	The Licensing Authority is empowered to attach such conditions on a private hire
driver’s licence as are considered necessary. The Licensing Authority will ordinarily
take the view that the conditions set out in Appendix O are reasonably necessary,
and this appendix should be read alongside the Code of Good Conduct (Appendix
C) and Dress Code (Appendix D).

	 
	11.2 Parallel Procedures

	 
	As the statutory and practical criteria and qualifications for a private hire driver are
identical to those for a hackney carriage driver, the paragraphs under the following
headings in Section 4 apply equally to private hire drivers:

	 
	 Age and experience

	 Age and experience

	 Age and experience


	 Application procedure

	 Application procedure


	 DVLA Driver Licence Check

	 DVLA Driver Licence Check


	 Testing of Applicants (with the exception that private hire drivers will not be

	 Testing of Applicants (with the exception that private hire drivers will not be



	required to undertake and pass a test with respect of local geography)

	 Relevance of cautions and convictions

	 Relevance of cautions and convictions

	 Relevance of cautions and convictions


	 Grant of licences

	 Grant of licences


	 Renewal of licences.
	 Renewal of licences.


	 
	  
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	12.0 Non-Motorised Hackney Carriages

	 
	21.1 Application Procedure – Driver

	 
	Those persons wishing to apply for a licence to solely drive a non- motorised hackney
carriage will on successful application be issued a joint hackney carriage and private
hire driver’s licence, a specific condition of which is that the driver may only drive a
non-motorised vehicle (i.e. a horse drawn carriage, rickshaw or trishaw) and no other
type of licensed vehicle.

	 
	An application for a non-motorised hackney carriage driver’s licence shall be made in
accordance with the criteria below and the procedure set out in Appendix E.

	 
	On issue of a joint hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence whereby the
above condition is relevant, applicants will be exempted from the requirement to pass
those qualifications outlined in Section 4.3 A and B considering these largely relate
to the driving of motorised vehicles, this does not exempt the applicant from holding
a full driving licence for a period of one year.

	 
	Those testing arrangements as outlined in Section 4.8 will apply with the exception of
the test in relation to local geography, which will be exempted due to the nature of a
non-motorised operation typically being localised.

	 
	A licence to drive a non-motorised hackney carriage will not be granted to a person
who is under 18 years of age.

	 
	The driver of a rickshaw or trishaw will not be required to provide specific evidence
of his/her competence to drive a rickshaw or trishaw, the fact that the driver holds a
DVLA driving licence is deemed to be sufficient.

	 
	Where the application relates to a horse-drawn vehicle, drivers must produce
evidence to the authority that they are competent to drive horses in harness.
Certification to British Driving Society (BDS) Code of Practice for Drivers of Horse
Drawn Vehicles Working on the Public Highway is required for new drivers. Those
drivers previously licensed with the authority in the last three years may
alternatively hold the BDS Level 3 Road Driving Safety Qualification for Pairs and
Singles or have demonstrated equivalent competence. For grooms the standard is
BDS level 2 Unit Certificate for the Harness Horse Groom. The Council will
consider alternative qualifications that are to the equivalent standard. Any expense
involved in producing such certification shall be met by the applicant or licence
holder.

	 
	 
	12.2 Application Procedure – Proprietor

	 
	Non- motorised vehicles can only be issued with hackney carriage licences, and
cannot be licensed for private hire due to the fact that a private hire vehicle is
defined as a ‘motor vehicle’. Before a non-motorised hackney carriage licence is
granted, the authority must be satisfied that the vehicle is fit for purpose. In
ascertaining whether the vehicle is fit, the proprietor will need to produce evidence
of the following:
	 
	a) The roadworthiness of the carriage (via a certificate issued by an inspector
approved by the Council);

	a) The roadworthiness of the carriage (via a certificate issued by an inspector
approved by the Council);

	a) The roadworthiness of the carriage (via a certificate issued by an inspector
approved by the Council);


	b) The serviceability of the ancillary equipment (via a certificate issued by an
inspector approved by the Council );

	b) The serviceability of the ancillary equipment (via a certificate issued by an
inspector approved by the Council );


	c) The fitness and appropriateness of the horses to be used (via a certificate issued
by a Veterinary Surgeon approved by the Council);

	c) The fitness and appropriateness of the horses to be used (via a certificate issued
by a Veterinary Surgeon approved by the Council);


	d) Horse passports for those horses to be used;

	d) Horse passports for those horses to be used;


	e) An insurance policy appropriate for public hire and covering third party liability
both in respect of physical injury or death and in respect of damage to personal
belongings. A minimum sum of £2million is required.

	e) An insurance policy appropriate for public hire and covering third party liability
both in respect of physical injury or death and in respect of damage to personal
belongings. A minimum sum of £2million is required.



	 
	12.3 Proprietors – Conditions

	 
	The Licensing Authority is empowered to attach such conditions, as it considers
reasonably necessary to the licensing of hackney carriages. In relation to horse�drawn vehicles, the Licensing Authority will ordinarily consider that the conditions
set out in Appendix Q are reasonably necessary.

	 
	12.4 Tariffs

	 
	Tariffs for non-motorised hackney carriages shall be the subject of written
agreement between the licence holders and the Council.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	13.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Disciplinary and Enforcement
Measures

	 
	13.1 Aim of Intervention

	 
	In pursuance of its objective to encourage responsible hackney carriage and
private hire businesses, the Licensing Authority will operate a firm but fair
disciplinary and enforcement regime. With a view to balancing the promotion of
public safety with the need to permit individuals to safeguard their livelihood
without undue interference. The Licensing Authority will only intervene where it is
necessary and proportionate to do so, having regard to the objectives outlined at
paragraph 1.2.

	 
	The Authority will regulate the licensed trade in accordance with the Regulator’s
Compliance Code published by the Department for Business, Enterprise and
Regulatory Reform and with the principles set out in its Licensing Enforcement
Policy and Corporate Enforcement Policy. The general principles of proportionality,
consistency, transparency and targeting of regulatory activities only at cases in
which action is needed.

	 
	13.2 Range of Powers

	 
	The Licensing Authority seeks to operate as far as possible a graduated
enforcement approach in-line with North Devon Council’s Enforcement Policy, with
non-criminal sanctions being considered before criminal sanctions.

	 
	The Licensing Authority may take any of the steps below, upon receipt of evidence
that an offence has been committed in relation to a hackney carriage licence or
driver’s licence. A breach of a condition or of the Hackney Carriage and Private
Hire Licensing Policy amounts to an offence in this context.

	 
	 Suspension of a Licence

	 Suspension of a Licence

	 Suspension of a Licence


	 Revocation of a Licence

	 Revocation of a Licence


	 Refusal to Renew a Licence

	 Refusal to Renew a Licence


	 Issuing of warnings

	 Issuing of warnings


	 Imposition of further conditions

	 Imposition of further conditions


	 Prosecution

	 Prosecution


	 Referral to relevant training, for example an enhanced driver’s course where
the licence holder’s driving standards are found to be below the expected
standard, or other relevant training as determined by the Licensing Authority.

	 Referral to relevant training, for example an enhanced driver’s course where
the licence holder’s driving standards are found to be below the expected
standard, or other relevant training as determined by the Licensing Authority.



	 
	 
	13.3 Disciplinary Hearings

	 
	Disciplinary matters, except in the case of breaches of vehicle requirements, will
ordinarily be referred to a Licensing Sub Committee of the Licensing Authority. The
function of the appropriate Licensing Sub Committee is to consider the impact of
transgressions of the law on the fitness of an individual to hold a hackney carriage/
private hire licence, and to take the action appropriate to the circumstances.

	 
	Licence holders are required to notify the Licensing authority within 48 hours of an
arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence
involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. An arrest for any of the
	offences within this scope will result in a review by the Licensing authority as to
whether the licence holder remains fit to continue to hold a hackney carriage/
private hire licence.

	 
	For minor breaches of vehicle requirements informal action such as verbal advice
or warnings or written advice or warnings may be appropriate.

	 
	 
	13.4 Suspension

	 
	Vehicles

	 
	Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles shall be kept at all times in an efficient,
safe, tidy and clean condition. Compliance with the vehicle conditions is essential,
and will be enforced by periodic, random vehicle inspections by the Licensing
Authority.

	Where it is found that any hackney carriage or private hire vehicle is not being
properly maintained, a defect(s) notice will be served on the proprietor setting out
the defect(s), and where public safety is imperilled, the further use of the vehicle is
suspended until the defects have been remedied. The suspension will not be lifted
until the vehicle has undergone a further test, at the proprietor’s expense, and
been passed as fit for use as a hackney carriage/ private hire vehicle.

	 
	Failure to properly maintain a licenced vehicle is a serious matter, and will likely
also lead to referral to a Licensing Sub-Committee for a disciplinary hearing
against the driver and/ or vehicle proprietor(s).

	 
	 
	Vehicle Suspension for any Reasonable Cause

	 
	Where an annual vehicle licensing inspection is not provided by a proprietor
following

	requests by the Licensing Team vehicles will be suspended until a satisfactory test
is provided.

	 
	Where there is considerable damage to a vehicle which despite not affecting public
safety, seriously affects the appearance of a vehicle a suspension is likely until
satisfactory works are completed.

	 
	Drivers

	 
	The Licensing Authority may exercise its discretion to suspend the operation of a
driver’s licence for a specified period. Such action may be taken immediately if an
authorised officer deems such a course of action is necessary in the interests of
public safety. If the nature of the matter is not one of immediate public risk, the
decision to suspend may be taken only after a hearing before the appropriate
Licensing Sub Committee.

	 
	13.5 Revocation

	 
	An authorised officer may revoke, with immediate effect, a driver’s licence if
deemed necessary in the interests of public safety. Where a licence holder has
	been referred to the appropriate Licensing Committee because he/she has been
convicted of a serious criminal offence, the Sub Committee may order the
revocation of the licence.
	 
	  
	13.6 Refusal to Renew

	 
	As an alternative to revocation, the Sub Committee may decide that the
appropriate action, in a situation where the licence is shortly to expire, is to order
that the licence will not be renewed.

	 
	13.7 Prosecution

	 
	The Licensing Authority will usually prosecute licence holders for relevant offences
in the following circumstances:

	 
	 where the allegation is of a serious or repeated offence

	 where the allegation is of a serious or repeated offence

	 where the allegation is of a serious or repeated offence


	 where prosecution is in the public interest.
	 where prosecution is in the public interest.


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	  
	14.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Delegated Powers

	 
	14.1 Licensing Committee

	 
	The Licensing Committee of the North Devon Council is responsible for the
management of the hackney carriage and private hire licensing regime in the
district, along with the formulation and review of its policy in this regard, when so
directed by the Executive.

	 
	14.2 Delegated Functions

	 
	The Committee has delegated its functions in the following way:

	 
	 A sub-committee will deal with applications and disciplinary matters referred
to it by Licensing Officers.

	 A sub-committee will deal with applications and disciplinary matters referred
to it by Licensing Officers.

	 A sub-committee will deal with applications and disciplinary matters referred
to it by Licensing Officers.



	 
	 The Head of Environmental Health and Housing Services has delegated
authority to suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or private hire driver
licence under the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions)Act 1976 Sect 61 (2 B).

	 The Head of Environmental Health and Housing Services has delegated
authority to suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or private hire driver
licence under the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions)Act 1976 Sect 61 (2 B).

	 The Head of Environmental Health and Housing Services has delegated
authority to suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or private hire driver
licence under the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions)Act 1976 Sect 61 (2 B).



	 
	 Licensing Officers authorised by the Head of Environmental Health &
Housing Services have power to grant, suspend or in the circumstances
mentioned above to revoke licences. Officers also have power to issue oral
and written warnings, and may instigate prosecutions wherever appropriate.

	 Licensing Officers authorised by the Head of Environmental Health &
Housing Services have power to grant, suspend or in the circumstances
mentioned above to revoke licences. Officers also have power to issue oral
and written warnings, and may instigate prosecutions wherever appropriate.

	 Licensing Officers authorised by the Head of Environmental Health &
Housing Services have power to grant, suspend or in the circumstances
mentioned above to revoke licences. Officers also have power to issue oral
and written warnings, and may instigate prosecutions wherever appropriate.



	 
	 Licensing Officers have the power at all reasonable times to inspect and test,
for the purpose of ascertaining it’s fitness, any hackney carriage or private
hire vehicle.
	 Licensing Officers have the power at all reasonable times to inspect and test,
for the purpose of ascertaining it’s fitness, any hackney carriage or private
hire vehicle.
	 Licensing Officers have the power at all reasonable times to inspect and test,
for the purpose of ascertaining it’s fitness, any hackney carriage or private
hire vehicle.


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	15.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Offences

	 
	15.1 Offences

	 
	Offences in relation to hackney carriage and private hire licensing are derived from
the following sources:

	 
	 the Town Police Clauses Act 1847

	 the Town Police Clauses Act 1847

	 the Town Police Clauses Act 1847


	 the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 1976

	 the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 1976


	 the Transport Act 1980

	 the Transport Act 1980


	 the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended)

	 the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended)


	 the Equality Act 2010

	 the Equality Act 2010


	 North Devon District CouncilDevon Council bylaws

	 North Devon District CouncilDevon Council bylaws


	 the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy

	 the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy



	 
	The relevant offences are set out in Appendix J.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	16.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing - Fees

	 
	16.1 Fee Structure

	 
	The fees payable for the grant and renewal of hackney carriage and private hire
licences are set out within ‘North Devon Councils Hackney and Private Hire Fees’
document. Notice of the current scale of fees will be supplied to all applicants at
the time of application.

	 
	16.2 Payments

	 
	Fees for licences, deposits or vehicle inspections must be made payable to the
North Devon Council.

	 
	16.3 Payment Refunds

	 
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers

	 
	North Devon Council will on request remit the fees for applications (with the
exception of DBS and DBS administrative fees) for hackney carriage and private
hire drivers licences where no licence is granted. However where a licence is
granted fees will not be refunded (e.g. on surrender prior to the expiry date) except
to the extent that deposits have been paid for drivers badges.

	 
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles

	 
	In the case of hackney carriage or private hire vehicle where a licence is not
granted, North Devon Council may remit the whole or part of the fee depending on
the nature and progress of the application. Where a private hire or hackney
carriage vehicle has been granted a licence, fees will not be generally be refunded
except to the extent that deposits have been paid for vehicle plates or where and
only where, the surrender of a vehicle licence is immediately followed by the
application for a new vehicle licence.

	 
	Private Hire Operators

	 
	North Devon Council will on request remit the fees for applications for private hire
operators licences where no licence has been granted. However fees will not
generally be refunded after a licence has been granted.
	 
	 
	Appendix A

	 
	Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles - Vehicle Conditions

	 
	1.0 General

	 
	1.1 This appendix sets out those conditions applicable to both Private Hire and
Hackney Carriages. For specific additional conditions for hackney carriages
please see Appendix K, and for private hire vehicles please see Appendix M.

	 
	1.2 The following vehicle conditions are made in addition to the requirements of the
road traffic legislation, which relates to all motor vehicles. It is also recommended
that vehicles with Euro NCAP star ratings of 4 or more should be considered when
purchasing a new vehicle.

	 
	1.3 Vehicle Standard: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle First Licence
(Except wheelchair accessible Vehicles):

	For all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council (including existing
proprietors on the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to comply
with the following condition:

	Vehicles must comply with the Euro 6 emission standard or above (or recognised
UK equivalent), and be less than 5 years old.

	 
	Vehicle Standard: Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles:

	For all new wheelchair accessible vehicles plated for the first time by the Council
proprietors will be required to comply with the following condition(s):

	Diesel vehicles must comply with the Euro 5 emission standard or above (or
recognised UK equivalent). Petrol vehicles must comply with the Euro 4
emission standard or above (or recognised UK equivalent).

	Vehicles must be less than 3 years old when presented for first licensing except wheelchair
accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles which must be less than 6 years
old at first licensing.

	 
	Additionally, a first licence may be issued to a vehicle that is more than three but
less than four years old provided a comprehensive report into the mechanical
fitness of the vehicle has been undertaken in accordance with the Council’s vehicle
inspection requirements (Vehicle Inspection Checklist- Appendix B), and any
essential works identified have been carried out and evidence provided to
establish this. An application for the grant of a first licence where the vehicle in
question is more than 4 years old, shall not be granted. However, the applicant will
be given the right to apply for the application to be considered by a licensing sub�committee if they feel that their particular circumstances justify a deviation from the
existing policies.Vehicles must be less than 5 years old when presented for
licensing. Vehicles older than this will be licensed only at the discretion of the
Licensing Sub Committee (see also Sect 3.4).

	 
	1.4 All vehicles shall be fitted with right hand drive, with the exception of stretch
limousines (see Appendix N).

	 
	1.5 Vehicles that have been declared an insurance ‘write off’ in category A, or B, and
C will not be licensed.
	 
	Vehicles that have been declared a category N write off (non-structural damage)
may be considered for licensing by Licensing Officers under delegated powers,
subject to higher levels of examination and vehicle reports being provided by the
applicant, and physical inspection of the vehicle by the Officer. Examples of
vehicle reports which may be submitted as evidence of safety/ suitability of the
vehicle post repair would include the following:

	- A new MOT and vehicle inspection report;

	- A new MOT and vehicle inspection report;

	- A new MOT and vehicle inspection report;


	- A Comprehensive Inspection report to the AA, RAC or DEKRA standard;

	- A Comprehensive Inspection report to the AA, RAC or DEKRA standard;


	- Certificate of works from an insurance approved car body repair shop;

	- Certificate of works from an insurance approved car body repair shop;


	- Manufacturers conformity repair certificate;

	- Manufacturers conformity repair certificate;



	 
	 
	Where examinations provide any cause for concern over the safety of the public the
application will be referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination, and
likely recommended for refusal.

	               
	Vehicles that have been declared a category C, D, or S write off may be
considered for Licensing by a Licensing Sub-Committee subject to higher levels of
examination and vehicle reports. Where examinations provide any cause for
concern over the safety of the public such applications may be refused. licensed,
providing the applicant provides an appropriate engineers report, approved by the
Council, certifying the standard of repairs.

	If any vehicle which is currently licensed with this authority as a hackney carriage or private
hire vehicle is subsequently categorised as a category A, B, C, D, S or N write off by a
relevant insurance company then this must be declared to the Licensing Authority. The
vehicle licence will then be reviewed by a Licensing Sub-Committee (or in the case of a
category N write off, a Licensing Officer), who will determine if the vehicle should remain
licensed based on the evidence of the safety of the vehicle.

	 
	2.0 Doors

	 
	2.1 All vehicles shall have at least 3 side opening doors (excluding driver’s door),
which may be opened from the inside and the outside.

	2.1 All vehicles shall have at least 3 side opening doors (excluding driver’s door),
which may be opened from the inside and the outside.

	2.1 All vehicles shall have at least 3 side opening doors (excluding driver’s door),
which may be opened from the inside and the outside.

	2.1 All vehicles shall have at least 3 side opening doors (excluding driver’s door),
which may be opened from the inside and the outside.




	 
	2.2 All vehicles shall be constructed so that the doors open sufficiently wide as to allow
easy access into and egress from the vehicle.

	2.2 All vehicles shall be constructed so that the doors open sufficiently wide as to allow
easy access into and egress from the vehicle.

	2.2 All vehicles shall be constructed so that the doors open sufficiently wide as to allow
easy access into and egress from the vehicle.

	2.2 All vehicles shall be constructed so that the doors open sufficiently wide as to allow
easy access into and egress from the vehicle.




	 
	2.3 All vehicles, including multi purpose vehicles, must have sufficient safe and
suitable access and egress from the vehicle for the driver and all passengers,
excluding the rear exit and the driver’s front door.

	2.3 All vehicles, including multi purpose vehicles, must have sufficient safe and
suitable access and egress from the vehicle for the driver and all passengers,
excluding the rear exit and the driver’s front door.

	2.3 All vehicles, including multi purpose vehicles, must have sufficient safe and
suitable access and egress from the vehicle for the driver and all passengers,
excluding the rear exit and the driver’s front door.

	2.3 All vehicles, including multi purpose vehicles, must have sufficient safe and
suitable access and egress from the vehicle for the driver and all passengers,
excluding the rear exit and the driver’s front door.




	 
	3.0 Interior Dimensions

	 
	3.1 Height Inside: there must be sufficient space between the seat cushions and the
lowest part of the roof to safely accommodate the driver and passengers in
reasonable comfort.

	 
	3.2 Knee Space: there must be sufficient space between the front and back seats to
safely accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable comfort.

	 
	4.0 Seats
	 
	4.1 The seats (width): the width across the rear seat, measured in a straight line
across the widest part of the seat, must allow sitting accommodation to the extent
of at least 16 inches (40.64cm) per person; with a minimum overall width of 48
inches (121.92cm) if accommodating three persons. The number of persons
carried must not exceed the number specified on the plate.

	4.1 The seats (width): the width across the rear seat, measured in a straight line
across the widest part of the seat, must allow sitting accommodation to the extent
of at least 16 inches (40.64cm) per person; with a minimum overall width of 48
inches (121.92cm) if accommodating three persons. The number of persons
carried must not exceed the number specified on the plate.

	4.1 The seats (width): the width across the rear seat, measured in a straight line
across the widest part of the seat, must allow sitting accommodation to the extent
of at least 16 inches (40.64cm) per person; with a minimum overall width of 48
inches (121.92cm) if accommodating three persons. The number of persons
carried must not exceed the number specified on the plate.

	4.1 The seats (width): the width across the rear seat, measured in a straight line
across the widest part of the seat, must allow sitting accommodation to the extent
of at least 16 inches (40.64cm) per person; with a minimum overall width of 48
inches (121.92cm) if accommodating three persons. The number of persons
carried must not exceed the number specified on the plate.




	 
	4.2 In the case of multi-seater type vehicles where there is a third row of seats, and
those in the back row are distinctly separated (by distance) then a relaxation of the
16 inches (40.64cm) per person rule may be allowed.

	4.2 In the case of multi-seater type vehicles where there is a third row of seats, and
those in the back row are distinctly separated (by distance) then a relaxation of the
16 inches (40.64cm) per person rule may be allowed.

	4.2 In the case of multi-seater type vehicles where there is a third row of seats, and
those in the back row are distinctly separated (by distance) then a relaxation of the
16 inches (40.64cm) per person rule may be allowed.

	4.2 In the case of multi-seater type vehicles where there is a third row of seats, and
those in the back row are distinctly separated (by distance) then a relaxation of the
16 inches (40.64cm) per person rule may be allowed.




	 
	4.3 In relation to the carriage of Child Passengers under 3 years of age in the front
seat, an appropriate child restraint MUST be worn. Where a child passenger is
between 3-11 years old an adult seat belt must be worn if an appropriate child
restraint is not available.

	4.3 In relation to the carriage of Child Passengers under 3 years of age in the front
seat, an appropriate child restraint MUST be worn. Where a child passenger is
between 3-11 years old an adult seat belt must be worn if an appropriate child
restraint is not available.

	4.3 In relation to the carriage of Child Passengers under 3 years of age in the front
seat, an appropriate child restraint MUST be worn. Where a child passenger is
between 3-11 years old an adult seat belt must be worn if an appropriate child
restraint is not available.

	4.3 In relation to the carriage of Child Passengers under 3 years of age in the front
seat, an appropriate child restraint MUST be worn. Where a child passenger is
between 3-11 years old an adult seat belt must be worn if an appropriate child
restraint is not available.




	 
	5.0 Seat Belts

	 
	5.1 All vehicles must be fitted with fully operational seat belts, one for each passenger
to be carried, fully compliant with British Standards except where the law
specifically provides an exemption.

	 
	5.2 Taxis cannot be expected to have the correct child restraint (child seat or booster
seat) unless parents have bought one with them, however if a child restraint is not
available  then:-
 
	 
	 Child up to 3 years old may travel unrestrained in the rear only;

	 Child up to 3 years old may travel unrestrained in the rear only;

	 Child up to 3 years old may travel unrestrained in the rear only;


	 Child from 3 years old up to EITHER 135cms in height OR up to 12 years old
must use an adult belt in the rear seat only;

	 Child from 3 years old up to EITHER 135cms in height OR up to 12 years old
must use an adult belt in the rear seat only;


	 Child over 135cm in height or 12-13 years old, may sit in the front or the rear,
but must wear a seat belt in either case.

	 Child over 135cm in height or 12-13 years old, may sit in the front or the rear,
but must wear a seat belt in either case.


	 Adult passengers (14 years and over) may sit in the front or the rear, but
must wear a seat belt in either case.

	 Adult passengers (14 years and over) may sit in the front or the rear, but
must wear a seat belt in either case.



	 
	6.0 Passenger Capacity

	 
	6.1 The carrying capacity of saloon and estate type vehicles will be at the discretion of
the Licensing Authority having regard to manufacturer’s specifications and
compliance with dimensions referred to previously.

	 
	6.2 The number of persons licensed to be carried shall be exhibited outside the vehicle
on the Vehicle Licence Plate. This number of passengers carried must not exceed
that number recorded on the vehicle’s plate. For these purposes children (of any
age) are counted as one person.

	 
	7.0 Fire Extinguishers

	 
	7.1 A fire extinguisher must be suitably located and safely secured in the vehicle. Such
an appliance must be a minimum of either a 2kg ABC General Purpose Powder or
2 litre AFFF Foam and conform to BSEN 3, showing the appropriate kite-mark
(alternatively two fire extinguishers of 1kg General Purpose Powder/AFFF Foam
conforming to BSEN 3 will prove acceptable).
	 
	 
	7.2 All extinguishers must be checked every 12 months, prior to vehicle testing or prior
to change of vehicle test. Such a check shall be carried out in accordance with the
requirements of BS5306 Part 3 and Part 8, by a registered competent company.
The date of the test and signatures must be clearly visible on a sticker attached to
the extinguisher. The extinguisher must be marked with the vehicle registration
number.

	 
	8.0 First Aid Kit

	 
	8.1 There shall be provided in such a position as to be readily available at all time
when the vehicle is used for hire, a suitable First Aid Kit containing appropriate
dressings and appliance for immediate use in an emergency. The kit carried is to
ensure compliance with The Health & Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 which
requires employers to provide a first aid kit to enable employees to receive first aid
if they become injured at work and self employed persons to provide first aid to
themselves whilst at work. Only those persons who hold a current recognised First
Aid certificate should use the kit on any person other than themselves and your
attention is drawn to issues of liability if untrained persons administer first aid.

	 
	9.0 Ventilation

	 
	9.1 Rear passenger windows must be capable of being opened by passengers when
seated, unless air conditioning is available.

	9.1 Rear passenger windows must be capable of being opened by passengers when
seated, unless air conditioning is available.

	9.1 Rear passenger windows must be capable of being opened by passengers when
seated, unless air conditioning is available.

	9.1 Rear passenger windows must be capable of being opened by passengers when
seated, unless air conditioning is available.




	 
	 
	10.0 Luggage

	 
	10.1 All vehicles are to have sufficient luggage space in the vehicle to accommodate
the entire luggage for the maximum number of passengers seated with no
encroachment within the occupied area of the passenger compartment. If at any
time there is more luggage to carry than there is space in the vehicle to
accommodate it, then the luggage must be accommodated within a purpose built
trailer which has been approved by the licensing officer and complies with
paragraph 15.0 of this Appendix.

	 
	10.2 Provision must be made for the secure carriage of passenger’s luggage without
obstructing any emergency exits.

	 
	11.0 Maintenance

	 
	11.1 Licensed vehicles and their fittings and equipment shall, at all times when in use,
be kept in a safe, tidy and clean condition, and in good working order. This applies
equally to the interior and the exterior of the vehicles.

	 
	11.2 Vehicles shall be liable to be inspected and tested at any time. If upon inspection it
is discovered that a vehicle is not being properly maintained, or kept in good order,
a notice may be served on the owner to this effect, setting out the defects to be
remedied. If public safety is compromised by the defects, the further use of the
vehicle may be prohibited until the defects have been addressed and the vehicle
has successfully undergone a further inspection.
	11.2 Vehicles shall be liable to be inspected and tested at any time. If upon inspection it
is discovered that a vehicle is not being properly maintained, or kept in good order,
a notice may be served on the owner to this effect, setting out the defects to be
remedied. If public safety is compromised by the defects, the further use of the
vehicle may be prohibited until the defects have been addressed and the vehicle
has successfully undergone a further inspection.
	11.2 Vehicles shall be liable to be inspected and tested at any time. If upon inspection it
is discovered that a vehicle is not being properly maintained, or kept in good order,
a notice may be served on the owner to this effect, setting out the defects to be
remedied. If public safety is compromised by the defects, the further use of the
vehicle may be prohibited until the defects have been addressed and the vehicle
has successfully undergone a further inspection.
	11.2 Vehicles shall be liable to be inspected and tested at any time. If upon inspection it
is discovered that a vehicle is not being properly maintained, or kept in good order,
a notice may be served on the owner to this effect, setting out the defects to be
remedied. If public safety is compromised by the defects, the further use of the
vehicle may be prohibited until the defects have been addressed and the vehicle
has successfully undergone a further inspection.



	 
	11.211.3 Licensed Vehicles shall be inspected daily prior to commencing work as a
licensed vehicle, and the inspection recorded on the daily vehicle inspection
checklist (found at web-link to be confirmed).

	11.211.3 Licensed Vehicles shall be inspected daily prior to commencing work as a
licensed vehicle, and the inspection recorded on the daily vehicle inspection
checklist (found at web-link to be confirmed).

	11.211.3 Licensed Vehicles shall be inspected daily prior to commencing work as a
licensed vehicle, and the inspection recorded on the daily vehicle inspection
checklist (found at web-link to be confirmed).

	11.211.3 Licensed Vehicles shall be inspected daily prior to commencing work as a
licensed vehicle, and the inspection recorded on the daily vehicle inspection
checklist (found at web-link to be confirmed).




	 
	12.0 Accident Reporting and Inspection following Accidents

	 
	12.1 If any licensed vehicle is involved in an accident, this must be reported to the
Licensing Office as soon as reasonably practicable and in any case, within
seventy-two hours of the occurrence of the accident. Accident reports may be
made by telephone, in person or through emailing a specified accident form which
can be downloaded from the Council’s website (
	12.1 If any licensed vehicle is involved in an accident, this must be reported to the
Licensing Office as soon as reasonably practicable and in any case, within
seventy-two hours of the occurrence of the accident. Accident reports may be
made by telephone, in person or through emailing a specified accident form which
can be downloaded from the Council’s website (
	Apply to licence taxi or private hire
vehicle (northdevon.gov.uk)

	Apply to licence taxi or private hire
vehicle (northdevon.gov.uk)


	 

	 
	12.2 Where, following an accident or damage to a licensed vehicle, it is the intention of
the owner or operator to continue licensed use, the vehicle must be inspected by
either the hackney carriage enforcement officer or an authorised MOT inspector (at
the owner’s or operator’s expense) to determine its fitness for continued use. A
Licensing Officer may suspend the use of a licensed vehicle until it is suitably
repaired.

	 
	12.3 A licensed vehicle which has suffered major accident damage or requires
substantial mechanical repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle, provided:

	 
	(i) the damage to, or defect in, the vehicle has been reported;

	(i) the damage to, or defect in, the vehicle has been reported;

	(i) the damage to, or defect in, the vehicle has been reported;



	  
	(ii) application is made in the usual way for a change of vehicle (albeit
temporarily);

	(ii) application is made in the usual way for a change of vehicle (albeit
temporarily);

	(ii) application is made in the usual way for a change of vehicle (albeit
temporarily);



	 
	(iii) the replacement vehicle meets the licensing criteria, as in this Appendix, and
is suitable to be used for hire purposes;

	(iii) the replacement vehicle meets the licensing criteria, as in this Appendix, and
is suitable to be used for hire purposes;

	(iii) the replacement vehicle meets the licensing criteria, as in this Appendix, and
is suitable to be used for hire purposes;



	 
	 
	13.0 Modifications

	 
	13.1 No material alteration or change in the specification, design, seating capacity,
condition or appearance of the vehicle may be made without first complying with
road traffic and insurance legislation and secondly gaining the approval of the
Licensing Team in writing, at any time while the licence is in force.

	 
	14.0 Dealing with Disabilities

	 
	14.1 Assistance dogs must be carried when required, except where the driver has
obtained a medical exemption from so doing.

	 
	14.2 In relation to wheelchair access, there is no current requirement for hackney
carriages to be adapted for the purpose. Where, however, a hackney carriage may
be utilised for wheelchair access, the following conditions shall apply:

	14.2 In relation to wheelchair access, there is no current requirement for hackney
carriages to be adapted for the purpose. Where, however, a hackney carriage may
be utilised for wheelchair access, the following conditions shall apply:

	14.2 In relation to wheelchair access, there is no current requirement for hackney
carriages to be adapted for the purpose. Where, however, a hackney carriage may
be utilised for wheelchair access, the following conditions shall apply:

	14.2 In relation to wheelchair access, there is no current requirement for hackney
carriages to be adapted for the purpose. Where, however, a hackney carriage may
be utilised for wheelchair access, the following conditions shall apply:




	 
	(i) Access to and egress from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed in
any manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus
	 
	(ii) Wheelchair internal anchorage must be of the manufacturer’s design and
construction and secured in such a position as not to obstruct any emergency
exit.

	 
	(iii) A suitable seat belt must be available for the occupant of a wheelchair.

	 
	(iv) Access ramps or lifts to the vehicle must be securely fixed prior to use, and
be able to support the wheelchair, occupant and helper.

	 
	(v) Ramps and lifts must be securely stored in the vehicle before it may move
off.

	 
	14.3 Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into the
vehicle must have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the Lifting
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/2307). Any such
equipment must be maintained in good working order and be available for use at
all times.

	 
	14.4 Where a vehicle is designed or adapted to carry a wheelchair, the proprietor shall
ensure that the driver has received sufficient training to load and convey
wheelchair users safely and comfortably.

	 
	15.0 Trailers

	 
	15.1 The use of trailers is permitted, but only as additional luggage space and not as a
substitute for not meeting the requirements of paragraph 10 of this Appendix.

	15.1 The use of trailers is permitted, but only as additional luggage space and not as a
substitute for not meeting the requirements of paragraph 10 of this Appendix.

	15.1 The use of trailers is permitted, but only as additional luggage space and not as a
substitute for not meeting the requirements of paragraph 10 of this Appendix.

	15.1 The use of trailers is permitted, but only as additional luggage space and not as a
substitute for not meeting the requirements of paragraph 10 of this Appendix.




	 
	15.2 The proprietor shall present the trailer for inspection by a Licensing Officer prior to
its use and again at each inspection of the vehicle on which the trailer is to be
towed.

	15.2 The proprietor shall present the trailer for inspection by a Licensing Officer prior to
its use and again at each inspection of the vehicle on which the trailer is to be
towed.

	15.2 The proprietor shall present the trailer for inspection by a Licensing Officer prior to
its use and again at each inspection of the vehicle on which the trailer is to be
towed.

	15.2 The proprietor shall present the trailer for inspection by a Licensing Officer prior to
its use and again at each inspection of the vehicle on which the trailer is to be
towed.




	 
	15.3 The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to
be carried and not for general use.

	15.3 The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to
be carried and not for general use.

	15.3 The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to
be carried and not for general use.

	15.3 The trailer must only be used on pre-booked journeys when excess luggage is to
be carried and not for general use.




	 
	15.4 The trailer must comply with all aspects of current road traffic legislation and be of
a type recommended by the vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the
intended towing vehicle.

	15.4 The trailer must comply with all aspects of current road traffic legislation and be of
a type recommended by the vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the
intended towing vehicle.

	15.4 The trailer must comply with all aspects of current road traffic legislation and be of
a type recommended by the vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the
intended towing vehicle.

	15.4 The trailer must comply with all aspects of current road traffic legislation and be of
a type recommended by the vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the
intended towing vehicle.




	 
	15.5 The trailer shall be in good condition and no more than 10 years old.

	15.5 The trailer shall be in good condition and no more than 10 years old.

	15.5 The trailer shall be in good condition and no more than 10 years old.

	15.5 The trailer shall be in good condition and no more than 10 years old.




	 
	15.6 The trailer shall be purpose built and manufactured for the purpose for which it is
intended.

	15.6 The trailer shall be purpose built and manufactured for the purpose for which it is
intended.

	15.6 The trailer shall be purpose built and manufactured for the purpose for which it is
intended.

	15.6 The trailer shall be purpose built and manufactured for the purpose for which it is
intended.




	 
	15.7 No advertising shall be permitted on the trailer.

	15.7 No advertising shall be permitted on the trailer.

	15.7 No advertising shall be permitted on the trailer.

	15.7 No advertising shall be permitted on the trailer.




	 
	15.8 The trailer shall be fitted with securely fastened covers, which may be of the
hardtop or canvas tarpaulin type.

	15.8 The trailer shall be fitted with securely fastened covers, which may be of the
hardtop or canvas tarpaulin type.

	15.8 The trailer shall be fitted with securely fastened covers, which may be of the
hardtop or canvas tarpaulin type.

	15.8 The trailer shall be fitted with securely fastened covers, which may be of the
hardtop or canvas tarpaulin type.




	 
	15.9 When the trailer is used with the vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council
specifically for the trailer shall be clearly displayed on the rear of the trailer, with
the licence plate for the towing vehicle remaining in place.
	15.9 When the trailer is used with the vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council
specifically for the trailer shall be clearly displayed on the rear of the trailer, with
the licence plate for the towing vehicle remaining in place.
	15.9 When the trailer is used with the vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council
specifically for the trailer shall be clearly displayed on the rear of the trailer, with
the licence plate for the towing vehicle remaining in place.
	15.9 When the trailer is used with the vehicle, the licence plate issued by the Council
specifically for the trailer shall be clearly displayed on the rear of the trailer, with
the licence plate for the towing vehicle remaining in place.



	 
	15.10 The tow bar must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and
fitted by an approved agent.

	15.10 The tow bar must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and
fitted by an approved agent.

	15.10 The tow bar must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and
fitted by an approved agent.

	15.10 The tow bar must be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and
fitted by an approved agent.




	 
	15.11 The vehicle must be insured to tow a trailer, and proof of this cover must be
supplied.

	15.11 The vehicle must be insured to tow a trailer, and proof of this cover must be
supplied.

	15.11 The vehicle must be insured to tow a trailer, and proof of this cover must be
supplied.

	15.11 The vehicle must be insured to tow a trailer, and proof of this cover must be
supplied.




	 
	15.12 A charge shall be made for the inspection of the trailer, such charge being payable
by the proprietor of the vehicle.

	15.12 A charge shall be made for the inspection of the trailer, such charge being payable
by the proprietor of the vehicle.

	15.12 A charge shall be made for the inspection of the trailer, such charge being payable
by the proprietor of the vehicle.

	15.12 A charge shall be made for the inspection of the trailer, such charge being payable
by the proprietor of the vehicle.




	 
	15.13 The gross weight of the trailer and the luggage load must be less than 750kg and
be less than half the weight of the towing vehicle. With a gross trailer weight of less
than 750kg no braking system is required to be fitted nor will the driver require any
special categories on his/her driving licence.

	15.13 The gross weight of the trailer and the luggage load must be less than 750kg and
be less than half the weight of the towing vehicle. With a gross trailer weight of less
than 750kg no braking system is required to be fitted nor will the driver require any
special categories on his/her driving licence.

	15.13 The gross weight of the trailer and the luggage load must be less than 750kg and
be less than half the weight of the towing vehicle. With a gross trailer weight of less
than 750kg no braking system is required to be fitted nor will the driver require any
special categories on his/her driving licence.

	15.13 The gross weight of the trailer and the luggage load must be less than 750kg and
be less than half the weight of the towing vehicle. With a gross trailer weight of less
than 750kg no braking system is required to be fitted nor will the driver require any
special categories on his/her driving licence.




	 
	16.0 Security Measures

	 
	16.1 The Hackney Carriage & Private Hire trade provides a valuable public service,
especially late at night when other forms of public transport are no longer
available. Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. CCTV
cameras can be a valuable deterrent as well as protecting the driver from
unjustified complaints.

	16.1 The Hackney Carriage & Private Hire trade provides a valuable public service,
especially late at night when other forms of public transport are no longer
available. Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. CCTV
cameras can be a valuable deterrent as well as protecting the driver from
unjustified complaints.

	16.1 The Hackney Carriage & Private Hire trade provides a valuable public service,
especially late at night when other forms of public transport are no longer
available. Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. CCTV
cameras can be a valuable deterrent as well as protecting the driver from
unjustified complaints.

	16.1 The Hackney Carriage & Private Hire trade provides a valuable public service,
especially late at night when other forms of public transport are no longer
available. Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. CCTV
cameras can be a valuable deterrent as well as protecting the driver from
unjustified complaints.




	 
	16.2 It is not proposed to make the provision of CCTV cameras in vehicles a
requirement of the licensing scheme, as it is considered that it is a matter best left
to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. The hackney carriage and
private hire vehicle trades are however encouraged to consider the installation of
CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis and it will then be incumbent
upon the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an appropriate and secure
manner in-line with the requirements of the Information Commissioner. With effect
from 1st July 2022, any newly installed CCTV systems should comply with the
technical specifications and system requirements listed in Appendix S. This is to
ensure that any systems installed within licensed vehicles are suitably secure,
safe, and capable of recording images of appropriate evidential value in the event
of an incident..

	16.2 It is not proposed to make the provision of CCTV cameras in vehicles a
requirement of the licensing scheme, as it is considered that it is a matter best left
to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. The hackney carriage and
private hire vehicle trades are however encouraged to consider the installation of
CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis and it will then be incumbent
upon the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an appropriate and secure
manner in-line with the requirements of the Information Commissioner. With effect
from 1st July 2022, any newly installed CCTV systems should comply with the
technical specifications and system requirements listed in Appendix S. This is to
ensure that any systems installed within licensed vehicles are suitably secure,
safe, and capable of recording images of appropriate evidential value in the event
of an incident..

	16.2 It is not proposed to make the provision of CCTV cameras in vehicles a
requirement of the licensing scheme, as it is considered that it is a matter best left
to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. The hackney carriage and
private hire vehicle trades are however encouraged to consider the installation of
CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis and it will then be incumbent
upon the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an appropriate and secure
manner in-line with the requirements of the Information Commissioner. With effect
from 1st July 2022, any newly installed CCTV systems should comply with the
technical specifications and system requirements listed in Appendix S. This is to
ensure that any systems installed within licensed vehicles are suitably secure,
safe, and capable of recording images of appropriate evidential value in the event
of an incident..

	16.2 It is not proposed to make the provision of CCTV cameras in vehicles a
requirement of the licensing scheme, as it is considered that it is a matter best left
to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. The hackney carriage and
private hire vehicle trades are however encouraged to consider the installation of
CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis and it will then be incumbent
upon the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an appropriate and secure
manner in-line with the requirements of the Information Commissioner. With effect
from 1st July 2022, any newly installed CCTV systems should comply with the
technical specifications and system requirements listed in Appendix S. This is to
ensure that any systems installed within licensed vehicles are suitably secure,
safe, and capable of recording images of appropriate evidential value in the event
of an incident..




	 
	16.3 Where CCTV is installed in a vehicle a sign is to be displayed in a prominent
position in the vehicle so that passengers are made aware of the presence of the
camera.

	16.3 Where CCTV is installed in a vehicle a sign is to be displayed in a prominent
position in the vehicle so that passengers are made aware of the presence of the
camera.

	16.3 Where CCTV is installed in a vehicle a sign is to be displayed in a prominent
position in the vehicle so that passengers are made aware of the presence of the
camera.

	16.3 Where CCTV is installed in a vehicle a sign is to be displayed in a prominent
position in the vehicle so that passengers are made aware of the presence of the
camera.




	 
	16.4 In accordance with current guidance from the Information commissioner, the
Council believes that the installation of audio recording facilities in hackney
carriage and private hire vehicles is not appropriate, as the extent of the
interference with the right to privacy outweighs the marginal benefits of increasing
public safety and reducing crime.

	16.4 In accordance with current guidance from the Information commissioner, the
Council believes that the installation of audio recording facilities in hackney
carriage and private hire vehicles is not appropriate, as the extent of the
interference with the right to privacy outweighs the marginal benefits of increasing
public safety and reducing crime.

	16.4 In accordance with current guidance from the Information commissioner, the
Council believes that the installation of audio recording facilities in hackney
carriage and private hire vehicles is not appropriate, as the extent of the
interference with the right to privacy outweighs the marginal benefits of increasing
public safety and reducing crime.

	16.4 In accordance with current guidance from the Information commissioner, the
Council believes that the installation of audio recording facilities in hackney
carriage and private hire vehicles is not appropriate, as the extent of the
interference with the right to privacy outweighs the marginal benefits of increasing
public safety and reducing crime.




	 
	17.0 Vehicles Powered by Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG)/Liquefied Natural Gas
(LNG)

	 
	17.1 An applicant for a licence involving a vehicle that has been converted to run on
LGP or LNG is required to produce, prior to a licence being issued, a certificate
issued by a member of the LPG Association confirming satisfactory installation,
examination and testing of the vehicle in accordance with LPG Association Code
of Practice; and that the vehicle is therefore considered safe. Such certification
	shall be kept available for inspection by an authorised officer of the Council and
shall form part of the vehicle licence renewal application.

	 
	17.2 If an LPG conversion involves installation of an LPG fuel tank in a vehicle’s boot
space (and possible relocation of the spare wheel) it shall be a requirement that an
amount of space shall remain free for the stowage of a reasonable amount of
luggage and any spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location
that does not impinge on the passenger carrying area of a vehicle.

	17.2 If an LPG conversion involves installation of an LPG fuel tank in a vehicle’s boot
space (and possible relocation of the spare wheel) it shall be a requirement that an
amount of space shall remain free for the stowage of a reasonable amount of
luggage and any spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location
that does not impinge on the passenger carrying area of a vehicle.

	17.2 If an LPG conversion involves installation of an LPG fuel tank in a vehicle’s boot
space (and possible relocation of the spare wheel) it shall be a requirement that an
amount of space shall remain free for the stowage of a reasonable amount of
luggage and any spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location
that does not impinge on the passenger carrying area of a vehicle.

	17.2 If an LPG conversion involves installation of an LPG fuel tank in a vehicle’s boot
space (and possible relocation of the spare wheel) it shall be a requirement that an
amount of space shall remain free for the stowage of a reasonable amount of
luggage and any spare wheel displaced as a result must be stowed in a location
that does not impinge on the passenger carrying area of a vehicle.




	 
	18.0 Insurance and MOT Test

	 
	18.1 At all times during the currency of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle
licence, the proprietor shall keep in force in relation to the use of the vehicle as a
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle a valid MOT test certificate and policy of
insurance issued on a Comprehensive or Third Party basis and complying with the
requirements of the Council in terms of being for the purposes of hire and reward
and third party indemnity.

	 
	18.2 The proprietor of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle shall produce to the
Council a new MOT test certificate, certificate of insurance or covering note within
seven days of the expiry of every MOT test certificate, certificate of insurance or
covering note.

	 
	18.3 The proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle shall notify the Licensing Team in
writing within 7 days of any cancellation of any certificate of insurance or covering
note, or any extent of the terms, within seven days of such cancellation or
variations of cover in accordance with Part IV of the Traffic Act 1971 and which
indemnifies the use of the vehicle for the carriage of passengers for hire or reward.

	18.3 The proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle shall notify the Licensing Team in
writing within 7 days of any cancellation of any certificate of insurance or covering
note, or any extent of the terms, within seven days of such cancellation or
variations of cover in accordance with Part IV of the Traffic Act 1971 and which
indemnifies the use of the vehicle for the carriage of passengers for hire or reward.

	18.3 The proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle shall notify the Licensing Team in
writing within 7 days of any cancellation of any certificate of insurance or covering
note, or any extent of the terms, within seven days of such cancellation or
variations of cover in accordance with Part IV of the Traffic Act 1971 and which
indemnifies the use of the vehicle for the carriage of passengers for hire or reward.

	18.3 The proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle shall notify the Licensing Team in
writing within 7 days of any cancellation of any certificate of insurance or covering
note, or any extent of the terms, within seven days of such cancellation or
variations of cover in accordance with Part IV of the Traffic Act 1971 and which
indemnifies the use of the vehicle for the carriage of passengers for hire or reward.




	 
	18.4 Although evidence is not required of public liability insurance on the grant of a
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. The Council expects that all licensed
proprietors ensure that they hold appropriate public liability insurance to cover their
operation. Likewise it is an expectation that those proprietors with employees hold
suitable employers liability cover. Licensed operators should refer to Appendix P
for further information with regard to insurance requirements.

	18.4 Although evidence is not required of public liability insurance on the grant of a
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. The Council expects that all licensed
proprietors ensure that they hold appropriate public liability insurance to cover their
operation. Likewise it is an expectation that those proprietors with employees hold
suitable employers liability cover. Licensed operators should refer to Appendix P
for further information with regard to insurance requirements.

	18.4 Although evidence is not required of public liability insurance on the grant of a
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. The Council expects that all licensed
proprietors ensure that they hold appropriate public liability insurance to cover their
operation. Likewise it is an expectation that those proprietors with employees hold
suitable employers liability cover. Licensed operators should refer to Appendix P
for further information with regard to insurance requirements.

	18.4 Although evidence is not required of public liability insurance on the grant of a
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. The Council expects that all licensed
proprietors ensure that they hold appropriate public liability insurance to cover their
operation. Likewise it is an expectation that those proprietors with employees hold
suitable employers liability cover. Licensed operators should refer to Appendix P
for further information with regard to insurance requirements.




	 
	19.0 Licence Plates

	 
	19.1 A current licensing plate identifying the vehicle as a hackney carriage or private
hire shall be securely affixed externally to the rear of the vehicle in a position
approved by the Council whilst the vehicle is being used for hire purposes and
shall be kept fully visible and legible at all times. Plates should not be positioned in
the back window of a vehicle.

	19.1 A current licensing plate identifying the vehicle as a hackney carriage or private
hire shall be securely affixed externally to the rear of the vehicle in a position
approved by the Council whilst the vehicle is being used for hire purposes and
shall be kept fully visible and legible at all times. Plates should not be positioned in
the back window of a vehicle.

	19.1 A current licensing plate identifying the vehicle as a hackney carriage or private
hire shall be securely affixed externally to the rear of the vehicle in a position
approved by the Council whilst the vehicle is being used for hire purposes and
shall be kept fully visible and legible at all times. Plates should not be positioned in
the back window of a vehicle.

	19.1 A current licensing plate identifying the vehicle as a hackney carriage or private
hire shall be securely affixed externally to the rear of the vehicle in a position
approved by the Council whilst the vehicle is being used for hire purposes and
shall be kept fully visible and legible at all times. Plates should not be positioned in
the back window of a vehicle.




	 
	19.2 Once affixed, the licence plate will only be removed from the vehicle by:

	19.2 Once affixed, the licence plate will only be removed from the vehicle by:

	19.2 Once affixed, the licence plate will only be removed from the vehicle by:

	19.2 Once affixed, the licence plate will only be removed from the vehicle by:



	(a) an authorised officer of the Licensing Team;

	(a) an authorised officer of the Licensing Team;


	(b) MOT inspector at an MOT testing station, or;

	(b) MOT inspector at an MOT testing station, or;


	(c) in exceptional circumstances be removed with the express permission of
either of the aforesaid.

	(c) in exceptional circumstances be removed with the express permission of
either of the aforesaid.



	 
	19.3 Hackney carriage and private hire repeater licence plates provided by the Authority
will be fixed to the windscreen in front of the front passenger seat repeating on the
interior of the vehicle the information contained on the external vehicle plate and is
	19.3 Hackney carriage and private hire repeater licence plates provided by the Authority
will be fixed to the windscreen in front of the front passenger seat repeating on the
interior of the vehicle the information contained on the external vehicle plate and is
	19.3 Hackney carriage and private hire repeater licence plates provided by the Authority
will be fixed to the windscreen in front of the front passenger seat repeating on the
interior of the vehicle the information contained on the external vehicle plate and is
	19.3 Hackney carriage and private hire repeater licence plates provided by the Authority
will be fixed to the windscreen in front of the front passenger seat repeating on the
interior of the vehicle the information contained on the external vehicle plate and is



	to be displayed in all licensed hackney carriages and private hire vehicles so as to
be clearly visible to passengers at all times. The repeater licence plates for purpose
build hackney carriage vehicles will be mounted on the lower part of the partition
between the driver and passenger compartments facing rearwards into the
passenger compartment.

	to be displayed in all licensed hackney carriages and private hire vehicles so as to
be clearly visible to passengers at all times. The repeater licence plates for purpose
build hackney carriage vehicles will be mounted on the lower part of the partition
between the driver and passenger compartments facing rearwards into the
passenger compartment.

	to be displayed in all licensed hackney carriages and private hire vehicles so as to
be clearly visible to passengers at all times. The repeater licence plates for purpose
build hackney carriage vehicles will be mounted on the lower part of the partition
between the driver and passenger compartments facing rearwards into the
passenger compartment.

	to be displayed in all licensed hackney carriages and private hire vehicles so as to
be clearly visible to passengers at all times. The repeater licence plates for purpose
build hackney carriage vehicles will be mounted on the lower part of the partition
between the driver and passenger compartments facing rearwards into the
passenger compartment.




	 
	 
	20.0 Replacement of Licensed Vehicle

	 
	20.1 Any licensed vehicle suffering major accident damage or requiring mechanical
repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle provided: -

	20.1 Any licensed vehicle suffering major accident damage or requiring mechanical
repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle provided: -

	20.1 Any licensed vehicle suffering major accident damage or requiring mechanical
repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle provided: -

	20.1 Any licensed vehicle suffering major accident damage or requiring mechanical
repair may be replaced by a hire vehicle provided: -




	 
	(i) The accident damage has been reported in accordance with the requirement
of these conditions or the defect to the licensed vehicle has been similarly
reported.

	(i) The accident damage has been reported in accordance with the requirement
of these conditions or the defect to the licensed vehicle has been similarly
reported.

	(i) The accident damage has been reported in accordance with the requirement
of these conditions or the defect to the licensed vehicle has been similarly
reported.


	(ii) Application is made in the normal form for a change of vehicle (albeit
temporary).

	(ii) Application is made in the normal form for a change of vehicle (albeit
temporary).


	(iii) The replacement vehicle is properly taxed, insured, and MOT tested to the
requirements of the normal licensed vehicle.

	(iii) The replacement vehicle is properly taxed, insured, and MOT tested to the
requirements of the normal licensed vehicle.


	(iv) The replacement vehicle is of a suitable type to be used for hire purposes.

	(iv) The replacement vehicle is of a suitable type to be used for hire purposes.


	(v) The replacement vehicle satisfactorily passes the vehicle inspection
undertaken by a qualified MOT Examiner.

	(v) The replacement vehicle satisfactorily passes the vehicle inspection
undertaken by a qualified MOT Examiner.



	 
	21.0 Inspections

	 
	21.1 In accordance with the provisions of Section 50(1) of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976 (as amended) to ensure the maintenance of
licensed vehicles to a proper standard, the Council has approved a policy of
periodic random vehicle inspection.

	 
	21.2 As such random tests will be conducted to maintain public safety. The cost of the
inspection will be borne by the Council.

	21.2 As such random tests will be conducted to maintain public safety. The cost of the
inspection will be borne by the Council.

	21.2 As such random tests will be conducted to maintain public safety. The cost of the
inspection will be borne by the Council.

	21.2 As such random tests will be conducted to maintain public safety. The cost of the
inspection will be borne by the Council.




	 
	21.3 Inspections may also be required following the report of an accident (see
paragraph 12.0) and where complaints are received etc. Vehicle proprietors should
co-operate with the Licensing Authority and make their vehicle available for
inspection on request.

	21.3 Inspections may also be required following the report of an accident (see
paragraph 12.0) and where complaints are received etc. Vehicle proprietors should
co-operate with the Licensing Authority and make their vehicle available for
inspection on request.

	21.3 Inspections may also be required following the report of an accident (see
paragraph 12.0) and where complaints are received etc. Vehicle proprietors should
co-operate with the Licensing Authority and make their vehicle available for
inspection on request.

	21.3 Inspections may also be required following the report of an accident (see
paragraph 12.0) and where complaints are received etc. Vehicle proprietors should
co-operate with the Licensing Authority and make their vehicle available for
inspection on request.




	 
	2.14 Where the enforcement officer is not satisfied with the fitness of any hackney
carriage or private hire vehicle, the use of the vehicle will be suspended, and the
officer may choose to confirm its fitness or otherwise by instructing a driver or
operator to facilitate a vehicle inspection at an authorised MOT test station.

	 
	21.5 Where upon inspection, the licensed vehicle has been found to be defective and
requires re-examination to determine its fitness before resumption of use, the cost
of that re-examination will be borne by the licence holder.

	 
	21.6 Where, at any vehicle inspection test, the vehicle submitted for examination fails in
the examination and:

	 
	(i) A hackney carriage/private hire plate has not previously been issued to the
vehicle, a licence plate will not be issued until the faults are rectified and the
vehicle has successfully passed further examination.
	(i) A hackney carriage/private hire plate has not previously been issued to the
vehicle, a licence plate will not be issued until the faults are rectified and the
vehicle has successfully passed further examination.
	(i) A hackney carriage/private hire plate has not previously been issued to the
vehicle, a licence plate will not be issued until the faults are rectified and the
vehicle has successfully passed further examination.


	 
	(ii) A current hackney carriage/private hire plate has previously been issued to
the vehicle, an approved MOT testing station will assess the danger to the
public which may exist if the vehicle is not suspended from use. If, in the view
of the authorised MOT inspector, such danger exists, the Licensing Office
should be informed immediately. The hackney carriage/private hire vehicle
plate may then be subsequently removed from the vehicle.

	(ii) A current hackney carriage/private hire plate has previously been issued to
the vehicle, an approved MOT testing station will assess the danger to the
public which may exist if the vehicle is not suspended from use. If, in the view
of the authorised MOT inspector, such danger exists, the Licensing Office
should be informed immediately. The hackney carriage/private hire vehicle
plate may then be subsequently removed from the vehicle.

	(ii) A current hackney carriage/private hire plate has previously been issued to
the vehicle, an approved MOT testing station will assess the danger to the
public which may exist if the vehicle is not suspended from use. If, in the view
of the authorised MOT inspector, such danger exists, the Licensing Office
should be informed immediately. The hackney carriage/private hire vehicle
plate may then be subsequently removed from the vehicle.



	 
	22.0 Spare Tyres and Wheels

	 
	Recent advances in technology have brought into question the use of spare wheels
and puncture repairs. The devices known to be available at this time are; run flat tyres,
self-inflation aerosols, self seal tyres and space-saver wheels.

	 
	Although they are not unlawful, the council is not in favour of these devices and
therefore where there is safe and adequate provision for a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel
well), and it is reasonable to provide a spare when considering factors such as
whether the tyres fitted are directional, a spare wheel must be provided.

	 
	Where it is not possible to carry a spare wheel, alternative devices must comply with
any legal requirements and the manufacturer’s instructions. Drivers are reminded that
the above devices are a temporary ‘get-you home’ tyre and they should be particularly
aware of their responsibilities with regard the maximum operating speed of 50 MPH
when utilising them.

	  
	The above devices should only be used in an emergency and the vehicle should not
be used to carry passengers until a replacement wheel is fitted or a repair is
completed by a qualified tyre fitter. If a puncture does occur whilst a fare is being
taken, particularly a lengthy journey, drivers are advised to seek alternative
arrangements for continuation of the passengers journey. Where this is not possible
drivers should complete their fare and return home or to a garage in order to seek an
appropriate tyre replacement or repair. Under no circumstances should any
subsequent fares be taken even if pre-booked.

	 
	23.0 Advertising Internally within a Vehicle via TV Screens (Digital Media
Technology)

	 
	23.1 Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles may install in-vehicle digital media
technology to be used for advertising purposes and/or live feed material. To use this
form of technology for advertising purposes and/or live feed material it must comply
with the following conditions:

	 
	23.2 Digital media systems must be approved in writing by the licensing authority before
they are installed.

	 
	23.3 Advertising material must comply with relevant legislation; guidance issued by The
Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP); the UK Code of Non-broadcast
Advertising, Sales Promotion and Direct Marketing (CAP Code); and any rulings of
the Advertising Standards Authority.
 
	 
	23.4 All material shown on digital media should be appropriate for viewing by children. All
films/video material must be classified by the British Board of Film Classification as
Universal or exempt from classification.
	 
	23.5 The only live feed material that can be shown is national/local news and weather.

	 
	23.6 Screens must be shatterproof. All equipment must be hold a Declaration of
Conformity and comply with any relevant legislative requirements in respect of their
safety etc.

	 
	23.7 All equipment must be designed, constructed and installed in such a way and in
such material as to present no danger to passengers or driver, including from
impact with the equipment in the event of an accident or damage from the electrical
integrity being breached through vandalism, misuse or wear and tear.

	 
	23.8 The equipment must not interfere with any other safety, control, electrical, computer,
navigation, satellite or radio system in the vehicle.

	 
	23.9 The intensity of any screen should not be such as to be visually intrusive or
dazzling.

	 
	23.10 The position of the screen must not obstruct the passenger’s view of the meter and
the visibility of the screen to following vehicles should be minimal.

	 
	23.11 Any screen shall be no larger than 9” (22.86cm) x 5” (12.7cm).

	 
	23.12 Any screens should not be visible from the driver position (directly or by reflection).
Screens may be installed in the driver and front passenger seat headrests, or other
suitable location agreed by the licensing authority. All ancillary equipment must be
installed in the driver’s compartment

	 
	23.13 The installation must not be such as to weaken the structure or any other
component part of the vehicle or interfere with the integrity of the manufacturer’s
original equipment.

	 
	23.14 The design must be discreet and complement the interior furnishing of the vehicle.

	 
	23.15 The system must include safeguards to maintain the integrity of the system and
prevent the display of un-approved material.

	 
	23.16 Passengers must be able to control the volume level, including turning the sound
off.

	 
	23.17 The driver must have overall control of the volume to make sure it does not distract
them while driving. The sound should be automatically muted when any intercom is
operated.

	 
	23.18 Passengers must be able to turn the screen off.

	 
	23.19 A notice should be displayed within prominent view and physical reach of all

	passenger seats giving instructions to passengers as to adjusting the volume and
turning the screen off.

	 
	23.20 The notice shall be in a suitable format and design for visually impaired people and
visible in low light conditions.
	 
	23.21 The mute/volume control must be accessible from the nearside and offside

	passenger seats.

	 
	23.22 Once activated the mute should continue without further activation by the
passenger until the passenger leaves the vehicle.

	 
	23.23 All equipment must be protected from the elements, secure from tampering and
located such as to have no impact on the seating and luggage carrying capacity of
the vehicle.

	 
	23.24 No advertising will be permitted which causes public offence.

	23.24 No advertising will be permitted which causes public offence.

	23.24 No advertising will be permitted which causes public offence.

	23.24 No advertising will be permitted which causes public offence.




	 
	23.25 Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and services,
cigarettes, electronic cigarettes (or similar) and other tobacco products are
prohibited.

	23.25 Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and services,
cigarettes, electronic cigarettes (or similar) and other tobacco products are
prohibited.

	23.25 Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and services,
cigarettes, electronic cigarettes (or similar) and other tobacco products are
prohibited.

	23.25 Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and services,
cigarettes, electronic cigarettes (or similar) and other tobacco products are
prohibited.




	 
	23.26 Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign are
prohibited.

	23.26 Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign are
prohibited.

	23.26 Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign are
prohibited.

	23.26 Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign are
prohibited.




	 
	23.27 The council may instruct that a particular advert be suspended or withdrawn in the
event of concerns or substantiated complaints.

	23.27 The council may instruct that a particular advert be suspended or withdrawn in the
event of concerns or substantiated complaints.

	23.27 The council may instruct that a particular advert be suspended or withdrawn in the
event of concerns or substantiated complaints.

	23.27 The council may instruct that a particular advert be suspended or withdrawn in the
event of concerns or substantiated complaints.




	 
	23.28 Valid product insurance should be in place at all times for any system

	23.28 Valid product insurance should be in place at all times for any system

	23.28 Valid product insurance should be in place at all times for any system

	23.28 Valid product insurance should be in place at all times for any system




	installed.

	 
	23.29 The Council should be presented with the Declaration of Conformity for the
equipment to be

	installed, a disclaimer absolving the Council of any resultant liability and provided a
pre-agreed inspection sheet for vehicle inspection.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	  
	Appendix B

	HACKNEY CARRIAGE*/PRIVATE HIRE* VEHICLE LICENSING INSPECTION

	GRANT/RENEWAL/6 MONTHLY TESTLOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS
PROVISIONS) ACT 1976

	 
	HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENSING INSPECTION

	Please delete as appropriate:

	 
	HACKNEY CARRIAGE*/ PRIVATE HIRE* VEHICLE LICENSING INSPECTION

	GRANT/ RENEWAL/ 6 MONTHLY TEST

	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	NAME OF OWNER:

	NAME OF OWNER:

	 
	ADDRESS:

	 
	 
	 
	TELEPHONE NO.:

	 

	VEHICLE REGISTRATION NO.:

	VEHICLE REGISTRATION NO.:

	 
	MILEAGE READING:

	 
	MOT CERTIFICATE NO.:

	 
	PLATE NO.:

	 




	 
	PLEASE NOTE THAT THE VEHICLE MUST BE PRESENTED FOR INSPECTION IN A
CLEAN AND TIDY CONDITION WITH ALL OIL AND FLUIDS TOPPED UP. THE
TESTING STATION HAS THE RIGHT TO REFUSE TO INSPECT ANY VEHICLE WHICH
DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE ABOVE REQUIREMENT.

	The standards are additional to that required to pass an MOT test and includes
requirements not all covered by the MOT manual.

	Please complete all relevant sections. Any sections that are not applicable should
be marked N/A.

	THIS REPORT IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INSPECTING MOT EXAMINER

	Under Bonnet/ Mechanical Checks:

	IF THE VEHICLE FAILS THE MOT CONTACT THE LICENSING OFFICE ON 01271
388870. THIS FORM MUST BE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NORTH
DEVON COUNCIL’S HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE RULES AND
REGULATIONS. PLEASE MARK EACH AREA WITH ANY APPROPRIATE CODES
(CODES FOUND AT THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE)

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Fuel Supply Pipes

	Fuel Supply Pipes


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Fuel Tank

	Fuel Tank


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Fuel tank cap/ flap

	Fuel tank cap/ flap


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Exhaust System

	Exhaust System


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Exhaust emissions

	Exhaust emissions


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Cooling system and
fluids

	Cooling system and
fluids


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Battery mountings

	Battery mountings


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Power Steering and
fluids

	Power Steering and
fluids


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Steering column coupling

	Steering column coupling


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Steering box/ rack &
pinion

	Steering box/ rack &
pinion


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Steering joints

	Steering joints


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Steering column bushes

	Steering column bushes


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Drive shafts

	Drive shafts


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Gaiters

	Gaiters


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Wheel bearings

	Wheel bearings


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Springs front

	Springs front


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Springs rear

	Springs rear


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Front shock absorbers

	Front shock absorbers


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Rear shock absorbers

	Rear shock absorbers


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Rear Axle Mounting
bushes

	Rear Axle Mounting
bushes


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Cross members

	Cross members


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Chassis rails

	Chassis rails


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Oil/ fluid leaks

	Oil/ fluid leaks


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	 
	Braking System:

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Brake pads

	Brake pads


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Brake pipes

	Brake pipes


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Brake hoses

	Brake hoses


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Brake servo

	Brake servo


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Brake fluids

	Brake fluids


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Brake cylinder

	Brake cylinder


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Footbrake operation

	Footbrake operation


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Parking brake operation

	Parking brake operation


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Fluid leaks

	Fluid leaks


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	Wheels and Tyres:

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Wheel & tyre N/S front

	Wheel & tyre N/S front


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Wheel & tyre O/S front

	Wheel & tyre O/S front


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Wheel & tyre N/S rear

	Wheel & tyre N/S rear


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Wheel & tyre O/S rear

	Wheel & tyre O/S rear


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Spare wheel & tyre

	Spare wheel & tyre


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Inflation kit

	Inflation kit


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Locking wheel nut key

	Locking wheel nut key


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	 
	Where there is safe and adequate provision for a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel well), and it is
reasonable to provide a spare when considering factors such as whether the tyres fitted are
directional, a spare wheel must be provided. If no spare provided, please state
reason:…………………………………………………………………………………………………..

	……………………………………………………………………………………………………………

	Lights and Electrical:

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Headlights dipped

	Headlights dipped


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Headlights full

	Headlights full


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Side lights

	Side lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	High intensity lights

	High intensity lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Brake lights

	Brake lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Indicator lights

	Indicator lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Number plate light

	Number plate light


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Hazard warning lights

	Hazard warning lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Reversing lights

	Reversing lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Interior lights

	Interior lights


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Heating system

	Heating system


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Air-con system

	Air-con system


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Horn

	Horn


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	Interior checks:

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Seatbelts

	Seatbelts


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Seat condition

	Seat condition


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Pedal rubbers

	Pedal rubbers


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Upholstery/ seat cover

	Upholstery/ seat cover


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Panels and trim

	Panels and trim


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Screen wash

	Screen wash


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Floor covering/ mats

	Floor covering/ mats


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Window operators

	Window operators


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Dashboard illumination

	Dashboard illumination


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Warning symbols

	Warning symbols


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	 
	Exterior Checks:

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Front/ rear wipers

	Front/ rear wipers


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Front/ rear windscreen

	Front/ rear windscreen


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Panels and trim

	Panels and trim


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Bumper condition

	Bumper condition


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Number plate front/
rear

	Number plate front/
rear


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Mirrors

	Mirrors


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Light covers

	Light covers


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	 
	Licensing Requirements:

	If the vehicle is being presented for licensing for the first time, then these elements will be checked
by a Licensing Officer prior to Licensing.

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Description  

	TH
	Span
	Pass  

	TH
	Span
	Fail  

	TH
	Span
	Remarks
 


	TR
	Span
	Taxi meter sealed

	Taxi meter sealed


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Roof sign (Hackney
carriage only)

	Roof sign (Hackney
carriage only)


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Front and rear taxi
plate

	Front and rear taxi
plate


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	First aid kit

	First aid kit


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Fire extinguisher
marked with vehicle
Registration

	Fire extinguisher
marked with vehicle
Registration


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 




	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	Fire extinguisher last
inspected:

	Fire extinguisher last
inspected:


	 
	 




	 
	Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted Table
	Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted Table
Formatted Table
	1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN THE METER IS TURNED ON (IF FITTED).

	1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN THE METER IS TURNED ON (IF FITTED).


	2. THE METER MUST BE INTACT (IF BROKEN A LICENSING OFFICER MUST BE INFORMED
IMMEDIATELY ON TELEPHONE NO. 01271 388415).

	2. THE METER MUST BE INTACT (IF BROKEN A LICENSING OFFICER MUST BE INFORMED
IMMEDIATELY ON TELEPHONE NO. 01271 388415).



	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	General condition of vehicle:

	General condition of vehicle:

	 
	Excellent ꙱ Good ꙱ Average ꙱ Poor ꙱

	 
	Items failed on Inspection:

	1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….

	1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….

	1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….


	2. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….

	2. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….


	3. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….

	3. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….


	4. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….

	4. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….


	5. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….

	5. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………….



	 
	Advisory matters (non-safety critical but require attention/ routine maintenance):

	 
	1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..

	1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..

	1. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..


	2. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..

	2. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..


	3. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..

	3. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..


	4. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..

	4. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..


	5. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..

	5. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………..



	 
	IN THE EVENT THAT THE VEHICLE FAILS THE INSPECTION, OR THE EXAMINER IS OF
THE OPINION THAT THE VEHICLE IS NOT SAFE TO BE USED AS A PUBLIC SERVICE
VEHICLE, THE EXAMINER MUST CONTACT THE LICENSING TEAM IMMEDIATELY ON
01271 388415 OR VIA EMAIL 
	IN THE EVENT THAT THE VEHICLE FAILS THE INSPECTION, OR THE EXAMINER IS OF
THE OPINION THAT THE VEHICLE IS NOT SAFE TO BE USED AS A PUBLIC SERVICE
VEHICLE, THE EXAMINER MUST CONTACT THE LICENSING TEAM IMMEDIATELY ON
01271 388415 OR VIA EMAIL 
	licensing@northdevon.gov.uk 
	licensing@northdevon.gov.uk 

	THE LICENSING TEAM HAVE
LEGAL POWERS TO SUSPEND OR REVOKE VEHICLE LICENCES.


	 


	TR
	Span
	 
	 
	Table
	TR
	Span
	Please endorse here with official MOT Testing
Station Stamp:

	Please endorse here with official MOT Testing
Station Stamp:

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	MOT APPROVED TESTING STATION
ADDRESS AND VTS NUMBER

	MOT APPROVED TESTING STATION
ADDRESS AND VTS NUMBER

	 
	 
	 
	I the above named MOT Inspector certify that I
have undertaken a full inspection of the vehicle
above with the following registration.

	 
	PLEASE INSERT REGISTRATION:

	 
	NAME OF MOT INSPECTOR:

	 
	 
	SIGNATURE M.OT. INSPECTOR:

	 
	 
	DATE:

	 
	 
	_______________________







	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TD
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	 
	 
	 
	 



	 




	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	MECHANICAL  

	TH
	Span
	ELECTRICAL
 


	TR
	Span
	FUEL SUPPLY PIPES 
	FUEL SUPPLY PIPES 

	 
	 

	WIPERS

	WIPERS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	FUEL TANK 
	FUEL TANK 

	 
	 

	WASHERS

	WASHERS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	FUEL CAP 
	FUEL CAP 

	 
	 

	HEADLIGHTS DIP

	HEADLIGHTS DIP


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	EXHAUST 
	EXHAUST 

	 
	 

	HEADLIGHTS FULL

	HEADLIGHTS FULL


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	EMISSION GASES 
	EMISSION GASES 

	 
	 

	SIDELIGHTS

	SIDELIGHTS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	TRANSMISSION  

	NUMBER PLATE

	NUMBER PLATE


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	CLUTCH 
	CLUTCH 

	 
	 

	STOP/TAIL

	STOP/TAIL


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	GEARBOX 
	GEARBOX 

	 
	 

	HAZARD

	HAZARD


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	PROPSHAFT U J 
	PROPSHAFT U J 

	 
	 

	REVERSE

	REVERSE


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	F W D DRIVESHAFTS 
	F W D DRIVESHAFTS 

	 
	 

	INDICATORS

	INDICATORS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	DIFFERENTIAL 
	DIFFERENTIAL 

	 
	 

	FOG

	FOG


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	COOLING SYSTEM 
	COOLING SYSTEM 

	 
	 

	INTERIOR

	INTERIOR


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	WHEELS 
	WHEELS 

	 
	 

	HEATER

	HEATER


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TYRES: FRONT 1.6MM 
	TYRES: FRONT 1.6MM 

	 
	 

	HORN

	HORN


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TYRES: BACK 1.6MM

	TYRES: BACK 1.6MM


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	IS A SPARE WHEEL PROVIDED? 
	IS A SPARE WHEEL PROVIDED? 

	YES/
NO 
	YES/
NO 

	TD
	Span
	BRAKES
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	Where there is safe and adequate provision for
a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel well), and it is
reasonable to provide a spare when considering
factors such as whether the tyres fitted are
directional, a spare wheel must be provided. If
no spare provided, please state reason:

	Where there is safe and adequate provision for
a spare wheel (i.e. a wheel well), and it is
reasonable to provide a spare when considering
factors such as whether the tyres fitted are
directional, a spare wheel must be provided. If
no spare provided, please state reason:



	TR
	TD
	Span
	PADS

	PADS


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	PIPELINES

	PIPELINES


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	HOSES

	HOSES


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	MASTER CYLINDER

	MASTER CYLINDER


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	SERVO

	SERVO


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	REAR HUBS/SUSPENSION  

	FOOTBRAKE % EFFICIENCY

	FOOTBRAKE % EFFICIENCY


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	HANDBRAKE % EFFICIENCY

	HANDBRAKE % EFFICIENCY


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	SPRINGS

	SPRINGS


	 
	 

	 
	 

	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	SHOCK ABSORBERS

	SHOCK ABSORBERS


	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	CODE
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	SWIVEL PIN & BEARINGS

	SWIVEL PIN & BEARINGS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	STEERING COL. COUPLING 
	STEERING COL. COUPLING 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	WORN REQUIRES
ATTENTION
 

	TD
	Span
	W
 


	TR
	Span
	STEERING BOX 
	STEERING BOX 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	LOOSE OR MISALIGNED  

	TD
	Span
	L
 


	TR
	Span
	STEERING JOINT 
	STEERING JOINT 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	OIL OR DIRT FOULED  

	TD
	Span
	O
 


	TR
	Span
	POWER STEERING 
	POWER STEERING 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	DANGEROUS/
UNROADWORTHY
 

	TD
	Span
	D
 


	TR
	Span
	OTHER 
	OTHER 
	 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	ATTENTION REQUIRED TO
DEFECT
 

	TD
	Span
	A
 




	THIS REPORT IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INSPECTING GARAGE

	1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN METER ARE ON (IF FITTED).

	1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN METER ARE ON (IF FITTED).

	1. THE ROOF LIGHT MUST GO OFF WHEN METER ARE ON (IF FITTED).


	2. FOR HIRE BADGE MUST GO ON WHEN ROOF LIGHT AND METER IS ON

	2. FOR HIRE BADGE MUST GO ON WHEN ROOF LIGHT AND METER IS ON


	3. THE METER MUST BE INTACT (IF BROKEN A LICENSING OFFICER MUST BE
INFORMED IMMEDIATELY ON TELEPHONE NO. 01271 388870).

	3. THE METER MUST BE INTACT (IF BROKEN A LICENSING OFFICER MUST BE
INFORMED IMMEDIATELY ON TELEPHONE NO. 01271 388870).



	 
	THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE CHECKED FOR SERVICEABILITY AND SAFETY:

	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	DOORS  

	TH
	Span
	SEATS
 


	TR
	Span
	CONDITION 
	CONDITION 

	 
	 

	FRONT

	FRONT


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	HINGES 
	HINGES 

	 
	 

	REAR

	REAR


	 
	 




	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	DOORS  

	TH
	Span
	SEATS
 


	TR
	Span
	LINING PANELS 
	LINING PANELS 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	SEAT BELTS
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	LOCKS

	LOCKS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	HANDLES 
	HANDLES 

	 
	 

	FRONT

	FRONT


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	DOOR PILLARS 
	DOOR PILLARS 

	 
	 

	REAR

	REAR


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	WINDOWS 
	WINDOWS 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	    FLOOR
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	WINDOW OPERATORS

	WINDOW OPERATORS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	WINGS  

	CONDITION

	CONDITION


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	CARPETS

	CARPETS


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	   GENERAL
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	O/S FRONT

	O/S FRONT


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	N/S FRONT 
	N/S FRONT 

	 
	 

	MIRRORS

	MIRRORS


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	O/S REAR 
	O/S REAR 

	 
	 

	EXTERIOR

	EXTERIOR


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	N/S REAR 
	N/S REAR 

	 
	 

	INTERIOR

	INTERIOR


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	OTHERS E.G. SPOILERS 
	OTHERS E.G. SPOILERS 

	 
	 

	CHROMEWORK

	CHROMEWORK


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	 
	 

	 
	 

	WINDSCREEN

	WINDSCREEN


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	BOOT
 

	REGISTRATION
PLATE

	REGISTRATION
PLATE


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	CABLES

	CABLES


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	INTERIOR 
	INTERIOR 

	 
	 

	TD
	Span
	LICENSING REQS
 

	TD
	Span
	 


	TR
	Span
	LID 
	LID 

	 
	 

	METER SEAL

	METER SEAL


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	FLOOR 
	FLOOR 

	 
	 

	FOR HIRE BADGE

	FOR HIRE BADGE


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	LIGHT 
	LIGHT 

	 
	 

	ROOF LIGHT

	ROOF LIGHT


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	 
	 

	 
	 

	LICENCE PLATE

	LICENCE PLATE


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	OTHER  

	FIRST AID KIT

	FIRST AID KIT


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	FIRE EXTINGUISHER
MARKED WITH
VEHICLE REG

	FIRE EXTINGUISHER
MARKED WITH
VEHICLE REG


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	TD
	Span
	ROOF

	ROOF


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	BONNET 
	BONNET 
	 
	 

	 
	 

	DATE
EXTINGUISHER
LAST INSPECTED

	DATE
EXTINGUISHER
LAST INSPECTED


	 
	 


	TR
	Span
	SILLS

	SILLS


	 
	 

	 
	 
	MOT APPROVED TESTING STATION
STAMP OR ADDRESS AND VTS
NUMBER

	 
	NAME OF MOT INSPECTOR

	 
	SIGNATURE OF M.OT. INSPECTOR

	 
	 
	DATE



	TR
	TD
	Span
	BUMPERS

	BUMPERS


	 
	 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	   CODES
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	INOPERABLE/DEFUNCT  

	TD
	Span
	1
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	SLIGHT CORROSION  

	TD
	Span
	1C
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	BADLY CORRODED  

	TD
	Span
	2C
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	MINOR BODYWORK DAMAGE  

	TD
	Span
	1D
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	MAJOR BODYWORK DAMAGE  

	TD
	Span
	2D
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	MINOR TRIM DEFECT/CARPETS  

	TD
	Span
	1T
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	MAJOR TRIM
DEFECT/CARPETS
 

	TD
	Span
	2T
 


	TR
	TD
	Span
	TD
	Span
	NOT IN PLACE/NOT
APPLICABLE
 

	TD
	Span
	NIP/NA
 




	 
	THIS REPORT IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INSPECTING GARAGE

	Please return completed form to: The Licensing Team, Environmental Health & Housing
Services, North Devon Council, Lynton House, Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 1DG or via email
to licensing@northdevon.gov.uk

	Formatted Table
	Appendix C

	 
	Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers

	 
	In order to promote its licensing objectives as regards hackney carriage and private hire
licensing, the Council has adopted the following Code of Good Conduct, which should be
read in conjunction with the other statutory and policy requirements set out in this
document.

	 
	1.0 RESPONSIBILITY TO THE TRADE

	 
	Licence holders shall endeavour to promote the image of the Hackney Carriage
and Private hire trade by:

	 
	(a) complying with this Code of Good Conduct;

	(a) complying with this Code of Good Conduct;

	(a) complying with this Code of Good Conduct;



	 
	(b) complying with all the Conditions of their Licence and the Councils Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy;

	(b) complying with all the Conditions of their Licence and the Councils Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy;

	(b) complying with all the Conditions of their Licence and the Councils Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy;



	 
	(c) behaving in a civil, orderly and responsible manner at all times.

	(c) behaving in a civil, orderly and responsible manner at all times.

	(c) behaving in a civil, orderly and responsible manner at all times.



	 
	2.0 RESPONSIBILITY TO CLIENTS

	 
	Licence holders shall:

	 
	(a) maintain their vehicles in a safe and satisfactory condition at all times;

	(a) maintain their vehicles in a safe and satisfactory condition at all times;

	(a) maintain their vehicles in a safe and satisfactory condition at all times;



	 
	(b) keep their vehicles clean and suitable for hire to the public at all times;

	(b) keep their vehicles clean and suitable for hire to the public at all times;

	(b) keep their vehicles clean and suitable for hire to the public at all times;



	 
	(c) attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hiring;

	(c) attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hiring;

	(c) attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hiring;



	 
	(d) assist, where necessary, passengers into and out of vehicles;

	(d) assist, where necessary, passengers into and out of vehicles;

	(d) assist, where necessary, passengers into and out of vehicles;



	 
	(e) offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage;

	(e) offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage;

	(e) offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage;



	 
	(f) not without reasonable cause unnecessarily prolong in distance or in time a
journey

	(f) not without reasonable cause unnecessarily prolong in distance or in time a
journey

	(f) not without reasonable cause unnecessarily prolong in distance or in time a
journey



	 
	(g) unless otherwise directed by the hirer, proceed to the destination by the
shortest possible route;

	(g) unless otherwise directed by the hirer, proceed to the destination by the
shortest possible route;

	(g) unless otherwise directed by the hirer, proceed to the destination by the
shortest possible route;



	 
	(h) not eat or drink whilst a vehicle is in motion, and comply with the hirers
request not to eat or drink in the vehicle at any other time;

	(h) not eat or drink whilst a vehicle is in motion, and comply with the hirers
request not to eat or drink in the vehicle at any other time;

	(h) not eat or drink whilst a vehicle is in motion, and comply with the hirers
request not to eat or drink in the vehicle at any other time;



	 
	(i) comply with the hirers request not to play any radio or other sound producing
instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending
or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle.

	(i) comply with the hirers request not to play any radio or other sound producing
instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending
or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle.

	(i) comply with the hirers request not to play any radio or other sound producing
instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending
or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle.



	 
	3.0 RESPONSIBILITY TO RESIDENTS

	 
	To avoid nuisance to residents when picking up or waiting for a fare, a driver shall:

	 
	(a) not sound the vehicle’s horn illegally;
	(a) not sound the vehicle’s horn illegally;
	(a) not sound the vehicle’s horn illegally;


	 
	(b) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted from any radio or sound
reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle in which he is driving to
be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any persons, whether inside or
outside the vehicle.

	(b) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted from any radio or sound
reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle in which he is driving to
be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any persons, whether inside or
outside the vehicle.

	(b) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted from any radio or sound
reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle in which he is driving to
be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any persons, whether inside or
outside the vehicle.



	 
	(c) not to use Citizen Band Radio receiver/transmitter in a licensed vehicle;

	(c) not to use Citizen Band Radio receiver/transmitter in a licensed vehicle;

	(c) not to use Citizen Band Radio receiver/transmitter in a licensed vehicle;



	 
	(d) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to residents in
the neighbourhood, for example switching off engines if required to wait or
queuing on ranks.

	(d) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to residents in
the neighbourhood, for example switching off engines if required to wait or
queuing on ranks.

	(d) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to residents in
the neighbourhood, for example switching off engines if required to wait or
queuing on ranks.



	 
	(e) At taxi ranks and other places where hackney carriages ply for hire by forming
queues, drivers shall, in addition to the requirements above:

	(e) At taxi ranks and other places where hackney carriages ply for hire by forming
queues, drivers shall, in addition to the requirements above:

	(e) At taxi ranks and other places where hackney carriages ply for hire by forming
queues, drivers shall, in addition to the requirements above:



	 
	(i) rank in an orderly manner and proceed along the rank in order and
promptly;

	 
	(ii) remain in attendance when plying for hire.

	 
	(f) At private hire offices a licence holder shall:

	(f) At private hire offices a licence holder shall:

	(f) At private hire offices a licence holder shall:



	 
	(i) not undertake servicing or repairs of vehicles;

	 
	(ii) not allow their radio/cassette players or VHF radios to cause disturbance
to residents of the neighbourhood;

	 
	(iii) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to
residents of the neighbourhood, which might arise from the conduct of their
business.

	 
	4.0 GENERAL

	 
	Drivers shall:

	 
	(a) pay attention to personal hygiene and dress so as to present a professional
image to the public;

	(a) pay attention to personal hygiene and dress so as to present a professional
image to the public;

	(a) pay attention to personal hygiene and dress so as to present a professional
image to the public;



	 
	(b) be polite, helpful and fair to passengers;

	(b) be polite, helpful and fair to passengers;

	(b) be polite, helpful and fair to passengers;



	 
	(c) drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians
and in particular shall not use a hand held mobile phone whilst driving;

	(c) drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians
and in particular shall not use a hand held mobile phone whilst driving;

	(c) drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians
and in particular shall not use a hand held mobile phone whilst driving;



	 
	(d) obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all time;

	(d) obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all time;

	(d) obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all time;



	 
	(e) comply with the requirements of the Health Act 2006 with regard to no
smoking in vehicles at any time and displaying of a no-smoking sign in each
compartment of the vehicle in which people can be carried.

	(e) comply with the requirements of the Health Act 2006 with regard to no
smoking in vehicles at any time and displaying of a no-smoking sign in each
compartment of the vehicle in which people can be carried.

	(e) comply with the requirements of the Health Act 2006 with regard to no
smoking in vehicles at any time and displaying of a no-smoking sign in each
compartment of the vehicle in which people can be carried.



	 
	(f) Where employed fulfil their responsibility to ensure compliance with
legislation regarding the length of working hours;
	(f) Where employed fulfil their responsibility to ensure compliance with
legislation regarding the length of working hours;
	(f) Where employed fulfil their responsibility to ensure compliance with
legislation regarding the length of working hours;


	 
	(g) carry their drivers identity lapel badge provided by the council on his person
at all times when in charge of a licensed vehicle, and be in such manner and
position to be plainly visible;

	(g) carry their drivers identity lapel badge provided by the council on his person
at all times when in charge of a licensed vehicle, and be in such manner and
position to be plainly visible;

	(g) carry their drivers identity lapel badge provided by the council on his person
at all times when in charge of a licensed vehicle, and be in such manner and
position to be plainly visible;



	 
	(h) not act as a hackney carriage or private hire driver without the consent of the
proprietor of the vehicle.

	(h) not act as a hackney carriage or private hire driver without the consent of the
proprietor of the vehicle.

	(h) not act as a hackney carriage or private hire driver without the consent of the
proprietor of the vehicle.



	 
	(i) not consume alcohol immediately before or at any time whilst driving or being
in charge of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle;

	(i) not consume alcohol immediately before or at any time whilst driving or being
in charge of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle;

	(i) not consume alcohol immediately before or at any time whilst driving or being
in charge of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle;



	 
	(j) not drive while having misused legal or illegal drugs.

	(j) not drive while having misused legal or illegal drugs.

	(j) not drive while having misused legal or illegal drugs.



	 
	PLEASE NOTE:

	 
	ANY AMOUNT OF ALCOHOL OR DRUGS CAN AFFECT A DRIVER’S
JUDGEMENT

	 
	THE COUNCIL WILL TAKE A VERY SERIOUS VIEW OF ANY DRIVER BEING
FOUND TO HAVE HAD ANY ALCOHOL OR HAVING MISUSED ANY DRUGS
WHILST IN CHARGE OF A LICENSED VEHICLE.

	 
	5.0 NOTIFICATIONS

	 
	5.1 Upon ceasing employment as a licensed driver, the licence-holder must notify the
Licensing Team in writing, within 7 days, and surrender the licence and badge
issued by the Council, together with the plate when appropriate.

	 
	5.2 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days, of any change
of address or other contact details (e.g. email address or mobile telephone
number).

	 
	5.3 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48 hours, of
any arrest and release, charge or conviction or caution for an offence, any anti�social behaviour order, driving disqualification for any period or any receipt of a
fixed penalty, imposed whilst their licence is in force.

	5.3 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48 hours, of
any arrest and release, charge or conviction or caution for an offence, any anti�social behaviour order, driving disqualification for any period or any receipt of a
fixed penalty, imposed whilst their licence is in force.

	5.3 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48 hours, of
any arrest and release, charge or conviction or caution for an offence, any anti�social behaviour order, driving disqualification for any period or any receipt of a
fixed penalty, imposed whilst their licence is in force.

	5.3 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48 hours, of
any arrest and release, charge or conviction or caution for an offence, any anti�social behaviour order, driving disqualification for any period or any receipt of a
fixed penalty, imposed whilst their licence is in force.




	 
	6.0 LOST PROPERTY

	 
	6.1 Immediately after the termination of a driver’s shift, drivers must carry out a search
of their vehicle for property that may have inadvertently been left.

	 
	6.2 If any property accidentally left in a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle by any
passenger, is found by or handed to the driver, the driver shall leave it in the same
condition in which it was found

	 
	6.3 Where lost property is found drivers should complete the necessary form on the
following

	Police website (
	Police website (
	https://www.devon-cornwall.police.uk/contact/lost-and-found�property/
	https://www.devon-cornwall.police.uk/contact/lost-and-found�property/

	) with the items that have been found. Items will then be added to a
police-approved, national database that can be viewed by police nationally. Once
drivers have completed a form (which can be updated or edited at any time), they
will receive a lost property reference number.

	 
	6.4 Most found property does not need to be passed to police (and it will not now be

	accepted), but the following items should be taken to Barnstaple Police Station:

	  
	o Mobile phones, laptops, cameras – anything with an internal memory.

	o Mobile phones, laptops, cameras – anything with an internal memory.

	o Mobile phones, laptops, cameras – anything with an internal memory.

	o Mobile phones, laptops, cameras – anything with an internal memory.


	o Personal ID – such as passports, driving licence, bank card, utility bills.

	o Personal ID – such as passports, driving licence, bank card, utility bills.


	o Drugs.

	o Drugs.


	o Significant amounts of cash.

	o Significant amounts of cash.




	 
	6.5 Those items that do not need to be taken to the police station should be kept by a
driver for a minimum period of 28 days before they are then disposed of (providing
arrangements have not been made for their collection). Please note that the Council
do not provide a facility for the collection or storage of lost and found property.

	 
	7.0 THE CARRIAGE OF ANIMALS

	 
	7.1 A driver must not carry in a licensed vehicle any animal, which belongs to, or is
being looked after by, themselves, the owner or operator of the vehicle while it is
being used as a hackney carriage.

	 
	7.2 Animals in the custody of passengers may be carried, at the driver’s discretion,
provided they are restrained in a safe manner.

	 
	7.3 A driver must, however carry assistance dogs when requested to by an assistance
dog user. Assistance dogs include guide dogs for the blind or partially sighted,
hearing dogs for the hard of hearing, and other assistance dogs, which assist
disabled people with a physical impairment. Licensed Drivers may wish to visit the
website link below which provides further information on accredited assistance dog
schemes via Assistance Dogs UK.

	               
	              
	              
	https://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/members/

	https://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/members/


	 

	 
	7.4 Any licensed driver with a medical condition, which may be exacerbated by dogs,
may apply for exemption from this condition. A certificate of exemption will only be
provided upon production of suitable medical evidence.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Appendix D

	 
	Dress Code for Licensed Drivers

	 
	North Devon Council is committed to encouraging the professional image of the hackney
carriage and private hire trade, and considers that drivers of licensed vehicles are
vocational drivers. The Council considers, therefore, that drivers should conform to a
minimum standard of dress, as set out below, in order to raise the profile of the licensed
trade.

	 
	The Licensing Authority does not impose such standards by way of conditions to any
licence. It is expected, however, that such standards shall be maintained at all times.
Failure to comply with the Dress Code shall render a licensed driver liable to the issue of
penalty points under the scheme set out in Appendix I.

	 
	Acceptable Standards of Dress

	 
	(1) Tops

	 
	Shirts, blouses, T-shirts, or sweat tops should cover the shoulders and be capable
of being worn inside trousers or shorts.

	 
	Shirts or blouses can be worn with a tie or open-necked.

	 
	(2) Trousers/Shorts/Skirts

	 
	Shorts should be tailored.

	 
	It is recommended that drivers do not wear short skirts for personal safety reasons.

	 
	(3) Footwear

	 
	Footwear should fit around the heel of the foot.

	 
	Safety shoes with protected toe-caps are recommended.

	 
	Unacceptable Standards of Dress

	 
	The following are deemed to be unacceptable:

	 
	 Clothing or footwear which is unclean or damaged;

	 Clothing or footwear which is unclean or damaged;

	 Clothing or footwear which is unclean or damaged;


	 Clothing printed with words, logos or graphics, which might offend;

	 Clothing printed with words, logos or graphics, which might offend;


	 Studs or sharp-edged clothing;

	 Studs or sharp-edged clothing;


	 Beach-type footwear (e.g. flip-flops);

	 Beach-type footwear (e.g. flip-flops);


	 Footwear with pronounced heels.
	 Footwear with pronounced heels.


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Appendix E

	 
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers’ Licences: Application Procedure

	 
	1.0 Applications for Hackney Carriage Drivers’ Licences are not limited and may be
made at any time of the year. Applications are to be made on the prescribed
application form. An application for a hackney carriage driver’s licence is deemed
to comprise an application for a private hire driver’s licence as well, for which no
separate fee is payable. Applicants must complete all relevant fields of the
application form in order for the application to be considered duly made. In this
context an application will not be considered duly made without the inclusion of a
valid email address (the Council will correspond with licence holders primarily via
email and as such a valid email address is essential).

	 
	2.0 Any driver, who only seeks a private hire licence, and not a hackney carriage
licence, may specify this on the application form.

	 
	3.0 Applicants must have held a full driving licence for a period of one year and
passed those qualifications listed in Section 4.3.

	 
	4.0 Applicants are required to comply with those testing procedures outlined in
Appendix F.

	4.0 Applicants are required to comply with those testing procedures outlined in
Appendix F.

	4.0 Applicants are required to comply with those testing procedures outlined in
Appendix F.



	 
	5.0 In support of a completed application form, the applicant must provide the
following:

	 
	(i) A signed DVLA disclosure mandate; (Non UK applicants must register their
non UK licence with DVLA -See Section 4.4 of Policy)

	(i) A signed DVLA disclosure mandate; (Non UK applicants must register their
non UK licence with DVLA -See Section 4.4 of Policy)

	(i) A signed DVLA disclosure mandate; (Non UK applicants must register their
non UK licence with DVLA -See Section 4.4 of Policy)



	 
	(ii) Enhanced disclosure from the DBS with a check of the barred lists; (Non UK
applicants must also provide a “Certificate of Good Conduct” - See Section
4.4 of Policy)

	(ii) Enhanced disclosure from the DBS with a check of the barred lists; (Non UK
applicants must also provide a “Certificate of Good Conduct” - See Section
4.4 of Policy)

	(ii) Enhanced disclosure from the DBS with a check of the barred lists; (Non UK
applicants must also provide a “Certificate of Good Conduct” - See Section
4.4 of Policy)



	 
	(iii) The specified fee;

	(iii) The specified fee;

	(iii) The specified fee;



	 
	(iv) A medical certificate (see Section 4.10);

	(iv) A medical certificate (see Section 4.10);

	(iv) A medical certificate (see Section 4.10);



	 
	(v) Deposit fee for Driver’s Badge (refundable if the application is refused);

	(v) Deposit fee for Driver’s Badge (refundable if the application is refused);

	(v) Deposit fee for Driver’s Badge (refundable if the application is refused);



	 
	(vi) A digital photograph. A photograph will be required by the Council every three
years. Photographs may be required prior to this when an individual has
significantly changed their appearance from the photograph previously held
by the Council.

	(vi) A digital photograph. A photograph will be required by the Council every three
years. Photographs may be required prior to this when an individual has
significantly changed their appearance from the photograph previously held
by the Council.

	(vi) A digital photograph. A photograph will be required by the Council every three
years. Photographs may be required prior to this when an individual has
significantly changed their appearance from the photograph previously held
by the Council.



	 
	(vii) All applicants must provide evidence of their right to work in the UK.
	(vii) All applicants must provide evidence of their right to work in the UK.
	(vii) All applicants must provide evidence of their right to work in the UK.


	 
	 
	Appendix F

	 
	The Testing of Applicants

	 
	1.0 Introduction

	 
	Applicants for a hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licences will be required
to undergo written tests as part of the process of satisfying the Council that they
are suitable persons to hold such a licence. All of the following tests will be
applicable to both hackney carriage and private hire drivers, with the exception of
the test for local geography, which will not be required for private hire drivers
based on the fact that journeys undertaken will always be pre-booked. In addition,
the Council needs to be satisfied as to the medical fitness of applicants seeking a
licence.

	 
	2.0 Local Geography

	 
	Applicants will be tested on their knowledge of North Devon geography, by
recording the shortest routes between locations in the area. Private hire drivers are
not required to undertake and pass a test with respect of local geography because
journeys undertaken will always be pre-booked.

	 
	3.0 Highway Code

	 
	Applicants will be asked to answer a number of questions as to driving skills, road
information and etiquette as set out in the Highway Code.

	 
	4.0 Council Policy Knowledge Test

	 
	Applicants will be tested on their knowledge and understanding of the Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy document.

	 
	35.0 Numeracy

	 
	Applicants will be tested on their ability to carry out elementary mental arithmetic,
as encountered in calculating the change to be paid to a potential customer who
overpays a fare.

	 
	46.0 Driver Test Failure

	 
	Applicants who fail to achieve a 70% pass rate in any of the tests will be invited to
take a different test on another occasion. A maximum of three tests may be
undertaken, after which there is a minimum period of six months before any new
testing may take place. Applicant’s will not be considered to be fit and proper to
hold a licence unless or until they have achieved the requisite pass rate in all the
tests.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Appendix G

	 
	The Consideration of Applications

	 
	1.0 Upon receipt of a completed application form, a Licensing Officer will consider the
application, unless there are details which are missing from the application form, or
the supporting documents are incomplete. Where the application is incomplete, it
will not be considered until all of the missing details or documents are supplied.

	 
	2.0 Where the Licensing Officer is not satisfied, on the information before him/her, that
the applicant should be granted a licence, the matter will be referred to a Sub�Committee of the Licensing Committee. The applicant will be advised of the date,
time and venue of the Sub-Committee at which the application will be considered.

	 
	3.0 At the Sub-Committee meeting, the Council members present will receive a report
from the Licensing Officer, and will then hear representations from the applicant,
and may ask any questions of the applicant, before deciding upon whether a
licence should be granted. The applicant will be told of the outcome immediately,
and this will be confirmed in writing within 7 days.

	 
	Drivers

	 
	4.0 If satisfied, from the information available that the applicant is a fit and proper
person to hold a hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence, the Officer has
the delegated power to grant the application.

	 
	5.0 Successful applicants will be notified in writing, and issued with the appropriate
licence. Those who are granted drivers’ licences will be issued with drivers’ Lapel
Badge, which will remain the property of the Council and must be surrendered
when the driver ceases employment as a driver.

	 
	6.0 Unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right to appeal against the
decision to the magistrates’ court within 21 days of receipt of the formal notice of
refusal of the application.

	6.0 Unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right to appeal against the
decision to the magistrates’ court within 21 days of receipt of the formal notice of
refusal of the application.

	6.0 Unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right to appeal against the
decision to the magistrates’ court within 21 days of receipt of the formal notice of
refusal of the application.



	 
	Vehicles

	 
	7.0 Unsuccessful applicants will be informed of their right to appeal against the
decision to the Crown Court within 21 days of receipt of the formal notice of refusal
of the application.
	 
	Appendix H

	 
	Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Convictions

	 
	The following guidelines are used to determine the relevance of criminal convictions in
relation to applications for hackney carriage and private hire licenses.

	 
	The guidelines are developed from the ‘Institute of licensing – Guidance on determining
the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades’ and the
‘Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards - Assessment
of Previous Convictions’.

	 
	In assessing the various information collected in relation to the ‘fit and proper’ status of an
applicant or licence holder, the Licensing Authority will apply the following test:

	 
	“Would the decision maker(s) charged with the ability to grant a licence, without any
prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow a person for whom
you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at
any time day or night”?

	 
	If on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’ the individual should not
hold a licence.

	 
	The wording of this test originates from paragraphs 5.12 & 5.13 (fit and proper test) of the
Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards.

	 
	General Policy

	 
	1. The Licensing Authority will consider each case on its own merits, and
applicants/licensees are entitled to a fair and impartial consideration of their
application/licence.

	 
	2. A caution is regarded in exactly the same way as a conviction.

	 
	3. Fixed penalties and community resolutions will also be considered in the same way
as a conviction.

	 
	4. Matters which have not resulted in a criminal conviction (whether that is the result of
an acquittal, a conviction being quashed, decision not to prosecute or an investigation
which is continuing where the individual has been bailed) can and will be taken into
account by the licensing authority. In addition, complaints where there was no police
involvement will also be considered and matters that amount to criminal behaviour
but which have not resulted in conviction will also be taken into account.

	 
	5. In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is
awaiting trial, the determination will be deferred until the trial has been completed or
the charges withdrawn. Where an existing licensee is charged, it will be for the
Licensing Authority to decide what action to take in the light of these guidelines.

	 
	6. In all cases, the Licensing Authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in
question and what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be
determined on its own merits, and in the light of these guidelines.
	 
	7. Any offences committed, or unacceptable behaviour reported whilst driving a hackney
carriage or private hire vehicle, concerning the use of a hackney carriage or private
hire vehicle, or in connection with an operator of a private hire vehicle will be viewed
as aggravating features, and the fact that any other offences were not connected with
the hackney carriage and private hire trades will not be seen as mitigating factors.

	8. As the Licensing Authority will be looking at the entirety of the individual, in many
cases safety and suitability will not be determined solely by a specified period of time
having elapsed following a conviction or the completion of a sentence. Time periods
are relevant and weighty considerations, but they are not the only determining factor.

	 
	9. In addition to the nature of the offence or other behaviour, the quantity of matters and
the period over which they were committed will also be considered. Patterns of
repeated unacceptable or criminal behaviour are likely to cause greater concern than
isolated occurrences as such patterns can demonstrate a propensity for such
behaviour or offending.

	 
	10. Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal
situation. In relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do make
mistakes and lapse in their conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further accepted
that many learn from experience and do not go on to commit further offences.
Accordingly, in many cases an isolated conviction, especially if committed some time
ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal of a licence.

	 
	11. It is also important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is a
continuing requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety and
suitability. The Licensing Authority has powers to take action against the holder of all
types of licence (driver’s, vehicle and operator’s) and it must be understood that any
convictions or other actions on the part of the licensee which would have prevented
them being granted a licence on initial application will lead to that licence being
revoked.

	 
	12. Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which is
discovered to have occurred in any part of any application process (e.g. failure to
declare convictions, false names or addresses, falsified references) will result in a
licence being refused, or if already granted, revoked and may result in prosecution.

	 
	13. As the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of licence applied
for or held, it is necessary to consider the impact of particular offences on those
licences separately. However, there are some overriding considerations which will
apply in all circumstances.

	 
	14. Generally where a person has more than one conviction showing a pattern or
tendency irrespective of time since the convictions, this will raise serious questions
about their safety and suitability. The Licensing Authority is looking for safe and
suitable individuals, and once a pattern or trend of repeated offending is apparent, a
licence will not be granted or renewed.

	 
	15. Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence or displays inappropriate
behaviour which is not detailed in this guidance, the Licensing Authority will take that
conviction and behaviour into account and use these guidelines as an indication of
the approach that should be taken.
	 
	16. These guidelines do not replace the duty of the Licensing Authority to refuse to grant
a licence where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit and proper
person. Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the Licensing Authority
will consider the matter from first principles and determine the fitness and propriety of
the individual.

	 
	17. A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct
responsibility for the safety of other road users and significant control over
passengers who are in the vehicle. As those passengers may be alone, and may also
be vulnerable, any previous convictions or unacceptable behaviour will weigh heavily
against a licence being granted or retained.

	 
	18. In relation to single convictions, the following minimum time periods should elapse
following completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed)
before a licence will be granted or renewed. This places passenger safety as the
priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently evidence that they have been
successfully rehabilitated so that they might obtain or retain a licence.

	 
	a) Crimes resulting in death

	a) Crimes resulting in death

	a) Crimes resulting in death



	 
	Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death
of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person
they will not be licensed.

	 
	b) Exploitation

	b) Exploitation

	b) Exploitation



	 
	Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has
any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective
of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed. This
includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or
financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list.

	 
	c) Offences involving violence against the person

	c) Offences involving violence against the person

	c) Offences involving violence against the person



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or
connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

	 
	d) Possession of a weapon

	d) Possession of a weapon

	d) Possession of a weapon



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since
the completion of any sentence imposed.

	 
	e) Sexual offences

	e) Sexual offences

	e) Sexual offences



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal
sexual activity, a licence will not be granted.

	  
	In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who
is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list.

	 
	f) Dishonesty
	f) Dishonesty
	f) Dishonesty


	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element of the
offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence imposed.

	 
	g) Drugs

	g) Drugs

	g) Drugs



	 
	Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or possession
with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not
be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence
imposed.

	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession
of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may also have
to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not
using controlled drugs.

	 
	h) Discrimination

	h) Discrimination

	h) Discrimination



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any form,
a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion
of any sentence imposed.

	 
	i) Motoring convictions

	i) Motoring convictions

	i) Motoring convictions



	 
	Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the
responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the
granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions may indicate
that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user and one that is
suitable to drive professionally.

	 
	Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee does not
take their professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and suitable
person to be granted or retain a licence. However, it is accepted that offences can be
committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not
necessitate the revocation of a taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the
Licensing Authority considers that the licensee remains a fit and proper person to retain a
licence.

	 
	j) Drink driving under the influence of drugs

	j) Drink driving under the influence of drugs

	j) Drink driving under the influence of drugs



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.

	 
	k) Using a hand held device whilst driving

	k) Using a hand held device whilst driving

	k) Using a hand held device whilst driving



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐
held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have
	elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed,
whichever is the later.

	 
	l) Other motoring offences

	l) Other motoring offences

	l) Other motoring offences



	 
	A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life, driving
under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and has not
resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles). Where an
applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or similar offences, a
licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any
sentence imposed.

	 
	A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and also any
offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including
vehicles). It also includes driving without insurance or any offence connected with motor
insurance. Where an applicant has a conviction for a major traffic offence or similar
offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence imposed.

	 
	m) Hackney carriage and private hire offences

	m) Hackney carriage and private hire offences

	m) Hackney carriage and private hire offences



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected to
hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

	 
	n) Vehicle use offences

	n) Vehicle use offences

	n) Vehicle use offences



	 
	Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of a
vehicle (including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will not be
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence
imposed.

	 
	PRINCIPLES OF THE REHABILITATION OF OFFENDERS ACT 1974 (as amended by
the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012)

	 
	(1) Under the 1974 Act, criminal convictions can become spent after a certain
period of time, and once spent, for many purposes, can be disregarded
completely.

	(1) Under the 1974 Act, criminal convictions can become spent after a certain
period of time, and once spent, for many purposes, can be disregarded
completely.

	(1) Under the 1974 Act, criminal convictions can become spent after a certain
period of time, and once spent, for many purposes, can be disregarded
completely.



	 
	(2) The possibility of rehabilitation and the length of time before rehabilitation
occurs depends on the sentence imposed, and not the offence committed.

	(2) The possibility of rehabilitation and the length of time before rehabilitation
occurs depends on the sentence imposed, and not the offence committed.

	(2) The possibility of rehabilitation and the length of time before rehabilitation
occurs depends on the sentence imposed, and not the offence committed.



	 
	(3) Despite the above, the principles of the Act do not apply to applicants for
hackney carriage and private hire drivers’ licences. This is because the driving
of taxis is listed as a “Regulated Occupation” in relation to which questions
may be asked as to the suitability of individuals to be granted a licence.

	(3) Despite the above, the principles of the Act do not apply to applicants for
hackney carriage and private hire drivers’ licences. This is because the driving
of taxis is listed as a “Regulated Occupation” in relation to which questions
may be asked as to the suitability of individuals to be granted a licence.

	(3) Despite the above, the principles of the Act do not apply to applicants for
hackney carriage and private hire drivers’ licences. This is because the driving
of taxis is listed as a “Regulated Occupation” in relation to which questions
may be asked as to the suitability of individuals to be granted a licence.



	 
	(4) Although the Act does not prevent judicial authorities (inclusive of the
Licensing Authority) from taking spent convictions into account; such
convictions are only admissible in so far as they are relevant to the issue as to
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.
	(4) Although the Act does not prevent judicial authorities (inclusive of the
Licensing Authority) from taking spent convictions into account; such
convictions are only admissible in so far as they are relevant to the issue as to
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.
	(4) Although the Act does not prevent judicial authorities (inclusive of the
Licensing Authority) from taking spent convictions into account; such
convictions are only admissible in so far as they are relevant to the issue as to
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.


	 
	(5) The determination as to whether certain convictions are spent, therefore, may
be a relevant exercise.

	(5) The determination as to whether certain convictions are spent, therefore, may
be a relevant exercise.

	(5) The determination as to whether certain convictions are spent, therefore, may
be a relevant exercise.



	 
	(6) The rehabilitation periods to which reference is most commonly made are set
out in the Ministry of Justice document ‘Guidance on the Rehabilitation of
Offenders Act 1974 and The Exceptions Order 1975’ which can be accessed
via the weblink below: 
	(6) The rehabilitation periods to which reference is most commonly made are set
out in the Ministry of Justice document ‘Guidance on the Rehabilitation of
Offenders Act 1974 and The Exceptions Order 1975’ which can be accessed
via the weblink below: 
	(6) The rehabilitation periods to which reference is most commonly made are set
out in the Ministry of Justice document ‘Guidance on the Rehabilitation of
Offenders Act 1974 and The Exceptions Order 1975’ which can be accessed
via the weblink below: 
	(6) The rehabilitation periods to which reference is most commonly made are set
out in the Ministry of Justice document ‘Guidance on the Rehabilitation of
Offenders Act 1974 and The Exceptions Order 1975’ which can be accessed
via the weblink below: 
	Guidance overview: Guidance on the Rehabilitation of
Offenders Act 1974 and the Exceptions Order 1975 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
	Guidance overview: Guidance on the Rehabilitation of
Offenders Act 1974 and the Exceptions Order 1975 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

	 



	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Appendix I

	 
	Disciplinary Hearings

	 
	Introduction

	 
	Meetings of a Licensing Sub-Committee will be convened, as and when necessary, to
consider appropriate disciplinary measures involving proprietors, operators and drivers,
wherever they have been convicted of offences before the courts, where the offence or
offences are imprisonable, endorsable, or specifically relate to the use of a hackney
carriage or private hire vehicle, or where action has been taken as a result of breaches
of policy, conditions imposed under a licence, bylaws or legislation. The purpose of such
meetings shall be for the Sub-Committee to consider which, if any, of the options
available should be implemented.

	 
	The Options Available

	 
	The Sub-Committee, after the details of the referral have been outlined, and the licence
holder has been given the opportunity to address the hearing, as well as ordering
penalty points (see below) may order one of the following:

	 
	 The suspension of the licence

	 The suspension of the licence

	 The suspension of the licence


	 The revocation of the licence

	 The revocation of the licence


	 A refusal to renew a licence

	 A refusal to renew a licence


	 The imposition of further conditions

	 The imposition of further conditions


	 Referral to enhanced driver’s course or other relevant training

	 Referral to enhanced driver’s course or other relevant training


	 No further action to be taken.

	 No further action to be taken.



	 
	The Sub-Committee may also recommend the prosecution of licence holders, in
circumstances where there are persistent or serious breaches of conditions, which have
not been dealt with otherwise.

	 
	Where a licence holder appears before a sub-committee having been convicted of an
offence in a category referred to in Appendix H, the sub-committee will adopt an
approach similar to the one which it would adopt in relation to a new applicant as
regards the offence or offences recorded.

	 
	A decision by the Sub- Committee to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is
thought to present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, will be referred to the
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS).
	 
	 
	 
	Appendix J

	 
	Offences – Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles and Drivers

	 
	Introduction

	 
	Two statutes principally create offences relating to Hackney Carriages and Private Hire
Vehicles:

	 
	i) Town Police Clauses Act 1847.

	i) Town Police Clauses Act 1847.

	i) Town Police Clauses Act 1847.


	ii) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

	ii) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.



	 
	The offences are set out below. Those on page 1 are contrary to the 1847 Act, while those
on subsequent pages are contrary to the 1976 Act.

	 
	In relation to the maximum penalties specified, the levels of fine are currently as follows:

	 
	Level 1 - £200;

	Level 2 - £500;

	Level 3 - £1,000;

	Level 4 - £2,500.

	 
	a) Town Police Clauses Act 1847

	a) Town Police Clauses Act 1847

	a) Town Police Clauses Act 1847



	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Section  

	TH
	Span
	Offence  

	TH
	Span
	Maximum Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	40 
	40 

	Giving false information on application for HC proprietor’s
licence.

	Giving false information on application for HC proprietor’s
licence.


	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	44 
	44 

	Failure to notify change of address of HC proprietor. 
	Failure to notify change of address of HC proprietor. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	45 
	45 

	Plying for hire without HC proprietor’s licence. 
	Plying for hire without HC proprietor’s licence. 

	Level 4

	Level 4



	TR
	Span
	47 
	47 

	Driving a HC without HC driver’s licence. 
	Driving a HC without HC driver’s licence. 

	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	47 
	47 

	Lending or parting with HC driver’s licence. 
	Lending or parting with HC driver’s licence. 

	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	47 
	47 

	HC proprietor employing unlicensed driver. 
	HC proprietor employing unlicensed driver. 

	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	48 
	48 

	Failure by HC proprietor to hold HC driver’s licence. 
	Failure by HC proprietor to hold HC driver’s licence. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	48 
	48 

	Failure by HC proprietor to produce HC driver’s licence. 
	Failure by HC proprietor to produce HC driver’s licence. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	52 
	52 

	Failure to display HC plate. 
	Failure to display HC plate. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	53 
	53 

	Refusal to take a fare. 
	Refusal to take a fare. 

	Level 2

	Level 2



	TR
	Span
	54 
	54 

	Charging more than the agreed fare. 
	Charging more than the agreed fare. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	55 
	55 

	Obtaining more than the legal fare. 
	Obtaining more than the legal fare. 

	Level 3 and 1
month’s
imprisonment until
the excess is
refunded.

	Level 3 and 1
month’s
imprisonment until
the excess is
refunded.



	TR
	Span
	56 
	56 

	Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare. 
	Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	57 
	57 

	Failing to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid. 
	Failing to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	58 
	58 

	Charging more than the legal fare. 
	Charging more than the legal fare. 

	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	59 
	59 

	Carrying other person than the hirer without consent. 
	Carrying other person than the hirer without consent. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	60 
	60 

	Driving HC without proprietor’s consent. 
	Driving HC without proprietor’s consent. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	60 
	60 

	Person allowing another to drive HC without proprietor’s
consent.

	Person allowing another to drive HC without proprietor’s
consent.


	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	61 
	61 

	Drunken driving of HC 
	Drunken driving of HC 

	Level 1

	Level 1





	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Section  

	TH
	Span
	Offence  

	TH
	Span
	Maximum Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	61 
	61 

	Wanton or furious driving or wilful misconduct leading to
injury or danger.

	Wanton or furious driving or wilful misconduct leading to
injury or danger.


	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	62 
	62 

	Driver leaving HC unattended. 
	Driver leaving HC unattended. 

	Level 1

	Level 1



	TR
	Span
	64 
	64 

	HC driver obstructing other HC’s. 
	HC driver obstructing other HC’s. 

	Level 1

	Level 1





	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	b) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976

	b) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976

	b) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976



	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Section  

	TH
	Span
	Offence  

	TH
	Span
	Maximum Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	49 
	49 

	Failure to notify the transfer of a HC proprietor’s licence. 
	Failure to notify the transfer of a HC proprietor’s licence. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(1) 
	50(1) 

	Failure to present a HC for inspection, as required. 
	Failure to present a HC for inspection, as required. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(2) 
	50(2) 

	Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where the HC is
stored, if requested.

	Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where the HC is
stored, if requested.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(3) 
	50(3) 

	Failure to report an accident to the Licensing Authority. 
	Failure to report an accident to the Licensing Authority. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(4) 
	50(4) 

	Failure to produce the HC proprietor’s licence and
insurance certificate.

	Failure to produce the HC proprietor’s licence and
insurance certificate.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	53(3) 
	53(3) 

	Failure to produce the HC driver’s licence. 
	Failure to produce the HC driver’s licence. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	57 
	57 

	Making a false statement or withholding information to
obtain a HC driver’s licence.

	Making a false statement or withholding information to
obtain a HC driver’s licence.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	58(2) 
	58(2) 

	Failure to return a plate after notice given following
expiry, revocation or suspension of a HC proprietor’s
licence.

	Failure to return a plate after notice given following
expiry, revocation or suspension of a HC proprietor’s
licence.


	Level 3 plus daily fine
of £10

	Level 3 plus daily fine
of £10



	TR
	Span
	61(2) 
	61(2) 

	Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension,
revocation or refusal to renew.

	Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension,
revocation or refusal to renew.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	64 
	64 

	Permitting any vehicle other than a HC to wait on a HC
stand.

	Permitting any vehicle other than a HC to wait on a HC
stand.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	66 
	66 

	Charging more than the meter fare for a journey ending
outside the district, without prior agreement.

	Charging more than the meter fare for a journey ending
outside the district, without prior agreement.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	67 
	67 

	Charging more than the meter fare when HC used as
private hire vehicle.

	Charging more than the meter fare when HC used as
private hire vehicle.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	69 
	69 

	Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. 
	Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	71 
	71 

	Interfering with a taximeter. 
	Interfering with a taximeter. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	73(1)(a) 
	73(1)(a) 

	Obstruction of an authorised Officer or Constable. 
	Obstruction of an authorised Officer or Constable. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	73(1)(b) 
	73(1)(b) 

	Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised
Officer or Constable.

	Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised
Officer or Constable.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	73(1)(c) 
	73(1)(c) 

	Failure to give information or assistance to an
authorised Officer or Constable.

	Failure to give information or assistance to an
authorised Officer or Constable.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)





	Formatted Table
Formatted Table
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Section  

	TH
	Span
	Offence  

	TH
	Span
	Maximum Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	46(1)(a) 
	46(1)(a) 

	Using an unlicensed PH vehicle. 
	Using an unlicensed PH vehicle. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	46(1)(b) 
	46(1)(b) 

	Driving a PH vehicle without a PH driver’s licence. 
	Driving a PH vehicle without a PH driver’s licence. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	46(1)(c) 
	46(1)(c) 

	Proprietor of a PH vehicle using an unlicensed driver. 
	Proprietor of a PH vehicle using an unlicensed driver. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	46(1)(d) 
	46(1)(d) 

	Operating a PH vehicle without a PH operator’s licence. 
	Operating a PH vehicle without a PH operator’s licence. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	46(1)(e) 
	46(1)(e) 

	Operating a vehicle as a PH vehicle when the vehicle is
not licensed as a PH vehicle.

	Operating a vehicle as a PH vehicle when the vehicle is
not licensed as a PH vehicle.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	46(1)(e) 
	46(1)(e) 

	Operating a PH vehicle when the driver is not licensed
as a PH driver.

	Operating a PH vehicle when the driver is not licensed
as a PH driver.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	48(6) 
	48(6) 

	Failure to display a PH vehicle plate. 
	Failure to display a PH vehicle plate. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	49 
	49 

	Failure to notify transfer of a PH vehicle licence. 
	Failure to notify transfer of a PH vehicle licence. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(1) 
	50(1) 

	Failure to present PH vehicle for an inspection, as
required.

	Failure to present PH vehicle for an inspection, as
required.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(2) 
	50(2) 

	Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where the PH
vehicle is stored, if requested.

	Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where the PH
vehicle is stored, if requested.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(3) 
	50(3) 

	Failure to report an accident to the Licensing Authority. 
	Failure to report an accident to the Licensing Authority. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	50(4) 
	50(4) 

	Failure to produce a PH vehicle licence and an
insurance certificate.

	Failure to produce a PH vehicle licence and an
insurance certificate.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	53(3) 
	53(3) 

	Failure to produce a PH driver’s licence. 
	Failure to produce a PH driver’s licence. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	54(2) 
	54(2) 

	Failure to wear a PH driver’s badge. 
	Failure to wear a PH driver’s badge. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	56(2) 
	56(2) 

	Failure by a PH operator to keep records of bookings. 
	Failure by a PH operator to keep records of bookings. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	56(3) 
	56(3) 

	Failure by a PH operator to keep records of PH vehicles
operated by him.

	Failure by a PH operator to keep records of PH vehicles
operated by him.


	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)



	TR
	Span
	56(4) 
	56(4) 

	Failure to produce a PH operator’s licence on request. 
	Failure to produce a PH operator’s licence on request. 

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue of
s76)





	Formatted Table
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Section  

	TH
	Span
	Offence  

	TH
	Span
	Maximum
Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	57 
	57 

	Making false statement or withholding information to obtain a
PH driver or operator’s licence.

	Making false statement or withholding information to obtain a
PH driver or operator’s licence.


	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	58(2) 
	58(2) 

	Failure to return plate after notice given following expiry,
revocation or suspension of a PH vehicle licence.

	Failure to return plate after notice given following expiry,
revocation or suspension of a PH vehicle licence.


	Level 3 plus daily
fine of £10

	Level 3 plus daily
fine of £10



	TR
	Span
	61(2) 
	61(2) 

	Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension,
revocation or refusal to renew.

	Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension,
revocation or refusal to renew.


	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	67 
	67 

	Charging more than the meter fare when a HC used as PH
vehicle.

	Charging more than the meter fare when a HC used as PH
vehicle.


	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	69 
	69 

	Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. 
	Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. 

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	71 
	71 

	Interfering with a taximeter. 
	Interfering with a taximeter. 

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	73(1)(a) 
	73(1)(a) 

	Obstruction of an authorised Officer or Constable. 
	Obstruction of an authorised Officer or Constable. 

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	73(1)(b) 
	73(1)(b) 

	Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised Officer
or Constable.

	Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised Officer
or Constable.


	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)



	TR
	Span
	73(1)(c) 
	73(1)(c) 

	Failure to give information or assistance to an authorised
Officer or Constable.

	Failure to give information or assistance to an authorised
Officer or Constable.


	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)

	Level 3 (by virtue
of s76)





	 
	c) Transport Act 1980

	c) Transport Act 1980

	c) Transport Act 1980



	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Section  

	TD
	Span
	Offence  

	TD
	Span
	Maximum
Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	64(2)(a) 
	64(2)(a) 

	Driving a PH vehicle with a roof sign, which contravenes s64
(1).

	Driving a PH vehicle with a roof sign, which contravenes s64
(1).


	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	64(2)(b) 
	64(2)(b) 

	Causing or permitting a PH vehicle to be driven with a roof
sign which contravenes s64 (1).

	Causing or permitting a PH vehicle to be driven with a roof
sign which contravenes s64 (1).


	Level 3

	Level 3





	 
	d) Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended)

	d) Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended)

	d) Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended)



	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Section  

	TD
	Span
	Offence  

	TD
	Span
	Maximum
Penalty
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	36 
	36 

	Driver of a HC refusing to carry a passenger in a wheelchair
(unless exempted to do so)

	Driver of a HC refusing to carry a passenger in a wheelchair
(unless exempted to do so)


	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	37 
	37 

	Driver of a HC refusing to carry an assistance dog (guide
dog/hearing dog) (unless exempted to do so) or making an
additional charge for such a dog.

	Driver of a HC refusing to carry an assistance dog (guide
dog/hearing dog) (unless exempted to do so) or making an
additional charge for such a dog.


	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	37A 
	37A 

	PH Vehicle Operator refusing to accept a booking for a private
hire vehicle for a disabled person or for a person with an
assistance dog. (unless exempted to do so)

	PH Vehicle Operator refusing to accept a booking for a private
hire vehicle for a disabled person or for a person with an
assistance dog. (unless exempted to do so)


	Level 3

	Level 3



	TR
	Span
	37A 
	37A 

	PH Vehicle Driver refusing to accept a booking for a private
hire vehicle for a disabled person or for a person with an
assistance dog. (unless exempted to do so)

	PH Vehicle Driver refusing to accept a booking for a private
hire vehicle for a disabled person or for a person with an
assistance dog. (unless exempted to do so)


	Level 3

	Level 3





	Formatted Table
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	  
	Appendix K

	 
	Hackney Carriages – Vehicle Conditions

	 
	1.0 Please note that general vehicle conditions for hackney carriages and private hire
vehicles are found within appendix A. The following conditions are solely for
hackney carriages. Those conditions solely for private hire vehicles are found
within Appendix M.

	1.0 Please note that general vehicle conditions for hackney carriages and private hire
vehicles are found within appendix A. The following conditions are solely for
hackney carriages. Those conditions solely for private hire vehicles are found
within Appendix M.

	1.0 Please note that general vehicle conditions for hackney carriages and private hire
vehicles are found within appendix A. The following conditions are solely for
hackney carriages. Those conditions solely for private hire vehicles are found
within Appendix M.



	 
	2.0 METERS

	 
	2.1 Hackney Carriages shall carry a taxi meter and a “FOR HIRE” illuminating sign
(front light). Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the
lights are illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey.

	 
	2.2 Existing hackney carriage proprietors are required to fit calendar-controlled meters
(with the calendar-controlled facility locked) in their hackney carriages by 4th
November 2012. All hackney carriage vehicles licensed after the 25th August 2011
are to be fitted with calendar-controlled meters. For those vehicles which seat
5,6,7,or 8 passengers, meters may be locked in such a way that enables access
between the tariff for up to 4 passengers or for 5,6,7, or 8 passengers at that
particular time only (for example a meter will show tariff 1 or 4, tariff 2 or 5, or tariff 3
or 6).

	  
	2.3 The word ‘FARE’ shall be shown on the face of the meter in plain letters so as to
clearly apply to the fare recorded.

	 
	2.4 The meter shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly visible at all
times to the persons being conveyed.

	2.4 The meter shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly visible at all
times to the persons being conveyed.

	2.4 The meter shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly visible at all
times to the persons being conveyed.

	2.4 The meter shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly visible at all
times to the persons being conveyed.




	 
	2.5 The Licensing Authority will seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the meter
constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged for whatever
reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing Office, which
will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

	2.5 The Licensing Authority will seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the meter
constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged for whatever
reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing Office, which
will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

	2.5 The Licensing Authority will seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the meter
constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged for whatever
reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing Office, which
will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

	2.5 The Licensing Authority will seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the meter
constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged for whatever
reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing Office, which
will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.




	 
	2.6 Meters must be switched on when passengers are seated at the commencement of
each journey. When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of
the meter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may
be charged for a journey.

	2.6 Meters must be switched on when passengers are seated at the commencement of
each journey. When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of
the meter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may
be charged for a journey.

	2.6 Meters must be switched on when passengers are seated at the commencement of
each journey. When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of
the meter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may
be charged for a journey.

	2.6 Meters must be switched on when passengers are seated at the commencement of
each journey. When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of
the meter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may
be charged for a journey.




	 
	2.7 All taxi meters must contain either the current Council authorised fares for licensed
hackney carriages (tariff) or the immediately preceding tariff, (thus a choice of two
North Devon Council tariffs available to proprietors. Taxi operators must obtain from
their taxi meter manufacturer or agent confirmation, in writing, of all tariffs
programmed into their meters, other than the North Devon Council tariffs. This
confirmation must be supplied to the Licensing Authority on demand so that the
Licensing Authority can verify that the tariffs do not exceed the tariffs set by the
Authority.

	2.7 All taxi meters must contain either the current Council authorised fares for licensed
hackney carriages (tariff) or the immediately preceding tariff, (thus a choice of two
North Devon Council tariffs available to proprietors. Taxi operators must obtain from
their taxi meter manufacturer or agent confirmation, in writing, of all tariffs
programmed into their meters, other than the North Devon Council tariffs. This
confirmation must be supplied to the Licensing Authority on demand so that the
Licensing Authority can verify that the tariffs do not exceed the tariffs set by the
Authority.

	2.7 All taxi meters must contain either the current Council authorised fares for licensed
hackney carriages (tariff) or the immediately preceding tariff, (thus a choice of two
North Devon Council tariffs available to proprietors. Taxi operators must obtain from
their taxi meter manufacturer or agent confirmation, in writing, of all tariffs
programmed into their meters, other than the North Devon Council tariffs. This
confirmation must be supplied to the Licensing Authority on demand so that the
Licensing Authority can verify that the tariffs do not exceed the tariffs set by the
Authority.

	2.7 All taxi meters must contain either the current Council authorised fares for licensed
hackney carriages (tariff) or the immediately preceding tariff, (thus a choice of two
North Devon Council tariffs available to proprietors. Taxi operators must obtain from
their taxi meter manufacturer or agent confirmation, in writing, of all tariffs
programmed into their meters, other than the North Devon Council tariffs. This
confirmation must be supplied to the Licensing Authority on demand so that the
Licensing Authority can verify that the tariffs do not exceed the tariffs set by the
Authority.




	 
	2.8 Taxi operators are recommended to only program North Devon Council tariffs into
their taxi meters and are free to offer discounts, as they see fit, at the end of a
journey.
	2.8 Taxi operators are recommended to only program North Devon Council tariffs into
their taxi meters and are free to offer discounts, as they see fit, at the end of a
journey.
	2.8 Taxi operators are recommended to only program North Devon Council tariffs into
their taxi meters and are free to offer discounts, as they see fit, at the end of a
journey.
	2.8 Taxi operators are recommended to only program North Devon Council tariffs into
their taxi meters and are free to offer discounts, as they see fit, at the end of a
journey.



	 
	 
	3.0 ROOF SIGNS

	 
	3.1 Hackney carriage vehicles, other than those with built-in roof signs, must be fitted
with an illuminated roof sign showing the word “TAXI” on the front of the sign. As to
the rear of the sign, the name of the company, or its telephone number, or “TAXI”,
or any combination of the three may be displayed.

	 
	3.2 The roof sign is to be a “bubble” type sign, the cover to be of a one-piece moulded
design. The sign shall not exceed 500mm x 175mm x 125mm in dimensions. The
lettering, on both the front and the rear of the sign, shall not be less than 60mm in
height, and not less than 80mm and not more than 15mm in thickness.

	 
	3.3 The roof sign must be centrally mounted on the vehicle roof and be adequately
secured either directly to the roof or mounted on a single roof bar and secured by
bolts, straps, or clamps. Magnetic top-lights are permitted as long as they cannot
be readily pulled off.

	3.3 The roof sign must be centrally mounted on the vehicle roof and be adequately
secured either directly to the roof or mounted on a single roof bar and secured by
bolts, straps, or clamps. Magnetic top-lights are permitted as long as they cannot
be readily pulled off.

	3.3 The roof sign must be centrally mounted on the vehicle roof and be adequately
secured either directly to the roof or mounted on a single roof bar and secured by
bolts, straps, or clamps. Magnetic top-lights are permitted as long as they cannot
be readily pulled off.

	3.3 The roof sign must be centrally mounted on the vehicle roof and be adequately
secured either directly to the roof or mounted on a single roof bar and secured by
bolts, straps, or clamps. Magnetic top-lights are permitted as long as they cannot
be readily pulled off.




	 
	3.4 Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the lights are
illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey.

	3.4 Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the lights are
illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey.

	3.4 Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the lights are
illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey.

	3.4 Front lights and roof lights must be connected to the meter so that the lights are
illuminated when available for hire, and extinguished when on a journey.




	 
	3.5 Where hackney carriage vehicles are being used in connection with a wedding or
funeral the Council deems it permissible for the roof sign to be removed solely for
the period during which the wedding or funeral contract is being carried out.

	3.5 Where hackney carriage vehicles are being used in connection with a wedding or
funeral the Council deems it permissible for the roof sign to be removed solely for
the period during which the wedding or funeral contract is being carried out.

	3.5 Where hackney carriage vehicles are being used in connection with a wedding or
funeral the Council deems it permissible for the roof sign to be removed solely for
the period during which the wedding or funeral contract is being carried out.

	3.5 Where hackney carriage vehicles are being used in connection with a wedding or
funeral the Council deems it permissible for the roof sign to be removed solely for
the period during which the wedding or funeral contract is being carried out.




	 
	4.0 ADVERTISING

	 
	4.1 Bonnet

	 
	One advertisement may be displayed on the bonnet of a vehicle, which must
include the word ‘Taxi.’ Advertising must include the word ‘Taxi’ which may follow
the word ‘Taxi’as well as includes the company name, address, telephone number
and company logo, or any combination of these.

	4.2 General

	 
	Other advertising is permitted but only with the express permission of a Licensing
Officer, who shall prohibit advertising which is disproportionate, unreasonable and
not in good taste. As a guide the following conditions will be applied to any
additional request:

	 
	(i) All adverts should be appropriate for viewing by children, and no advertising
will be permitted which causes public offence.

	(i) All adverts should be appropriate for viewing by children, and no advertising
will be permitted which causes public offence.

	(i) All adverts should be appropriate for viewing by children, and no advertising
will be permitted which causes public offence.


	(ii) Advertising material must comply with relevant legislation; guidance issued
by The

	(ii) Advertising material must comply with relevant legislation; guidance issued
by The



	Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP); the UK Code of Non-broadcast
 
	Advertising, Sales Promotion and Direct Marketing (CAP Code); and any rulings of

	the Advertising Standards Authority.
 
	 
	(iii) Advertisements must not encroach onto any part of the windscreens or
windows.
	(iii) Advertisements must not encroach onto any part of the windscreens or
windows.
	(iii) Advertisements must not encroach onto any part of the windscreens or
windows.


	 
	(iv) Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and
services, cigarettes, electronic cigarettes or other similar tobacco products are
prohibited.

	(iv) Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and
services, cigarettes, electronic cigarettes or other similar tobacco products are
prohibited.

	(iv) Advertisements of alcohol, sex establishments, gambling products and
services, cigarettes, electronic cigarettes or other similar tobacco products are
prohibited.



	 
	(v) Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign
are prohibited.

	(v) Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign
are prohibited.

	(v) Advertisements relating to any political or religious organisation or campaign
are prohibited.



	 
	Any hackney carriage proprietor wishing to display commercial advertising must

	submit a sample of the proposed advertisement to and obtain written approval from
the Licensing Authority.

	 
	5.0 VEHICLES PLYING FOR HIRE

	 
	5.1 A licensed hackney carriage vehicle will be entitled to ply for hire within the district
of North Devon, beyond which it is not obligatory for the driver to contract to carry
persons for hire under the terms of his licence.

	5.1 A licensed hackney carriage vehicle will be entitled to ply for hire within the district
of North Devon, beyond which it is not obligatory for the driver to contract to carry
persons for hire under the terms of his licence.

	5.1 A licensed hackney carriage vehicle will be entitled to ply for hire within the district
of North Devon, beyond which it is not obligatory for the driver to contract to carry
persons for hire under the terms of his licence.

	5.1 A licensed hackney carriage vehicle will be entitled to ply for hire within the district
of North Devon, beyond which it is not obligatory for the driver to contract to carry
persons for hire under the terms of his licence.




	 
	5.2 The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle when standing for hire shall: -

	5.2 The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle when standing for hire shall: -

	5.2 The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle when standing for hire shall: -

	5.2 The driver of a hackney carriage vehicle when standing for hire shall: -




	  
	(a) Cause his vehicle to stand on an appointed hackney carriage stand and
remain in attendance on such vehicle, whilst it remains on such a stand;

	(a) Cause his vehicle to stand on an appointed hackney carriage stand and
remain in attendance on such vehicle, whilst it remains on such a stand;

	(a) Cause his vehicle to stand on an appointed hackney carriage stand and
remain in attendance on such vehicle, whilst it remains on such a stand;



	 
	(b) Cause his vehicle to stand immediately at the rear of hackney carriage
vehicles occupying such stand upon his arrival and face in the same direction
as such other hackney carriage vehicles;

	(b) Cause his vehicle to stand immediately at the rear of hackney carriage
vehicles occupying such stand upon his arrival and face in the same direction
as such other hackney carriage vehicles;

	(b) Cause his vehicle to stand immediately at the rear of hackney carriage
vehicles occupying such stand upon his arrival and face in the same direction
as such other hackney carriage vehicles;



	 
	(c) Cause his vehicle to move forward to occupy, at once, the space caused by a
preceding hackney carriage vehicle on such stand moving off and successive
hackney carriage vehicles shall do likewise;

	(c) Cause his vehicle to move forward to occupy, at once, the space caused by a
preceding hackney carriage vehicle on such stand moving off and successive
hackney carriage vehicles shall do likewise;

	(c) Cause his vehicle to move forward to occupy, at once, the space caused by a
preceding hackney carriage vehicle on such stand moving off and successive
hackney carriage vehicles shall do likewise;



	 
	5.3 Every such hackney carriage driver shall not: -

	5.3 Every such hackney carriage driver shall not: -

	5.3 Every such hackney carriage driver shall not: -

	5.3 Every such hackney carriage driver shall not: -




	 
	(a) Cause his hackney carriage vehicle to stand at the rear of such hackney
carriage vehicle occupying a stand, if the number of carriages authorised to
occupy such stand is thereby exceeded;

	(a) Cause his hackney carriage vehicle to stand at the rear of such hackney
carriage vehicle occupying a stand, if the number of carriages authorised to
occupy such stand is thereby exceeded;

	(a) Cause his hackney carriage vehicle to stand at the rear of such hackney
carriage vehicle occupying a stand, if the number of carriages authorised to
occupy such stand is thereby exceeded;



	 
	(b) Refuse a fare without reasonable excuse.

	(b) Refuse a fare without reasonable excuse.

	(b) Refuse a fare without reasonable excuse.



	 
	(c) When standing or plying for hire, importune (by calling out or otherwise) any
person to hire such carriage or use any other persons for the purpose;

	(c) When standing or plying for hire, importune (by calling out or otherwise) any
person to hire such carriage or use any other persons for the purpose;

	(c) When standing or plying for hire, importune (by calling out or otherwise) any
person to hire such carriage or use any other persons for the purpose;



	 
	(d) Obstruct another licensed driver.

	(d) Obstruct another licensed driver.

	(d) Obstruct another licensed driver.



	 
	6.0 DEPOSIT OF DRIVERS’ LICENCES AND KEEPING OF RECORDS

	 
	6.1 If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle, they shall
before that person commences to drive the vehicle cause the driver to deliver to the
proprietor a copy of the driver’s Hackney Carriage driver licence for retention, until such
time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle or any other
vehicle in the ownership of the proprietor.

	 
	The proprietor shall keep a record book that shall contain the following particulars:

	L
	Span
	· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or
	· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or


	employed to drive the Vehicle;

	· the name of the person driving the vehicle at any time, including the date, and the time
the person commenced and finished driving the vehicle;

	· records of daily vehicle maintenance checks and inspections undertaken;

	· dates and times of each mechanical inspection and maintenance check;

	· the name of the person or garage which undertook the inspection or check;

	· details of defects identified and dates when the defects were corrected;

	  
	The Licensee shall retain this record book for a minimum period of twelve months
and produce it to the Authorised Officer or a Police Officer if requested to do so at
the time and place specified.

	 
	7.0 VEHICLE TRANSFERS AND ADDRESS CHANGES

	 
	7.1 If the proprietor transfers their interest in the vehicle to another individual, or the list of
individuals with an interest in the vehicle changes, then the proprietor must within 14 days
give notice of this in writing to the Licensing Authority. The Licensing Authority will then
update the licence and issue an amended licence document.

	 
	7.2 The proprietor must also notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days, of any change
of address or other contact details (e.g. change of email address or mobile telephone
number).
	  
	 
	 
	Appendix L

	 
	Taxi Stands

	 
	Taxi Stands the Licensing Authority has appointed stands for hackney carriages both on
the public highway and on private land, the use of the latter requiring the permission of the
landowner.

	 
	The use of hackney carriage stands is kept under review, and may be discontinued in
individual instances where a particular stand has fallen into disuse. Conversely, the
Licensing Authority shall consider the creation of new stands where there is a perceived
need. Those who wish the Licensing Authority to consider the creation of new stands
should write to the Licensing Office, at the address set out at the beginning of this
document, explaining their reasons in full.

	 
	 
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Town/Road  

	TH
	Span
	Location and Size  

	TH
	Span
	Hours
 


	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Barnstaple
 


	TR
	Span
	Railway
Station

	Railway
Station


	South side of Station Road. 64.2m rank located outside of the
Barnstaple Railway Station.

	South side of Station Road. 64.2m rank located outside of the
Barnstaple Railway Station.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Tuly Street 
	Tuly Street 

	East side of Tuly Street. 10.2m rank located outside 17 Tuly
Street.

	East side of Tuly Street. 10.2m rank located outside 17 Tuly
Street.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Holland Street 
	Holland Street 

	West side of Holland Street. 25.2m rank, opposite the rear
entrance to Marks and Spencer.

	West side of Holland Street. 25.2m rank, opposite the rear
entrance to Marks and Spencer.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Queen Street 
	Queen Street 

	South side of entrance road to car park, accessed from
Queen Street. 11.1m rank to end of Queens House.

	South side of entrance road to car park, accessed from
Queen Street. 11.1m rank to end of Queens House.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Queen Street 
	Queen Street 

	East side of Queen Street, 17m rank, outside 4-5 Queens
House.

	East side of Queen Street, 17m rank, outside 4-5 Queens
House.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Boutport
Street

	Boutport
Street


	West side of Boutport Street. 35.6m rank located between 70
Boutport Street and 3 Bridge Buildings the Square.

	West side of Boutport Street. 35.6m rank located between 70
Boutport Street and 3 Bridge Buildings the Square.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Boutport
Street

	Boutport
Street


	West side of Boutport Street. 5.5m rank, outside of 108 High
Street (Nisa convenience store) (Loading bay only in day).

	West side of Boutport Street. 5.5m rank, outside of 108 High
Street (Nisa convenience store) (Loading bay only in day).


	6pm and
8am

	6pm and
8am



	TR
	Span
	Boutport
Street

	Boutport
Street


	East side of Boutport Street. 14.6m rank, located between 42-
44 Boutport Street. (Loading bay only in day)

	East side of Boutport Street. 14.6m rank, located between 42-
44 Boutport Street. (Loading bay only in day)


	6pm and
8am

	6pm and
8am



	TR
	Span
	Boutport
Street

	Boutport
Street


	East side of Boutport Street, 13.8m rank located between 49-
51 Boutport Street. ((Loading bay only in day)

	East side of Boutport Street, 13.8m rank located between 49-
51 Boutport Street. ((Loading bay only in day)


	6pm and
8am

	6pm and
8am



	TR
	Span
	Butcher’s Row 
	Butcher’s Row 

	South side of Butchers Row. 38.1m rank located from Market
Street cut through to disabled bay outside Queen’s Theatre.

	South side of Butchers Row. 38.1m rank located from Market
Street cut through to disabled bay outside Queen’s Theatre.


	6pm and
4am

	6pm and
4am



	TR
	Span
	Cross Street 
	Cross Street 

	West side of Cross Street. 24.7m rank between 8-10 Cross
Street. (Loading bay only in day).

	West side of Cross Street. 24.7m rank between 8-10 Cross
Street. (Loading bay only in day).


	6pm and
8am

	6pm and
8am



	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Ilfracombe
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Marlborough
Road

	Marlborough
Road


	North side of Marlborough Road. 28.7m rank located outside
of A2B taxi office.

	North side of Marlborough Road. 28.7m rank located outside
of A2B taxi office.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	Oxford Grove 
	Oxford Grove 

	North side of Oxford Grove. 45.8m rank, outside of Barclays
Bank.

	North side of Oxford Grove. 45.8m rank, outside of Barclays
Bank.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	The Quay 
	The Quay 

	North side of the Quay. 11.9m long rank commencing at the
junction with Capstone Road in an easterly direction (outside
Sandpiper Inn).

	North side of the Quay. 11.9m long rank commencing at the
junction with Capstone Road in an easterly direction (outside
Sandpiper Inn).


	24 hours

	24 hours





	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TH
	Span
	Town/Road  

	TH
	Span
	Location and Size  

	TH
	Span
	Hours
 


	TR
	Span
	Ropery Road 
	Ropery Road 

	South side of Ropery Road. Five vehicle lengths from Ropery
Road’s junction with Broad Street in a westerly direction.

	South side of Ropery Road. Five vehicle lengths from Ropery
Road’s junction with Broad Street in a westerly direction.


	24 hours

	24 hours





	Formatted Table
	Table
	TBody
	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Braunton
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Exeter Road 
	Exeter Road 
	 

	West side of Exeter Road. 14.7m rank commencing after the
bus stop in a southerly direction (end of Squires Fish Restaurant
to end of Post Office).

	West side of Exeter Road. 14.7m rank commencing after the
bus stop in a southerly direction (end of Squires Fish Restaurant
to end of Post Office).


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	South Molton
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Broad Street 
	Broad Street 

	South side of Broad Street. 10.4m rank, located outside 6 Broad
Street.

	South side of Broad Street. 10.4m rank, located outside 6 Broad
Street.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Woolacombe
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Barton Road 
	Barton Road 

	South side of Barton Road. 18.2m rank commencing from the
junction of West Road in an easterly direction

	South side of Barton Road. 18.2m rank commencing from the
junction of West Road in an easterly direction


	10pm
and 6am

	10pm
and 6am



	TR
	Span
	The
Esplanade

	The
Esplanade


	North side of The Esplanade. 21m rank from the junction of
Bayview Road and Barton Road.

	North side of The Esplanade. 21m rank from the junction of
Bayview Road and Barton Road.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Lynton
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Lee Road 
	Lee Road 
	 

	North side of Lee Road. 6m rank, located outside of the Town
Hall.

	North side of Lee Road. 6m rank, located outside of the Town
Hall.


	24 hours

	24 hours



	TR
	Span
	TD
	Span
	Lynmouth
 
	 


	TR
	Span
	Riverside
Road

	Riverside
Road


	North side of the Esplanade. 5.6m rank, commencing westerly
from the Esplanade Fish Bar, near Rhenish Tower.

	North side of the Esplanade. 5.6m rank, commencing westerly
from the Esplanade Fish Bar, near Rhenish Tower.


	24 hours
	24 hours
	 




	 
	 
	  
	Appendix M

	 
	Private Hire Licensing – Private Hire Vehicle Conditions

	 
	1.0 For general conditions with regard private hire vehicles please see Appendix A.

	 
	2.0 METERS

	 
	2.1 A private hire vehicle may be fitted with a fare meter.

	 
	2.2 The driver or operator of a private hire vehicle shall make their own agreement
with the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey.

	 
	2.3 If a meter is fitted, it shall be positioned and illuminated so that the face is plainly
visible at all times to the person being conveyed.

	 
	2.4 A Licensing Officer will test and seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the
meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged, for
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

	2.4 A Licensing Officer will test and seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the
meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged, for
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

	2.4 A Licensing Officer will test and seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the
meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged, for
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

	2.4 A Licensing Officer will test and seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the
meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged, for
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.




	 
	3.0 VEHICLE MARKINGS

	 
	3.1 All private hire vehicles must display door signs stating “Private Hire Advance
Booking Only” on both sides of the vehicle. North Devon Council will provide pre�printed stickers with this wording. Alternatively this wording may be incorporated
into private hire operator door signage so long as the signage complies with the
following criteria:

	3.1 All private hire vehicles must display door signs stating “Private Hire Advance
Booking Only” on both sides of the vehicle. North Devon Council will provide pre�printed stickers with this wording. Alternatively this wording may be incorporated
into private hire operator door signage so long as the signage complies with the
following criteria:

	3.1 All private hire vehicles must display door signs stating “Private Hire Advance
Booking Only” on both sides of the vehicle. North Devon Council will provide pre�printed stickers with this wording. Alternatively this wording may be incorporated
into private hire operator door signage so long as the signage complies with the
following criteria:

	3.1 All private hire vehicles must display door signs stating “Private Hire Advance
Booking Only” on both sides of the vehicle. North Devon Council will provide pre�printed stickers with this wording. Alternatively this wording may be incorporated
into private hire operator door signage so long as the signage complies with the
following criteria:




	 
	- Door signs should be at least 30cm long and 20cm wide (A4 sized);

	- Door signs should be at least 30cm long and 20cm wide (A4 sized);

	- Door signs should be at least 30cm long and 20cm wide (A4 sized);


	- Must contain the words “Private Hire Advance Booking Only”, and the company
telephone number, and optionally the name of the private hire operator;

	- Must contain the words “Private Hire Advance Booking Only”, and the company
telephone number, and optionally the name of the private hire operator;


	- Lettering must contrast with the background colour so that it is clearly visible, and
be of at least font size 36;

	- Lettering must contrast with the background colour so that it is clearly visible, and
be of at least font size 36;


	3.1-These signs can either be magnetic or vinyl stickers, however the preferred method
of affixing the sign is by way of vinyl sticker.All private hire vehicles must display
abe fitted with windscreen sun-strips, with the words “Private Hire Advance Booking
Only” sticker provided and approved by the Council on both sides of the vehicle,
displayed in the centre of the strip. The company name and telephone number may
also be displayed. All lettering shall be not less than 8 cm and no more than 10 cm.

	3.1-These signs can either be magnetic or vinyl stickers, however the preferred method
of affixing the sign is by way of vinyl sticker.All private hire vehicles must display
abe fitted with windscreen sun-strips, with the words “Private Hire Advance Booking
Only” sticker provided and approved by the Council on both sides of the vehicle,
displayed in the centre of the strip. The company name and telephone number may
also be displayed. All lettering shall be not less than 8 cm and no more than 10 cm.



	 
	3.2 Sun-strips on the rear windscreen are permissible but not compulsory.

	3.2 Sun-strips on the rear windscreen are permissible but not compulsory.

	3.2 Sun-strips on the rear windscreen are permissible but not compulsory.

	3.2 Sun-strips on the rear windscreen are permissible but not compulsory.




	 
	3.33.2 Sun-strips should be positioned so as not to obscure the forward vision of the
driver. Private Hire Advance Booking Only stickers should be positioned so as not to
obscure the vision of the driver, and preferably should be placed on both rear doors below
the window line.

	3.33.2 Sun-strips should be positioned so as not to obscure the forward vision of the
driver. Private Hire Advance Booking Only stickers should be positioned so as not to
obscure the vision of the driver, and preferably should be placed on both rear doors below
the window line.

	3.33.2 Sun-strips should be positioned so as not to obscure the forward vision of the
driver. Private Hire Advance Booking Only stickers should be positioned so as not to
obscure the vision of the driver, and preferably should be placed on both rear doors below
the window line.

	3.33.2 Sun-strips should be positioned so as not to obscure the forward vision of the
driver. Private Hire Advance Booking Only stickers should be positioned so as not to
obscure the vision of the driver, and preferably should be placed on both rear doors below
the window line.




	 
	3.43.3 Roof markings are not compulsory, but if used should be mounted securely and
placed from front to rear of the vehicle. The sign should be illuminated, except
when passengers are being carried, and have identical wording on each side.

	3.43.3 Roof markings are not compulsory, but if used should be mounted securely and
placed from front to rear of the vehicle. The sign should be illuminated, except
when passengers are being carried, and have identical wording on each side.

	3.43.3 Roof markings are not compulsory, but if used should be mounted securely and
placed from front to rear of the vehicle. The sign should be illuminated, except
when passengers are being carried, and have identical wording on each side.

	3.43.3 Roof markings are not compulsory, but if used should be mounted securely and
placed from front to rear of the vehicle. The sign should be illuminated, except
when passengers are being carried, and have identical wording on each side.




	Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, No bullets or numbering
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt
Formatted: List Paragraph, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:
0.63 cm + Indent at: 1.27 cm
	3.53.4 Roof signs should signify “Advanced Bookings Only” and may be followed by the
Company name and telephone number. Any such signs should be no longer than
600 mm, no wider than 200 mm and no higher than 250 mm.

	3.53.4 Roof signs should signify “Advanced Bookings Only” and may be followed by the
Company name and telephone number. Any such signs should be no longer than
600 mm, no wider than 200 mm and no higher than 250 mm.

	3.53.4 Roof signs should signify “Advanced Bookings Only” and may be followed by the
Company name and telephone number. Any such signs should be no longer than
600 mm, no wider than 200 mm and no higher than 250 mm.

	3.53.4 Roof signs should signify “Advanced Bookings Only” and may be followed by the
Company name and telephone number. Any such signs should be no longer than
600 mm, no wider than 200 mm and no higher than 250 mm.




	 
	4.0 ADVERTISING

	 
	4.1 Advertising is restricted to the name and telephone number of the owner or
operator of the private hire vehicle and to the front door panel only. Advertising of
other businesses or products or services is not permitted other than advertising
internally within a vehicle via TV screens (digital media technology) for which
conditions are contained in Appendix A, Section 23.

	4.1 Advertising is restricted to the name and telephone number of the owner or
operator of the private hire vehicle and to the front door panel only. Advertising of
other businesses or products or services is not permitted other than advertising
internally within a vehicle via TV screens (digital media technology) for which
conditions are contained in Appendix A, Section 23.

	4.1 Advertising is restricted to the name and telephone number of the owner or
operator of the private hire vehicle and to the front door panel only. Advertising of
other businesses or products or services is not permitted other than advertising
internally within a vehicle via TV screens (digital media technology) for which
conditions are contained in Appendix A, Section 23.

	4.1 Advertising is restricted to the name and telephone number of the owner or
operator of the private hire vehicle and to the front door panel only. Advertising of
other businesses or products or services is not permitted other than advertising
internally within a vehicle via TV screens (digital media technology) for which
conditions are contained in Appendix A, Section 23.




	 
	4.2 The word “taxi”, “cab” or “hackney carriage” must not be used.

	4.2 The word “taxi”, “cab” or “hackney carriage” must not be used.

	4.2 The word “taxi”, “cab” or “hackney carriage” must not be used.

	4.2 The word “taxi”, “cab” or “hackney carriage” must not be used.




	 
	4.3 No alternative words or spellings, such as “Kab”, which would have the effect of
leading the public to believe that a vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire,
may be used.
	4.3 No alternative words or spellings, such as “Kab”, which would have the effect of
leading the public to believe that a vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire,
may be used.
	4.3 No alternative words or spellings, such as “Kab”, which would have the effect of
leading the public to believe that a vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire,
may be used.
	4.3 No alternative words or spellings, such as “Kab”, which would have the effect of
leading the public to believe that a vehicle is a hackney carriage available for hire,
may be used.



	 
	5.0 VEHICLES PLYING FOR HIRE

	 
	The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle shall not: -

	 
	(a) Cause or permit the vehicle to stand on a road or public place in such a manner as
to suggest it is standing or otherwise plying for hire or that it is a hackney carriage
vehicle;

	(a) Cause or permit the vehicle to stand on a road or public place in such a manner as
to suggest it is standing or otherwise plying for hire or that it is a hackney carriage
vehicle;

	(a) Cause or permit the vehicle to stand on a road or public place in such a manner as
to suggest it is standing or otherwise plying for hire or that it is a hackney carriage
vehicle;



	 
	(b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit, on a road or other public
place, any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle;

	(b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit, on a road or other public
place, any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle;

	(b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit, on a road or other public
place, any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle;



	 
	(c) Accept an offer for the hire of that vehicle while the driver of that vehicle is on a
road or any public place except where such an offer is first communicated to the
driver by telephone;

	(c) Accept an offer for the hire of that vehicle while the driver of that vehicle is on a
road or any public place except where such an offer is first communicated to the
driver by telephone;

	(c) Accept an offer for the hire of that vehicle while the driver of that vehicle is on a
road or any public place except where such an offer is first communicated to the
driver by telephone;



	 
	(d) Use any hackney carriage stand within the North Devon area;

	(d) Use any hackney carriage stand within the North Devon area;

	(d) Use any hackney carriage stand within the North Devon area;



	 
	(e) Ply for hire or pick up fares on the highway unless previously booked;

	(e) Ply for hire or pick up fares on the highway unless previously booked;

	(e) Ply for hire or pick up fares on the highway unless previously booked;



	 
	(f) Obstruct any other licensed driver.

	(f) Obstruct any other licensed driver.

	(f) Obstruct any other licensed driver.



	 
	6.0 DEPOSIT OF DRIVERS’ LICENCES AND KEEPING OF RECORDS

	 
	6.1 If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle, they shall
before that person commences to drive the vehicle cause the driver to deliver to the
proprietor a copy of the driver’s Hackney Carriage/ Private Hire driver licence for retention,
until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle or any
other vehicle in the ownership of the proprietor. The proprietor shall keep a record book
that shall contain the following particulars:

	 
	· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or

	· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or

	· the name(s), address(es) and licence number(s) of the persons permitted or



	employed to drive the Vehicle;

	· the name of the person driving the vehicle at any time, including the date, and the
time the person commenced and finished driving the vehicle;

	· records of daily vehicle maintenance checks and inspections undertaken;

	· dates and times of each mechanical inspection and maintenance check;

	· the name of the person or garage which undertook the inspection or check;

	· details of defects identified and dates when the defects were corrected;

	  
	6.2 The Licensee shall retain this record book for a minimum period of twelve months
and produce it to the Authorised Officer or a Police Officer if requested to do so at the time
and place specified.

	 
	 
	7.0 VEHICLE TRANSFERS AND ADDRESS CHANGES

	 
	7.1 If the proprietor transfers their interest in the vehicle to another individual, or the list of
individuals with an interest in the vehicle changes, then the proprietor must within 14 days
give notice of this in writing to the Licensing Authority. The Licensing Authority will then
update the licence and issue an amended licence document.
	 
	7.2 The proprietor must also notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days, of any
change of address or other contact details (e.g. change of email address or mobile
telephone number).
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	H2
	Appendix N

	 
	Private Hire Vehicles– Stretched Limousine Conditions

	 
	1.0 Definition

	 
	1.1 For the purposes of this policy, a stretched limousine is defined as follows:-

	 
	A stretched limousine is a motor vehicle that has been lengthened by the insertion
of an additional body section and modified by a coachbuilder.

	 
	2.0 Conditions

	 
	2.1 Unless specifically stated otherwise below the requirements in Appendix M apply.

	2.1 Unless specifically stated otherwise below the requirements in Appendix M apply.

	2.1 Unless specifically stated otherwise below the requirements in Appendix M apply.

	2.1 Unless specifically stated otherwise below the requirements in Appendix M apply.




	 
	2.2 The conditions below are additional requirements specifically for stretched
limousines licensed as private hire vehicles.

	2.2 The conditions below are additional requirements specifically for stretched
limousines licensed as private hire vehicles.

	2.2 The conditions below are additional requirements specifically for stretched
limousines licensed as private hire vehicles.

	2.2 The conditions below are additional requirements specifically for stretched
limousines licensed as private hire vehicles.




	 
	2.3 Bearing factors of public safety in mind, the Council will only consider licensing
stretched limousines as Private Hire Vehicles where:

	2.3 Bearing factors of public safety in mind, the Council will only consider licensing
stretched limousines as Private Hire Vehicles where:

	2.3 Bearing factors of public safety in mind, the Council will only consider licensing
stretched limousines as Private Hire Vehicles where:

	2.3 Bearing factors of public safety in mind, the Council will only consider licensing
stretched limousines as Private Hire Vehicles where:




	 
	2.4 A valid SVA (Single Vehicle Approval) certificate (Minister’s Approval Certificate�MAC) issued by DVSA, must be provided for the vehicle.

	2.4 A valid SVA (Single Vehicle Approval) certificate (Minister’s Approval Certificate�MAC) issued by DVSA, must be provided for the vehicle.

	2.4 A valid SVA (Single Vehicle Approval) certificate (Minister’s Approval Certificate�MAC) issued by DVSA, must be provided for the vehicle.

	2.4 A valid SVA (Single Vehicle Approval) certificate (Minister’s Approval Certificate�MAC) issued by DVSA, must be provided for the vehicle.




	 
	2.5 A valid certificate of conversion by an approved USA converter – either a Qualified
Vehicle Modifier (QVM) OR A Cadillac Master Coach-builder (CMC) must be
provided for the vehicle.

	2.5 A valid certificate of conversion by an approved USA converter – either a Qualified
Vehicle Modifier (QVM) OR A Cadillac Master Coach-builder (CMC) must be
provided for the vehicle.

	2.5 A valid certificate of conversion by an approved USA converter – either a Qualified
Vehicle Modifier (QVM) OR A Cadillac Master Coach-builder (CMC) must be
provided for the vehicle.

	2.5 A valid certificate of conversion by an approved USA converter – either a Qualified
Vehicle Modifier (QVM) OR A Cadillac Master Coach-builder (CMC) must be
provided for the vehicle.




	 
	2.6 The vehicle must be fitted with tyres of appropriate size and grade to conform with
the Original Manufacturer’s Specification.

	2.6 The vehicle must be fitted with tyres of appropriate size and grade to conform with
the Original Manufacturer’s Specification.

	2.6 The vehicle must be fitted with tyres of appropriate size and grade to conform with
the Original Manufacturer’s Specification.

	2.6 The vehicle must be fitted with tyres of appropriate size and grade to conform with
the Original Manufacturer’s Specification.




	 
	2.7 The vehicle may be left or right hand drive providing there is proof of full DETR
vehicle type approval.

	2.7 The vehicle may be left or right hand drive providing there is proof of full DETR
vehicle type approval.

	2.7 The vehicle may be left or right hand drive providing there is proof of full DETR
vehicle type approval.

	2.7 The vehicle may be left or right hand drive providing there is proof of full DETR
vehicle type approval.




	 
	2.8 Seating capacity must be limited to eight passengers even if the vehicle is capable
of carrying more than eight passengers.

	2.8 Seating capacity must be limited to eight passengers even if the vehicle is capable
of carrying more than eight passengers.

	2.8 Seating capacity must be limited to eight passengers even if the vehicle is capable
of carrying more than eight passengers.

	2.8 Seating capacity must be limited to eight passengers even if the vehicle is capable
of carrying more than eight passengers.




	 
	2.9 Where the passengers in the vehicle consist of persons under the age of 14 years
they must be accompanied by a responsible adult, other than the driver, who is
over the age of 18 years.

	2.9 Where the passengers in the vehicle consist of persons under the age of 14 years
they must be accompanied by a responsible adult, other than the driver, who is
over the age of 18 years.

	2.9 Where the passengers in the vehicle consist of persons under the age of 14 years
they must be accompanied by a responsible adult, other than the driver, who is
over the age of 18 years.

	2.9 Where the passengers in the vehicle consist of persons under the age of 14 years
they must be accompanied by a responsible adult, other than the driver, who is
over the age of 18 years.




	 
	2.10 Passengers must remain seated while the vehicle is in motion.

	2.10 Passengers must remain seated while the vehicle is in motion.

	2.10 Passengers must remain seated while the vehicle is in motion.

	2.10 Passengers must remain seated while the vehicle is in motion.




	 
	2.11 Passengers must not be carried in the front of the vehicle.

	2.11 Passengers must not be carried in the front of the vehicle.

	2.11 Passengers must not be carried in the front of the vehicle.

	2.11 Passengers must not be carried in the front of the vehicle.




	 
	2.12 Intoxicating liquor must not be supplied in the vehicle unless there is in force an
appropriate licence permitting the sale or supply of same.

	2.12 Intoxicating liquor must not be supplied in the vehicle unless there is in force an
appropriate licence permitting the sale or supply of same.

	2.12 Intoxicating liquor must not be supplied in the vehicle unless there is in force an
appropriate licence permitting the sale or supply of same.

	2.12 Intoxicating liquor must not be supplied in the vehicle unless there is in force an
appropriate licence permitting the sale or supply of same.




	 
	2.13 If the limousine parks to provide some form of entertainment to it’s passengers, an
entertainment licence must be in place in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003.
	2.13 If the limousine parks to provide some form of entertainment to it’s passengers, an
entertainment licence must be in place in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003.
	2.13 If the limousine parks to provide some form of entertainment to it’s passengers, an
entertainment licence must be in place in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003.
	2.13 If the limousine parks to provide some form of entertainment to it’s passengers, an
entertainment licence must be in place in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003.



	 
	 
	 
	Appendix O

	 
	Private Hire Licensing - Driver’s Conditions

	 
	1.0 CONDUCT OF DRIVER

	 
	1.1 The holder of a private hire driver’s licence shall comply with the following
conditions, which should be read in conjunction with the Code of Good Conduct in
Appendix C:

	 
	2.0 FARES

	 
	2.1 The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle shall make their own agreement with
the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey.

	 
	2.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a written receipt for
the fare paid.

	2.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a written receipt for
the fare paid.

	2.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a written receipt for
the fare paid.

	2.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him/her with a written receipt for
the fare paid.




	 
	3.0 NOTIFICATION OF CONVICTIONS AND INVESTIGATION

	 
	2.1 3.1 Drivers must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48
hours of any arrest and release, charge or conviction, receipt of a driving
disqualification for any period of time, receipt of any fixed penalty, or anti-social
behaviour order imposed on him/her whilst the licence is in force.

	2.1 3.1 Drivers must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48
hours of any arrest and release, charge or conviction, receipt of a driving
disqualification for any period of time, receipt of any fixed penalty, or anti-social
behaviour order imposed on him/her whilst the licence is in force.

	2.1 3.1 Drivers must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48
hours of any arrest and release, charge or conviction, receipt of a driving
disqualification for any period of time, receipt of any fixed penalty, or anti-social
behaviour order imposed on him/her whilst the licence is in force.

	2.1 3.1 Drivers must notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period of 48
hours of any arrest and release, charge or conviction, receipt of a driving
disqualification for any period of time, receipt of any fixed penalty, or anti-social
behaviour order imposed on him/her whilst the licence is in force.


	3.12.2 In addition, the Driver must also notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period
of 48 hours, if they are notified by the Police of an allegation of an offence by them
that the Police are investigating. Drivers are required to disclose the alleged offence
and alleged offence date in their notification to the Licensing Team.

	3.12.2 In addition, the Driver must also notify the Licensing Team in writing, within a period
of 48 hours, if they are notified by the Police of an allegation of an offence by them
that the Police are investigating. Drivers are required to disclose the alleged offence
and alleged offence date in their notification to the Licensing Team.




	 
	4.0 NOTIFICATION OF CHANGES

	43.12 The driver must notify the Licensing Team in writing within 7 days of any change of
address or other contact details (e.g. change of email address or mobile telephone
number).

	 
	43.23 Upon ceasing employment as a licensed driver, the licence-holder must notify the
Licensing Team in writing within 7 days and surrender the licence and badge
issued by the Council together with the plate as and when appropriate.

	 
	5.0 ATTENDANCE IN RELATION TO COMPLAINTS

	 
	5.1 Drivers shall attend at the place and time requested in writing by the Licensing
Authority for interview in relation to complaints received by the Licensing Authority.
Interviews may be recorded for evidential purposes in accordance with the requirements/
principles of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) Code B.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Appendix P

	 
	Private Hire licensing- Operator’s Licence Conditions

	 
	1.0 STANDARD OF SERVICE

	 
	(i) The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members
of the public at all reasonable times.

	(i) The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members
of the public at all reasonable times.

	(i) The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members
of the public at all reasonable times.



	 
	(ii) The operator must ensure, when a vehicle has been hired, that it arrives
punctually at the appointed place, unless delayed by unforeseen
circumstances.

	(ii) The operator must ensure, when a vehicle has been hired, that it arrives
punctually at the appointed place, unless delayed by unforeseen
circumstances.

	(ii) The operator must ensure, when a vehicle has been hired, that it arrives
punctually at the appointed place, unless delayed by unforeseen
circumstances.



	 
	(iii) The operator must ensure that premises provided for the purpose of booking
or waiting are kept clean, and are adequately lit, heated and ventilated.

	(iii) The operator must ensure that premises provided for the purpose of booking
or waiting are kept clean, and are adequately lit, heated and ventilated.

	(iii) The operator must ensure that premises provided for the purpose of booking
or waiting are kept clean, and are adequately lit, heated and ventilated.



	 
	(iv) The operator shall also ensure that any waiting area provided has adequate
seating facilities, and telephone facilities are in good working order.

	(iv) The operator shall also ensure that any waiting area provided has adequate
seating facilities, and telephone facilities are in good working order.

	(iv) The operator shall also ensure that any waiting area provided has adequate
seating facilities, and telephone facilities are in good working order.



	 
	(v) The operator shall fulfil his responsibilities to ensure compliance with
legislation regarding the length of working hours.

	(v) The operator shall fulfil his responsibilities to ensure compliance with
legislation regarding the length of working hours.

	(v) The operator shall fulfil his responsibilities to ensure compliance with
legislation regarding the length of working hours.



	 
	(vi) If dead mileage is to be charged, the hirer shall be informed prior to the
booking being accepted.

	(vi) If dead mileage is to be charged, the hirer shall be informed prior to the
booking being accepted.

	(vi) If dead mileage is to be charged, the hirer shall be informed prior to the
booking being accepted.



	“Dead mileage” means mileage to the pick-up point and/or return to base
after reaching the customer’s destination”

	 
	 
	2.0 RECORDS

	 
	(i) The records which must be kept by operators under the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable log or book,
the pages of which are numbered consecutively.

	(i) The records which must be kept by operators under the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable log or book,
the pages of which are numbered consecutively.

	(i) The records which must be kept by operators under the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable log or book,
the pages of which are numbered consecutively.



	 
	(ii) Prior to each journey, the operator shall enter the following particulars of each
private hire booking:

	(ii) Prior to each journey, the operator shall enter the following particulars of each
private hire booking:

	(ii) Prior to each journey, the operator shall enter the following particulars of each
private hire booking:



	 
	 the date of the booking;

	 the date of the booking;

	 the date of the booking;


	 the name and address of the hirer;

	 the name and address of the hirer;


	 the time of pick-up;

	 the time of pick-up;


	 the point of pick-up;

	 the point of pick-up;


	 the destination;

	 the destination;


	 the time at which a driver was allocated to the booking;

	 the time at which a driver was allocated to the booking;


	 the plate number (or other identification) of the vehicle allocated.

	 the plate number (or other identification) of the vehicle allocated.



	 
	Additionally with effect from 1st January 2023 operators shall also record the
following:

	a. the name of the driver attending the booking;

	b. the name of any individual that responded to the booking request;
	c. The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle

	 
	 
	(iii) The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all private hire
vehicles operated by him/her, such details to include the owners, plate
numbers and registration numbers of the vehicles, along with details as to the
drivers of the vehicles, and their call signs.

	(iii) The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all private hire
vehicles operated by him/her, such details to include the owners, plate
numbers and registration numbers of the vehicles, along with details as to the
drivers of the vehicles, and their call signs.

	(iii) The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all private hire
vehicles operated by him/her, such details to include the owners, plate
numbers and registration numbers of the vehicles, along with details as to the
drivers of the vehicles, and their call signs.



	 
	(iv) All records maintained by the operator shall be kept for at least 12 months
after entry.

	(iv) All records maintained by the operator shall be kept for at least 12 months
after entry.

	(iv) All records maintained by the operator shall be kept for at least 12 months
after entry.



	 
	(v) With effect from 1st January 2023 the operator shall additionally maintain a
register of all the staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles and be able
to evidence that the register is compatible with their policy on employing ex�offenders. This register must also be made available to the Licensing
Authority upon request within 7 days.

	(v) With effect from 1st January 2023 the operator shall additionally maintain a
register of all the staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles and be able
to evidence that the register is compatible with their policy on employing ex�offenders. This register must also be made available to the Licensing
Authority upon request within 7 days.

	(v) With effect from 1st January 2023 the operator shall additionally maintain a
register of all the staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles and be able
to evidence that the register is compatible with their policy on employing ex�offenders. This register must also be made available to the Licensing
Authority upon request within 7 days.



	 
	3.0 COMPLAINTS

	 
	The operator shall immediately upon receipt notify the Licensing Office in writing of
any complaints concerning a contract for hire arising from his/her business, such
notification to include the action taken or proposed as a result of the complaint.

	 
	4.0 CHANGE OF ADDRESS

	 
	The operator shall notify the Licensing Office in writing of any change of address
(including any address from which he operates or otherwise conducts his
business) which takes place during the currency of the licence. Such notice shall
be given within 7 days of the change of address.

	 
	5.0 DISCLOSURE OF CONVICTIONS

	 
	The operator shall, within 7 days of conviction, notify the Licensing Office in writing
of any conviction or fixed penalty imposed on him during the currency of his/her
operator’s licence. If the operator is a company or partnership, this requirement
shall apply if any of the directors or partners receive a conviction or fixed penalty.

	 
	For new applicants from 1st March 2022 (and all existing operators by 1st January
2023), applicants for Operator licences shall be required to produce a basic DBS
disclosure certificate not more than 3 months old, and thereafter to produce a
basic DBS disclosure certificate annually (unless already licensed as a North
Devon Hackney carriage/ private hire driver).

	 
	From 1st January 2023, Operators shall also be required to obtain a basic DBS
disclosure certificate for all call handling and dispatching staff. These certificates
must be made available to the Licensing Authority upon request within 7 days and
be held for at least 12 months in-line with the record keeping requirements above.

	 
	In addition, from 1st January 2023 the Operator must have in place a policy on
employing ex-offenders (Relevance of Convictions Policy). This policy must be
provided to the Licensing Authority upon request within 14 days. An example
policy which Operators may personalise and use as the basis for their own policy
can be found on the Council’s Licensing webpage (web link).
	 
	  
	6.0 INSURANCE

	 
	The operator shall ensure that a certificate of motor insurance covers every private
hire vehicle operated by him under the licence, which is compliant with the Road
Traffic Act 1988 as regards the carriage of passengers for hire or reward.

	 
	Private Hire Operators must hold appropriate public liability insurance if premises
are to be used to allow the public to wait for a vehicle.

	 
	7.0 PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER’S LICENCES

	 
	The operator shall satisfy himself that every driver engaged by him has acquired a
private hire driver’s licence and has a badge issued by the Licensing Office.

	 
	 
	 
	8.0 VEHICLE RECORDS

	 
	The operator shall keep a record of the following details in respect of each private
hire vehicle operated by him/her: -

	 
	 the year when the vehicle was first licensed for private hire;

	 the year when the vehicle was first licensed for private hire;

	 the year when the vehicle was first licensed for private hire;


	 the vehicle’s make, model and engine size;

	 the vehicle’s make, model and engine size;


	 the registration number;

	 the registration number;


	 the colour;

	 the colour;


	 the number of seats for passengers;

	 the number of seats for passengers;


	 whether a meter is fitted;

	 whether a meter is fitted;


	 The expiry date of the vehicle licence.

	 The expiry date of the vehicle licence.



	 
	This record must be produced for inspection when requested by a Licensing
Officer.

	 
	It is also recommended that operators record the expiry date of the MOT for each
vehicle and the date of expiry for the vehicle insurance.

	 
	9.0 DISPLAY OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS

	 
	The operator shall, at all times, keep a copy of these conditions at any premises
used by him/her for a private hire business, and shall make the same available for
inspection by fare–paying passengers.

	 
	10.0 Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers

	 
	Where a Private Hire Vehicle is vehicle is unsuitable for a booking, e.g. where a
larger vehicle is needed because more than 8 passengers seats are required, or to
accommodate luggage, the person making the booking must be informed by the
Operator that a PSV such as a minibus will be used and that a PSV licensed driver
will be used who is subject to different checks than private hire drivers as they are
not required to have an enhanced DBS check. The person making the booking must
agree to this before the booking can be accepted by the Operator.

	 
	The above condition shall not apply where the driver assigned to the booking also holds a
North Devon Hackney carriage/ Private Hire driver licence.
	Appendix Q

	 
	Non Motorised Vehicles - Driver and Vehicle Conditions

	 
	Driver Conditions

	 
	1.0 The Licence holder shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable
steps to

	1.0 The Licence holder shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable
steps to

	1.0 The Licence holder shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable
steps to



	ensure the safety of passengers conveyed therein and persons entering and
alighting from the carriage.

	 
	2.0 The Licence holder shall, at all times when acting in accordance with the driver’s
licence, wear the official badge issued by the Licensing Authority in such a position
as to be plainly and distinctly visible.

	 
	3.0 The Licence holder shall notify the Licensing Team in writing, within 7 days of any
change of address and, if not self- employed any change of employer.

	 
	4.0 The Licence holder shall, at the request of any authorised Officer of the Licensing
Authority or of any Police Officer, produce his licence for inspection.

	 
	5.0 On the surrender, revocation or suspension of the licence the official driver’s badge
MUST be returned to the Licensing Office, Civic Centre, Barnstaple immediately.

	 
	6.0 Any change in the medical condition of the Licence holder, which could impair his
driving ability, shall be notified immediately to the Licensing Team.

	 
	7.0 Details of any offence of which the Licence holder has been convicted shall be
notified within 7 days in writing to the Licensing Team.

	 
	8.0 The licence holder shall not, when standing or plying for hire, wash such carriage in
any street or public place.

	 
	9.0 The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps not to hold up traffic and to allow
other vehicles to pass.

	 
	10.0 The licence holder shall not permit more than the prescribed number of persons to
travel in the carriage than the number of persons the carriage is licensed to carry.

	 
	Conditions Specific to Drivers of Horse Drawn Vehicles

	 
	11.0 Non-motorised hackney carriages are exempted from the requirements contained in
Appendix K, Paragraphs 2.0 and 3.0.

	 
	12.0 The driver shall comply with the competency standard specified in paragraph 12.1 of
this policy.

	 
	13.0 Those persons granted a licence to solely drive a non- motorised hackney carriage
are issued a joint hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence, a specific
condition of which is that the driver may only drive a non-motorised vehicle (i.e. a
horse drawn carriage, rickshaw or trishaw) and no other type of licensed vehicle.
	 
	14.0 The Licence holder shall be responsible for the safe handling and proper care of the
horses employed in the operation of the licensed vehicle.

	 
	15.0 The Licence holder shall be responsible, when in charge of the vehicle, for the
collection and satisfactory hygienic disposal of horse excrement, as soon as
reasonably practicable after the excrement has been deposited.

	 
	16.0 Any change in the physical condition of the horse must be notified in writing to the
Licensing Team

	 
	17.0 The licence holder shall not while standing, plying or driving for hire, drive or allow
to be driven, or harness or allow to be harnessed to the carriage any animal in such
condition so as to expose any person conveyed or being in such carriage, or any
person traversing any street, to risk or injury.

	 
	18.0 The licence holder shall ensure that every part of the harness of the horse or horses
is kept in order, so that the horse or horses are properly and securely attached to
the carriage and under due control.

	 
	19.0 Licence holders shall examine the horse/s, harness and carriage carefully at the
start of each day’s work and assure themselves that everything is in good condition
and in proper order.

	 
	20.0 Licence holders shall not, in any street, feed or allow to be fed any horse harnessed
or

	otherwise attached to such carriage, except with food contained in a proper bag or
other receptacle suspended from the head of such horse, or from the centre pole of
the carriage, or with food from he hand of the person feeding such horse.

	 
	21.0 Where the application relates to a horse-drawn vehicle, drivers must produce
evidence to the authority that they are competent to drive horses in harness. Certification
to British Driving Society (BDS) Code of Practice for Drivers of Horse Drawn Vehicles
Working on the Public Highway is required for new drivers. Those drivers previously
licensed with the authority in the last three years may alternatively hold the BDS Level 3
Road Driving Safety Qualification for Pairs and Singles or have demonstrated equivalent
competence. For grooms the standard is BDS level 2 Unit Certificate for the Harness
Horse Groom. The Council will consider alternative qualifications that are to the equivalent
standard. Any expense involved in producing such certification shall be met by the
applicant or licence holder.

	 
	Conditions relevant to Licensed Non-Motorised Vehicles

	 
	22.0 The proprietor shall, report to the Licensing Team as soon as possible, or in any event
within 72 hours, any accident involving a non-motorised hackney carriage in their
control.

	  
	23.0 The proprietor shall keep in force a policy of insurance appropriate to a carriage
used for public hire and reward and covering third party liability both in respect of
physical injury or death AND in respect of damage to personal belongings. A
minimum sum of £2million is required. A valid copy of the insurance certificate or
cover note shall be produced on application and shall be carried in the carriage at all
times and shall be produced to an authorised Officer of the Council or a Police
Constable for inspection whenever required.
	 
	24.0 The proprietor shall notify the Licensing Team in writing of any alteration that is
proposed to be made to any part of the vehicle, before such alteration is carried out.

	 
	25.0 The vehicle shall be kept in good order, the inside and outside clean and braking
machinery efficient.

	 
	26.0 The seats of the vehicle shall be properly cushioned or covered, fittings and
furniture shall be kept clean and adequate for the convenience of persons travelling
in the vehicle.

	 
	27.0 The official licence plate, issued by the Licensing Authority, must be affixed to the rear
of the vehicle. Such licence plate shall be returned to the Licensing Authority if the
vehicle licence is surrendered, revoked or suspended.

	 
	28.0 The official fare card must be displayed inside the vehicle so as to be clearly visible
to passengers in the vehicle at all times subject to any specific exemption granted
by the Licensing Authority.

	 
	29.0 When the vehicle is being used for hire, no person shall be authorised to drive the
vehicle other than a person currently licensed to drive that type of vehicle and
wearing the official badge.

	 
	30.0 The vehicle (carriage, harness etc) may be inspected and tested by an Authorised
Officer of the Council or by a Police Officer at all reasonable times.

	 
	31.0 If the Authorised Officer or Police Constable inspecting the vehicle is not satisfied as
to its fitness he may give written notice to the Proprietor to make the vehicle
(carriage, harness etc) available for further inspection and testing at such
reasonable time and place as may be specified, and the vehicle licence may be
suspended until the Authorised Officer or Police Constable is satisfied as to the
fitness of the vehicle.

	 
	Conditions Specific to Horse –Drawn Vehicles

	 
	32.0 No horse shall be harnessed to, or used in connection with the vehicle hereby
licensed unless, within the preceding twelve months, an approved Royal College
Veterinary Surgeon has examined the horse and issued a certificate of fitness.
Horse passports and veterinary certificates for those horses to be used must be
provided on application for a licence, and for any additional horses certificates shall
be delivered to the Licensing Authority immediately.

	 
	33.0 No horse shall be in harness for more than seven hours in any one-day and if in
harness for seven consecutive hours, shall during that period have a break of not
less than one hour and shall be fed and watered.

	 
	34.0 A horse in which in any one day is harnessed to, or used in connection with a
licensed hackney carriage shall not be used at any time during that day for any
other purpose.

	 
	35.0 Veterinary papers relating to the horse in harness should be available for inspection
on request by an authorised officer.
	 
	36.0 The proprietor shall at all times comply with the requirements of Department of
Transport’s Code of Practice for Horse Drawn Vehicles.

	 
	37.0 No horse under six years of age, mare in foal or within three months of foaling shall
be used to for the purposes of a hackney carriage.

	 
	General

	 
	38.0 In any other respects, the provisions and conditions relating to hackney carriages,
as set out in this document, apply to non-motorised hackney carriages except in so
far as the context of the provisions or conditions clearly dictates that reference is
being made to motor vehicles or the driving of such motor vehicles.

	  
	 
	APPENDIX R

	 
	EXECUTIVE HIRE EXEMPTION POLICY

	 
	Under section 75(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, a local
authority may, by way of a notice to the proprietor of a private hire vehicle, exempt such a
vehicle from the requirement to display plates on the vehicle and also from the requirement
for drivers of such vehicles to wear their private hire driver’s badge.

	 
	North Devon Council will only provide a Notice of Exemption from the requirement to
display plates in accordance with the Policy below. The notice will also exempt the
proprietor from having to comply with the licence conditions relating to display of “advance
booking only” door signage.

	 
	The Notice will be granted subject only to written request by a proprietor and compliance
with the Policy.

	 
	This Policy relates to individual private hire vehicle proprietors wishing to carry out
Corporate/Executive Hire Chauffeur type work and other ‘special’ journeys which require a
higher specification and more prestigious vehicle.

	 
	This Policy specifically excludes vehicles being used for day-to-day private hire circuit work
such as pubs, shopping and other similar journeys which must comply with the Act, and
relevant private hire vehicle licence conditions at all times.

	 
	In view of the public safety implications of vehicles working without signage each
application will be considered on its individual merits and on its compliance with the Policy.

	 
	All applicants wishing to provide vehicles and drivers to carry out work covered by this
Policy are advised to consult with the Licensing Team prior to purchasing a vehicle.

	 
	Approved work for which vehicles can be exempt

	 
	An exemption will only be granted to a proprietor engaged substantially (e.g. 95% of
hirings) in the provision of:

	 
	1. Corporate bookings to transport employees and/or clients on corporate business
journeys
	 
	and/or

	 
	2. Airport and other ‘special’ journeys where the client specifically requests a vehicle of a
prestige specification at the time of booking.

	 
	When applying for an exemption notice the proprietor will need to demonstrate
“corporate/executive work” by the submission of evidence such as copies of contract
specifications, details of account customers, records of hirings and/or evidence of need.

	 
	Approved Vehicle Specification

	 
	In view of the substantial number of makes and models of vehicles available, it is preferred
not to produce a definitive list of vehicle makes and models that could be approved.

	 
	The approval of an exemption will therefore be based on the cost, reputation, specification,
appearance, perception and superior comfort levels of a vehicle, and the fact that it will not
resemble a non-exempt private hire vehicle licensed to undertake the ‘normal’ day to day
circuit work. Each application will be considered on its individual merits but the final
decision for approval or refusal will remain with the Service Lead on Licensing.

	 
	1. Saloon and hatchback vehicles will generally only be licensed for 3 passengers only
plus the driver allowing sufficient space for adult passengers to travel comfortably in full
size seats.

	 
	2. Vehicles seating more than 4 passengers will be licensed only for sufficient numbers of
passengers to travel comfortably. Each seat must be of adequate dimensions and must
permit direct access into and out of the side doors of the vehicle without the need to move,
remove or fold down any seat. No vehicle modifications from the manufacturer’s
specification are accepted.

	 
	3. Drivers are required to wear a suit or jacket and trousers/ skirt plus a shirt/ blouse at all
times. This dress code must be followed at all times the vehicle is being used to undertake
a booking. Jackets may be removed where weather conditions require it.

	 
	 
	Removal of Executive Hire Exemption

	Holders of an Executive Hire Exemption are required to return their Executive Hire
Exemption Notice within 7 days following written request from the Licensing Authority. The
decision to request the return of the notice will rest with the Service Lead on Licensing and
is final.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	APPENDIX S

	 
	North Devon District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Safety Camera
Technical Specifications and System Requirements

	 
	1.1Specification: 100% solid state design or a proven vibration and shock resistant
system.

	1.1Specification: 100% solid state design or a proven vibration and shock resistant
system.

	1.1Specification: 100% solid state design or a proven vibration and shock resistant
system.

	1.1Specification: 100% solid state design or a proven vibration and shock resistant
system.




	 
	Details: The system should not have any fan and the recording should be vibration and
shock proof, i.e.: - Flash-based SSD (100% industrial grade), - Hard disk with both
mechanical anti-vibration and anti-shock mechanism and self-recovery and self-check file
writing system.

	 
	1.2Specification: System activation (on / off) switch to be located in a position where it is
not accessible from inside the vehicle (i.e. in the boot / engine compartment).

	1.2Specification: System activation (on / off) switch to be located in a position where it is
not accessible from inside the vehicle (i.e. in the boot / engine compartment).

	1.2Specification: System activation (on / off) switch to be located in a position where it is
not accessible from inside the vehicle (i.e. in the boot / engine compartment).

	1.2Specification: System activation (on / off) switch to be located in a position where it is
not accessible from inside the vehicle (i.e. in the boot / engine compartment).




	 
	Details: The system is required to be active at all times that the vehicle is being used as a
licensed vehicle. This will allow the facility for the system to be deactivated during times
when the vehicle is being used for private purposes (e.g. domestic use). The switch that
deactivates the system must be located within the vehicles boot or engine compartment
(i.e. it must only be possible to deactivate the system from outside of the vehicle).

	 
	1.3Specification: First-in/first-out buffer recording principle.

	1.3Specification: First-in/first-out buffer recording principle.

	1.3Specification: First-in/first-out buffer recording principle.

	1.3Specification: First-in/first-out buffer recording principle.




	 
	1.4Specification: Images must be exported in commercially available formats.

	1.4Specification: Images must be exported in commercially available formats.

	1.4Specification: Images must be exported in commercially available formats.

	1.4Specification: Images must be exported in commercially available formats.




	 
	1.5Specification: Images must be preserved in the event of loss of power. Battery back-up
will not be permitted.

	1.5Specification: Images must be preserved in the event of loss of power. Battery back-up
will not be permitted.

	1.5Specification: Images must be preserved in the event of loss of power. Battery back-up
will not be permitted.

	1.5Specification: Images must be preserved in the event of loss of power. Battery back-up
will not be permitted.




	 
	1.6Specification: Image data shall be recorded and stored in a unit separate from the
camera head.

	1.6Specification: Image data shall be recorded and stored in a unit separate from the
camera head.

	1.6Specification: Image data shall be recorded and stored in a unit separate from the
camera head.

	1.6Specification: Image data shall be recorded and stored in a unit separate from the
camera head.




	 
	1.7Specification: The system must ‘go to sleep’ to reduce battery drain during prolonged
idle time. It must be capable of immediate reactivation.

	1.7Specification: The system must ‘go to sleep’ to reduce battery drain during prolonged
idle time. It must be capable of immediate reactivation.

	1.7Specification: The system must ‘go to sleep’ to reduce battery drain during prolonged
idle time. It must be capable of immediate reactivation.

	1.7Specification: The system must ‘go to sleep’ to reduce battery drain during prolonged
idle time. It must be capable of immediate reactivation.




	 
	1.8Specification: Images recorded by the system shall not be displayed within the vehicle.

	1.8Specification: Images recorded by the system shall not be displayed within the vehicle.

	1.8Specification: Images recorded by the system shall not be displayed within the vehicle.

	1.8Specification: Images recorded by the system shall not be displayed within the vehicle.




	 
	Storage Capacity

	1.9Specification: Minimum of seven days of recording capacity.

	1.9Specification: Minimum of seven days of recording capacity.

	1.9Specification: Minimum of seven days of recording capacity.

	1.9Specification: Minimum of seven days of recording capacity.




	 
	Details: The camera system must be capable of recording and storing a minimum of seven
days of images of HD1 (720/288) size or better.

	 
	2 Specification: Images must be clear in all lighting conditions.

	2 Specification: Images must be clear in all lighting conditions.

	2 Specification: Images must be clear in all lighting conditions.



	 
	Details: System to provide clear images in bright sunshine, shade, dark and total darkness.
Also, when strong back light is present.

	 
	Camera head

	 
	L
	L
	Span
	2.1Specification: Camera installation non-obstructive.
	2.1Specification: Camera installation non-obstructive.



	Details: The camera and all system components shall be installed in a manner that does
not interfere with the driver’s vision or view of mirrors or otherwise normal operation of the
vehicle.

	 
	2.2Specification: Field of view to capture all passengers in the vehicle.

	2.2Specification: Field of view to capture all passengers in the vehicle.

	2.2Specification: Field of view to capture all passengers in the vehicle.

	2.2Specification: Field of view to capture all passengers in the vehicle.




	 
	Details: The lens of the camera must be of a type that captures the driver and all
passengers of the vehicle on the recorded image. The lens must be of a style not to create
a “fishbowl” effect.

	 
	2.3Specification: Compatible for use in vehicles with a partition/ larger vehicles.

	2.3Specification: Compatible for use in vehicles with a partition/ larger vehicles.

	2.3Specification: Compatible for use in vehicles with a partition/ larger vehicles.

	2.3Specification: Compatible for use in vehicles with a partition/ larger vehicles.




	 
	Details: Camera systems used in vehicles with partitions or larger vehicles must be
adapted to provide clear images of the entire vehicle interior. This may be accomplished
with the use of multiple camera heads.

	 
	Storage Device (Recorder)

	 
	2.4Specification: Impact and shock resistance.

	2.4Specification: Impact and shock resistance.

	2.4Specification: Impact and shock resistance.

	2.4Specification: Impact and shock resistance.




	 
	Details: The recorder/ storage unit shall be impact resistant, sufficient to withstand a typical
car accident, or striking with a large, heavy object such as a suitcase.

	 
	2.5Specification: Recorder/ storage unit in concealed location.

	2.5Specification: Recorder/ storage unit in concealed location.

	2.5Specification: Recorder/ storage unit in concealed location.

	2.5Specification: Recorder/ storage unit in concealed location.




	 
	Details: The recorder/ storage unit shall be concealed from view and effectively
inaccessible except by authorised personnel (e.g. under the drivers seat).

	 
	2.6Specification: Recorder/ storage unit to be securely affixed to the vehicle.

	2.6Specification: Recorder/ storage unit to be securely affixed to the vehicle.

	2.6Specification: Recorder/ storage unit to be securely affixed to the vehicle.

	2.6Specification: Recorder/ storage unit to be securely affixed to the vehicle.




	 
	2.7Specification: All stored images must be time and date stamped.

	2.7Specification: All stored images must be time and date stamped.

	2.7Specification: All stored images must be time and date stamped.

	2.7Specification: All stored images must be time and date stamped.




	 
	2.8Specification: The system shall record images at the rate of four images per second.

	2.8Specification: The system shall record images at the rate of four images per second.

	2.8Specification: The system shall record images at the rate of four images per second.

	2.8Specification: The system shall record images at the rate of four images per second.




	 
	2.9Specification: System must continue to record images for 30 minutes after engine is
shut off.

	2.9Specification: System must continue to record images for 30 minutes after engine is
shut off.

	2.9Specification: System must continue to record images for 30 minutes after engine is
shut off.

	2.9Specification: System must continue to record images for 30 minutes after engine is
shut off.




	 
	Downloading Technical Specification

	 
	3 Specification: Windows 10 compatible.

	3 Specification: Windows 10 compatible.

	3 Specification: Windows 10 compatible.



	 
	3.1Specification: Wireless Download Prohibited.

	3.1Specification: Wireless Download Prohibited.

	3.1Specification: Wireless Download Prohibited.

	3.1Specification: Wireless Download Prohibited.




	 
	Details: Unit must not allow for wireless downloads. Wireless diagnostic may be used. All
wireless hardware to be disabled.

	 
	System Information

	3.2Specification: Clarity of operating instructions.

	3.2Specification: Clarity of operating instructions.

	3.2Specification: Clarity of operating instructions.

	3.2Specification: Clarity of operating instructions.




	 
	Details: The system shall be provided with clear and concise operation instructions which
are written with due consideration to varying levels of literacy.

	 
	L
	L
	Span
	3.3Specification: Image Protection.
	3.3Specification: Image Protection.



	Details: All captured images must be protected using encryption software that meets or
exceeds the current FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or equivalent.

	 
	System requirements in relation to Vehicle Inspection Facility – Inspections

	 
	3.4Specification: Provision of system status/health indicator.

	3.4Specification: Provision of system status/health indicator.

	3.4Specification: Provision of system status/health indicator.

	3.4Specification: Provision of system status/health indicator.




	 
	Details: The system shall have an indicator showing when it is operational and when there
is a malfunction.

	 
	3.5Specification: Designed/Installed to be testable by North Devon Council Licensing
Team

	3.5Specification: Designed/Installed to be testable by North Devon Council Licensing
Team

	3.5Specification: Designed/Installed to be testable by North Devon Council Licensing
Team

	3.5Specification: Designed/Installed to be testable by North Devon Council Licensing
Team




	 
	Details: The system shall be designed and installed such that the system may be easily
tested/ inspected by Licensing Team staff to ensure that all features are operating and that
images are being recorded as prescribed.

	 
	General

	3.6Specification: Reliability in operational and environmental conditions.

	3.6Specification: Reliability in operational and environmental conditions.

	3.6Specification: Reliability in operational and environmental conditions.

	3.6Specification: Reliability in operational and environmental conditions.




	 
	Details: The system shall provide reliable and full functionality in all operational and
environmental conditions encountered in the operation of taxis.

	 
	3.7Specification: Programmability of image timing parameters.

	3.7Specification: Programmability of image timing parameters.

	3.7Specification: Programmability of image timing parameters.

	3.7Specification: Programmability of image timing parameters.




	 
	Details: It shall be possible to change timing and parameters without the requirement to
change components.

	 
	3.8Specification: Manufacturer/ proprietor to supply cables and software to North Devon
Council.
	3.8Specification: Manufacturer/ proprietor to supply cables and software to North Devon
Council.
	3.8Specification: Manufacturer/ proprietor to supply cables and software to North Devon
Council.
	3.8Specification: Manufacturer/ proprietor to supply cables and software to North Devon
Council.



	 
	 



	2022.11.07 Item 11 Appendix B Taxi Policy Consultation Responses
	Structure Bookmarks
	North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy
Amendments.

	North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy
Amendments.

	This consultation ran from 16 March 2022 until 11 May 2022.

	51 responses were received.

	Q1 Do you agree with the proposal to reduce the upper age limit for vehicles
at first licensing?
 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 8

	Yes 12

	No 31

	 
	Q1. Do you agree with the proposal to reduce the upper age limit for vehicles
at first licensing?
 
	 
	Figure
	Q2 We asked for any comments on question one.

	26 comments were made.

	Just a blunt tool and will impact on taxi services

	The cost of these vehicles means not everyone will be able to afford it, you will see a decline in taxi
numbers within Barnstaple.

	Or less if possible as things are changing so fast

	Requiring a newer (and therefore more expensive vehicle) would increase overheads on an already
slim profit margin given the high insurance and day to day running costs. All taxi drivers would love
to drive more modern and environmentally friendly vehicles but simply cannot afford them.

	Its hard enough to get started with a new car up to 5 years old at present with running cost and fuel
prices
	Hackney license vehicles are very well looked after and specifically looking at the No2 and carbon
output of the vehicle ages up to 3 years are very similar if not very equivalent of vehicles of that up
to 5 years. This would just impose for those in the industry with limited funds (affected by covid 19 )
u able to upgrade or buy new vehicles in there price ranges

	Taxi Work is slim on the ground so to add this expense is not reasonable when so many good cars up
to 5 years old still available and perfectly fit for purpose.

	Using an arbitrary age is grossly unfair. It does not take in to account any other factor, such as
millage

	As a Taxi operator, the financial impact this would have on my company would be catastrophic.

	Because this will price people out, it will add on between 2000 to 3000 the newer the vehicle, this
for some people just isn't workable.

	Total costs of operation are getting too high

	1. Stage coach and other PSV carrier operate a large fleet of 10 plus year old vehicles without
restriction. 2. limiting the age of vehicle with the additional strains of Covid 19 pandemic loss of
earnings would result in a major influx of unemployed Taxi drivers being unable to afford new
vehicles having already placed fund in maintaining current ones 3. Specifications on vehicles in the
last 5 year ( excluding fully electric vehicles ) have very similar output of green house gases but also
the lack of charging ports located wouldn’t make full electric an alternative this would require a lot
of infrastructure expansion

	If people don't buy a new car they opt for what is affordable and a 5 year old car may be all that can
be afforded at that time.

	It will make it harder for younger people to get into the profession without getting into unnecessary
debt

	Older cars are just as clean if they're well-maintained

	If the vehicle is well maintained and passes MOT emissions requirements this should be sufficient.
Some smaller would be unable to afford replacing the vehicle and increased maintenance costs

	Newer cars are safer, more environmentally friendly and hopefully moving too Hybrid / full electric.

	Companies will be having to fit the bill and after covid cannot afford

	Most taxi drivers cant afford newer vehicles

	We thought it was 3 Years anyway

	The Taxi trade has taken a battering over the last two years due to the pandemic and enforcing this
at this stage is another blow. Leave it to 5 years and then maybe rethink it again in 2025?

	Its pass m.o.t.so it can be used on road

	the best diesel emissions are from euro 6 vehicles they came out for the most part in 2015 and have
not been improved on since , there is not a euro 7 for example,.

	As a small taxi company in a rural area we can not afford to up date all our vehicles at short notice it
would cost £100k + .We have just got back to working again after covid many firms had to take loans
to cover them selves even the Government bounce back loans need to be paid back and are not as
	cheep as was told. In normal times I would replace a car every year but because of covid this did not
happen. This will be an issue with many rural companies. In any cars most diesel cars became ulez
compliant after 2015 so the pollution issue does not mean we cant run 5 yr old vehicles... I think you
just need to add the emissions test at mot and again at the 6 month check to confirm all is well. I
personally would not wish to drive a £20k car in rural Devon lanes where the hedge touches both
sides of the car at once grass in the centre of it and tractors flying around every bend yet that is
what we do all the time . Of course the larger companies in Barnstaple will love this because it will
get rid of competition companies will fail and close down or at least reduce the size of the fleet as i
will have to that means people will no longer have a job without commuting adding more pollutants.
The town taxi cartels will not take someone shopping or for an appointment if they live in Lee Bay of
Woolhanger or the many other outlying areas that we the rural taxis cover and who suffers the
customer the old and the vulnerable who need our services. We do not have the infrastructure in
place to go the green that the Government asks for Im sure I read somewhere that the council
should put charge points on taxi ranks once electric cars are excepted as taxis are you going to do
that we would not be able to work for 3 hrs without charging , how can we be expected to do that.
to conclude Devon at the moment and the vehicles available do not make for good service to the
people of Devon

	ANY DIESEL TAXI WILL MEET EURO 6, SO REDUCING THE MINIMUM AGE LIMIT TO THREE YEARS WILL
MAKE NO IMPROVEMENT TO EMISSION QUALITY, BUT WILL INCREASE COSTS AT A TIME WHEN TAXI
OWNERS ARE RECOVERING FROM A VERY LEAN PERIOD.

	As a medical professional, i believe this is putting a lot of pressure financially on people who are
working over 60 hours a week to earn a living as many taxi companies do. You are targeting the one
of the worst affected working force, who had to shut down all business during the pandemic and
have not had chance to recover from this. Many are in debt due to the pandemic and your proposal
will ensure they get into even more debt to buy new vehicles to come in line with your proposed
policy. As a health care professional, i am concerned how this will affect the mental wellbeing, as
well as physical (working all the hours god sends to pay for everything) wellbeing.

	 
	Q3. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce an upper age limit for
licenced vehicle renewal?
 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 9

	Yes 14

	No 28
	 
	 
	Figure
	Q4. Comments to question 3.

	24 comments were made.

	No, as long as a vehicle is in good condition and passes the mot and taxi inspection then that should
be enough.

	I think even 10 years is far too long

	Many owners take great care and constantly keep their vehicles in high quality condition and this
should be taken into consideration

	If the car is still in good condition and being serviced regularly what's the issue

	As same answer to q1

	Vehicle inspected are done very restrictively every 6 months once vehicle becomes 5 Years old . If a
vehicle manages to get to 10 years old then it has been very well looked after being approx 300,0000
Miles on the clocks

	Again, grossly unfair when vehicles are kept in tip top condition, pass all tests etc why should they be
refused. Seems like restriction of trade. Torridge, I believe have no age limits at all!

	I maintain my vehicles implicitly and they are older vehicles, why should I be penalised and
discriminated against for choosing to look after my older vehicle.

	as covered in previous comments .

	Yes there are a lot of vehicles that are over the present age limit. They are inspected twice a year
and have to pass emissions test at the time of an mot. With all the money and staff that has been
lost during the pandemic and still not have recovered from this, and now with the price of fuel and
energy prices rising all the time, it is not really the time to bring this in. I feel this would put a lot of
taxi companies at the point of closing. Maybe it could be put back for another year to give the taxi
trade time to recover .

	This just seems to be picking on the poorest traders, if it passes the mot and taxi test it should be
fine

	Upper limit yes but 11 years isn't old for a well-maintained car.
	n/a

	More costs for companies, could lead to losing lots of companies that cannot afford to upgrade
vehicles

	You make older vehicles have 2 tests a year

	We only use our Taxi`s as we were instructed to keep our DCC School contracts with 8 seats or less
we had to get them Taxi plated

	The standard of vehicles nowadays is far superior then what they used to be! An upper age limit of
15 would be suitable and stick with the Council Inspection which should be twice a year from 8 years
old!

	I think it is fine the way it is

	It pass test who knows what is what

	Are you offering help to the companies who have older vehicles, I suspect not if they are looked
after and serviced they can run as clean as a new car

	As before if this is brought in then some companies will not be able to afford the replacements and
so its the customer who suffers again taking away the competition from the bigger companies so
they can take it all but only what they wish to not the depths of Exmoor or other rural areas. If this is
bought in it needs to be done slowly over a number of years to give companies a chance to carry on
working.

	AFTER A VERY LEAN 2 YEARS NOW IS NOT THE TIME TO INTRODUCE THIS LIMIT

	In my profession as a community health care professional, i drive around the rural country lanes in
my car and i would absolutely not want to drive round these roads in a brand new car as it causes
body damage, under side damage and puts more wear and tear on the vehicle.

	Where’s the money going to come from for rual seasonal taxi drivers after not working for two years

	 
	Q5. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce alternative vehicle standards
for wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles?
 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 9

	Yes 14

	No 28
	 
	 
	Figure
	Q6. Comments to question 5.

	17 comments were made.

	see previous answer

	If the council want to put out grants to help us taxi drivers to upgrade our vehicles that should be
considered

	This is without doubt a double standard that is pushing someone's agenda. It is not fair

	Why are these vehicles any different from any other taxi, just because they maybe adapted!

	all vehicles regardless of use should be treated the same

	and to increase the number of WAVs available as many wheelchair users struggle to find suitable
transport options.

	Should be able to up to 10years, due to the price of these vehicles. Again seems to be an attack on
the poorest traders

	Why not if the journeys are local. Wouldn't want to go far in one though.

	Agree with reason for accessibility not sure about why it would be applied to low emission?

	More costs for smaller independent companies and sole traders

	Although we do not have a Taxi with wheelchair access we do have a PCV Minibus with wheelchair
access

	for zero emissions i think even more of a relative incentive would suit.

	I agree in principle but again I would say with the standard of these vehicles these days the twice
yearly inspection should be extended to 10 years

	you ask about low emission cars but we do not have the charging capacity in the area, Devon on the
whole is rural and very hilly you will know this a friend of mine has an electric car and because of the
limited mileage has to be aware of % of usage she lives in Lee cross to travel from her home to
Woolacombe and back she uses 12% of her charge a distance of 4 miles but means going up the hill
	out of Woolacombe, she uses the same amount to Barnstaple and back 22 miles . Until a more
suitable fuel package comes along when driving in north Devon Diesel is the most economic and
efficient way to drive

	I have always said that all companies with multiple vehicles should have one wheelchair accessible
car for every six or seven of the total fleet . We do not have the infrastructure for zero emission cars

	Q7 Do you agree with the proposal for the council to become members of the
National Register and to review all applications for new licences against it?

	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 11

	Yes 34

	No 6

	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Q8. Comments to question 7.

	10 comments were made.

	If as a new driver you have nothing to hide then this will make no difference to a driver.

	Temporary suspensions should not be added unless a breach is proven

	Good idea in principle.

	Public safety

	Yes if this would show you drivers that have been refused a licence in other areas
	You already do the highest checks you will be wasting more money.

	whatever keeps the public safe

	 
	Q9. Do you agree with the proposed procedure for vehicle write-offs?

	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 15

	Yes 28

	No 8

	 
	 
	Figure
	Q10. Comments to question 9

	9 comments were made.

	Depends on individual circumstances

	Any vehicle that is ( Written off ) shouldn’t be licenced regardless of damage

	This seems reasonable

	A lot of write offs are unrecorded, can you guarantee a taxi won't be one?

	Insurance write offs are an industry scam.

	Do you mean the same reports as are now used for cat N and D if so thats fine but there are not
many qualified people in the area to do them

	As long as they are checked by a registered vehicle engineer who specialises in this
	Q11. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce daily safety/ roadworthiness
checks for Licenced vehicles?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 9

	Yes 27

	No 15

	 
	 
	Figure
	Q12. Comments to question 11

	26 comments were made.

	It’s down to the Licenced driver to already perform these checks. way too much paperwork for the
council and what's to say people won’t fabricate the answers anyway. Terrible idea.

	I am ambulance crew. We have to check our vehicles every day

	The licencing officers used to carry out spot checks on vehicles. This should be reinstated not passed
to the vehicle owner.

	Each drivers should be doing these checks each day as part of their job

	We personally already implement this routine for defect notifications

	We do this anyway or at least I do, don’t see it being needed and really not environmentally friendly
paper wise

	Contentious, professional owners / drivers will be ensuring vehicles are fit for purpose already.
Those that don't... Still won't. But all of us will have an additional burden placed on our time. Not fair

	Coming from a HGV background I agree with this
	Why do we pay for an mot, why do why pay the additional taxi check list, this seems like another
unnecessary check, why don't you just take over the taxi company and rent out your own cabs and
do you own checks, it seems you want to run it like a council bus service

	Weekly OK, daily too excessive

	This should be common sense and understanding to keep log of any defects etc to be sorted

	Drivers should be doing this anyways, enforcement would cost more than its worth

	why not?

	Will the council be paying for the extra time for drivers to do these checks if hired only to do council
school transport

	Should be doing this anyway

	We do this anyway as part of our PCV Operators licence

	excellent idea and welcome clarity for drivers.

	But only basics on a daily basis like tyres, oil, lights, windscreen wipers and wash. The operator
should be keeping a closer eye on a weekly basis

	A driver should do this anyway

	As a driver these basic things should be done every day but what happens when a driver maybe
swaps from one car to another or swaps drivers ,I think you could give a little trust to people who
are professional drivers after all and do this for a living

	My fleet is checked daily any fault reported to me and action taken if there are vehicles on the road
that should not be you should sort it out with those owners and drivers not give the rest of us more
paperwork for something we already do

	DRIVER S CARRY OUT THESE VEHICLE CHECKS & RECORDING THESE DETAILS IS TIME CONSUMING
& NOT NECESSARY. AS I MAY BE DRIVING AS MANY AS 3 DIFFERENT VEHICLES IN A DAY THIS WOULD
ALSO BE VERY TIME CONSUMING

	However, you'd expect this to already be happening by the drivers since they should be prioritising
public safety, a document to prove this is only going to give people a bigger work load. It would also
be very hard to enforce.

	All our cars are checked daily there’s no need to cause paperwork that has to be admined and stored

	That’s done on a daily basis anyway

	As long as regularly enforced by Licensing

	Q13. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce record keeping
requirements for Hackney carriage proprietors?
 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 6

	Yes 27

	No 18
	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Q14. Comments to question 13.

	18 comments were made.

	You will lose drivers from too much paperwork and hoops to jump through. The independent drivers
will mostly quit, because of low tariffs and small returns at the moment anyway. Only the Big
companies will be left and that will reduce competition within North Devon.

	They need to be kept accountable

	I thought this would be normal practice

	Unnecessary

	What is the data protection implication of this by keeping data? This worries me!

	This would be as previously mentioned common sense to keep up to date with vehicle maintenance

	A responsible business should already do this

	Don't know why this hasn't happened already.

	n/a

	Just concerned that I drive taxi connection for Lynton school and connection from Brendon to to
Filers bus for Ilfracombe. I'm happy to do checks. But my taxi is kept with me and driven by me,
although owned By Webbers. I think that item 1 on the list is over the top when I only use the bus on
a split shift for 3hrs a day. the vehicle is very rarely used for any other purpose

	We do this but is not recorded all in one book, each of our vehicle has its own Vehicle maintenance
book and we have another folder with all our driver details and then we have a duty folder that
records all the vehicle and who is driving them have maintenance
	Great idea, safety is paramount, all drivers should be thoroughly checked and any sub contracted
self-employed drivers within a taxi company should be assessed by council and taxi company
directors

	At what cost to who

	I think owners of vehicles do this already all employees keep such records anyway as for vehicles
after doing all this paperwork every day when can they get out and drive me to work again not
needed where is the trust in people

	I do not think this is anywhere near reasonably necessary we can all give you receipts for work done
but you are again trying to pass the buck to drivers and companies who work diligently more testing
by yourselves would be more appropriate how are we to have time to work with all the paper work
to fill in. Think about it driver fills his daily check form in,a tyre is getting near the 2mm mark he
informs me he then uses another car and fills another form in I then check for myself fill in a form go
to garage and replace tyre fill in a form go home and collate all this together half a day gone for a
tyre makes no sense and where do we store all this paperwork can we send it to the council once a
week or month i fill a form i take it to garage g

	THIS LEVEL OF RECORD KEEPING WOULD CREATE VAST AMMOUNTS OF PAPERWORK & STORAGE &
AGAIN WOULD BE VERY TIME CONSUMING

	More pressure on people that are already over -worked and under paid, stress levels are a concern
and should be a priority of the council to ensure worker wellbeing.

	Cost to much time and admin and we are not storing paperwork when there’s no need for time
consuming paperwork

	 
	Q15. Do you agree with the above proposal to replace sun  strips with “Private
Hire Advance Booking Only” stickers?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 9

	Yes 26

	No 16
	 
	 
	Figure
	16. Comments to question 15.

	12 comments were made.

	This would make it impossible to flag down a taxi is you were - say- stuck waiting for a bus that
wasn't coming.

	Additional stickers are not required in view

	As long as they to placed in the same position on all vehicles

	front sun-strips are already fit for purpose

	The strip is outdated

	n/a

	Only just used for Devon county council school runs

	can't see any point in removing strips that are already on there. but happy with the stickers if the
council are providing them, but will the stickers say which company the vehicle belongs to?

	We only use out Taxis for School Contracts, we are not a Taxi Business who can ring up for a Taxi

	For Private Hire operators who already have the sun strips then they should be allowed to keep
them because removal maybe at a cost? For operators like Driving Miss Daisy Barnstaple we already
have our Daisy logos and information on the sides of our vehicles so this would be compromised!

	more added cost to council and damage to paint when removed easy to remove from glass

	adds more costs for the owner and may damage paintwork also people are used to seeing the screen
strip and might make it easier for none badges drivers to pick up
	 
	17. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce record keeping requirements
for private hire vehicle proprietors?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 5

	Yes 30

	No 16

	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	 
	Q18. Comments to question 17

	10 comments were made.

	Why should they be exempt

	Unnecessary

	Same as Hackney no!

	n/a

	I'm only a driver so n/a to me

	Same comment as for Hackney Carriage proprietors applies

	Private hire maybe parked up three/four days so who fill this in

	I’m sure they do it already
	for the same reasons

	Too much pressure on people already

	 
	19. Do you agree with the proposal to make it a licence condition for drivers to
attend an interview upon written request by the Licensing Authority?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 15

	Yes 22

	No 14

	 
	Figure
	 
	Q20. Comments to question 19.

	16 Comments were made.

	Terrible idea, Can be done over the phone. Shocking idea, will a police officer be present?? How do
drivers complain about passengers?

	I feel this would be open to abuse and would eventually cause drivers to leave the profession all
together and would cause extra work- load to the already strained licensing authority.

	Depends who would be conducting these interviews

	Depending on the severity of complaint I would agree to certain degree as some complaint could
even been seen as malicious themselves

	This could be used maliciously by competitors
	Depends on the severity but if a council can issue a licence it can take it away

	Depends on the severity and/or history. Waste of time if someone’s just having a whinge.

	as long as it is a valid compliant

	This would not apply to us as we are not a Taxi Business

	yes because this will help us to better understand and address complaints as well.

	At the earliest opportunity but maybe offer the option of three possible dates?

	Investigate pull the driver in after investigation. Some one can complain just too be spiteful to the
driver

	an informal interview should take place first then you should say if its to go further and the driver
can then take a solicitor to interview where you can then record the conversation under oath

	I think that to have a driver in and being able to record a statement should only be done by the
police and a solicitor is present if you wish to ask questions then do so if you wish to take it further
then the driver should be allowed his civil rights and you may be falling short of the law

	Why would they need to?

	Video calls can be used for this purpose saving time and stress

	 
	21. Do you agree with the proposals in relation to notification of vehicle
transfer and changes of contact details?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 12

	Yes 36

	No 3
	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Q22. Comments on question 21

	10 comments were made.

	Surely this is a no brainer

	How is this different from now?

	I thought this was required any way

	Licencing office staff are already impossible to reach

	n/a

	I'm not a proprietor, so this question is n/a to myself

	This is also a great idea, especially if car being loaned out has been re-classed by DVLA

	Surely that’s already in place

	thought we already did this

	I would assume this already happens?

	 
	Q23. Do you agree with the proposal for private hire operators to be required
to inform customers where larger vehicles such as minibus will be used and
the driver has a PSV licence?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 10
	Yes 30

	No 11

	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Q24. Comments on question 23.

	10 comments were made.

	can't understand the relevance.

	This just does not happen

	Reasonable

	All psv drivers should have dbs anyway

	maybe PSV drivers should also be required to have enhanced DBS checks if they carry passengers on
any journey

	ALL our drivers ARE DBS checked to the enhanced level SO THIS IS NOT TRUE

	These days the PSV checks should definitely include the DBS check and why don't they?

	DBS checks should always be carried out in all hackney carriage drivers

	why ...a notice in the vehicle would suffice

	why not just have a sticker on the bus
	 
	Q25. Do you agree with the procedure put forward for dealing with executive
hire exemptions (exemption from displaying a plate during executive/ chauffer
work)?

	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 13

	Yes 20

	No 18

	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Q26. Comments to question 25.

	9 Comments were made.

	should apply to both hackney and private hire or none at all.

	As long as they are working within the remits of there licence surely this is enough

	A plate should be displayed

	I believe all licensed vehicle should be badged as to show that they are a licensed vehicle

	i would propose that driver is required to carry with but not display , some clients prefer a covert
source of travel

	Is there a legal definition of ' executive/ chauffer work'; all seems a bit pointless if not.

	N/A from me again

	Yes these signs are not attractive
	no point if you have stickers all over the side of the vehicle anyway

	 
	Q  27. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce technical specifications and
system requirements for newly installed CCTV systems?
 
	 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 10

	Yes 24

	No 17

	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Q28. Comments to question 27.

	15 Comments were made.

	There have to be standards

	All well putting cctv in cars just remember whos paying

	CCTV systems are not compulsory and therefore should be up to the operator to decide which
device to install , Dashcam systems also act as a good prevention of crime, restricting the
requirements of these camara system could potentially cause people to stop using them

	The use of CCTV in a taxi may help drivers who are out in the early hours of the morning and help
with their safety.

	As long as the spec isn't financially prohibitive
	Subject to vehicles stating there is CCTV, how long records kept and not misused,

	More costs to companies after covid

	I drive a school taxi and I'm not the owner of the vehicle. CCTV good in one way, it can protect
drivers as well as passengers

	Safety of drivers and passengers

	i think this costs a large amount but other businesses have to do it as well. it should be mandatory
for all taxis and ph vehicles and all systems newly installed or not. this will help to professionalise the
service in north devon and hopefully encourage better behaviour from passengers eventually. Too
many decent people are put off driving a taxi because of the lack of support when passengers
behave badly and dangerously, especially late at night. Taxi drivers should feel safe and respected at
work.

	Picture clarity should be based on HD cameras with anti dazzle

	Cost to who and who can access this info

	councils who have insisted on this are helping with payment to owners with a subsidy

	when this came about several years age councils were giving grants fot cctv will you

	Dont agree with CCTV in vehicles that face customers, gone so long without them, we are in devon,
generally quite safe and theyre costly. should be down to individual companies to decide, shouldnt
be mandated.

	 
	Q29. Do you agree that these technical specifications should only be applied
to CCTV systems installed after 1st July 2022 as opposed to also applying to
currently installed systems (thereby potentially requiring upgrade of existing
systems)?
 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 9

	Yes 24

	No 18
	 
	 
	Figure
	Q30. Comments to questions 29.

	4 comments were made.

	Upgrades should be mandatory too.

	Cost

	if in then why would they not be good enough most are just for external not internal. I had 2 fitted
now disconnected . customers did not like them on the rank we were often walked past to other
cars because we showed the cctv signs on the cars, once removed no walk byes

	as above

	Q31. Do you agree that the technical specifications are sufficiently detailed
and give appropriate guidance?
 
	Option Responses

	Maybe 21

	Yes 17

	No 13
	 
	 
	Figure
	Q32. Comments to question 31.

	9 comments were made.

	Test it

	These systems are not readily available. And I think restricting the requirements of these cameras
will put people off using them at all

	Doesn't go into any detail

	Drivers should also take drug and alcohol testing, records should be maintained. This should include
Council or police randomly carrying out checks

	I can't see any tech specs to comment?

	I think clear and simple guidance as to the responsibilities of the driver as a data controller and the
role and responsibilities of the police service should be made clear in the specification if possible.

	Who see this ?

	How can people answer this unless they are knowledgeable on the subject .Are you stating you will
be introducing mandatory cctv

	Should not be made mandatory
	 



	2022.11.07 Item 11 Appendix C Consultation Summary and Response

	12 Bicclescombe Nursery Site
	13 Bringing the Three weekly Collections Trial to an End
	14 Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	2022.11.07 Item 14 Appendix A North Devon S13A Scheme DRAFT
	Structure Bookmarks

	2022.11.07 Item 14 Appendix B Public consultation replies
	2022.11.07 Item 14 Appendix C Fire Service Response_Redacted
	2022.11.07 Item 14 Appendix D DCC Response to proposals

	15 Urgent Decisions taken by the Chief Executive



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		North Devon S13A 202324 Scheme DRAFT.pdf




		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk

		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top
